# Imran Ul Haq Siddra Ijaz *Editors*

# Trends in Plant Disease Assessment



Trends in Plant Disease Assessment

Imran Ul Haq • Siddra Ijaz Editors

# Trends in Plant Disease Assessment



*Editors* Imran Ul Haq Department of Plant Pathology University of Agriculture Faisalabad Faisalabad, Pakistan

Siddra Ijaz Centre of Agri Biochemistry and Biotech University of Agriculture Faisalabad Faisalabad, Pakistan

ISBN 978-981-19-5895-3 ISBN 978-981-19-5896-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5896-0

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

## Preface

Disease assessment is an essential aspect of the plant disease epidemics study. Phytopathometry is the foundation for all subsequent analyses, interpretations, characterization, and comparisons of plant disease epidemics. Disease quantification represents the magnitudes of the effectiveness of management strategies adopted in controlling plant diseases and also provides numerical estimates of crop losses due to these diseases. The accuracy in plant disease assessment is the pillar of integrated disease management. An assessment in a precise way to represent a quantitative link between theory and practice of disease management. If someone wants to develop a predictive model in a meaningful way, disease intensity must be quantified with a high degree of accuracy. Therefore, we are attempting to provide the readers with comprehensive information in a well-compiled way. Any manuscript reflects the authors' specialty, interest, and training. As the title of this manuscript depicts, it deals with plant disease assessment approaches. In this manuscript, a broad topic of study, "Plant diseases assessment," has tried to break down into different striking chapters. It will give a comprehensive picture of approaches to visual estimation for assessing plant diseases.

This book will help plant scientists directly or indirectly deal with plant disease diagnosis and management. It will be helpful for researchers and students in gaining knowledge and skills in disease quantification, developing predictive models for plant disease epidemics, assessing crop losses, and the magnitude of plant disease control methods. This book deals with the classical concept of plant disease assessment and methods based on visual observations to knowledge regarding the modern and emerging technologies in phytopathometry, predictive models, disease warning systems, and decision support systems. It will delineate remote sensing approaches for assessing diseases in plants. Here, we squeeze it with a statement that this manuscript gives a beautiful shift from classical to modern approaches to explaining plant disease assessment.

Faisalabad, Pakistan

Imran Ul Haq Siddra Ijaz

# Contents

| 1 | Phytopathometry: A Transdisciplinary Concept<br>Imran Ul Haq and Siddra Ijaz   | 1   |
|---|--|-----|
| 2 | Visual Estimation: A Classical Approach for Plant DiseaseEstimationAmer Habib, Ahsan Abdullah, and Anita Puyam   | 19  |
| 3 | <b>Remote Sensing: A New Tool for Disease Assessment in Crops</b><br>Anjum Faraz, Nabeeha Aslam Khan, Hafiz Younis Raza, Zainab<br>Malik, and Barbaros Çetinel                                 | 47  |
| 4 | Image Analysis and Processing Approach: An AutomatedPlant Disease Recognition TechnologyAmjad Abbas, Muhammad Amjad Ali, and Abdelfattah A. Dababat  | 69  |
| 5 | Hyperspectral Imaging Through Spatial and SpectralSensors for PhytopathometryYasir Iftikhar, Muhammad Ahmad Zeshan, Ashara Sajid,and Ganesan Vadamalai   | 81  |
| 6 | Fluorescent Imaging System-Based Plant Phenotypingfor Disease RecognitionSiddra Ijaz, Imran Ul Haq, and Maria Babar  | 97  |
| 7 | Concept and Application of Infrared Thermography<br>for Plant Disease Measurement  | 109 |
| 8 | Application of Biosensors in Plant Disease Detection<br>Imran Ul Haq, Siddra Ijaz, Shehla Riaz, Muhammad Kaleem Sarwar,<br>and Hayssam M. Ali  | 127 |
| 9 | Immunotechnology for Plant Disease Detection<br>Qaiser Shakeel, Rabia Tahir Bajwa, Ifrah Rashid, Hafiz Muhammad<br>Usman Aslam, Yasir Iftikhar, Mustansar Mubeen, Guoqing Li,<br>and Mingde Wu | 145 |

| 10  | Molecular Phytopathometry  | 167 |  |
|-----|--|-----|--|
| 11  | Microarray Technology for Detection of Plant Diseases Hafiz Muhammad Usman Aslam, Hasan Riaz, Nabil Killiny, Xin-Gen Zhou, Linda S. Thomashow, Nick T. Peters, and Ashok K. Chanda | 203 |  |
| 12  | Predictive Models for Plant Disease Assessment   | 225 |  |
| 13  | Extension Plant Pathology  | 241 |  |
| Ind | Index  |     |  |

## About the Editors

**Imran Ul Haq** with a bright career in agriculture, plant pathology, and fungal molecular biology, had Post Doc from the University of California Davis, USA. He is currently serving as an Associate Professor in the Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan. He has supervised more than 40 graduate students and established the Fungal Molecular Biology Laboratory Culture Collection (FMB-CC-UAF), an affiliated member of the World Federation for Culture Collections (WFCC). He has published more than 50 research articles, 6 books, 4 laboratory manuals, and several book chapters. He has made colossal contributions to fungal taxonomy by reporting novel fungal pathogen species in plants. His research interests are fungal molecular taxonomy and nanotechnology integration with other control strategies for sustainable plant disease management.

**Siddra Ijaz** with a vibrant career in agriculture and biotechnology, had a Post Doc from the Plant Reproductive Biology Laboratory, University of California Davis, USA. She is currently serving as an Associate Professor in the Center of Agricultural Biochemistry and Biotechnology (CABB), University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan. She is also serving as Deputy Managing Editor of an international impact factored Journal. She has supervised more than 50 M.Phil and Ph.D. students. She has published more than 50 research articles, 7 books, and several book chapters. Her research focus includes plant genome engineering using transgenic technologies, genome editing through CRISPR/Cas systems, nanobiotechnology, and exploration of genetic pathways in plant–fungus interactions.



## Phytopathometry: A Transdisciplinary Concept

Imran UI Haq and Siddra Ijaz

#### Abstract

Globalization, modern cultivation techniques, climate change, and human activities have promoted the distribution of plant pathogens, resulting in frequent host-pathogen interactions and disease incidences. These causative factors are impossible to control as even the most rigorous quarantine system could not completely avoid the movement of plant pathogens and germplasm across countries and continents. Susceptibility of cultivated varieties against plant pathogens, especially fungi, has significantly increased because varieties are developed focusing on higher yield. Additionally, plant pathogens undergo frequent mutations and genetic changes to adapt to climate changes, overcome pesticide resistance, and infect plant germplasm previously resistant. Plant disease identification, quantification, and estimation of subsequent yield losses are crucial in modern-day agriculture to ensure food safety and security for the population. Phytopathometry utilizes systematized increasing global and specialized approaches for plant disease assessment and presents qualitative and quantitative data. Phytopathometry underpins all activities in plant pathology and extends into other related disciplines such as agronomy, plant breeding, and horticulture. Digital and biotechnology underpinned by contemporary artificial intelligence efficiently process sensory data for plant disease measurement. Modern phytopathometry tools aided with detailed knowledge of pathogenhost system biology are poised to become an integral part of precision agriculture.

I. Ul Haq (🖂)

Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan

S. Ijaz

Centre of Agricultural Biochemistry and Biotechnology (CABB), University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5896-0\_1

Use of machine learning, deep learning, digital technology, biotechnology, engineering, and nanotechnology in phytopathometry is exposing plant pathologists to new terminology, concepts, and ideas which were not even thinkable a few decades ago. Moreover, innovations in robotics have provided flexibility and precision in deploying these sensors for accurate disease assessment, even in large field areas. In this chapter, we have discussed various phytopathometry tools and approaches and their transdisciplinary uses.

#### **Keywords**

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{l} \text{Disease index} \cdot \text{Visual assessment} \cdot \text{Remote sensing} \cdot \text{Digital imagery} \cdot \text{Artificial intelligence} \cdot \text{Advanced technology} \end{array}$ 

#### 1.1 Introduction

Phytopathometry is the branch of plant pathology that utilizes systematized and specialized approaches to assess and measure plant diseases. This neologism was first coined by Large (1953) in his research article on late blight of potato and choke of cocksfoot diseases. He researched acquiring valuable data/information from disease surveys based on the new science of phytopathometry (Large 1953). Phytopathometry was derived from the Greek words "phyton" plant, "pathos" disease, and "metron" measure. Phytopathometry is a ""branch of phytopathology that deals with detection, identification, and measurement of plant diseases indicated by disease symptoms or pathogen signs on particular disease sample/s."

Gregory (1982) recapitulated E.C. Large's disease measurement requirements focusing on resulting yield losses: morphological characteristics and development of healthy crop plants; disease path and trajectory on field plants; evaluation of disease intensity by devising/utilizing standard area diagram or field key; assessment of disease progression in field trials over the course of several years and comparing yield with control plots; assessment of disease severity concerning particular host growth stage and its effect on yield by using disease progress curves. This tactical and expanded perspective of phytopathometry, stated by E.C. Large and reiterated by P.H. Gregory, encompasses yield losses on disease (Gregory 1982; Nutter et al. 1991; Large 1966). However, phytopathometry should not be considered synonymous with an estimation of plant disease losses because it is a broader term aiming to ameliorate the recording and reporting of plant diseases by presenting qualitative and quantitative results. This encompassing approach makes phytopathometry a transdisciplinary concept as it helps in forecasting yield losses (agronomy), breeding aiming for resistance against plant diseases (plant breeding and genetics), evaluation of disease control methods and their application time, system biology and co-evolution of host-pathogen interaction (biotechnology), and myriad other reasons. Hence, phytopathometry underpins all plant pathology activities and extends into other related disciplines. Artificial intelligence (AI) and digital technology have recently been used to design automated sensors in phytopathometry (Madden et al. 2007b; Bock et al. 2010, 2016).

It is worth mentioning that phytopathometry measures plant diseases but is not limited or subservient to disease epidemiology or crop yield losses as its services intersect with statistics and measurement science and also interface closely with visual disease assessment and imaging and sensing technology. Historically, visual disease estimation was standard as compared to instrument-based disease measurement. Recent advances in imaging and sensing technology have significantly improved and opened new horizons for remote phytopathometry, especially in achieving the goals of plant disease quantification. This sensor-based and remote sensing approach in phytopathometry is transdisciplinary as it involves plant pathology, engineering, agronomy, and information technology (Bock et al. 2021).

#### 1.2 Role of Phytopathometry in Precision Agriculture

Globalization, recent cultivation techniques, climate changes, and human activities promoted the distribution of plant pathogens and resulted in frequent plant-pathogen interactions and disease incidences. These causative factors are almost impossible to control, and the most rigorous system of quarantine and preventive measures could not completely avoid the movement of pathogens and plant germplasm across continents. Susceptibility of plants against pathogens, especially fungi, has increased in modern cultivation practices because crop varieties are developed focusing on higher yield. These varieties, as compared to wild relatives, are less adaptive to local conditions and less resistant to pathogens. Additionally, pathogens have undergone genetic changes to adapt to climatic changes and overcome plant and pesticide resistance. New pathogenic strains have emerged, posing new challenges to sustainable agriculture. Cultivation of genetically uniform crop plants, unbalanced fertilizers and pesticides, reduced crop rotation, and low tillage cultivation may further aggravate the crop yield losses. With new challenges to crop production, demand for innovative strategies to identify and control plant pathogens has also increased. Plant pathogens compromise the quality, quantity, and input costs, seriously threatening world food safety and security. For practical crop production, balanced approaches to integrated plant protection are being proposed by researchers. These approaches recommend crop rotation, resistant verities, effective chemical and biological plant protection strategies, accurate estimation of disease severity, and monitoring of the spread of plant pathogens (Parnell et al. 2017; Oerke and Dehne 2004; Gewin 2003; Fisher et al. 2012; Brasier 2008; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020; Ul Haq et al. 2020).

#### 1.3 Phytopathometry Tools in the Modern Era

Today, visual disease assessment based on scientific reasoning and understanding provides a firm base to reliably and accurately assess plant diseases, i.e., standard area diagrams (Del Ponte et al. 2017) and ordinal disease scale (Chiang et al. 2014). However, digital technology underpinned by contemporary artificial intelligence incredibly processes sensor data for measuring disease severity. Image analysis, thermal imaging, and chlorophyll fluorescence are innovative and practical assets of disease measurement. Innovations in robotics have provided flexibility and precision in the application of these assets. Hence, digital technologies are poised to become an integral part of precision agriculture. AI has been applied to plant pathometry, though recently, and is crucial for the field success of ingeniously designed sensors. The use of AI and digital technology in phytopathometry exposes plant pathologists to new concepts, terms, and ideas that were not even thinkable a few decades ago (Bock et al. 2022).

#### 1.4 Phytopathometry Approaches

Disease quantification by symptomatology falls under the umbrella term "remote sensing." Remote sensing could be defined as gathering and monitoring the physical information about an area/object by measuring the radiation (reflected/emitted) without direct contact. Various methods are used to detect, identify, and quantify the symptoms such as thermograph, laser induced fluorescence, nuclear magnetic resonance imaging, radar, microwave, and cameras. Visual estimation and image analysis technologies fall under remote sensing (Abazov et al. 2006).

Disease severity is determined by analyzing the digital image of a given sample. It could be inferred by the disease-affected area, and the texture and color of the infected area by using the segmentation step are quantification algorithms which isolate the affected area from healthy plant parts and process. Disease severity analysis based on symptoms, even if performed by plant pathologists who follow the complete diagnostic guidelines, results in variability or error due to some degree of subjectivity. This statement means that methods employed to validate the automatic approaches to disease quantification are also subject to some degree of variability. It should be considered when evaluating the performance of remote sensing methods (Arnal Barbedo 2013; Merga 2018).

#### 1.4.1 Visual Disease Assessment

In visual assessment, the eye and the relevant parts of the brain, in combination, work rapidly to acquire an image, process and interpret it, and act as an image analysis system. This quick process helps the observer to assess the disease type and severity of a particular plant sample. The observer's response regarding detection and disease estimation depends upon the visual rater's cognitive ability, eye health, and how light/color is perceived (Bock et al. 2010). Various disease assessment scales are used in visual phytopathometry:

#### 1.4.1.1 Nominal Scales

These scales differentiate disease stages through simple descriptive terms such as "mild," "moderate," or "severe." These scales are subjective and lack quantitative information. These scales are used only when the observer performs the task at a particular location and in a specific season (Bock et al. 2021; Nutter et al. 1991).

#### 1.4.1.2 Ordinal Scales

Ordinal scales are widely used while rating disease severity for viral diseases as symptoms are difficult to measure quantitatively (Madden et al. 2007a; Bock et al. 2010). These disease severity scales are also descriptive, simple, and have use for a particular observer, location, and season. These scales divide disease severity stages into different classes which represent the increasing disease symptoms severity. These scales are further explained by different diagrams and mostly in descriptions explaining symptoms intensity. Sometimes, mostly in case of fungal diseases, these grade fungal disease severity divides the symptoms into numerals, e.g., ranging from 0 to 9. These are also used in disease resistance breeding programs while assessing genotypes.

#### 1.4.1.3 Interval Scales

Disease interval scales, also known as category scales, comprise different categories that contain numerals representing disease severity in percentage. These scales include a standard area diagram of different levels, e.g., 1–5 for rust diseases, illustrating symptoms severity of 1%, 5%, 10%, 20%, and 50%. Hence, the sample leaf is assigned a specific category by the observer.

#### 1.4.1.4 Ratio Scales

The ratio scale is a percent scale and has been used in phytopathometry over the years for studying various diseases. In this scale, the observer has a continuous range of percentages from 0% to 100% and grades the sample leaf according to the percentage area covered by the disease symptoms. Observers, according to their ability, vary in accuracy and reliability while assessing disease severity.

#### 1.4.1.5 Advantages and Disadvantages of Visual Disease Assessment

Visual disease assessment is quick. Rater's ability to identify and differentiate between different diseases could be enhanced with some training. Rater can choose from various available disease rating scales and can assess disease severity without any equipment. Visual assessment accuracy depends only on the observer's ability, health, and concentration. This subjectivity results in significant variability in disease assessment. However, visual inspection is used by farmers and plant pathologists to assess the disease for the foreseeable and more appropriate disease control strategy. Other remote sensing and phytopathometry approaches are making significant contributions.

#### 1.4.2 Digital Imaging in Phytopathometry

Visual monitoring is a widely used method in plant disease detection and, if combined in a prognosis system with regional weather and other epidemiological parameters, can help forecast disease spread in specific regions. It, especially the moisture and temperature data, could help in timely and effective plant protection strategies to avoid the upcoming disease threat in fields or greenhouses (Bock et al. 2010). However, visual disease assessment by an expert in the area is time-consuming and requires an observer, which is a bottleneck in disease management, especially when monitoring large fields. Hence, various other innovative methods are being developed to estimate and accordingly adapt disease control strategies effectively.

Disease severity plays a crucial role in understanding the disease development and consequent losses in various pathosystems but is challenging to achieve in visual and sensory-basedphytopathometry approaches. Since the first visual assessment attempt of disease quantification by Cobb in 1892, it has significantly improved and is better understood (Cobb 1892). Though instruments, cameras, and aerial photography, were used in the first half of the twentieth century (Bawden 1933) but usage of proximal tools for remote sensing was performed and reported in the late twentieth century, i.e., thermal spectrometers (Pinter et al. 1979), image analysis (Lindow and Webb 1983), and multispectral radiometer (Nutter et al. 1985). The nascent remote sensing field owing to sophisticated sensors is significantly effective in identifying, detecting, and measuring the disease (Mahlein et al. 2018; Bock et al. 2022).

#### 1.4.2.1 Principles of Photography

Photography has been used in phytopathometry for many decades. Aerial photography started in the 1920s still and continue to use to detect and quantify plant disease severity. Microscopic digital image analysis is widely used in plant pathology to study pathogen's morphology. Digital cameras are inexpensive and commonly used in laboratories and fields. These are the primary device while sampling and are easy to use, and the rater could study the disease symptoms later. Digital cameras include a light-sensitive screen (which captures the light from the image), a lens (increase magnification), and a display screen. Monochromatic cameras measure the intensity of the incoming light with photo sensors on their screen. Photo sensors convert captured light into electric charge and release proportional to the received light intensity. Photo sensors are memory cells whose contents, analog signals, are then converted into binary signals (0, 1) with the help of a frame grabber, and the binary data is transmitted to the computer. Computer based on these binary digital readings of 0 and 1 draws the image on the screen. So, each photo sensor on a digital camera's screen is represented on the computer screen by a pixel whose location and brightness are determined through image processing. On their photosensitive screen, color cameras have specific photo sensors for red, green, and blue. These photo sensors could be re-arranged in different ways. Each photo sensor is sensitive to particular wavelength/color, and the final image is prepared by advanced image analysis, which compares each pixel with its surrounding pixels using an interpolation

algorithm. This algorithm portrays the original color of the sample by using the RGB color model.

#### 1.4.2.2 Factors Responsible for Image Quality

Various factors that affect digital image quality, such as focus, light on the object, and light uniformity, are affected by image analysis.

#### 1.4.2.3 Pros and Cons of Digital Photography

Image analysis systems with agreement verification are quick, accurate, reliable, powerful, and relatively inexpensive. According to needs and issues, specific software is adapted in phytopathometry. However, there is tremendous variability in plant color, shape, texture, and disease symptoms which influence the performance and results of image analysis. Software should deal with various diseases on various plants and varying physiological conditions or damage on sample leaves. Hence, program training and ground trothing are done to make it more efficient and ensure quality disease severity measurement results.

#### 1.4.3 Android Applications to Quantify Plant Disease Severity

Android portable applications are new tools for semiautomatic disease assessment. These are used for individual leaves and other samples. These applications, such as "Leaf Doctor," use an algorithm to accurately, precisely, and robustly identify leaf shapes, lesion types, and disease severity. The accuracy of Leaf Doctor has been evaluated in various research articles, and it was found to have a low degree of error; however, in some cases, such as mallow rust and lilac powdery mildew, due to high color contrast between diseased and healthy leaf sections. Compromising contrast results in reduced accuracy and robustness of the Leaf Doctor Algorithm, such as in powdery mildew of Lilac (Barbedo 2014). Coefficient variation shows a significantly negative relationship (both linear and nonlinear) with mean observed disease severity, which is also observed in individual raters estimating disease severity manually. These applications are accurate, precise, and robust for most diseases with faster processing time. This application also helps rapidly construct standard area diagrams from actual host-pathogen systems, estimated by an expert. These SADs improve the accuracy and precision of estimates with excellent reproducibility (Braido et al. 2014; Pethybridge and Nelson 2015).

#### 1.4.3.1 Image Processing Software

Image processing software allows the editing of the obtained image in various ways, i.e., contrast correction, image rotation, sharpness, inversion, and various other manipulations. It is achieved by using multiple image-enhancing software such as Adobe Photoshop. Image editing, modification, geometric correction, and edge enhancement are also performed using image analysis programs (Bock et al. 2010; Merga 2018). Specific image analysis protocols must be followed regardless of the software being explored. The color image is composed of red, green, and blue, and

each image pixel has a specific value for each respective color based on the RGB model. This model generates the correct color in a three-dimensional color space.

#### 1.4.4 Statistical Methods in Phytopathometry

Statistical models are used to analyze the false positives and negatives in image analysis by comparing them with visual observations of an expert. Statistical methods evaluate the quality of image analysis results compared with the estimated actual value for assessing disease severity. Moreover, the repeatability and reproducibility of various image analysis methods and statistical methods are explored (Zhao et al. 2009; Bock and Nutter 2011).

#### 1.4.4.1 Regression Analysis

Regression analysis is widely used in image analysis to evaluate the quality of disease severity measurements. It judges the accuracy, precision, and reliability of results; however, it should be applied carefully as specific circumstances could generate incorrect conclusions. Standard errors, slope, and intercept are regression parameters assessing the estimated measurements' quality. Reliability and precision are measured using the coefficient of determination; its higher value indicates high precision. Various color and monochrome images of different disease samples assessed through image analysis were evaluated for accuracy and precision using a regression model.

#### 1.4.4.2 Concordance Correlation Coefficient

Lin's concordance correlation coefficient quantifies agreement in disease severity by evaluating the degree to which the observations fall on the concordance line. It combines the systematic and constant bias measure of accuracy with precision to consider the relational fit to the concordance line. It was used in image analysis of citrus canker symptoms severity to investigate the precision and accuracy of results (Bock and Nutter 2011).

#### 1.4.4.3 Analysis of Variance and General Linear Modeling

ANOVA and GLM investigate the source of error in disease severity estimates. Another method, Kruskal–Wallis test, compared the image analysis and visual assessments of powdery mildew on cherry leaves and found that image analysis produced significantly negative results compared to visual rating.

#### 1.4.4.4 Correlation Coefficient

The correlation coefficient indicates the degree of precision in disease severity assessment obtained using various methods. It quantifies the strength between variables and measures it by working as a component of the concordance correlation coefficient, i.e., strawberry Phomopsis disease severity rating methods and citrus canker severity on grapefruit. Hence, it evaluates and compares various image analysis methods and raters. Bland–Altman plots, absolute error, relative error, and chi-square hypothetical variance tests are also used to assess the precision of image analysis by comparing with visual assessments.

#### 1.5 Hyperspectral Imaging

Optical sensors operate within different regions of the electromagnetic spectrum to measure the changes in plant physiology either due to abiotic stress or due to the disease. Biotic or abiotic diseases cause changes in tissue color, canopy morphology, leaf shape, plant density, transpiration rate, and interaction of radiation with plant surface; these variations could be measured using highly sensitive and powerful sensors (Fiorani et al. 2012; Mahlein 2016). These sensors are noninvasive and provide information beyond the visible light spectrum, except RGB imaging, which expands human perception and phytopathometry capabilities. Hyperspectral sensing showed promising results in identifying various plant parameters and diseases. It enables the detection of biotic diseases and abiotic stresses, resulting in new opportunities for field phenotyping and disease management.

#### 1.5.1 Spectral Resolution Range of Hyperspectral Sensors

Hyperspectral sensors have increased spectral resolution compared to conventional (RGB) digital cameras. These can assess the RGB, visible spectrum (400–700 nm), near-infrared spectrum (700–1000 nm), and shortwave infrared (1000–2500 nm). Hence, the modern hyperspectral sensor covers high complexity spectral range from 350 to 2500 nm. These sensors are categorized into various classes based on their respective spectral resolution, scale, and imaging principles. Spectral resolution depends on measured wave bands; spectral scale could be ultraviolet, visible, near-infrared, or shortwave infrared, whereas imaging principle could be based on imaging or non-imaging system.

In the case of the non-imaging sensor system, spectral information over a specific area and within the sensor's field of view is averaged with spatial resolution information. Hyperspectral data is observed as three dimensions in huge matrices with spatial *x*-axes, *y*-axes, and on *z*-axes, spectral information depicting intensity/ wave band is represented. Due to spatial dimension, HSI systems provide extra details such as color, gradient, and shape and are preferred over non-imaging methods (Behmann et al. 2015). Though multispectral sensors are comparable to HS sensors but are less complex and informative and provide object's spectral information in broad wave bands such as RGD and NIR. These are less expensive and are used in unmanned airborne vehicles due to their lightweight. The reflectance average of non-imaging hyperspectral sensors provides spatial resolution with a specific allocation of the hyperspectral pixel. Research on HSI helped to design and develop new materials, efficient detectors, and software, and is widely used in various fields, e.g., food production, agriculture, and medicines (Cheng et al. 2017). Hyperspectral imaging provides site-specific, selective, and reliable information that

significantly improves sustainable agricultural management and is recommended and used in precision agriculture and plant phenotyping (assessing genotypes) (Simko et al. 2017).

#### 1.5.2 Setup of Hyperspectral Sensors

Setups consist of a hyperspectral sensor, a light source (efficient in both sunlight and artificial light), and a control unit to measure and save the captured data (images). This setup could easily be mounted on any platform, such as tractors, unmanned airborne vehicles, robots, satellites, and handheld. The collected data from HSI is saved in a hyperspectral data cube, which displays spatial information data in a two-dimensional image. Wavelength range and targeted object determine the required imaging detector. The most commonly used sensors for visible and nearinfrared spectra are complementary metal-oxide semiconductors and Si-based charge coupled devices, which are implemented on various sensing types, e.g., full-frame and push-broom cameras. Light interaction with the plant is the crucial knowledge required for hyperspectral analysis and interpretation of signals. The optical properties of the leaf depend upon light transmission through the leaf, light absorbed by the leaf, and light reflected (either from internal structure or from the waxy cuticle and cell wall). The maximum absorption and reflectance capacity of various compounds of the electromagnetic spectrum have been studied to explain the optical properties of plants (Mahlein et al. 2018; Merzlyak et al. 2008).

Several biochemical and histological changes could be characterized and interpreted during plant pathogenesis through HSI. Light reflectance from plant due to the involvement of various biophysical and biochemical interactions is a complex phenomenon. Visible light spectrum is mainly absorbed by leaf pigments such as chlorophyll, anthocyanins, and carotenoids (Gay et al. 2008). Near-infrared and shortwave infrared stimulate molecular motion and induce high reflectance and absorption by characteristic spectral pattern compounds. Leaf and cell structure influence the NIR reflectance due to matter interaction (Slaton et al. 2001), whereas SWIR can detect the plant/cell's water content (Seelig et al. 2008). Hence, remote sensing through hyperspectral imaging can determine the reflected and transmitted light and characterize the absorption activities of leaf compounds. Various android applications are being developed to determine the leaf compounds by observing reflected and transmitted light through HSI. However, due to its handling and setup complexity, transmittance sensing is used by only a few experts in phytopathometry.

#### 1.5.3 Pathogenesis and Reflectance Signatures

Diseases are a gradual and dynamic process that consists of a series of events, one autonomously leading to the next, once pathogenesis is triggered. Pathogenesis triggers changes/abnormalities in various processes of the host plant's physiology and biochemistry. The resulting symptoms of pathogenesis influence the optical

properties of the infected host. We must dive further than identification based on characteristic symptomatology or visible signs of plant–pathogen interaction. Different plant–host interaction stages should be understood in more depth. Every plant pathologist knows that plant pathogens could be biotrophs (obtain nutrients from living tissues), necrotrophs (get nutrients from dying or dead tissues), or hemibiotrophs (could be both depending upon the developmental stage and environmental conditions). Each interaction consists of complex biochemical, biophysical, and histological processes regulating disease symptoms. Hence, reflectance changes during plant–pathogen interaction could be explained by abnormalities in the cell's chemical composition, ultimately generating changes in leaf appearance (e.g., chlorosis) and structure (e.g., lesions) during different stages of pathogenesis and at specific spatial and temporal dynamics host influence the reflective light's wavelength (Villa et al. 2013; Virlet et al. 2016).

Close-range HSI improves the spatial resolution of pathogenesis while considering specific space and time and results in more accurate hyperspectral analysis. The human eye and even the conventional HSI systems are challenged by deciding on early host–pathogen interactions when the size is observed in the submillimeter. This submillimeter size could be observed by improving the camera's spatial resolution through hyperspectral microscope setups, which could observe small and subtle reactions of the host plant. This ability opens up new opportunities for plant disease management, especially in breeding systems and compound testing. Hyperspectral image must be linked with the biological process involved in host–pathogen interaction. Consequently, an objective and accelerated plant phenotyping process could be achieved with reduced human and plant material involvement.

#### 1.5.4 Potential of Hyperspectral Imaging in Phytopathometry

HIS, being a non-targeted remote sensing approach, collect a considerable amount of extra information about changes in processes and chemical composition of the host plant cell. This information is scattered across the measured spectrum, changing relevance over time (Behmann et al. 2015). Thus, analyzing the data to acquire a small proportion of specific information from the gathered hyperspectral signals is challenging. Recently, several approaches have been applied to improve HIS results for effective phytopathometry:

#### 1.5.4.1 Preprocessing and Data Handling

Data is preprocessed to be normalized, having no illumination. In the case of sunlight as an illumination source, complex algorithms increase robustness against variation. This spectral normalization of data becomes critical if HIS involves extensive field observation data where continuous observations are impossible to make, and the interpolation strategy could fail. It is achieved by complex and robust approaches involving standard normal variant and explicit modeling by choosing suitable radiation transfer models. In an experiment, using the REGLOGSEP model based on singular value decomposition significantly improved the data quality, but

plant geometry was challenging (Jay et al. 2016). However, another model incorporating a radiative transfer model, PROCOSINE, was introduced for close-range scenarios, which can estimate local illumination and plant-physiological parameters (e.g., the content of plant pigments) and is less affected by plant geometry (Féret et al. 2017).

#### 1.5.4.2 Vegetation Indices: An Important Tool in HSI

Hyperspectral experiment's massive data have various variable factors, but mostly only one is required for disease severity analysis. Vegetation indices highlight specific factors while reducing the impact of others (e.g., while assessing anthocyanins concentrations variable and unwanted chlorophyll content factor is suppressed by using anthocyanin reflective index). These express the spectral changes in a manageable manner. Though developed through remote sensing satellites, this technique is now being applied in proximal and close-range disease detection scenarios. In different disease studies, vegetation indices were successfully applied to deduce plant diseases, chlorophyll content, and yield estimation (Gitelson et al. 2014; Jay et al. 2017). However, vegetation indices do not cope with most bands, blank them out, and could not take full advantage of hyperspectral data.

#### 1.5.5 Machine Learning

Machine learning approaches cope with hundreds of reflective bands and can detect, quantify, and characterize plant disease severity in laboratory and field conditions. Machine learning learns about model characteristics from the obtained data rather than using a specific model. These highly complex methods reveal the important unknown aspects of the hyperspectral data. Supervised approaches such as regression analysis rely on annotated training data, whereas unsupervised techniques don't. Unsupervised methods can recognize patterns because they can identify statistical coherences and uncover unknown relations in the data set. In a hyperspectral image analysis-based study to detect early Alternaria pathogenesis in oilseed crops, different machine learning algorithms were evaluated for their respective efficacy, and it was found that multilayer perception produced results with the highest accuracy (Baranowski et al. 2015). Zhu et al. evaluated the HSI machine learning algorithms for presymptomatic tobacco mosaic virus detection. Eight bands out of 434 variable bands were combined with texture features for evaluating machine learning algorithms. Three machine learning algorithms, namely neural network, random forest, and support vector machine, were assessed, and it was found that the neural network approach was able to detect tobacco mosaic virus, just after 2 days of inoculation, with high accuracy of 90% (Zhu et al. 2017). Powdery mildew of grapevine was detected by incorporating spatial and spectral characteristics with hyperspectral image analysis data. Various relevant wavelength bands in visible, near-infrared, and shortwave infrared spectrums were obtained using two cameras. When spatial context was integrated with HSI, it generated more informative hyperspectral images and increased the accuracy of results compared with HIS data processing without incorporating spatial context (Knauer et al. 2017).

Unsupervised methods exploit all the available hyperspectral data but generate results with the target specification. Established data clustering methods are applied to hyperspectral data in preprocessing for segmentation and labeling. More advanced machine learning approaches could reparametrize the data informatively. Mixed techniques such as self-taught, semi-supervised, and transfer learning can deal with limited available information but are rarely used in phytopathometry.

#### 1.5.6 Deep Learning

Deep learning represents the data more abstractly and informatively while optimized for a specific task. It has great potential for analyzing a large amount of hyperspectral data involving hundreds of bands and where particular optimal disease features are unknown (LeCun et al. 2015). Deep learning is a practical approach in HSI, where images have high dimensions with limited training data. HSI provides large amounts of data, complex features, and unknown and unfocused relations, which are beneficial for deep learning. In deep learning, specific programs are used to analyze the data on specialized servers. Resulted classification is sent to the smartphone and service providers by using the latest algorithms, detect and quantify the disease. This approach also improve the underlying model being used. For successful machine learning use in disease detection and quantification specific feature and model selection, optimization of data sets is required.

#### 1.5.7 HSI for Disease Resistance Breeding

Continuous research in plant breeding for disease resistance is required because plant pathogens evolve to overcome resistant varieties and start pathogenesis. Due to their fast reproduction rate, it is a challenging process as plant pathogens mutate rapidly with varying impacts on growing varieties. Several sophisticated methods enable rapid screening of various genotypes for resistance against a particular pathogen. Plant phenotyping by a rater is done as, after several hybridizations and generations, a specific genotype could vary in its resistance against a pathogen in changing environmental conditions (Mahlein et al. 2018). Hence, when implemented in breeding programs, HSI improves the pace of breeding progress. Resistance could be qualitative or quantitative with or without observable changes. In a breeding experiment, a novel hyperspectral microscope evaluated resistance against powdery mildew for the barley. Gene-based vertical resistance mildew locus was responsible for hypersensitive response in the host plant, which was possible to retrospectively analyze hyperspectral features of the hypersensitive response in a particular space and time. It was possible because, after 5 days of inoculation, the response was visible as small brownish spots. Additionally, barley resistance response was detected using hyperspectral imaging 2-3 days before symptoms appeared (Fiorani and Schurr 2013; Kuska et al. 2017). Type and amount of spectral properties along with temporal response are poorly understood for plant–pathogen resistance reaction. To screen unknown genotypes or new varieties, independent spectral patterns of particular resistance mechanisms are desirable.

#### 1.5.8 HSI in Protected Horticulture

The increasing global population demand sustainable agricultural practices to fulfill its food demands. Protected horticulture by using greenhouses has proved effective in the judicious use of inputs and higher yields; however, diseases are a significant concern for growers in greenhouses as these can significantly limit profitability. Due to controlled and favorable conditions inside the greenhouse, fungal and bacterial pathogens can proliferate exponentially. Gummy stem blight in cucumber was automatically and accurately (95%) detected using point spectroscopy and spatial color imaging (Swinkels 2016). Hyperspectral line scan imaging was evaluated to assess the spinach growth in greenhouses. For this, induced water and nitrogen stress identified variables strictly related to plant geometry and leaf area index. Hyperspectrogram manages many hyperspectral images by data extraction and compression while retaining spatial information (Corti et al. 2017). It provides evidence that noninvasive sensors could significantly improve disease detection and quantification in controlled environments by regulating environmental factors to comparatively higher levels. Shortly, horticultural production is expected to have been supported by innovative digital technologies.

#### 1.6 Challenges in Automated Field Sensing

Generally, diseases can easily be detected and quantified through remote sensing if they are widely spread throughout the field and if only the top canopy crop layer is affected by it. Most remote sensing studies have been carried out under controlled conditions using artificial illumination, regulation of incoming light's direction, and sensor placement at a certain angle toward the leaf to absorb desired reflected light. These conditions are not available in the field, so the application of remote sensing technologies for large-scale field assessment is limited.

Among all the factors, light illumination is the most disturbing variable in the field. Leaves in the top most canopy layer appear brighter, in natural illumination source, compared to leaves in lower crop canopy layers. A threshold is required to distinguish between healthy and diseased tissue, which could be achieved by considering the overall image brightness while assessing a specific disease in a particular location. This threshold setting requires intensive research in crop phenotyping. Image brightness shows a higher heterogeneity in the natural canopy when sunny conditions are present, whereas heterogeneities in cloudy weather are less severe because scattered radiation, compared to direct radiation, reaches abundance in the crop canopy. To avoid these radiation variations under field conditions,

modern plant phenotyping setups allow plant disease assessment/monitoring at the appropriate time, such as dawn and dusk, when direct radiation on the crop canopy is limited. Sophisticated machine and deep learning approaches are incorporated into hyperspectral imaging and expert opinion to define, detect, and refine the traits extracted from a hyperspectral image.

#### 1.7 Other Indirect Methods of Plant Disease Detection in Phytopathometry

Thermography differentiates the plant samples based on surface temperature. Thermographic cameras capture the emitted infrared radiations from the plant surface, and then color differences are analyzed. It has been reported that pathogenesis increases the plant surface temperature due to rapid cell activity; hence, thermographic techniques could prove effective in directly detecting plant diseases under field conditions. Thermographs have also been reported to monitor the pathogen heterogeneity in soil-borne diseases. However, thermographic detection is susceptible and is affected by slight environmental conditions (Stoll et al. 2008; Oerke et al. 2011).

Profiling of the volatile organic compounds, released upon plant–pathogen interaction and are highly indicative of stress type, has also proved effective in phytopathometry. Crown rot fungus of strawberry (*Phytophthora cactorum*) causes plants to release characteristic *p*-ethylguaiacol and *p*-ethylphenol volatile compounds. Hence, profiling of volatile compounds could be used to detect the type and nature of disease infection (Fang et al. 2014).

#### 1.8 Conclusion

Phytopathometry is crucial for plant disease management in the era of precision and sustainable agriculture. Phytopathometry is not limited to plant pathology. Various traditional and modern plant disease measurement approaches have been discussed. Current practices of phytopathometry are complex, require expertise to operate, and are also time-consuming due to massive data analysis. Additionally, most of the approaches are not suitable for actual field conditions.

However, advancements and AI and modern nano-fabricated biosensors have huge potential in phytopathometry.

#### References

Abazov, V., B. Abbott, M. Abolins, et al. 2006. The upgraded DØ detector. Nuclear Instruments Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors Associated Equipment 565: 463–537.

- Arnal Barbedo, J.G. 2013. Digital image processing techniques for detecting, quantifying and classifying plant diseases. *SpringerPlus* 2: 1–12.
- Baranowski, P., M. Jedryczka, W. Mazurek, et al. 2015. Hyperspectral and thermal imaging of oilseed rape (Brassica napus) response to fungal species of the genus Alternaria. *PLoS One* 10: e0122913.
- Barbedo, J.G.A. 2014. An automatic method to detect and measure leaf disease symptoms using digital image processing. *Plant Disease* 98: 1709–1716.
- Bawden, F. 1933. Infra-red photography and plant virus diseases. Nature 132: 168-168.
- Behmann, J., A.-K. Mahlein, T. Rumpf, et al. 2015. A review of advanced machine learning methods for the detection of biotic stress in precision crop protection. *Precision Agriculture* 16: 239–260.
- Bock, C.H., and F.W. Nutter-Jr. 2011. Detection and measurement of plant disease symptoms using visible-wavelength photography and image analysis. *CAB Reviews: Perspective in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources* 6: 27.
- Bock, C., G. Poole, P. Parker, et al. 2010. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29: 59–107.
- Bock, C., K. Chiang, and E. Del Ponte. 2016. Accuracy of plant specimen disease severity estimates: concepts, history, methods, ramifications and challenges for the future. *CAB Reviews* 11: 1–21.
- Bock, C.H., S.J. Pethybridge, J.G. Barbedo, et al. 2021. A phytopathometry glossary for the twentyfirst century: towards consistency and precision in intra-and inter-disciplinary dialogues. *Tropi*cal Plant Pathology 47: 1–11.
- Bock, C.H., J.G. Barbedo, A.-K. Mahlein, et al. 2022. A special issue on phytopathometry—visual assessment, remote sensing, and artificial intelligence in the twenty-first century. *Tropical Plant Pathology* 47: 1–4.
- Braido, R., A.M. Goncalves-Zuliani, V. Janeiro, et al. 2014. Development and validation of standard area diagrams as assessment aids for estimating the severity of citrus canker on unripe oranges. *Plant Disease* 98: 1543–1550.
- Brasier, C. 2008. The biosecurity threat to the UK and global environment from international trade in plants. *Plant Pathology* 57: 792–808.
- Cheng, J.-H., B. Nicolai, and D.-W. Sun. 2017. Hyperspectral imaging with multivariate analysis for technological parameters prediction and classification of muscle foods: a review. *Meat Science* 123: 182–191.
- Chiang, K.-S., S.-C. Liu, C.H. Bock, et al. 2014. What interval characteristics make a good categorical disease assessment scale? *Phytopathology* 104: 575–585.
- Cobb, N.A. 1892. Contributions to an economic knowledge of the Australian rusts (Uredineae). *Agricultural Gazette of New South Wales* 3: 44–48.
- Corti, M., P.M. Gallina, D. Cavalli, et al. 2017. Hyperspectral imaging of spinach canopy under combined water and nitrogen stress to estimate biomass, water, and nitrogen content. *Biosystems Engineering* 158: 38–50.
- Del Ponte, E.M., S.J. Pethybridge, C.H. Bock, et al. 2017. Standard area diagrams for aiding severity estimation: scientometrics, pathosystems, and methodological trends in the last 25 years. *Phytopathology* 107: 1161–1174.
- Fang, Y., Y. Umasankar, and R.P. Ramasamy. 2014. Electrochemical detection of p-ethylguaiacol, a fungi infected fruit volatile using metal oxide nanoparticles. *Analyst* 139: 3804–3810.
- Féret, J.-B., A. Gitelson, S. Noble, et al. 2017. PROSPECT-D: towards modeling leaf optical properties through a complete lifecycle. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 193: 204–215.
- Fiorani, F., and U. Schurr. 2013. Future scenarios for plant phenotyping. Annual Review of Plant Biology 64: 267–291.
- Fiorani, F., U. Rascher, S. Jahnke, et al. 2012. Imaging plants dynamics in heterogenic environments. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 23: 227–235.

- Fisher, M.C., D. Henk, C.J. Briggs, et al. 2012. Emerging fungal threats to animal, plant and ecosystem health. *Nature* 484: 186–194.
- Gay, A., H. Thomas, M. Roca, et al. 2008. Nondestructive analysis of senescence in mesophyll cells by spectral resolution of protein synthesis-dependent pigment metabolism. *New Phytologist* 179: 663–674.
- Gewin, V. 2003. Bioterrorism: agriculture shock. Nature 421: 106-109.
- Gitelson, A.A., Y. Peng, and K.F. Huemmrich. 2014. Relationship between fraction of radiation absorbed by photosynthesizing maize and soybean canopies and NDVI from remotely sensed data taken at close range and from MODIS 250 m resolution data. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 147: 108–120.
- Gregory, P. 1982. Plant pathology, EC large, and phytopathometry. Plant Pathology 31: 7-8.
- Jay, S., R. Bendoula, X. Hadoux, et al. 2016. A physically-based model for retrieving foliar biochemistry and leaf orientation using close-range imaging spectroscopy. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 177: 220–236.
- Jay, S., N. Gorretta, J. Morel, et al. 2017. Estimating leaf chlorophyll content in sugar beet canopies using millimeter-to centimeter-scale reflectance imagery. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 198: 173–186.
- Knauer, U., A. Matros, T. Petrovic, et al. 2017. Improved classification accuracy of powdery mildew infection levels of wine grapes by spatial-spectral analysis of hyperspectral images. *Plant Methods* 13: 1–15.
- Kuska, M.T., A. Brugger, S. Thomas, et al. 2017. Spectral patterns reveal early resistance reactions of barley against Blumeria graminis f. sp. hordei. *Phytopathology* 107: 1388–1398.
- Large, E. 1953. Some recent developments in fungus disease survey work in England and Wales. Annals of Applied Biology 40: 594–599.
- Large, E.C. 1966. Measuring plant disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology 4: 9-26.
- LeCun, Y., Y. Bengio, and G. Hinton. 2015. Deep learning. Nature 521: 436-444.
- Lindow, S., and R. Webb. 1983. Quantification of foliar plant disease symptoms by microcomputerdigitized video image analysis. *Phytopathology* 73: 520–524.
- Madden, L.V., G. Hughes, and F. van den Bosch. 2007a. Estimating plant disease by sampling. In The study of plant disease epidemics, 279–318. St. Paul, MN: APS Press.
- ——. 2007b. *The study of plant disease epidemics*. St Paul, MN: American Phytopathological Society.
- Mahlein, A.-K. 2016. Plant disease detection by imaging sensors–parallels and specific demands for precision agriculture and plant phenotyping. *Plant Disease* 100: 241–251.
- Mahlein, A.-K., M.T. Kuska, J. Behmann, et al. 2018. Hyperspectral sensors and imaging technologies in phytopathology: state of the art. Annual Review of Phytopathology 56: 535–558.
- Merga, W. 2018. Measuring and analysis of plant diseases. International Journal of Research Studies in Agricultural Sciences 4: 1–8.
- Merzlyak, M.N., O.B. Chivkunova, A.E. Solovchenko, et al. 2008. Light absorption by anthocyanins in juvenile, stressed, and senescing leaves. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59: 3903–3911.
- Nutter, F., Jr., P. Teng, and F. Shokes. 1991. Disease assessment terms and concepts. *Plant Disease* 75: 1187–1188.
- Nutter, F., R. Littrell, and V. Pederson. 1985. Use of a low-cost, multispectral radiometer to estimate yield loss in peanuts caused by late leaf-spot (*Cercosporidium personatum*). In *Phytopathology*, 502. St Paul, MN: American Phytopathological Society.
- Oerke, E.-C., and H.-W. Dehne. 2004. Safeguarding production—losses in major crops and the role of crop protection. Crop Protection 23: 275–285.
- Oerke, E.-C., P. Fröhling, and U. Steiner. 2011. Thermographic assessment of scab disease on apple leaves. *Precision Agriculture* 12: 699–715.
- Parnell, S., F. van den Bosch, T. Gottwald, et al. 2017. Surveillance to inform control of emerging plant diseases: an epidemiological perspective. Annual Review of Phytopathology 55: 591–610.

- Pethybridge, S.J., and S.C. Nelson. 2015. Leaf Doctor: a new portable application for quantifying plant disease severity. *Plant Disease* 99: 1310–1316.
- Pinter, P., Jr., M. Stanghellini, R. Reginato, et al. 1979. Remote detection of biological stresses in plants with infrared thermometry. *Science* 205: 585–587.
- Seelig, H.D., A. Hoehn, L. Stodieck, et al. 2008. The assessment of leaf water content using leaf reflectance ratios in the visible, near-, and short-wave-infrared. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 29: 3701–3713.
- Simko, I., J.A. Jimenez-Berni, and X.R. Sirault. 2017. Phenomic approaches and tools for phytopathologists. *Phytopathology* 107: 6–17.
- Slaton, M.R., E. Raymond Hunt Jr., and W.K. Smith. 2001. Estimating near-infrared leaf reflectance from leaf structural characteristics. *American Journal of Botany* 88: 278–284.
- Stoll, M., H.R. Schultz, G. Baecker, et al. 2008. Early pathogen detection under different water status and the assessment of spray application in vineyards through the use of thermal imagery. *Precision Agriculture* 9: 407–417.
- Swinkels, G.J. 2016. Automated detection of Mycosphaerella melonis infected cucumber fruits. *IFAC-PapersOnLine* 49: 105–109.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz. 2020. History and recent trends in plant disease control: an overview. In *Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches*, 1–13. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Ul Haq, I., S. Ijaz, Q. Shakeel, G. Li, L. Yang, and I. Rashid. 2020. Fungi: cynosure of ornamental palms diseases. In *Etiology and integrated management of economically important fungal diseases of ornamental palms*, 85–113. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Villa, A., J. Chanussot, J.A. Benediktsson, et al. 2013. Unsupervised methods for the classification of hyperspectral images with low spatial resolution. *Pattern Recognition* 46: 1556–1568.
- Virlet, N., K. Sabermanesh, P. Sadeghi-Tehran, et al. 2016. Field Scanalyzer: an automated robotic field phenotyping platform for detailed crop monitoring. *Functional Plant Biology* 44: 143–153.
- Zhao, X., T. Burks, J. Qin, et al. 2009. Digital microscopic imaging for citrus peel disease classification using color texture features. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture* 25: 769–776.
- Zhu, H., B. Chu, C. Zhang, et al. 2017. Hyperspectral imaging for presymptomatic detection of tobacco disease with successive projections algorithm and machine-learning classifiers. *Scientific Reports* 7: 1–12.



# Visual Estimation: A Classical Approach for Plant Disease Estimation

### Amer Habib, Ahsan Abdullah, and Anita Puyam

#### Abstract

Quantifying plant disease in terms of disease severity, prevalence, incidence, or intensity is very important to make decisions for applying treatments or management practices. Quantifying any plant disease is based on the estimation methods dependent on visual estimation or image analysis of infected portions. Foreseeing the yield losses, tracking and predicting epidemics, evaluating crop germplasm for the source of resistance against a specific disease, and comprehending basic biological processes, such as coevolution, all depend on accurate estimations of disease severity. Inaccurate or vague disease evaluations may cause wrong conclusions from the data, which may cause inappropriate actions to be performed in disease management verdicts. Visual estimation is a highly traditional technique in phyto-pathometry. In the visual estimation of disease, human eye and brain play significant roles in analyzing the degree of disease. It is well established that the number of lesions in proportion to the infected region affects the accuracy and precision of visual estimations; the more lesions there are concerning the infected area, the more overestimation there is. Variability in raters' disease assessment ability, preferences of disease ratings for severity, amount of lesions and their size, color blindness, and time spent on estimation

A. Habib (🖂)

Department of Plant Pathology, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

e-mail: amer.habib@uaf.edu.pk

A. Abdullah

#### A. Puyam Rani Lakshmi Bai Central Agricultural University, Jhansi, India

Department of Plant Pathology, College of Plant Protection, China Agricultural University, Beijing, China

are some factors that can induce error in the visual estimation. Different scales often used in measurement science constitute the foundation for visual assessments of disease severity. Several rating scales evaluate a disease's severity using continuous or discrete data. The severity of the disease was determined using nominal, ordinal, and ratio scales. Using suitable scales, teaching, training, and tools (standard area diagrams) have enhanced the precision of visual estimations. This chapter examines recent technological developments that allow for more objective disease assessment (reliability, precision, and accuracy). Over the past 30 years, as software have become advanced and easier to use, visible light photography and digital image analysis have become progressively more popular. Truthfully, several experimentations are utilizing the image analysis technique to provide extremely precise estimations of infection. The most commonly used software are "Assess," "Sigma Pro," "ImageJ," "Adobe Photoshop," and "Scion Image."

#### **Keywords**

Visual estimation  $\cdot$  Standard area diagrams (SAD)  $\cdot$  Digital image analysis  $\cdot$  Disease assessment

#### 2.1 Introduction

There are thousands of justifications for why correct and accurate estimation and measurement of plant diseases are required. Quantitative information on plant diseases is essential for farmers and agriculturists to decide. The quantity and quality of plant products are always negatively affected by plant disease epidemics that ultimately impose a severe risk to food safety and security (Oerke 2006; Savary et al. 2012, 2017; Strange and Scott 2005; Madden et al. 2007). Quantitative information regarding plant disease is predominantly significant in such circumstances where the yield loss must be an evident outcome of disease, in plant breeding and genetics for the determination of resistance source in various germplasm (cultivars or varieties), for taking decisions towards disease management strategies such as application of pesticides (fungicides, bactericides, etc.) to manage the plant pathogens, and is also important to understand the epidemiological facts of plant disease and coevolution (Nutter and Gaunt 1996; Berger 1980; Cooke 2006; Gaunt 1995; James 1971; Kranz 1988; Burdon et al. 2006; Nutter et al. 2006).

Plant diseases have always been considered the most significant threat to human survival because these diseases are likely to cause drought and famine; for example, the Irish potato famine (1846–52) imposed a severe human survival threat. The knowledge regarding the disease assessment is necessary to (1) conduct a disease survey, (2) enhance the understanding of disease epidemiology, (3) determine the crop losses, (4) observe the effect of applied amendments (e.g., pesticides, germplasm, etc.), and (5) establish a threshold to make a decision (James 1974; Kranz 1988; Cooke 2006; Madden et al. 2007; Bock et al. 2010b, 2020). Actual and

accurate disease estimation has always been an essential key to the judicious use of pesticides, while the failure in diagnostics of plant infections caused by pathogens (e.g., bacteria, fungi, viruses, etc.) leads to the non-judicious use of chemicals. For that reason, the scientific communities always widely consider plant diseases by focusing on the biological characteristics of diseases. In precision farming strategies, decision-making optimization is carried out by adopting the most advanced technology. Experts usually carry out the preliminary diagnosis of plant diseases, biological reviews, and visual inspection for visual estimation. However, visual inspection is typically an expensive, laborious, and time-consuming methodology. Therefore, it is very important to adopt advanced and intelligent techniques and methods to visually assess the plant disease prevalence and damages (Saleem et al. 2020; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020; Ul Haq et al. 2020).

Conventionally, as a result of observation with the naked human eye, the plant disease severity is estimated visually by assigning a value in such a way that if a greater value is assigned to any sample, this will explain the greater will be the disease severity. Oppositely, concerning advanced technologies, the stress signals and amount of disease are directly or in-directly measured by a remote sensing technology-based sensor or instrument (Nilsson 1995; Bock et al. 2010b). Hence, the image analysis could process an image captured in a visible spectrum (VIS) (Barbedo 2013, 2016a; Bock and Nutter 2012; Bock et al. 2010b). The image is captured in a non-VIS spectral range, and chlorophyll fluorescence or other methods can be used to measure the level of disease. Non-VIS spectral range includes multispectral imaging (MSI) and hyperspectral imaging (HSI and MSI). The latter approaches are theoretically different from estimating or measuring the severity of disease solely in the light of visible symptoms and VIS spectrum (Kuska and Mahlein 2018; Mahlein et al. 2012, 2018; Simko et al. 2017; Mutka and Bart 2015). Generally, the wavelength ranges for VIS spectral are 380 to 750 nm, while non-VIS spectral (MSI and HSI) use wavelengths from 250 to 2500 nm. Any single system does not cover this wide range; therefore, NIR (near-infrared) and IR (infrared) are usually chosen as part of the described range.

To estimate the percent diseased portion, the raters observe and learn to differentiate symptomatic tissues from asymptomatic ones. Analysis of images captured in the VIS spectrum is usually based on the measurement of predefined diseased state pixels vs. healthy state pixels recognized by following a range of statistical processes. In hyperspectral and multispectral imaging systems, those specified wavelengths that are linked with the infected or unhealthy state are measured. However, some additional challenges can be faced in image acquisition and analysis, but this technique has several advantages over the visual estimation of plant diseases (Mahlein 2016). Contingent upon the objective, just like visual assessments and ratings of plant diseases, image-based analysis systems should be able to: (1) identify the infection or any other disorders as quickly as feasible, (2) distinguish amongst biotic maladies, (3) discriminate between biotic maladies and abiotic stresses, and (4) measure the disease severity very precisely (Bock et al. 2020).

#### 2.2 Significance of Precise Quantification of Plant Disease Severity

A precise estimation or quantification of symptomatic plant tissues based on visual assessment is similar to the definite or true value (Bock et al. 2010b, 2016). For remote sensing techniques, the precise/actual reference values are mentioned as "ground truth" data. Those measurements or assessment data obtained from visual estimation that differs from actual reference values are known as "biased" data. Generally, two types of biases occur (a) systematic bias and (b) constant bias. Precision is the inconsistency of assessments; however, for the estimation or measurement accuracy of plant disease severity, the precision must be very close to the actual value (Madden et al. 2007). According to the definition, continuously precise assessments should be reliable, where consistency is the propensity for recurring assessments or measures of the similar sample(s) close to each other (Bock et al. 2016; Madden et al. 2007; Nutter et al. 1991).

Quantification or estimation of disease severity is of great importance. It should be very precise, as an accurate estimation ensures that (a) the effect of applied treatments is appropriately evaluated, (b) the association of losses in production is understood, (c) the conducted surveys are eloquent, and (d) the germplasm phenotypes evaluated correctly. Additionally, the disease severity data collected from visual estimation can also be used to decide the economic threshold level or for disease forecast that may help determine the application of treatments. Inaccuracy in disease estimation can lead to severe consequences such as obstruction in the research procedures, wastage of time, and precious resources, and in the end, it can deleteriously affect the farmers' profit. The requisite degree of accuracy and precision in the estimation process can be varied from situation to situation. Numerous experimental and simulation studies have shown that, as a result of estimating the disease, the type II error may occur as a result of incorrect disease assessment (a false negative, which indicated a failure in null hypothesis rejection) (Chiang et al. 2014, 2017a, b; Christ 1991; Newton and Hackett 1994; Bock et al. 2010a; Parker et al. 1995a). The type II error will seriously affect the decisions taken from those experiments. Decisions based on such conclusions could cause wastage of resources, expansion in infection, losses in production, and eventually reduced revenue. Therefore, the precise estimation of plant disease would seem very important (Bock et al. 2021a). This type II error can be minimized by accurately estimating and quantifying.

#### 2.3 Terms and Definitions Regarding Disease Estimation and Quantification

Those terminologies are used to narrate the notions, and their interpretation is critical in the research area of plant disease estimation. Because of the advancements made in the related fields, including measurement science, these terminologies must be redefined (Madden et al. 2007). In 1953 and 1966, Large launched the term

"Phyto-pathometry" or "plant pathometry." These terminologies are considered a branch of plant pathology that estimates plant disease (Large 1953, 1966). The term phytopathometry was derived from three Greek letters (a) phyto means plant, (b) pathos means disease, and (c) metron means to measure. The term phytopathometry was also employed by Nutter et al. (2006) and Horsfall and Cowling (1978). Based on the description provided by Large (1953, 1966), the term phytopathometry deals with the assessments, guiding principles, and history of plant disease symptoms. Moore (1949) was the first scientist who made some initial efforts to discuss the significance of plant disease estimation; however, Chester (1950) accomplished the first conclusive literature review. The necessity of comprehensive terminologies in phytopathometry was admitted by the 1980s when a subcommittee was founded under the American Phytopathological Society (APS) that provided unanimity on the terms and concepts of the disease estimation (Nutter et al. 1991).

Various methods for estimating plant disease symptoms quantify the disease's prevalence, severity, intensity, or incidence. Commonly, two terms are used to describe the plant disease data, i.e., "estimate" (adopted to describe the results of assessments made on visual observation) and "measurement" (used for the assessments performed using hyperspectral or image analysis technology). Disease prevalence is the ratio or percentage of fields, states, countries, continents, etc. where the disease has been perceived. Disease incidence is the ratio or percentage of the diseased plant (or plant units, leaves, branches, fruits, etc.) out of the total number of assessed experimental units (Madden et al. 2007). Disease incidence equates to disease prevalence, but disease prevalence is used to describe the disease at a grander scale than incidence. Disease severity is the proportional description of the sampling unit's relative or absolute diseased area (fruits, stem portion, leaf, branches, etc.). Disease severity can also be described as the degree to which the sampling unit (plant, stem portion, fruits, branches, leaf, etc., or plot) is infected (Nutter et al. 1991). Disease intensity is a usual and broad-spectrum terminology used to narrate the quantity of disease detected in a described or defined populace (Nutter et al. 1991; Bock et al. 2021b).

#### 2.4 Visual Assessment of Plant Diseases

With the passage of time and advancements made in the field of disease estimation, various reviewers and plant pathologists have documented the developing prominence of visual assessment. Some of the most important literature on plant disease visual assessment revealed that visual estimation is a classical approach in phytopathometry. Throughout the course of about last 140 years, starting from the principal tool was made as a guide for the quantification of disease severity (Cobb 1892), different perspectives have been established to improve and standardize the precision of visual evaluations of plant disease severity (Anon 1947; Madden et al. 2007; Bock et al. 2010b, 2016, 2021b; Campbell and Madden 1990; Horsfall and Cowling 1978; Chaube and Singh 1991b; Chester 1950; Chiang et al. 2014; Cooke

2006; James 1974; Kranz 1988; Large 1966; Nilsson 1995; Nutter 1999; Del Ponte et al. 2017; Nutter and Esker 2006). After 2010, several reviews described the importance of visual estimation in phytopathometry.

# 2.4.1 Role of Human Eye and Brain in the Visual Estimation of Plant Disease

The most primitive remote sensing device is the human eye which works in combination with the human brain, where the human brain performs a system similar to image analysis (Nilsson 1995; De Jong and Van der Meer 2007). The functionality of the human eye for creating a picture and the principle of the camera to operate are much more similar. The part of the eye that receives and focuses a wide range of light rays is called the cornea, which bends these rays through the pupil. The iris surrounds this part of the eye (pupil). The function that is performed by the iris and pupil in the eye is done by the aperture in the camera. Then the inbound light inside the eye comes upon the lens that aids the light focus on the part of the eye at the back called the retina. This part of the eye is surrounded by photoreceptor nerve cells. The light rays are converted by these photoreceptor nerve cells into electrical impulses and then the optic nerves transmit these electrical impulses to the human brain, where an image is created as the result of the translation of these rays. In visual estimation, it is noteworthy that the eye and all the relevant brain tissues involved in acquiring the image, analyzing, and interpreting an object work very fast (Hubel 1995). With the help of the brain and eye functioning, the observer can estimate the effects and extent of the disease on any particular plant, branch, or leaf. In the previous 30 years, to our understanding, significant progress has been made in the factors that play an important role in the quality of visual estimation of diseases and their measurement, and this information about the progress has been utilized to develop such methods that can help in improving the rater's ability (Horsfall and Cowling 1978; Berger 1980; Chester 1950; Horsfall 1945; James 1971; Large 1966; Nutter and Esker 2006).

#### 2.4.2 Factors Inducing Error in the Visual Assessment of Diseases in Plants

The process of estimating the visual disease severity is likely to face several errors. This has been acknowledged since the beginning of phytopathology; however, the knowledge of these sources of inaccuracy has only lately been grounded in empirical research. Many factors and causes regarding errors induced in the rater's estimation, in different pathosystems, have been recognized and measured. Indeed, Smith et al. (1969) were the first researchers who quantified the error found in visual estimation of tomato leaf mold disease caused by Cladosporium.

#### 2.4.2.1 Variability in Raters' Disease Assessment Ability

Individual ability varies, as shown by several pieces of research using various pathosystems. Differences amongst individual and individual variations between disease assessments are highlighted by inter-rater and intra-rater reliability and measures of agreement (Amanat 1976, 1977; Newton and Hackett 1994; Bock et al. 2008a, 2009c; Guan and Nutter 2003; Nutter et al. 1993; Sherwood et al. 1983). Nutter et al. (1993) were the first to establish rater variability. However, Sherwood et al. (1983) revealed the effects of rater capability in their research, differentiating the rater estimations of infection induced by a fungus (Stagonospora arenaria) on the leaves of the Dactylis glomerata plant. The rater variability was also studied by Bock et al. (2009a). Some people are innate, to be precise, whereas others do not. Individual raters have a propensity to overestimate or underestimate; this propensity may be constant over the entire disease rating scale; alternatively, the rater might have to change propensities across the percentage scale's range (Bardsley and Ngugi 2013; Bock et al. 2009b; Godoy et al. 2006; Hau et al. 1989; Nita et al. 2003; Schwanck and Del Ponte 2014; Yadav et al. 2013). Regarding rater bias, quantitative ordinal scales can exacerbate type II error (Chiang et al. 2016a).

#### 2.4.2.2 Preferences of Disease Ratings for Severity

Various evidence concerning the fact that the raters mostly choose "preferred values" as a result, but more research is needed to understand this tendency fully. Individuals tended to favor specific values when estimating disease, according to Hau et al. (1989) and Koch and Hau (1980), who found that the individuals picked these values more frequently than predicted if the assessment was randomized based on the original conditions. Raters have presented a steady inclination for definite severities at intervals of 5%, and mostly 10% for the severities counted as greater than 10%. As a consequence, raters favor the intervals of 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, ..., 95%, and 100%, this methodology used to account for the severities can bring about possible errors (Bock et al. 2008a; Koch and Hau 1980; Schwanck and Del Ponte 2014).

#### 2.4.2.3 Amount of Lesions and Their Size Give an Overestimation of Disease Severity

At low disease severity levels, there is a typical tendency to overestimate, which is especially sensitive to the quantity and lesion size; more number of lesions present, the greater the trend to exaggerate or overestimate (Bock et al. 2008a; Nita et al. 2003; Sherwood et al. 1983; Forbes and Jeger 1987). Amanat (1976) discovered that regions beneath extensive lesions had lower mistake rates than minor lesions in the same area; similar results were also described by Hau et al. (1989). When compared to minor, random, or uniformly distributed lesions, it was also discovered by Forbes and Jeger (1987) that estimating the disease severity owing to fewer bigger lesions was less prone to error. Overestimation was reported to be widespread among raters by Godoy et al. (2006). Although it is widely known, the source of overestimation does not appear to have been adequately investigated (Amanat 1976; Bock et al. 2008b, 2009a; Beresford and Royle 1991; Sherwood et al. 1983).

#### 2.4.2.4 Structural Characteristics of Host and its Size

The quality of the severity assessment might be influenced by the plant structure being evaluated. It is worth noting, though, as a possible cause of error among units (Shokes et al. 1987; Christ 1991; Danielsen and Munk 2004; Forbes and Jeger 1987; Townsend 1943; Vereijssen et al. 2003). Based on compared estimations, it was discovered by Forbes and Jeger (1987) that plant structure had a substantial influence on disease, and they also revealed that the mean absolute error was between the range of 0.30% and 15.90% with mean absolute error ranging from 0.3% to 15.9% across the various plant architectures tested. Moreover, it demonstrates the significance of organ evaluation in connection to infection severity. The impact of the size of plant leaf was observed by Nita et al. (2003) and they discovered a tiny but substantial influence of the size of the leaflet on Phomopsis on strawberry severity assessment. Even though information regarding the creation and authentication of standard area diagrams may be helpful in this field, most diagrams are created for foliar diseases (Del Ponte et al. 2017).

#### 2.4.2.5 Time Spent on Estimating Plant Disease

It was found by Parker et al. (1995b) that accuracy was impacted by the time it took the evaluators to grade the disease; while quick evaluations weren't always less accurate, they were typically less accurate than delayed assessments. There is limited information on how long it takes to assess the severity of a condition, but on average, direct visual assessments of severity take around 7 s (Bock et al. 2009a; Martin and Rybicki 1998). Nutter et al. (1993) described that almost 32 min are required for the rater to evaluate the disease severity of Stagonospora on a defined quadrat with the dimension of  $80 \times 1 \text{ m}^2$  of bentgrass.

#### 2.4.2.6 Color Blindness

Persons with color blindness have a reduced capability to analyze the disease. The intensity of red/green colorblindness affects the estimate of infection severity on golf greens (Nilsson 1995).

#### 2.4.2.7 Interactions Between Multiple Factors

Several pieces of research have found interactions between numerous components although they have seldom been thoroughly investigated. In an analysis of variance involving a variety of factors, it was found by Bock et al. (2008b) and Sherwood et al. (1983) that there are some interactions between multiple factors such as actual area, individual rater, number of lesions, and rater groups. Nita et al. (2003) discovered numerous variables impacting disease estimations, including real infection, number of lesions, and the size of leaflets, but the latter had minimal effects. Finally, sampling strategy and the sample size must be considered to produce an impartial assessment of disease severity (Steddom et al. 2005; Madden et al. 2007).

#### 2.4.3 Methods for the Visual Assessment of Infection Severity in Plants

In 1917, the APS organized a committee that convened for several years (Anon 1917). A few years later, in 1933, the BMS formed a related committee to examine methods of recording and measuring disease occurrence and intensity (Large 1955; Moore 1943; Beaumont et al. 1933). Until 1950, the progress of disease estimation techniques was summarized by Chester (1950), as well as the expertise and technique advancements related to the young field of plant disease severity evaluation. A review of the many approaches used to measure disease severity visually is necessary, both historically and to assess their usefulness, applicability, and scientific basis. The visual evaluation of infection severity is based on many scales used in measurement science (Stevens 1946; Baird and Noma 1978). Several rating systems evaluate the severity of diseases using continuous or discrete factors (Sheskin 1997). Some attempt to be general, while other rating scales are personalized to specific phytopathogenic systems (Campbell and Madden 1990; Chester 1950; Madden et al. 2007; Nutter and Esker 2006). Because they lack a true zero, only interval scales are not taken into account for estimating the severity of plant diseases (it is impossible to estimate less than zero diseases). Nominal, ordinal, and ratio scales were used to assess the disease's severity. The following scales are used in visual plant disease evaluation:

#### 2.4.3.1 Nominal or Descriptive Scales

These are the most fundamental and perhaps most arbitrary metrics for determining the severity of infection (Nutter and Esker 2006; Chester 1950). These descriptive (qualitative) disease rating scales have previously been described and characterized in the literature (Bock et al. 2010b, 2016; Campbell and Madden 1990; Madden et al. 2007; Newell and Tysdal 1945). The disease is classified into several categories. Nominal scales are based on short descriptors that define the degree of disease, such as "no," "minor," "moderate," and "severe," or symbols such as "–" for no disease, "+," "++," and "+++" for the different magnitude of infection severity. Nominal scales are arbitrary and might vary based on the rater and the evaluation period. The data may be evaluated using statistical techniques based on rank or frequencies.

#### 2.4.3.2 Ordinal Scales

Plant pathologists frequently face circumstances where measuring nearest percent estimates (NPEs) of disease severity is either time demanding or quite impracticable. In these circumstances, the examiners often adopt an ordinal (quantitative or qualitative) scale for disease assessment (Shah and Madden 2004; Bock et al. 2010b). An ordinal scale illustrates the order of disease estimation or their ranking; however, the variations between the assumed classes are typically neither equivalent nor equal and may be quantitative, qualitative, or a combination of the two. These have been termed ordinal scales, interval scales, quantitative ordinal scales, and category scales in the literature (Bock et al. 2009c, 2016; Nutter and Esker 2006; Chiang et al. 2014; Hartung and Piepho 2007). The common alternative of nearest percent estimates

| Scale | Severity of disease symptoms  |
|-------|---|
| 0     | No visible symptoms   |
| 1     | Slightly mosaic symptoms on leaves  |
| 2     | Mosaic patches and/or necrotic lesions on leaves                                    |
| 3     | Leaves near apical meristem deformed slightly, yellow in color, and reduced in size |
| 4     | Apical meristem with mosaic symptoms and deformation                                |
| 5     | Extensive mosaic and severe deformation of leaves (or plant dead)                   |

**Table 2.1** A standard scale with 0–5 values was commonly used for severity assessment of watermelon mosaic virus and zucchini yellow mosaic virus on watermelon (after Xu et al. 2004)

(NPEs) is using ordinal scales to assess the disease severity. The severity of any plant disease acquired with an ordinal rating scale is a numeric variable although such kind of disease rating scale is based on symptoms' descriptions (Madden et al. 2007; Agresti 2007, 2010; Larrabee et al. 2014). The order of values in the qualitative ordinal scale is reasonably clear and significant; however, the numeric value of the differences is mostly unknown amongst each class. The "Likert scale" is an example of a qualitative ordinal scale (Likert 1932). The qualitative ordinal scale was developed based on some subjective classes of 1 = very little disease, 5 = medium disease, and 9 = very much disease. Such very concise and simple ordinal disease scales are very comprehensive and cannot be exchanged between location, raters, and situation (Chester 1950). By assigning a number to a symptom explanation, the disease's stage of development may be quantitatively assessed or signified. Such as watermelon diseases, i.e., watermelon mosaic virus (WMV) and zucchini yellow mosaic virus (ZYMV), have been evaluated on a six-classed (0–5) scale presented in Table 2.1 (Xu et al. 2004).

Conversely, the other type of ordinal scale is the quantitative ordinal scale which describes the successive numerical intervals or ranges. Such ordinal scales are usually based on disease symptoms with the percentage areas with specified differences between each class/category. The order of values for these ordinal scales is clear and significant, and each ordered number's magnitude is numerically constrained by a specific range (Bock et al. 2020). One of the important examples of this quantitative ordinal scale is the Horsfall-Barratt (H-B) disease rating scale. According to this scale, the disease severity from 0% to 100% was divided into 12 consecutive intervals based on logarithm, as shown in Table 2.2 (Horsfall and Barratt 1945). Numerous quantitative ordinal scales that divide the percent scale into different classes and interval sizes have been devised (Hunter and Roberts 1978; Hunter 1983; Forbes and Korva 1994; Hartung and Piepho 2007; Bardsley and Ngugi 2013; Chiang et al. 2014). Rating scales, commonly used for the estimation of diseases such as root diseases, systemic diseases, and diseases caused by several viruses, may be included in the category of quantitative ordinal scales, such as rating scales for diseases caused by cassava mosaic virus (CMV) and citrus greening disease that is also known as huanglongbing of citrus (Hahn et al. 1980; Gottwald et al. 2007). Another example in the support of this fact is Chiang et al. (2014), who showed that a 10% linear scale emphasizing severities  $\leq$ 50% infection and having
| H-B        |          | Ranges for infection   | Disease-free | Interval |
|------------|----------|------------------------|--------------|----------|
| categories | Midpoint | severity               | ranges       | size     |
| 1          | 0        | 0                      | 100          | 0        |
| 2          | 1.5      | 0 <sup>+</sup> to 3    | 97 to <100   | 3        |
| 3          | 4.5      | 3 <sup>+</sup> to 6    | 94 to <97    | 3        |
| 4          | 9.0      | 6 <sup>+</sup> to 12   | 88 to <94    | 6        |
| 5          | 18.5     | 12 <sup>+</sup> to 25  | 75 to <88    | 13       |
| 6          | 37.5     | 25 <sup>+</sup> to 50  | 50 to <75    | 25       |
| 7          | 62.5     | 50 <sup>+</sup> to 75  | 25 to <50    | 25       |
| 8          | 81.5     | 75 <sup>+</sup> to 88  | 12 to <25    | 13       |
| 9          | 91.0     | 88 <sup>+</sup> to 94  | 6 to <12     | 6        |
| 10         | 95.5     | 94 <sup>+</sup> to 97  | 3 to <6      | 3        |
| 11         | 98.5     | 97 <sup>+</sup> to 100 | 0 to <3      | 3        |
| 12         | 100      | 100                    | 0            | 0        |

**Table 2.2** The quantitative ordinal scale proposed by Horsfall and Barratt (H-B) shows the severity of disease and interval size ranges with their midpoints (Horsfall and Barratt 1945)

some extra categories at low disease severities, i.e.,  $\leq 10\%$  may be a viable alternative for estimating the disease severity (%) when a quantitative ordinal scale is selected preferably. In the section of instructions to authors, the APS instructs them to use an ordinal scale (APS 2020).

Equal or unequal intervals can be found among the categories or classes of quantitative ordinal scales (Horsfall and Barratt 1945; Horsfall and Heuberger 1942; Hunter and Roberts 1978). Horsfall–Barratt (H-B) scale is the most extensively used disease rating scale (Haynes et al. 2002; Jones and Stansly 2014; Kutcher et al. 2018; Miyasaka et al. 2012; Rioux et al. 2017; Strayer-Scherer et al. 2018). H-B scale is, however, established on the nonexistent Weber–Fechner law (that is related to human perception) (Nutter and Esker 2006), and raters' ability to assess in extensive categories in the middle of the scale is superior than what the scale suggested (Bock et al. 2009b; Nutter and Esker 2006; Forbes and Korva 1994). The findings of plant breeding experiments show an inappropriate scale structure (Xie et al. 2012). An amended quantitative ordinal scale has been established that offers a lesser possibility of type II error; this amended quantitative ordinal scale is endorsed wherever an ordinal scale is necessary (Chiang et al. 2014) (Table 2.3). Similar to the Cobb disease rating scale (Cobb 1892), other disease estimation interval scales are frequently supplemented by standard area diagrams (Large 1966; Chester 1950). The opinion reinforced the establishment of these ordinal scales that descriptive scales were less-than-ideal; certainly, Horsfall and Heuberger (1942) and McKinney (1923) established early interval scales to measure infection severity in a more quantifiable manner (Table 2.4).

An ordinal score's frequency can be adopted to calculate the disease severity index (DSI%) (Chester 1950). A rater uses the scale to quantify the severity of the disease on the specimens, and the result is used to calculate the disease severity index

| Ordinal equivalent | Disease severity range (%) | Midpoint |
|--------------------|----------------------------|----------|
| 0                  | -                          | -        |
| 1                  | 0 <sup>+</sup> to 0.1      | 0.05     |
| 2                  | 0.1 <sup>+</sup> to 0.5    | 0.30     |
| 3                  | 0.5 <sup>+</sup> to 1.0    | 0.75     |
| 4                  | 1.0 <sup>+</sup> to 2.0    | 1.50     |
| 5                  | 2.0 <sup>+</sup> to 5.0    | 3.50     |
| 6                  | 5.0 <sup>+</sup> to 10.0   | 7.50     |
| 7                  | 10.0 <sup>+</sup> to 20.0  | 15.0     |
| 8                  | 20.0 <sup>+</sup> to 30.0  | 25.0     |
| 9                  | 30.0 <sup>+</sup> to 40.0  | 35.0     |
| 10                 | 40.0 <sup>+</sup> to 50.0  | 45.0     |
| 11                 | 50.0 <sup>+</sup> to 60.0  | 55.0     |
| 12                 | 60.0 <sup>+</sup> to 70.0  | 65.0     |
| 13                 | 70.0 <sup>+</sup> to 80.0  | 75.0     |
| 14                 | 80.0 <sup>+</sup> to 90.0  | 85.0     |
| 15                 | 90.0 <sup>+</sup> to 100.0 | 95.0     |

**Table 2.3** An improved<br/>quantitative ordinal scale<br/>with 16-class values for the<br/>general assessment of plant<br/>disease severity based on<br/>the scale developed by<br/>Chiang et al. (2014)

| Table 2.4 An early inter-   |
|-----------------------------|
| val scales proposed by      |
| Horsfall and Heuberger      |
| (1942) for disease severity |
| assessment in a more        |
| quantitative way            |

T.I.I. 0.4

| Disease severity in terms of leaf area  |
|---|
| Superficially no sign of infection      |
| From trace to 25% infected area of leaf |
| From 26% to 50% infected area of leaf   |
| From 51% to 75% infected area of leaf   |
| More than 75% infected area of leaf     |
|   |

(%) (Chaube and Singh 1991a; Chester 1950; Vieira et al. 2012; Hunter and Roberts 1978; Kora et al. 2005).

DSI (%) = 
$$\frac{\left[\sum(\text{score of rating class} \times \text{class frequency})\right]}{\left[(\text{maximal disease index}) \times (\text{total number of plants})\right]} \times 100$$

Although there may be a correlation between real severity and a severity index, the two terms cannot be used synonymously because of their fundamental differences. If the rating class's midpoint values are ignored, recent investigations by Chiang et al. (2017a, b) showed that the Disease Severity Index could be principally vulnerable to overestimation when employing the aforementioned approach.

#### 2.4.3.3 Ratio Scales

Such types of scales are percentage-based scales that are commonly extensively utilized in assessing plant diseases in several pathosystems to determine the severity of any plant disease. To the best of the rater's capability, the continuous percent scale has the following benefits: (a) the limits (upper and lower) of a ratio scale are constantly defined, i.e., 0.0% and 100.0%, (b) this scale is widely recognized,

(c) divisions and sub-divisions are easy to make, and (d) it is commonly used as a method of measuring area coverage. Regarding evaluation accuracy and dependability, raters differ significantly (Bock et al. 2010b).

Numerous diseases allow for the estimate of severity using ratio scales. A rater measures the percentage of the plant parts exhibiting disease symptoms and determines the severity using a percentage scale that spans from 0% to 100%. Many people use the % scale to visually judge severity (latest cases include Bock and Chiang 2019; Gent et al. 2018; Xue et al. 2019; Hamada et al. 2019). The data on the % scale may be analyzed using some suitable statistical tools like parametric statistics and standard deviations.

Few researchers have examined how to decrease type II error chances while minimizing the utilization of specimen numbers and evaluation techniques in visual disease assessment (Chiang et al. 2016b). The study's findings showed that significant factors must be under consideration for enhancing the validity of hypothesis tests include the selection of assessment techniques, optimizing specimen counts, and the number of duplicate estimations while adopting a balanced experimental design (Bock et al. 2020).

## 2.4.4 Strategies to Enhance the Accuracy of Visual Estimates

A careful comparison between estimated values and actual values must be considered to detect and quantify error features. Once the inaccuracy has been established, methods for correcting it may be created, and subsequent improvements can be assessed against the original data. As a result, creating a baseline of understanding mistakes is critical throughout the process to identify the origins and assess improvement. Several investigations conducted over the last 30 years have proven the range of skills among both experienced professionals and inexperienced nonprofessionals visual assessors in a variety of pathosystems with a wide range of infection symptoms (Amanat 1976; Bock et al. 2008a, 2009c, 2010b; Kranz 1988; Nita et al. 2003; Nutter et al. 1993; O'Brien and van Bruggen 1992; Sherwood et al. 1983; Weber and Jorg 1991). The approaches listed below can be used to increase the accuracy of estimates:

#### 2.4.4.1 Computer-Based Training

It was exposed by Nutter and Schultz (1995) that the computer-based trainings play an important role to enhance precision levels; however, this effect may be transient (Parker et al. 1995b). On the other hand, training may diminish accuracy in a few circumstances, presumably due to the training on some specific pathosystems which are unrelated to the one utilized in practice (Bardsley and Ngugi 2013). It was also discovered by Nutter and Schultz (1995) that the coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ) of a rater was increased from 0.825 to 0.933 after the completion of computer-based training. The coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ) describes the precision level. Training software applications such as DISTRAIN (Tomerlin and Howell 1988) and severity were created for earlier computer operating systems (Nutter and Litwiller 1998). There are no new or updated versions of these computer-generated image-based training programs; they may have been superseded by training raters using true-color photographs of symptoms paired with standard area diagram technology.

## 2.4.4.2 General Field/Lab Training

The capacity to estimate properly is influenced by experience in detecting infection signs. Although some novice raters may be more accurate than others, skilled raters tend to be more precise as a group (González-Domínguez et al. 2014; Yadav et al. 2013). Training raters improve reliability and agreement, historically done with field material (Nutter and Schultz 1995). The disadvantages are that it is frequently a busy time of year and that training needs field trips. As samples age, they lose disease-specific characteristics. Training raters in the field is undoubtedly valuable, but this has not been fully explored, most likely due to logistical constraints and the simplicity of training provided by SADs and computer assessment programs. Although not in the field, Amanat (1976) demonstrated that repeated training with feedback improved the precision of disease assessment by numerous raters by using photographs of leaves with varying-sized lesions and areas affected.

# 2.4.4.3 Role of Standard Area Diagrams (SADs) Towards Improved Accuracy

A straightforward and extensively adopted method for improving the accuracy and precision of rater estimations is the development of standard area diagrams. Cobb's (1892) diagrams are the oldest evaluation aid. SADs were later created by James (1971) for various crops. Over the previous 2.5 decades, investigation on standard area diagram creation and authentication has increased, which highlights the significance of SADs in enhancing precision. Gains from SADs vary across raters and throughout pathosystems (Schwanck and Del Ponte 2014; Spolti et al. 2011) and are often higher for the least accurate raters (Braido et al. 2014; Debona et al. 2015; Duan et al. 2015; González-Domínguez et al. 2014; Yadav et al. 2013). Vary from >0.4 for novice raters to 0, with inherently accurate raters seeing a little loss in agreement. Overall, using standard area diagrams helps standardize raters, improving inter-rater reliability (a result of the accuracy of severity estimates on individual specimens) (Domiciano et al. 2014; Duarte et al. 2013; González-Domínguez et al. 2014; Spolti et al. 2011). Although some are more cautious, this is an excellent agreement in measurement science (Altman 1990). When standard area diagrams are not employed, the agreement is frequently less than 0.85. There may be symptomatic patterns in which unassisted assessments are highly correct, so SADs are less valuable (Bock et al. 2020).

## 2.4.5 Implementation in Experimentation and Its Future

Visual evaluations are the most commonly used at the level of distinct organs, plants, and, sometimes, at the field level. The statistics obtained are, however, employed at the local and universal levels. Estimating disease severity visually at the field level is

legitimately outdated. Evaluation of disease severity has been used to calculate the consequence of applied treatments, measure the influence of disease on production, conduct surveys, and estimate the disease severity on various varieties/ cultivars, among other things. For instance, in the 1950s, a key (rating scale) was devised to assess the late blight of potatoes at the field level in the United Kingdom (Moore 1943). Although such kinds of field estimation keys are acceptable for disease severity evaluation, they are not studied further because they have not been used very commonly in recent years.

Visual grading systems will be the most important method of evaluating plant diseases in the predictable future. Undoubtedly, newly developed technology will continue to provide more. Therefore, the best techniques for assessing disease severity, determining the degree of estimation error, and minimizing that error is highly sought. Consider the accuracy and agreement required for the disease assessment task while selecting an assessment system. Studies should, if feasible, employ approaches that maximize rater consistency and agreement with the authentic values.

# 2.5 Estimation of Plant Diseases by Adopting Image Analysis Technique

Digital cameras are a low-cost and readily available resource that may be utilized for various plant pathology applications. Photography (digital and formerly film) has been used for many decades to identify, measure, and investigate diseases and infections. In the 1920s, aerial film photography of infected agricultural fields was started (Neblette 1927), which helped the farmers and researchers in the detection of disease and its quantification (Johnson et al. 2003; Bauer et al. 1971; Toler et al. 1981; Brenchley 1964; Colwell 1956; Jones et al. 2006; Manzer and Cooper 1967; Schneider and Safir 1975; Wallen and Jackson 1971). In the plant pathology, digital image analysis has been used to measure and analyze microscopic pathogen and host physiology and development (Diéguez-Uribeondo et al. 2003; Hilber and Schiiepp 1992; Seiffert and Schweizer 2005; Smith and Dickson 1991) along with dispersal of the pathogen (Diéguez-Uribeondo et al. 2003; Fitt et al. 1982; Hilber and Schiiepp 1992; Smith and Dickson 1991;).

The assessments made based on image analysis under the visible spectrum have the potential to be precise, repeatable, and replicable (Barbedo 2014; Bock et al. 2008b; Clement et al. 2015; Martin and Rybicki 1998). Lindow and Webb (1983) were among the early innovators of plant disease and digital image analysis. More sophisticated algorithms and statistical techniques, particularly after 2000, have increased the ability to distinguish symptomatic diseased tissue from healthy tissues in digital pictures (Bock and Nutter 2012; Barbedo 2013, 2016a, 2017, 2019).

#### 2.5.1 Role of Digital Equipment Toward Image Acquisition

The most common equipment used for image acquisition is slide scanners, video cameras, traditional film cameras, flat-bed scanners, and digital cameras. Digital cameras have quickly replaced film cameras as the principal means of imaging samples. There is a wide variety of capacities, and it would be unreasonable to try a summary of their advantages and disadvantages. This section will offer a high-level review of digital images related to picture capture. The latest research was published in an American journal named plant disease. The study explained the information regarding digital images and digital camera-based image capturing techniques (Ricker 2004); this published material explained some elements of this useful technology to phytopathologists. A flat-bed scanner can also be used to produce digital pictures. This equipment is used to process negatives of photographs and old photographic prints. Information is then received and flowed through the imaging process, from the choice of the sample unit to record to the measurement of the sick region (Price and Osborne 1990; Nilsson 1995).

Different cameras and image capture systems record in the visible spectrum. Portable red-green-blue (RGB) sensors are commonly accessible. With the introduction of portable cameras, the possibility of conveniently collecting countless photos has multiplied (Pethybridge and Nelson 2015). The use of digital video sensors, analog video cameras, and flat-bed scanners for the acquisition of images is very common (Clement et al. 2015; Hetzroni et al. 1994; Kwack et al. 2005; Lindow and Webb 1983; Berner and Paxson 2003; Lloret et al. 2011; Olmstead et al. 2001; O'Neal et al. 2002; Škaloudová et al. 2006; Martin and Rybicki 1998).

## 2.5.2 Protocols for Analysis of Images and Their Processing

## 2.5.2.1 Common Software Used for Image Analysis

The researchers, during their research work, use some specific software provided by third-party for the assessment of disease severity in plants, such as a software named "Assess" (De Coninck et al. 2012; Bock et al. 2008a, b, 2009a, b, c; El Jarroudi et al. 2015; Horvath and Vargas 2005; Sun et al. 2014; Mirik et al. 2006; Steddom et al. 2005), which was originally introduced during the year of 2002 (Lamari 2002). While using the software "Assess," the users have to define the segmentation parameters for automation before proceeding; however, this only works if all photographs were collected in similar environments (Bock et al. 2009a). Sigma Pro, ImageJ, Adobe Photoshop, and Scion Image Software are examples of other software (Peressotti et al. 2011; Berner and Paxson 2003; Abràmoff et al. 2004; Kwack et al. 2005; Olmstead et al. 2001; Laflamme et al. 2016; O'Neal et al. 2002; Stewart and McDonald 2014; Cui et al. 2010; Wijekoon et al. 2008; Goodwin and Hsiang 2010; Kerguelen and Hoddle 1999). There were 20 programs described in the SAD evaluation to acquire real severity measures although Assess and Quant were the most widely utilized (Vale et al. 2003; Del Ponte et al. 2017).

#### 2.5.2.2 Processing of the Image

After obtaining the image, it may be altered using various image processing and analysis software programs. Color and contrast may be adjusted; photos can be rotated, sharpened, reversed, or modified. Adobe Photoshop (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA) is a comprehensive software suite that provides several choices for picture enhancement. Most image analysis systems provide editing and alteration tools, such as edge enhancement, geometric adjustments, etc.

#### 2.5.2.3 Validation of Assessment

The image assessed measurement is validated by comparing it to an authentic or "gold standard" reference. A visual assessment may determine the real value (El Jarroudi et al. 2015; De Coninck et al. 2012; Steddom et al. 2005) or manually determined image analysis data (Bock et al. 2009c; Martin and Rybicki 1998; Peressotti et al. 2011). Although for assessing the accuracy of the image analysis system, the regression analysis has regularly been incorporated in the studies (Horvath and Vargas 2005), however, additional statistical principles are frequently utilized to give further significant understandings (Stewart and McDonald 2014; De Coninck et al. 2012; Bock et al. 2009c). As the investigational systems and circumstances differ among investigations, therefore the findings are not all the time analogous; stated variances based on regressions/coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ) and correlations coefficient (r) lie between the range of 0.70 and 1.00 (Martin and Rybicki 1998; Peressotti et al. 2011; Steddom et al. 2005; De Coninck et al. 2012).

#### 2.5.3 The Preciseness of Image Analysis

In recent years, there has been an increase in the number of researches using Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) (a technique used for entity identification and classification under deep learning). To automatically recognize two severity categories of cassava mosaic virus disease (CMVD), Ramcharan et al. (2019) utilized a convolutional neural network and 2415 leaf samples from the cassava plant. The precision for the detection of low severity was observed as 29.40%. According to Esgario et al. (2020), the accuracy of deep learning was up to 84.13% when determining the severity of various coffee infections. According to the research of Wang et al. (2017), the disease severity percentage of black rot disease of apple leaf, based on the four severity categories, varied between 83.3% and 100%. Therefore, compared to visual assessment utilizing a 0–100% scale, accuracy estimations are frequently considered at a lower resolution. For a hypothesis test, the scale type, the number of intervals in the rating scale, and the replications may differ significantly (Bock et al. 2010a; Chiang et al. 2014, 2016a, b, 2020).

Low accuracy is frequently reported in studies employing VIS spectrum photos taken in the field. Two factors are likely to be the leading causes of the variance in image analysis. First, the circumstances in which the photos were taken and the symptoms' range. Examples of systems suggested by Hu et al. (2017), Barbedo

(2017), and Macedo-Cruz et al. (2011), which produced images with 84%, 91%, and 92% precision, respectively, are examples of images taken in variable conditions; while the systems recommended by Stewart et al. (2016), Kruse et al. (2014) and Patil and Bodhe (2011) are the examples of images taken in controlled environments that exhibited in 94%, 95%, and 98% precision, respectively. Second, accuracy will be impacted by the exact reference values used to compare the estimations. Subjectivity will be closely tied to the rater's perceptions when the reference is a visual estimation (Bock et al. 2008b).

## 2.5.4 Error Sources Impacting Accuracy

#### 2.5.4.1 Machinist

The system operators must correctly match the symptoms to the diagnosis criteria. However, measurements made by hand utilizing image analysis are vulnerable to error. Actual results from image analysis that are used to verify automated methodologies (or other evaluation techniques) are uncertain (Bock et al. 2008b; Barbedo 2013). But the error should be small.

## 2.5.4.2 Differences in Infection Signs, Host, and Background

For deep learning models to be effective, they must be trained on the images that cover a variety of scenarios. For most alternative procedures, segmenting the leaf and the disease is necessary (Barbedo 2016a). The variations in weather conditions, reflections, contrasts, brightness, and several many other variables are of much importance for developing the threshold values. The variation in these aforementioned factors affects the threshold values that are generally developed for one set of circumstances and when these factors variate the threshold values also become changed for a new set of circumstances (Barbedo 2014). Relying on the circumstances such as how environmental variables interact, and the growth stage, symptoms may change (Patil and Bodhe 2011; Mutka et al. 2016). Automatically separating picture components from field-captured photos is a provocative and complicated issue for which solutions have only been discovered in recent times (Zhang et al. 2018). A screen behind the leaf before image collection can simplify automatic segmentation (Pethybridge and Nelson 2015; El Jarroudi et al. 2015; Shrivastava et al. 2015), but this increases the time and difficulty of image acquisition. Due to this, most techniques that employ photos acquired in the field need the user to segment the leaves manually (Barbedo 2014, 2016b, 2017).

#### 2.5.4.3 Actual Values

It is not simple to evaluate measurements acquired using the VIS image analysis. Different methods (such as through image analysis technique (El Jarroudi et al. 2015; Peressotti et al. 2011), visual estimation of the specialists, or sometimes some other methodologies (Martin and Rybicki 1998)) can be used to create the "gold standard" reference. Because of subjectivity, even manually depicted picture analysis might hold onto rater error, and in this manner, the systems established rely upon

the references they are entrusted to emulate; they could differ if other "gold standard" references were utilized.

#### 2.5.4.4 System Limitations

Despite the effectiveness of specific cutting-edge methods, such as deep learning, pictures in the visible range occasionally lack the information necessary to discriminate between severity classes. Combining several imaging techniques in these circumstances could be a workable approach (Berdugo et al. 2014), possibly at the expense of increased prices and decreased mobility.

## 2.5.5 Prospects of Image Analysis for Plant Disease Estimation

Due to the advancement in technology and the more flexibility and capability of software toward the differentiation of diseases, the use and application of image analysis techniques have been continuously increasing in the field of disease assessment. Over the last three decades, the image analysis technique has turned out to be an extensively used disease severity estimation research tool. This technique of disease estimation will also be used in the future as well and provide a rising role in plant disease evaluation due to its potential for trustworthiness and accuracy.

## References

- Abràmoff, M.D., P.J. Magalhães, and S.J. Ram. 2004. Image processing with ImageJ. *Biophotonics International* 11: 36–42.
- Agresti, A. 2007. *An introduction to analysis of ordinal categorical data*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- -------. 2010. Analysis of ordinal categorical data. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

Altman, D.G. 1990. Practical statistics for medical research. London: CRC Press.

Amanat, P. 1976. Stimuli affecting disease assessment. *Agriculturae Conspectus Scientificus* 39: 27–31.

——. 1977. Modellversuche zur Ermittlung individueller und objektabhgiger schätzfehler bei pflanzenkrankenheiten. Diss Univ Gießen Cited Hau, B, Kranz, J, Konig, R, 649–674.

Anon. 1917. Miscellaneous business. Phytopathology 7: 149.

- . 1947. The measurement of potato blight. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society* 31: 140–141.
- APS. 2020. Instruction to authors. St Paul, MN: American Phytopathological Society. https:// apsjournals.apsnet.org/page/authorinformation#preparing.
- Baird, J.C., and E.J. Noma. 1978. *Fundamentals of scaling and psychophysics*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Barbedo, A. 2013. Digital image processing techniques for detecting, quantifying and classifying plant diseases. *SpringerPlus* 2: 1–12.
- Barbedo, J.G.A. 2014. An automatic method to detect and measure leaf disease symptoms using digital image processing. *Plant Disease* 98: 1709–1716.
- 2016a. A novel algorithm for semi-automatic segmentation of plant leaf disease symptoms using digital image processing. *Tropical Plant Pathology* 41: 210–224.

—. 2017. A new automatic method for disease symptom segmentation in digital photographs of plant leaves. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 147: 349–364.

- ——. 2019. Plant disease identification from individual lesions and spots using deep learning. *Biosystems Engineering* 180: 96–107.
- Bardsley, S.J., and H.K. Ngugi. 2013. Reliability and accuracy of visual methods to quantify severity of foliar bacterial spot symptoms on peach and nectarine. *Plant Pathology* 62: 460–474.
- Bauer, M.E., R.P. Mroczynski, R.B. MacDonald, and R.M. Hoffer. 1971. Detection of southern corn leaf blight using color infrared aerial photography. In *Aer color photogr plant sci relat fields proc*.
- Beaumont, A., R.W. Marsh, H.B. Bescoby, and W.B. Brierley. 1933. Symposium and discussion on the measurement of disease intensity. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society* 18: 174–186.
- Berdugo, C.A., R. Zito, S. Paulus, and A. Mahlein. 2014. Fusion of sensor data for the detection and differentiation of plant diseases in cucumber. *Plant Pathology* 63: 1344–1356.
- Beresford, R.M., and D.J. Royle. 1991. The assessment of infectious disease for brown rust (Puccinia hordei) of barley. *Plant Pathology* 40: 374–381.
- Berger RD (1980) Measuring disease intensity. Crop loss assess.
- Berner, D.K., and L.K. Paxson. 2003. Use of digital images to differentiate reactions of collections of yellow starthistle (Centaurea solstitialis) to infection by Puccinia jaceae. *Biological Control* 28: 171–179.
- Bock, C.H., and K.-S. Chiang. 2019. Disease incidence–severity relationships on leaflets, leaves, and fruit in the pecan–Venturia effusa pathosystem. *Plant Disease* 103: 2865–2876.
- Bock, C.H., and F.W. Nutter. 2012. Detection and measurement of plant disease symptoms using visible-wavelength photography and image analysis. *Plant Science Reviews* 6: 73.
- Bock, C.H., P.E. Parker, A.Z. Cook, and T.R. Gottwald. 2008a. Visual rating and the use of image analysis for assessing different symptoms of citrus canker on grapefruit leaves. *Plant Disease* 92: 530–541.

——. 2008b. Characteristics of the perception of different severity measures of citrus canker and the relationships between the various symptom types. *Plant Disease* 92: 927–939.

- Bock, C.H., A.Z. Cook, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2009a. Automated image analysis of the severity of foliar citrus canker symptoms. *Plant Disease* 93: 660–665.
- Bock, C.H., T.R. Gottwald, P.E. Parker, et al. 2009b. The Horsfall-Barratt scale and severity estimates of citrus canker. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 125: 23–38.
- Bock, C.H., P.E. Parker, A.Z. Cook, et al. 2009c. Comparison of assessment of citrus canker foliar symptoms by experienced and inexperienced raters. *Plant Disease* 93: 412–424.
- Bock, C.H., T.R. Gottwald, P.E. Parker, et al. 2010a. Some consequences of using the Horsfall-Barratt scale for hypothesis testing. *Phytopathology* 100: 1030–1041.
- Bock, C.H., G.H. Poole, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2010b. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *CRC Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29: 59–107.
- Bock, C.H., K. Chiang, and E.M. Del Ponte. 2016. Accuracy of plant specimen disease severity estimates: concepts, history, methods, ramifications and challenges for the future. *CAB Reviews* 11: 1–21.
- Bock, C.H., J.G.A. Barbedo, E.M. Del Ponte, et al. 2020. From visual estimates to fully automated sensor-based measurements of plant disease severity: status and challenges for improving accuracy. *Phytopathology Research* 2: 1–30.
- Bock, C.H., K.-S. Chiang, and E.M. Del Ponte. 2021a. Plant disease severity estimated visually: a century of research, best practices, and opportunities for improving methods and practices to maximize accuracy. *Tropical Plant Pathology* 47: 1–18.
- Bock, C.H., S.J. Pethybridge, J.G.A. Barbedo, et al. 2021b. A phytopathometry glossary for the twenty-first century: towards consistency and precision in intra-and inter-disciplinary dialogues. *Tropical Plant Pathology* 47: 1–11.

- Braido, R., A.M.O. Goncalves-Zuliani, V. Janeiro, et al. 2014. Development and validation of standard area diagrams as assessment aids for estimating the severity of citrus canker on unripe oranges. *Plant Disease* 98: 1543–1550.
- Brenchley, G.H. 1964. Aerial photography for the study of potato blight epidemics. *World Review* of Pest Control 3: 68–84.
- Burdon, J.J., P.H. Thrall, and L. Ericson. 2006. The current and future dynamics of disease in plant communities. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 44: 19–39.
- Campbell, C.L., and L.V. Madden. 1990. *Introduction to plant disease epidemiology*. New York: John Wiley.
- Chaube, H.S., and U.S. Singh. 1991a. *Plant disease management: principles and practices*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Chaube, H.S., and V.S. Singh. 1991b. Pathometry-assessment of disease incidence and loss. In Plant disease management: principles and practices, 119–131. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Chester, K.S. 1950. *Plant disease losses: their appraisal and interpretation*. Beltsville, MD: Plant Disease Survey.
- Chiang, K.-S., S.-C. Liu, C.H. Bock, and T.R. Gottwald. 2014. What interval characteristics make a good categorical disease assessment scale? *Phytopathology* 104: 575–585.
- Chiang, K.-S., C.H. Bock, M. El Jarroudi, et al. 2016a. Effects of rater bias and assessment method on disease severity estimation with regard to hypothesis testing. *Plant Pathology* 65: 523–535.
- Chiang, K.-S., C.H. Bock, I.-H. Lee, et al. 2016b. Plant disease severity assessment—how rater bias, assessment method, and experimental design affect hypothesis testing and resource use efficiency. *Phytopathology* 106: 1451–1464.
- Chiang, K.S., H.I. Liu, and C.H. Bock. 2017a. A discussion on disease severity index values. Part I: warning on inherent errors and suggestions to maximise accuracy. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 171: 139–154.
- Chiang, K.S., H.I. Liu, J.W. Tsai, et al. 2017b. A discussion on disease severity index values. Part II: using the disease severity index for null hypothesis testing. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 171: 490–505.
- Chiang, K.-S., H.I. Liu, Y.L. Chen, et al. 2020. Quantitative ordinal scale estimates of plant disease severity: comparing treatments using a proportional odds model. *Phytopathology* 110: 734–743.
- Christ, B.J. 1991. Effect of disease assessment method on ranking potato cultivars for resistance to early blight. *Plant Disease* 75: 353.
- Clement, A., T. Verfaille, C. Lormel, and B. Jaloux. 2015. A new colour vision system to quantify automatically foliar discolouration caused by insect pests feeding on leaf cells. *Biosystems Engineering* 133: 128–140.
- Cobb, N.A. 1892. Contributions to an economic knowledge of the Australian rusts (Uredineae). *Agricultural Gazette of New South Wales* 3: 44–48.
- Colwell, R. 1956. Determining the prevalence of certain cereal crop diseases by means of aerial photography. *Hilgardia* 26: 223–286.
- Cooke, B.M. 2006. Disease assessment and yield loss. In *The epidemiology of plant diseases*, 43–80. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Cui, D., Q. Zhang, M. Li, et al. 2010. Image processing methods for quantitatively detecting soybean rust from multispectral images. *Biosystems Engineering* 107: 186–193.
- Danielsen, S., and L. Munk. 2004. Evaluation of disease assessment methods in quinoa for their ability to predict yield loss caused by downy mildew. *Crop Protection* 23: 219–228.
- De Coninck, B.M.A., O. Amand, S.L. Delauré, et al. 2012. The use of digital image analysis and real-time PCR fine-tunes bioassays for quantification of Cercospora leaf spot disease in sugar beet breeding. *Plant Pathology* 61: 76–84.
- De Jong, S.M., and F.D. Van der Meer. 2007. Remote sensing image analysis: including the spatial domain. Dordrecht: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Debona, D., K.J.T. Nascimento, D. Rezende, et al. 2015. A set of standard area diagrams to assess severity of frogeye leaf spot on soybean. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 142: 603–614.

- Del Ponte, E.M., S.J. Pethybridge, C.H. Bock, et al. 2017. Standard area diagrams for aiding severity estimation: scientometrics, pathosystems, and methodological trends in the last 25 years. *Phytopathology* 107: 1161–1174.
- Diéguez-Uribeondo, J., H. Förster, and J.E. Adaskaveg. 2003. Digital image analysis of internal light spots of appressoria of Colletotrichum acutatum. *Phytopathology* 93: 923–930.
- Domiciano, G.P., H.S.S. Duarte, E.N. Moreira, and F.A. Rodrigues. 2014. Development and validation of a set of standard area diagrams to aid in estimation of spot blotch severity on wheat leaves. *Plant Pathology* 63: 922–928.
- Duan, J., B. Zhao, Y. Wang, and W. Yang. 2015. Development and validation of a standard area diagram set to aid estimation of bacterial spot severity on tomato leaves. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 142: 665–675.
- Duarte, H.S.S., L. Zambolim, A.S. Capucho, et al. 2013. Development and validation of a set of standard area diagrams to estimate severity of potato early blight. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 137: 249–257.
- El Jarroudi, M., A.L. Kouadio, C. Mackels, et al. 2015. A comparison between visual estimates and image analysis measurements to determine Septoria leaf blotch severity in winter wheat. *Plant Pathology* 64: 355–364.
- Esgario, J.G.M., R.A. Krohling, and J.A. Ventura. 2020. Deep learning for classification and severity estimation of coffee leaf biotic stress. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 169: 105162.
- Fitt, B.D.L., M. Lysandrou, and R.H. Turner. 1982. Measurement of spore-carrying splash droplets using photographic film and an image-analysing computer. *Plant Pathology* 31: 19–24.
- Forbes, G.A., and M.J. Jeger. 1987. Factors affecting the estimation of disease intensity in simulated plant structures/Faktoren, die das Schätzen der Befallsintensität von Pflanzenkrankheiten beeinflussen. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz/Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection 94: 113–120.
- Forbes, G.A., and J.T. Korva. 1994. The effect of using a Horsfall-Barratt scale on precision and accuracy of visual estimation of potato late blight severity in the field. *Plant Pathology* 43: 675–682.
- Gaunt, R.E. 1995. The relationship between plant disease severity and yield. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 33: 119–144.
- Gent, D.H., B.J. Claassen, M.C. Twomey, et al. 2018. Susceptibility of hop crown buds to powdery mildew and its relation to perennation of Podosphaera macularis. *Plant Disease* 102: 1316–1325.
- Godoy, C.V., L.J. Koga, and M.G. Canteri. 2006. Diagrammatic scale for assessment of soybean rust severity. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 31: 63–68.
- González-Domínguez, E., R.B. Martins, E.M. Del Ponte, et al. 2014. Development and validation of a standard area diagram set to aid assessment of severity of loquat scab on fruit. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 139: 419–428.
- Goodwin, P.H., and T. Hsiang. 2010. Quantification of fungal infection of leaves with digital images and Scion Image software. In *Molecular and cell biology methods for fungi*, 125–135. Totowa, NJ: Springer.
- Gottwald, T.R., J.V. da Graça, and R.B. Bassanezi. 2007. Citrus huanglongbing: the pathogen and its impact. *Plant Health Progress* 8: 31.
- Guan, J., and F.W. Nutter. 2003. Quantifying the intrarater repeatability and interrater reliability of visual and remote-sensing disease-assessment methods in the alfalfa foliar pathosystem. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 25: 143–149.
- Hahn, S.K., A.K. Howland, and E.R. Terry. 1980. Correlated resistance of cassava to mosaic and bacterial blight diseases. *Euphytica* 29: 305–311.
- Hamada, N.A., R.R. Moreira, C.N. Nesi, and L.L. May De Mio. 2019. Pathogen dispersal and Glomerella leaf spot progress within apple canopy in Brazil. *Plant Disease* 103: 3209–3217.
- Hartung, K., and H.-P. Piepho. 2007. Are ordinal rating scales better than percent ratings? a statistical and "psychological" view. *Euphytica* 155: 15–26.

- Hau, B., J. Kranz, and R. König. 1989. Fehler beim Schätzen von Befallsstärken bei Pflanzenkrankheiten/Errors in the assessment of plant disease severities. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz/Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection 96: 649–674.
- Haynes, K.G., B.J. Christ, D.P. Weingartner, et al. 2002. Foliar resistance to late blight in potato clones evaluated in national trials in 1997. American Journal of Potato Research 79: 451–457.
- Hetzroni, A., G.E. Miles, B.A. Engel, et al. 1994. Machine vision monitoring of plant health. *Advances in Space Research* 14: 203–212.
- Hilber, U.W., and H. Schiiepp. 1992. Accurate and rapid measurement of lengths of fungal germ tubes by image analysis. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 14: 185–186.
- Horsfall, J.G. 1945. Fungicides and their action. Annals of Crypto Phytopathology II: 239.
- Horsfall, J.G., and R.W. Barratt. 1945. An improved grading system for measuring plant diseases [Abstract]. *Phytopathology* 35: 655.
- Horsfall, J.G., and E.B. Cowling. 1978. *Pathometry: the measurement of plant disease*. New York: Academic Press.
- Horsfall, J.G., and J.W. Heuberger. 1942. Measuring magnitude of a defoliation disease of tomatoes. *Phytopathology* 32: 226–232.
- Horvath, B., and J. Vargas. 2005. Analysis of dollar spot disease severity using digital image analysis. *International Turfgrass Society Research Journal* 10: 196–201.
- Hu, Q., J. Tian, and D. He. 2017. Wheat leaf lesion color image segmentation with improved multichannel selection based on the Chan–Vese model. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 135: 260–268.
- Hubel, D.H. 1995. *Eye, brain, and vision*. New York: Scientific American Library/Scientific American Books.
- Hunter, R.E. 1983. Influence of scab on late season nut drop of pecans. Plant Disease 67: 806-807.
- Hunter, R.E., and D.D. Roberts. 1978. A disease grading system for pecan scab [Fusicladium effusum]. *Pecan Quarterly* 13: 3.
- James WC (1971) An illustrated series of assessment keys for plant diseases, their preparation and usage.
- James, W.C. 1974. Assessment of plant diseases and losses. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 12: 27–48.
- Johnson, D.A., J.R. Alldredge, P.B. Hamm, and B.E. Frazier. 2003. Aerial photography used for spatial pattern analysis of late blight infection in irrigated potato circles. *Phytopathology* 93: 805–812.
- Jones, M.M., and P.A. Stansly. 2014. Frequent low volume sprays of horticultural mineral oil (HMO) for psyllid and leafminer control. *Journal of Citrus Pathology* 1. https://doi.org/10. 5070/C411025096.
- Jones, D.C., C.M. Rush, M. Bredehoeft, and A. Cattanach. 2006. Use of digital imagery to estimate crop loss due to Rhizomania in fields planted to Rhizomania resistant cultivars. *Phytopathology* 96: S56.
- Kerguelen, V., and M.S. Hoddle. 1999. Measuring mite feeding damage on avocado leaves with automated image analysis software. *Florida Entomologist* 82: 119–122.
- Koch, H., and B. Hau. 1980. Ein psychologischer Aspekt beim Schätzen von Pflanzenkrankheiten/ A psychological aspect of plant disease assessment. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz/Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection 87: 587–593.
- Kora, C., M.R. McDonald, and G.J. Boland. 2005. Epidemiology of sclerotinia rot of carrot caused by Sclerotinia sclerotiorum. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 27: 245–258.
- Kranz, J. 1988. Measuring plant disease. In *Experimental techniques in plant disease epidemiology*, 35–50. Berlin: Springer.
- Kruse, O.M.O., J.M. Prats-Montalbán, U.G. Indahl, et al. 2014. Pixel classification methods for identifying and quantifying leaf surface injury from digital images. *Computers and Electronics* in Agriculture 108: 155–165.

- Kuska, M.T., and A.-K. Mahlein. 2018. Aiming at decision making in plant disease protection and phenotyping by the use of optical sensors. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 152: 987–992.
- Kutcher, H.R., T.K. Turkington, D.L. McLaren, et al. 2018. Fungicide and cultivar management of leaf spot diseases of winter wheat in western Canada. *Plant Disease* 102: 1828–1833.
- Kwack, M.S., E.N. Kim, H. Lee, et al. 2005. Digital image analysis to measure lesion area of cucumber anthracnose by Colletotrichum orbiculare. *Journal of General Plant Pathology* 71: 418–421.
- Laflamme, B., M. Middleton, T. Lo, et al. 2016. Image-based quantification of plant immunity and disease. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 29: 919–924.
- Lamari, L. 2002. Asses 2.0: image analysis software for plant disease quantification. St. Paul, MN: American Phytopathological Society.
- Large, E.C. 1953. Some recent developments in fungus disease survey work in England and Wales. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 40: 594–599.
  - ——. 1955. Methods of plant-disease measurement and forecasting in Great Britain. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 42: 344–354.
    - —. 1966. Measuring plant disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology 4: 9–26.
- Larrabee, B., H.M. Scott, and N.M. Bello. 2014. Ordinary least squares regression of ordered categorical data: inferential implications for practice. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics* 19: 373–386.
- Likert, R. 1932. A technique for the measurement of attitudes. Archiv für Psychologie 22: 140.
- Lindow, S.E., and R.R. Webb. 1983. Quantification of foliar plant disease symptoms by microcomputer-digitized video image analysis. *Phytopathology* 73: 520–524.
- Lloret, J., I. Bosch, S. Sendra, and A. Serrano. 2011. A wireless sensor network for vineyard monitoring that uses image processing. *Sensors* 11: 6165–6196.
- Macedo-Cruz, A., G. Pajares, M. Santos, and I. Villegas-Romero. 2011. Digital image sensor-based assessment of the status of oat (Avena sativa L.) crops after frost damage. *Sensors* 11: 6015–6036.
- Madden, L.V., G. Hughes, and F. Van Den Bosch. 2007. *The study of plant disease epidemics*. St. Paul, MN: American Phytopathological Society.
- Mahlein, A.-K. 2016. Plant disease detection by imaging sensors—parallels and specific demands for precision agriculture and plant phenotyping. *Plant Disease* 100: 241–251.
- Mahlein, A.-K., E.-C. Oerke, U. Steiner, and H.-W. Dehne. 2012. Recent advances in sensing plant diseases for precision crop protection. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 133: 197–209.
- Mahlein, A.-K., M.T. Kuska, J. Behmann, et al. 2018. Hyperspectral sensors and imaging technologies in phytopathology: state of the art. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 56: 535–558.
- Manzer FE, Cooper GR (1967) Aerial photographic methods of potato disease detection
- Martin, D.P., and E.P. Rybicki. 1998. Microcomputer-based quantification of maize streak virus symptoms in Zea mays. *Phytopathology* 88: 422–427.
- McKinney, H. 1923. Influence of soil temperature and moisture on infection of wheat seedlings by helmin. *Journal of Agricultural Research* 26: 195.
- Mirik, M., G.J. Michels Jr., S. Kassymzhanova-Mirik, et al. 2006. Using digital image analysis and spectral reflectance data to quantify damage by greenbug (Hemitera: Aphididae) in winter wheat. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 51: 86–98.
- Miyasaka, S.C., C.E. McCulloch, and S.C. Nelson. 2012. Taro germplasm evaluated for resistance to taro leaf blight. *HortTechnology* 22: 838–849.
- Moore, W.C. 1943. The measurement of plant diseases in the field: Preliminary report of a sub-committee of the Society's Plant Pathology Committee. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society* 26: 28–35.
- ——. 1949. The incidence of plant diseases in England and Wales. *Scientia Horticulturae* 9: 85–95.
- Mutka, A.M., and R.S. Bart. 2015. Image-based phenotyping of plant disease symptoms. Frontiers in Plant Science 5: 734.

- Mutka, A.M., S.J. Fentress, J.W. Sher, et al. 2016. Quantitative, image-based phenotyping methods provide insight into spatial and temporal dimensions of plant disease. *Plant Physiology* 172: 650–660.
- Neblette, C.B. 1927. Aerial photography for the study of plant diseases. *Photo-Era Magazine* 58: 346.
- Newell, L.C., and H.M. Tysdal. 1945. Numbering and note-taking systems for use in the improvement of forage crops. *Journal of the American Society of Agronomy* 37: 736–749.
- Newton, A.C., and C.A. Hackett. 1994. Subjective components of mildew assessment on spring barley. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 100: 395–412.
- Nilsson, H.-E. 1995. Remote sensing and image analysis in plant pathology. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 17: 154–166.
- Nita, M., M.A. Ellis, and L.V. Madden. 2003. Reliability and accuracy of visual estimation of Phomopsis leaf blight of strawberry. *Phytopathology* 93: 995–1005.
- Nutter, F.W. 1999. Teoria e pratica na avaliacao de doencas: "o que pensamos ver eo que registramos"/Disease assessment theory and practice: "what we think we see is what we get". *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 24: 229–230.
- Nutter, F.W., and P.D. Esker. 2006. The role of psychophysics in phytopathology: the Weber– Fechner law revisited. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 114: 199–213.
- Nutter, F.W., and R.E. Gaunt. 1996. Recent developments in methods for assessing disease losses in forage/pasture crops. In *Pasture and forage crop pathology*, 93–118. Madison: American Society of Agronomy.
- Nutter, F.W., and D. Litwiller. 1998. A computer program to generate standard area diagrams to aid raters in assessing disease severity. *Phytopathology* 88: S117.
- Nutter, F.W., and P.M. Schultz. 1995. Improving the accuracy and precision of disease assessments: selection of methods and use of computer-aided training programs. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 17: 174–184.
- Nutter, F.W., P.S. Teng, and F.M. Shokes. 1991. Disease assessment terms and concepts. *Plant Disease* 75: 1187–1188.
- Nutter, F.W., M.L. Gleason, J.H. Jenco, and N.C. Christians. 1993. Assessing the accuracy, intrarater repeatability, and inter-rater reliability of disease assessment systems. *Phytopathology* 83: 806–812.
- Nutter, F.W., P.D. Esker, and R.A.C. Netto. 2006. Disease assessment concepts and the advancements made in improving the accuracy and precision of plant disease data. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 115: 95–103.
- O'Brien, R.D., and A.H.C. van Bruggen. 1992. Accuracy, precision, and correlation to yield loss of disease severity scales for corky root of lettuce. *Phytopathology* 82: 91–96.
- O'Neal, M.E., D.A. Landis, and R. Isaacs. 2002. An inexpensive, accurate method for measuring leaf area and defoliation through digital image analysis. *Journal of Economic Entomology* 95: 1190–1194.
- Oerke, E.-C. 2006. Crop losses to pests. The Journal of Agricultural Science 144: 31-43.
- Olmstead, J.W., G.A. Lang, and G.G. Grove. 2001. Assessment of severity of powdery mildew infection of sweet cherry leaves by digital image analysis. *HortScience* 36: 107–111.
- Parker, S.R., M.W. Shaw, and D.J. Royle. 1995a. The reliability of visual estimates of disease severity on cereal leaves. *Plant Pathology* 44: 856–864.
- Parker, S.R., M.J. Whelan, and D.J. Royle. 1995b. Reliable measurement of disease severity. *Aspects of Applied Biology (UK)* 43: 205.
- Patil, S.B., and S.K. Bodhe. 2011. Leaf disease severity measurement using image processing. International Journal of Engineering and Technology 3: 297–301.
- Peressotti, E., E. Duchêne, D. Merdinoglu, and P. Mestre. 2011. A semi-automatic non-destructive method to quantify grapevine downy mildew sporulation. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 84: 265–271.
- Pethybridge, S.J., and S.C. Nelson. 2015. Leaf Doctor: a new portable application for quantifying plant disease severity. *Plant Disease* 99: 1310–1316.

- Price, T.V., and C.F. Osborne. 1990. Computer imaging and its application to some problems in agriculture and plant science. *CRC Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 9: 235–266.
- Ramcharan, A., P. McCloskey, K. Baranowski, et al. 2019. A mobile-based deep learning model for cassava disease diagnosis. *Frontiers in Plant Science*: 272. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019. 00272.
- Ricker, M.D. 2004. Pixels, bits, and GUIs: The fundamentals of digital imagery and their application by plant pathologists. *Plant Disease* 88: 228–241.
- Rioux, R.A., B.J. Van Ryzin, and J.P. Kerns. 2017. Brachypodium: a potential model host for fungal pathogens of turfgrasses. *Phytopathology* 107: 749–757.
- Saleem, M.H., S. Khanchi, J. Potgieter, and K.M. Arif. 2020. Image-based plant disease identification by deep learning meta-architectures. *Plants* 9: 1451.
- Savary, S., A. Ficke, J.-N. Aubertot, and C. Hollier. 2012. Crop losses due to diseases and their implications for global food production losses and food security. *Food Security* 4: 519–537.
- Savary, S., S. Bregaglio, L. Willocquet, et al. 2017. Crop health and its global impacts on the components of food security. *Food Security* 9: 311–327.
- Schneider, C.L., and G.R. Safir. 1975. Infrared aerial photography estimation of yield potential in sugarbeets exposed to blackroot disease. *Plant Disease Report* 59: 627–631.
- Schwanck, A.A., and E.M. Del Ponte. 2014. Accuracy and reliability of severity estimates using linear or logarithmic disease diagram sets in true colour or black and white: a study case for rice brown spot. *Journal of Phytopathology* 162: 670–682.
- Seiffert, U., and P. Schweizer. 2005. A pattern recognition tool for quantitative analysis of in planta hyphal growth of powdery mildew fungi. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18: 906–912.
- Shah, D.A., and L.V. Madden. 2004. Nonparametric analysis of ordinal data in designed factorial experiments. *Phytopathology* 94: 33–43.
- Sherwood, R.T., C.C. Berg, M.R. Hoover, and K.E. Zeiders. 1983. Illusions in visual assessment of Stagonospora leaf spot of orchardgrass. *Phytopathology* 73: 173–177.
- Sheskin, D.J. 1997. *Handbook of parametric and non-parametric statistical procedures*. London: Chapman & Hall.
- Shokes, F.M., R.D. Berger, D.H. Smith, and J.M. Rasp. 1987. Reliability of disease assessment procedures: a case study with late leafspot of peanut. *Oléagineux (Paris)* 42: 245–251.
- Shrivastava, S., S.K. Singh, and D.S. Hooda. 2015. Color sensing and image processing-based automatic soybean plant foliar disease severity detection and estimation. *Multimedia Tools and Applications* 74: 11467–11484.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz. 2020. History and recent trends in plant disease control: an overview. In *Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches*, 1–13. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Ul Haq, I., S. Ijaz, Q. Shakeel, G. Li, L. Yang, and I. Rashid. 2020. Fungi: cynosure of ornamental palms diseases. In *Etiology and integrated management of economically important fungal diseases of ornamental palms*, 85–113. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Simko, I., J.A. Jimenez-Berni, and X.R.R. Sirault. 2017. Phenomic approaches and tools for phytopathologists. *Phytopathology* 107: 6–17.
- Škaloudová, B., V. Křivan, and R. Zemek. 2006. Computer-assisted estimation of leaf damage caused by spider mites. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 53: 81–91.
- Smith, P.M., F.T. Last, R.J. Kempton, and J.H. Gisborne. 1969. Tomato leaf mould: its assessment and effects on yield. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 63: 19–26.
- Smith, S.E., and S. Dickson. 1991. Quantification of active vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal infection using image analysis and other techniques. *Functional Plant Biology* 18: 637–648.
- Spolti, P., L. Schneider, R. Sanhueza, et al. 2011. Improving sooty blotch and flyspeck severity estimation on apple fruit with the aid of standard area diagrams. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 129: 21–29.
- Steddom, K., D. Jones, J. Rudd, and C. Rush. 2005. Analysis of field plot images with segmentation analysis, effect of glare and shadows. *Phytopathology* 95: S99.
- Stevens, S.S. 1946. On the theory of scales of measurement. Science 103: 677-680.

- Stewart, E.L., C.H. Hagerty, A. Mikaberidze, et al. 2016. An improved method for measuring quantitative resistance to the wheat pathogen Zymoseptoria tritici using high-throughput automated image analysis. *Phytopathology* 106: 782–788.
- Stewart, E.L., and B.A. McDonald. 2014. Measuring quantitative virulence in the wheat pathogen Zymoseptoria tritici using high-throughput automated image analysis. *Phytopathology* 104: 985–992.
- Strange, R.N., and P.R. Scott. 2005. Plant disease: a threat to global food security. Annual Review of Phytopathology 43: 83–116.
- Strayer-Scherer, A., Y.Y. Liao, M. Young, et al. 2018. Advanced copper composites against copper-tolerant Xanthomonas perforans and tomato bacterial spot. *Phytopathology* 108: 196–205.
- Sun, H., J. Wei, J. Zhang, and W. Yang. 2014. A comparison of disease severity measurements using image analysis and visual estimates using a category scale for genetic analysis of resistance to bacterial spot in tomato. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 139: 125–136.
- Toler, R.W., B.D. Smith, and J.C. Harlan. 1981. Use of aerial color infrared photography to evaluate crop disease. *Plant Disease* 65: 25–31.
- Tomerlin, J.R., and T.A. Howell. 1988. Distrain: a computer program for training people to estimate disease severity on cereal leaves. *Plant Disease* 72: 455–459.
- Townsend, G.R. 1943. Methods for estimating losses caused by diseases in fungicide experiments. *Plant Disease Report* 27: 340–343.
- Vale, F.X.R., E.I. Fernandes Filho, and J.R. Liberato. 2003. QUANT. A software for plant disease severity assessment. In 8th international congress of plant pathology, Christchurch, New Zealand, 105. Sydney: Horticulture Australia.
- Vereijssen, J., J.H.M. Schneider, A.J. Termorshuizen, and M.J. Jeger. 2003. Comparison of two disease assessment methods for assessing Cercospora leaf spot in sugar beet. *Crop Protection* 22: 201–209.
- Vieira, R.F., T.J. Paula Júnior, J.E.S. Carneiro, et al. 2012. Management of white mold in type III common bean with plant spacing and fungicide. *Tropical Plant Pathology* 37: 91–101.
- Wallen, V.R., and H.R. Jackson. 1971. Aerial photography as a survey technique for the assessment of bacterial blight of field beans. *Canadian Plant Disease Survey* 51: 163–169.
- Wang, G., Y. Sun, and J. Wang. 2017. Automatic image-based plant disease severity estimation using deep learning. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience* 2017: 2917536.
- Weber, G.E., and E. Jorg. 1991. Errors in disease assessment a survey. *Phytopathology* 81: 1238.
- Wijekoon, C.P., P.H. Goodwin, and T. Hsiang. 2008. Quantifying fungal infection of plant leaves by digital image analysis using Scion Image software. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 74: 94–101.
- Xie, W., K. Yu, K.P. Pauls, and A. Navabi. 2012. Application of image analysis in studies of quantitative disease resistance, exemplified using common bacterial blight–common bean pathosystem. *Phytopathology* 102: 434–442.
- Xu, Y., D. Kang, Z. Shi, et al. 2004. Inheritance of resistance to zucchini yellow mosaic virus and watermelon mosaic virus in watermelon. *The Journal of Heredity* 95: 498–502.
- Xue, W., K.G. Haynes, and X. Qu. 2019. Characterization of early blight resistance in potato cultivars. *Plant Disease* 103: 629–637.
- Yadav, N.V.S., S.M. De Vos, C.H. Bock, and B.W. Wood. 2013. Development and validation of standard area diagrams to aid assessment of pecan scab symptoms on fruit. *Plant Pathology* 62: 325–335.
- Zhang, D., X. Zhou, J. Zhang, et al. 2018. Detection of rice sheath blight using an unmanned aerial system with high-resolution color and multispectral imaging. *PLoS One* 13: e0187470.



# Remote Sensing: A New Tool for Disease Assessment in Crops

Anjum Faraz, Nabeeha Aslam Khan, Hafiz Younis Raza, Zainab Malik, and Barbaros Çetinel

#### Abstract

The continuous presence of plant pathogens, pests, and diseases affects the agriculture and forestry sector, which demands the need for highly potential and inexpensive methods for diagnosing and monitoring diseases of plants and pests. Based on the huge data obtained from the sensitive analysis and the various systems based on remote sensing, features related to remote sensing are identified, including VIS-NIR, sensitive analysis, characteristics of habitats, thermal and fluorescence parameters, and image- and landscape-based features. However, suitable areas for sensors have been incorporated for the precise and early detection of particular diseases, including field systems, screening for resistance, and assessing and evaluating reactions based on plant defense. Moreover, based on different sensors, remote sensing techniques vary significantly. These techniques assist in the detection and diagnosis of various major diseases. This chapter focuses on RGB camera, hyperspectral imaging, fluorescence spectroscopy, thermography, and multi-temporal-based remote sensing techniques used chiefly on diseases that significantly impact the agriculture economy.

#### Keywords

Remote sensing  $\cdot$  Imaging approaches  $\cdot$  Features for plant diseases monitoring  $\cdot$  Early disease detection

A. Faraz  $(\boxtimes) \cdot N$ . A. Khan  $\cdot H$ . Y. Raza  $\cdot Z$ . Malik

Department of Plant Pathology, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan

## 3.1 Introduction

There is a need to enhance the yield of agricultural commodities to manage the requirement of the increasing population. It will not be possible to manage these requirements without the application of modern technologies (Mahlein et al. 2012a). Several abiotic and biotic factors reduce the yield of agricultural products such as viruses, fungi, animals, and arthropods. All these may be managed to some extent, but the losses due to abiotic factors may be significantly high. The estimated crop losses due to pathogens (oomycetes, viruses, bacteria, and fungi) are 16% worldwide (Oerke 2020). Monitoring plant pests and diseases at the right time is an important factor in solving these problems. In the last 80 years, the accuracy of visual disease assessment depends upon the conventional disease scales. Identifying the visual symptoms is most important for the accurate diagnosis of diseases. The assessment of the diseases with the emerging technologies gives accurate, reliable, and precise results.

During the last 30 years, the use of digital images and visible light imaging analysis increasing with time. The use of this software has become user-friendly and more sophisticated. For resolving the issues of disease management, remote sensing techniques show significant potential (Mahlein et al. 2018). The data obtained through remote sensing can recognize the crop conditions involving diseases and give information about the most effective strategy for management of diseases (Weiss et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2005). The meaning of the word "Remote" is far away. That's why meaning of the "remote sensing" is the sensing of the objects from a distance. The term "remote sensing" is described by the ASPRS (American Society for Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing) as the technology, and science of gaining precise information about that thing which have physical appearance as well as about the environment, through the process of recording. It is also defined as the science and art of gaining information about a thing without establishing any physical contact. The procedure of remote sensing may be satellite, ground or aerial based (Gogoi et al. 2018). The remote sensing technology has two types.

- 1. Active (such as radar and LidDAR)
- 2. Passive (e.g., optical) remote sensing

In active remote sensing, the reflection of the emitted signals from the object is measured on the sensor and the object is irradiated from an artificial source of energy, e.g., radar.

In the passive remote sensing, the natural source applied to irradiate the object, for example, solar radiation, to detect the desired phenomenon.

In the passive remote sensing, there are different imaging cameras and detectors which are used to measure the reflection of the solar radiation that have wavelength of thermal infrared (3–15  $\mu$ m), NIR (near infrared: 700–1100 nm) VIS (visible spectrum: 400–700 nm), and SWIR (shortwave: 1100–2500 nm), while in active remote sensing, the instruments used are LIDAR and Radar (Fahey et al. 2021).

The passive remote sensing is classified into two categorizes on the basis of using spectral resolution of sensor.

- 1. Multispectral remote sensing
- 2. Hyperspectral remote sensing

The use of hyperspectral remote sensing shows good potential in the passive remote sensing because it is non-destructive and non-invasive tool to monitor the abiotic and biotic plant stresses (Jones and Vaughan 2010). Hyperspectral imaging techniques offer various options to observe the disease at the initial stage, through the provision of early indicators in the form of minute variations in spectrum reflectance as a result of reflection or absorption. The small differences in canopies, individual plant or soil, can be more easily seen in hyperspectral images since they can provide comprehensive spectral profiles with hundreds of spectral bands. Therefore, hyperspectral images are used to resolve the large problems for timely and accurate determination of the physiological conditions of the crop. As a result of early detection, the outbreak and spread of the pests may be avoid on the important crops and it also reduce the consumption of pesticides which is harmful for the humans and their environment (Lucieer et al. 2014; Gonzalez-Dugo et al. 2015).

## 3.2 History

The development of the camera over than 150 years ago led to the establishment of advanced remote sensing technologies. The practice and concept of looking down at the Earth's surface first developed when photographs from cameras attached to balloons were taken for the purpose of topographic mapping in the 1840s. Remote sensing (by application of visible spectrum) is started in 1909 in the form of aerial photography. In 1931, color infrared photography was started, and then it is widely used in forestry and agriculture. In 1950, Ms. Evelyn Pruitt first used the term "Remote Sensing" in the United States. Satellite remote sensing originally started as a dual method to photographing surfaces utilizing different sensors from space-craft in the early stages of the space age (both American and Russian projects). In 4th October,1957, Soviet was the first who launched man-made satellite named as "Sputnik 1" (Choudhary et al. 2022). In 1956, Colwell used the remote sensing technique to monitor the stem rust of wheat.

# 3.3 Remote Sensing Techniques on the Basis of Different Sensors

#### 3.3.1 Imaging Approaches

#### 3.3.1.1 RGB-Imaging

To assess the plant health, digital photography is an important technique in plant pathology. Red, green and blue images are called as RGB digital images in short form. The digital cameras are the simple source of red, green and blue (RGB) digital images for quantification, detection, and identification of diseases and they are easy to operate. The technical factors of these simple digital cameras such as spatial resolution, digital and optical focus, or light sensitivity are increasing with the passage of time. In these days, nearly everybody carries a smartphone or tablet computer, together with a contemporary, powerful digital camera sensor, whether they are phytopathologist or a farmer. Alternative tools for analyzing digital photographs of various plant parts, from inflorescences to roots, include scanners or video cameras. Throughout the growth season, RGB sensors are utilized to monitor plants at every resolution scale.

The biotic stress of the plants have been detected by the using of RGB images with green, blue and red channels (Bock et al. 2010), including the data about the colors in LAB (A and B used for the adversary magnitudes that depend on the non-linear coordinates and L stands for lightness), RGB, HSV (stands for hue saturation value) color, YCBR (Y is the component of luma) and CR and CB are red and blue difference parts of chroma, respectively, and their special arrangement gives the information about the diseases of plants (Bock et al. 2010). Furthermore, variables for the detection and identification of plant disease signs include gray levels, colors, texture, connectivity, form factors, and dispersion (Neumann et al. 2014; Camargo and Smith 2009).

Many research teams have utilized machine learning and pattern recognition techniques to detect and diagnose diseases of plants by using RGB photos (Camargo and Smith 2009; Neumann et al. 2014). Additionally, the classification accuracy is improved by carefully choosing essential characteristics from the RGB pictures (Behmann et al. 2014). In the assessment of plant diseases, the analysis of digital images is important technology. There are different software packages such as "Leaf Doctor," custom-made modules, ASSESS 2.0 and Scion image software are available (Pethybridge and Nelson 2015; Bock et al. 2010; Wijekoon et al. 2008; Tucker and Chakraborty 1997). In ASSESS 2.0, the histograms used as the foundation for the following thresholding are used to assess the color information of the photos. The user may modify the parameters for healthy and unhealthy regions through a wellorganized graphical interface. Additionally, once the background has been removed from the item of interest, disease severity can be determined as a percentage or as infected pixels. The measurement of disease severity on single leaves and precisely ordered photos is particularly practical with ASSESS 2.0. The picture acquisition stage needs special consideration. Illumination, uniform focus, and sharpness are important for reliable and for getting accurate results through the analysis of images. Under the natural status, the quality of the image is dependent on the distance between the sensor and the object, pixel size, and the leaf orientation or image angle. Poor picture quality and heterogenic situations frequently lead to difficulties in recognition and low degree of accuracy.

#### 3.3.1.2 Hyperspectral and Multispectral Reflectance Sensors

The classification of the sensors of spectral reflectance is based on the resolution of spectral (such as width and number of the bands which are measured), type of detector (such as non-imaging and imaging sensor), and their spatial scale. The

earliest spectrum sensors developed were multispectral ones. Typically, these sensors evaluate an object's spectral information across a number of somewhat broad wavebands. For instance, data from multispectral imaging cameras may be provided in the G, B, and R wavebands as well as in an extra near infrared band. The development of current sensors in hyperspectral imaging tools with a spectral range between 350 and 2500 nm and a potential of the spectral resolution below 1 nm enhanced the complexity of the measured data (Steiner et al. 2008). Sensors of hyperspectral imaging tools give both spatial and spectral information for the observed things, in contrast to non-imaging, which average the spectral information across a specific region.

Large matrices containing spatial y- and x-axes and spectral data as reflectance intensity for each waveband in the 3d space, z, can be used to show hyperspectral data. The distance between the sensor and object has a significant impact on the spatial resolution. That's why, spaceborne or airborne, far range system contains low level of spatial resolution as compared to the microscopic or near range systems. The spatial resolution has significant role in the detection of plant-pathogen interaction and in the identification of plant pathogens (West et al. 2003; Mahlein et al. 2012b). Field patches that are affected by the soilborne pathogens can precisely detected by the airborne sensors (Hillnhütter et al. 2011) or at the later stage of the disease (Mahlein et al. 2012a; Mewes et al. 2011) or the identification of single symptoms or infected plants and leaves, sensors with a spatial resolution of around 1 m are scarcely acceptable; proximal sensor system is preferred in these situations (West et al. 2003; Oerke et al. 2014). Despite numerous studies, the use of innovative hyperspectral imaging technology to plant pathology and the evaluation of disease severity is still in the early stages of development (Bock et al. 2010). The optical properties of the leaves are described by the absorbed light by the chemicals of leaves (sugars, water, amino acids, and lignin) reflection of light through leaves surface and from their internal structures and transmission of light through a leaf.

Therefore, reflection of light from the plant surface is a complex procedure that depends upon the many biochemical and biophysical interactions. The SWIR (1100–2500 nm) depends upon the composition of water and leaf chemicals, VIS (visible range 400–700) is influenced by the pigment content of the leaf, and NIR (near infrared reflectance 700–1100 nm) mainly influenced by the leaf structure, absorption by the water of leaf and internal scattering process of the leaf (Jacquemoud and Ustin 2001; Carter and Knapp 2001). When a highly specific plant disease or plant pathogen causes changes in reflectance, such as the sequence of necrotic and chlorotic tissue or the presence of typical fungal structures like powdery mildew conidia and hyphae or uredospores of rust, those changes can be described by difficulties in the structure of leaf and chemical composition of the tissues.

During the infection, the obligate fungus parasites such as rusts and powdery mildews have comparatively low effect on the chlorophyll composition and tissue structure as compared to the other pathogens such as, pathogens that are cause of leaf spot, mainly cause the degradation of tissues due to the production of pathogenrelated specific enzymes or toxins and their results is in the form of necrotic lesions. In opponent, rusts and powdery mildews fungi form their structures on the leaf that can induce the optical characteristics of plant-pathogen contact (Ul Hag and Ijaz 2020a, b). By using semi-thin parts of diseased leaf portion and raster electron microscopy, complex and distinctive relationships for sugar beet leaf diseases are exemplarily observed. The highly distinctive and unique pattern of the disease enables the recognition of the disease based on the spectral characteristics of the plant. It is described that the variation of foliar pathogens depends on the reflectance from the leaf in the case of sugar beet (Mahlein et al. 2010, 2013). Based on these studies, Rumpf et al. (2010) were capable to identify sugar beets that were infected with rust, powdery mildew, and Cercospora leaf spot before any typical symptoms appeared. Non-invasive spectral data have been beneficial for monitoring Fusarium graminearum in wheat and other plant-pathogen systems (Bauriegel et al. 2011), Phytophthora infestans of tomato (Wang et al. 2008), or Venturia inaequalis in the apple (Delalieux et al. 2007). It was also shown that hyperspectral imaging technique to be helpful in the assessment of pathogens that producing toxins in the maize crop (Del Fiore et al. 2010).

Additionally, in-field spectral imaging was employed by Bravo et al. (2003) for the early identification of wheat with yellow rust infection, Hillnhütter et al. (2011) effectively differentiated between soilborne diseases by examining the symptoms brought on by the soilborne fungus (*Rhizoctonia solani*) and nematode *Heterodera schachtii* in fields of sugar beet. Apan et al. (2004) used EO-1 Hyperion hyperspectral imaging technique to identify orange rust on sugarcane. Later, Huang et al. (2007) used aerial hyperspectral imaging and ground-based spectral measurements to identify yellow rust in wheat crop. Hyperspectral imaging technique is also widely applied for the observation of fruit quality and health along with the identification of plant pathogens during the vegetative period of the crop. By using hyperspectral imaging tool, defects on the surface of apple (Mehl et al. 2004), rot disease of strawberries (ElMasry et al. 2007), and canker lesions on the citrus fruit can be identified (Qin et al. 2009). These methods are useful for avoiding storage infections of crops and screening fruits.

#### 3.3.1.3 Thermal Sensors

IRT stands for infrared thermography which measures temperature of plants and has relationships with crop microclimate, variations in transpiration rate caused by early plant–pathogen infections, and plant water status. Infrared and thermographic cameras are able to detect infrared radiation that is emitted in the thermal infrared range between 8 and12 mm, which is represented in fake color photographs with each image pixel including the value of temperature of the observed thing. Infrared thermography may be used at the different spatial scales and temporal from small scale to airborne applications. However, it is mostly depending on the environmental conditions such as sunlight, wind speed, rainfall, or ambient temperature. The transpiration of the plant shows close relationship with the leaf temperature, which is affected in different ways by the variety of pathogens. While many other foliar pathogens such as rusts or leaf spots bring well defined and local changes, damaged

by the plant root pathogens such as *Pythium* spp. or *Rhizoctonia solani*, or systemic infection that mostly induce water flow in all parts of plants and transpiration rate.

It is reported that the temperature changes in plants are due to the infection caused by the pathogens or due to the defense mechanism of the plant. By using IRT technique, successfully monitored the downy mildew of cucumber (*Pseudoperonospora cubensis*) or apple scab (*Venturia inaequalis*). The variability between and among leaves can be used for efficient IRT image analysis. A major predictor of the emergence of plant disease is the mean temperature differential within individual leaves, crops, and plants.

#### 3.3.1.4 Fluorescence Imaging

Different parameters of chlorophyll fluorescence have been used in the determination of plant photosynthetic activity. Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging devices are frequently active sensors that measure photosynthetic electron transport using laser light or LED source. Fluorescence imaging is used to evaluate variation in plant photosynthetic system due to the abiotic and biotic stresses on the leaf surface. Combining the image analysis and fluorescence imaging techniques to be useful in the quantification and determination of fungal infection. In order to assess plant disease at the field or canopy level, research has focused on collecting fluorescence characteristics from sun-induced reflection in the field (Mahlein 2016).

#### 3.3.2 Non-imaging

#### 3.3.2.1 Vis-NIR Spectroscopy

Visual infrared-near infrared spectroscopy (VIS-NIR) is a rapid and non-destructive procedure which provides prediction of biological and chemical composition of the system. The Vis technique of the spectroscopy can examine the pigment and color analysis, while NIR is used to measure the quantity of macro components, mostly water. The visible region that ranges between 400 and 700 nm can provide data on the basis of spectral features of pigments and it is also used during the photosynthesis process of the plants. In these pigments, anthocyanin, carotenes, and anthocyanin are involved that induce the color appearance and can show disease in trees and plants. Each pigment has specificity in spectrum absorption such as the green region absorbs 530–550 nm wavelength light which is due to the presence of anthocyanin, and due to the presence of carotenes, range of the light wavelength is 420–503 (Zahir et al. 2022).

#### 3.3.2.2 Fluorescence Spectroscopy

Fluorescence spectroscopy is a procedure which is applied to determine the fluorescence of the substance after reflection along a beam which is usually ultraviolet and having wavelength 10–400 nm. The fluorescent material has unique color that only visible when comes in the front of UV light since the absorbed light is undetectable to the human eye while the released light is in the detectable range. The mechanism of this procedure is involved using a light beam that induce the electrons in

molecules of a substance and as a result light is emitted. FS has wide range of applications. FS is used to monitor the stress levels and physiological states of the plants. Generally, the use of FS tool in plant study, especially in nutrient deficiencies and plant diseases has gain more attention. The FS procedure applied as a tool determines and senses the pathogens of plant at their initial stage. For instance, FS has been used to determine the plant–pathogen interaction in leaf rust and powdery mildew of wheat, spring barley, to identify the cucumber disease, and to quantify and identify the infection of banana due to the *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *cubense*.

There are several devices of FS that have used to observe and gain information from plant specimens. In these devices, fiber optic fluorescence spectrometer, portable multiparametric sensor, and imaging multispectral fluorescence are involved. However, the most reliable and accurate FS device to detect plant pathogens is the fiber optic fluorescence spectrometer in contrast to other devices. There are four emitted wavelengths used in the FS, that are Green (G), Red (R), Blue (B), and UV and the excited FS is observed in red RF, far red RF, and yellow YF.

# 3.4 Remote Sensing Features for Plant Diseases and Pest Monitoring

Agriculture and the forest sector are highly threatened by the ongoing progression of plant diseases and pest attacks globally (Oerke 2006; Strange and Scott 2005). Plant protection practices must be guided by knowledge about the location, scope, and severity of disease and pest incidence. Techniques and approaches based on remote sensing (RS) might be a prime addition that has the capability to monitor and diagnose diseases on plants as well as on pests, an extensive scale because standard field searching of pests and diseases on plants is quite effortful, liable not to be impartial, and typically exhibits minimum proficiency (Mahlein 2015). Methods of "radiodiagnosis" of plants that effectively provide contact-free and at a global level constant monitoring and examining of pests and diseases on plant diseases.

With regard to the efficient detection or monitoring of pests as well as diseases, numerous systems of RS are accessible that can be applied efficiently to possibly monitor the progression of the disease. These RS systems provide data collection ranging from gamma-ray to microwave radiations, working with both radiations that are either passive or active. Many struggles have been brought to action for various RS systems in detecting the infection symptoms such as blights, pustules, and scabs, structural changes such as landscape structure, canopy structure, and physiological responses such as changes in water content, pigment content, caused by pests and diseases on plants in order to effectively detect and monitor pests and plant diseases (Hahn 2009; Sankaran et al. 2010; Mahlein 2015).

It is essential to recognize useful and distinguishing RS characteristics and features in order to employ RS-based observations in monitoring and examining pests and plant diseases. Until now numerous RS-based features and attributes have been suggested or discovered for identifying plant pests and diseases as well as for

identifying their natural environment. The primary RS-based features involve features based on the landscape as well as image-based features for thermal and fluorescence systems, and VIS-NIR spectral characteristics. Considering that different diseases and pests have different damage processes, a precise and accurate assessment of RS characteristics is typically required to provide efficient monitoring (Mahlein 2015).

#### 3.4.1 VIS-NIR Spectral Features

VIS-NIR spectral features are extensively employed since VIS-NIR sensors are considered widely used systems based on RS for tracking pests and plant diseases. The most basic version of these properties is band reflectance. The majority of researchers have found that several diseases of plants and pests are sensitive to the green, red, and NIR spectral areas. There are several approaches to altering the values of spectrum reflectance, including continuous wavelength transformation, spectral derivatives, and continuous removal transformation.

- **Spectral derivative transformation** is generally executed to apprehend convex features of the spectral measurement of plants which includes red edge position and amplitude.
- **The continuous removal technique** is usually used for the quantitative characterization of both the convex and concave traits of the plant's spectra performed along the spectrum in a precise absorption location, which can be employed efficiently for the diagnosis of many plant diseases mainly wheat powdery mildew and tomato leaf minor (Xu et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2012).
- Continuous wavelet analysis or CWA has been employed for the identification and detection of many pests and diseases on plants (Cheng et al. 2010; Luo et al. 2013). CWA-derived features outperform certain traditional spectral-related features in identifying winter yellow rust of wheat due to their ability to capture some subtle changes in spectral shape (Zhang et al. 2014).

## 3.4.2 Fluorescence and Thermal Parameters

For the diagnosis and identification of numerous pests and diseases in plants associated with thermal and fluorescence sensors, some variables and parameters have been set to create an efficient linkage between the symptoms of infection and signals based on thermal and fluorescence sensors. For the diagnosis of the presymptomatic state of a pathogen, some researchers have used the ratio by dividing the fluorescence amplitude such as F686/F740 on the basis of continuous fluorescence spectra with the addition of fluorescence peaks (Bürling et al. 2012; Tartachnyk et al. 2006; Kuckenberg et al. 2009). Additionally, a number of fluorescence parameters were used in the detection of pests and plant diseases based on the saturation pulse fluorescence analysis, including the non-photochemical quenching

(NPQ), the highest potential in light-adapted material of PSII photochemistry (Fv'/Fm'), the efficiency of photosystem II (PSII) in terms of quantum yield and the maximal quantum efficiency of primary photochemistry photosystem II (PSII) (Fv/Fm) (Cséfalvay et al. 2009; Scholes and Rolfe 2009; Iqbal et al. 2012). Characteristics which are produced from sensors based on thermal infrared for detecting pests and diseases on plants are reasonably easy to understand and less complex than spectral features and fluorescence features. In essence, the canopy and leaf temperatures have been considered quite significant signals. The differential temperatures between the air and leaves (Tleaf – Tair) in a controlled environment such as a greenhouse were discovered to be useful in identifying presymptomatic *Plasmopara viticola* infection in grapevines (Stoll et al. 2008).

## 3.4.3 Image-Based and Landscape Features

For monitoring and surveying diseases on plants and pests, imaging observation can be obtained and examined based on distinct systems of RS such as fluorescence, thermal and VIS-NIR systems. Using the features such as texture and landscape, the precise evaluation of the severity and in-depth disease mapping of the area where infection occurs can be done efficiently (Bauriegel et al. 2011). To extract texture features from images, including uniformity, variance, mean intensity, correlation, contrast, modus, product-moment, entropy, inverse difference, and information correlation, the colour cooccurrence method (CCM) is frequently used which are crucial especially at the micro (leaf) level for identifying plant diseases and pest (Donohue et al. 2001; Shearer and Holmes 1990). Yao et al. (2009) suggested the classification of rice blast, rice bacterial leaf blight, rice sheath with 97.2% of precision based on the group of shape and texture traits. Some spatial measurements such as landscape features bring out from the RS images. Moreover, the features based on the texture of image can identify the pattern based on spatial and geographic distribution for pests and plant diseases and provide helpful information in their extensive such as regional and plot monitoring. In addition to the features based on optical, thermal, fluorescence and last but not least image-based offers a different viewpoint for keeping track of pests and plant diseases.

## 3.4.4 Features Associated with Habitat Characteristics

A few attempts have been done to use data based on RS to define the suitability of the habitat of the pests and the plant pathogens, irrespective of the traits of RS that cannot be indirectly associated to losses brought on by pests and plant diseases. Given that stressed plants are frequently more vulnerable to disease and insect attack, the Tasseled Cap Transformation (TCT) based metrics such as brightness, greenness, and wetness linked with soil moisture and vigor and vitality of plant were found to be an effective substitute for habitat fitness (Coops et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2013; Wolter et al. 2008). Regardless of the metrics based on TCT, LST, and Vis, are

effectively employed to give substantial and vital information for habitat state description. In the efficient monitoring and observation of mosquitoes larvae, tree woolly adelgid, wheat powdery mildew, and spruce budworm, several VIs such as MSI, WI, PRI, SAVI, MSAVI2, NDWI, and TVI connected with biomass, water contents, and concentrations of pigments are highlighted (Brown et al. 2008). The land surface temperature which is used to monitor the rated intensity of transpiration in plants is easily accessible from products obtained from satellite imagery such as MODIS-LST or it can be recovered from many satellites of thermal bands such as HJ-IRS, Landsat TM, and ASTER. Suitable habitat for the monitoring of disease and pests can be obtained with 82% of verified precision. Assimilation of RS features and parameters of meteorology together constructed the disease forecasting model (Zhang et al. 2013). An accuracy of 69–78% of their results suggested that adding up information related to RS efficiently improves the level of precision for plant disease and pest monitoring.

## 3.4.5 Sensitivity Analysis for Selection of Features

It is a prerequisite step always that is required to do a sensitivity evaluation to determine the best feature of RS for the monitoring and examination of pests and diseases on plants since they may produce noticeably distinct symptoms and differing environment characteristics. In order to do this, statistical techniques have been used to evaluate feature sensitivity. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and independent *t*-tests were widely employed, for instance, to categorize different types of illnesses and pests or to distinguish between different infection levels (Yuan et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2012). For RS features identification, the Pearson correlation analysis is considered the most favored and highly sensitive technique of analysis (Huang et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2012, 2014). Yang et al. (2007) found that the sensitivity band for detecting rice leaf folders drastically changed from tillering stage at 757 nm to the heading stage at 445 nm. Furthermore, it is important to keep in mind that sensitivity features may differ across observation scales.

## 3.5 Relevant Areas for Sensors in Plant Disease Detection

Plant pathologists have access to a wide range of sensor technologies that may offer high and accurate resolution data on agricultural crops and serve as the foundation for the on-time detection and diagnosis of diseases on plants. It is astonishing how far these technologies have come in the last 40–50 years in terms of development and application to agriculture as well as detection and monitoring of plant disease (Brenchley 1964; Nilsson 1995; Jackson and Wallen 1975; West et al. 2003; Seelan et al. 2003). Latest and customized techniques for solving plant and agricultural science-related problems have been created as a result of developments in plant phenotypes and agriculture (Cobb et al. 2013; Fiorani et al. 2012). The most effective sensors are now being employed for non-invasive field assessments of crop nutrient status. In agriculture, practical base future applications will benefit from the development of new, low-cost sensor technologies that perform satisfactorily and are now on the market (Grieve et al. 2015). There are equipment and technical options for phenotyping in the field, greenhouse, and other environments. However, they cannot be used widely because these are highly customized and specialized prototypes.

## 3.5.1 Field Systems

The imaging platform developed by Polder et al. (2014) for the diagnosis and detection of Tulip breaking virus (TBV) which usually infects bulbs of tulip flowers, or the monitoring and detection of the wheat yellow rust caused by *Puccinia striiformis* hyperspectral imaging platform prototype developed byBravo et al. (2003) are two examples of cutting-edge systems with potential field applications. A robot with multispectral sensors and pipelines for mechanized vision online evaluation was created by Polder et al. (2014). There were not many technical specialists available to rate tulip bulbs, which motivated this study. This technique was able to be optimized and adjusted to reach a degree of precision comparable to that attained by seasoned rating experts. Under light ambient conditions, the yellow rust disease of wheat can be able to detect and categorize in fields successfully with a rate of 96% using the hyperspectral imaging "buggy" of Bravo et al. (2003). Their findings are highly promising for the establishment of optical sensor systems that are both affordable and accurate for the early plant disease detection in various crops.

#### 3.5.2 Resistance Screening

Different technological techniques have been created for plant phenotyping. The process of development began with controlled investigation and examination of individual plants (Chaerle et al. 2007; Jansen et al. 2009). Improved field systems have lately quite durable, allowing for a comprehensive evaluation of plant execution and performance across many plots or throughout the whole canopy of plants (Walter et al. 2015). It has been demonstrated that optical sensors can assess the degree of sensitivity and/or resistance of various genotypes and variants to a particular disease. By using multispectral and fluorescence imaging, Chaerle et al. (2007) contributed by distinguishing lines of sugar beet with varying degrees of sensitivity to C. beticola. In order to assess the symptoms on Phaseolus vulgaris by Xanthomonas fuscans subsp. fuscans, depends on the chlorophyll fluorescence metrics Fv/Fm on picture pixels Rousseau et al. (2013). Additionally, more contemporary innovations were produced, such as the HyperART system for concurrently monitoring and observing leaf transmission as well as leaf reflectance (Bergstrasser et al. 2015). In a preliminary application study to evaluate different sugar beet resistance/susceptibility levels to C. beticola, this sensor device showed potential. It has been demonstrated that extra data from the measurements during transmission boosts the sensitivity of detection; nevertheless, the measurement methodology and procedure are fairly complicated and still call for a significant amount of human work.

# 3.5.3 Assessment of Plant Defense Reactions

The majority of research has been published on the subject of detection and diagnosis of plant disease systems which are dependent on symptoms, biochemical, and the changes that occur physiologically prior to symptoms. In the screening of resistance, pathologists are interested in minute defensive responses that are essential for plants' capacity to pathogen invasion or restrain pathogen growth. Robinson (1969) defined resistance in the host as a plant genotype's capacity to impede a pathogen's growth and/or development. Long recognized as two broad forms of resistance, qualitative resistance is controlled by a single gene (complete or vertical resistance), and qualitative resistance is controlled by numerous genes with partial effects (incomplete or horizontal resistance). A significant range of defensive mechanisms are activated by plants in response to pathogen infection (Glazebrook 2005). These strategies include the synthesis of proteins and antimicrobial metabolites, the formation of callose and lignin to physically strengthen cell walls, and the stimulation of hypersensitive responses. Following the initial encounter with a pathogen, these changes take place at the level of tissue and cell and are necessary for eventually interactions either compatible or incompatible or, when examining the plant edges, for sensitivity or tolerance of a genotype or any disease. It is necessary to build particular sensors with a high and efficient spatial resolution in order to evaluate these extremely early and marginal changes. By integrating highly throughput DNA cloning and transformation techniques based on single cells adjusted with phenotyping and automated microscopy, Douchkov et al. (2013) developed a planned platform known as the "microphenomic." On several genotypes of barley, they were able to evaluate the penetration efficiency of fungus Blumeria graminis f. sp. hordei.

It is notable that in this instance, histological analysis of leaf portions that had previously been detached and decolored was employed. From digital pictures obtained from microscopical RGB, sites of fungal penetration and as feeding organs powdery mildew may be evaluated automatically and tallied. This extremely intrusive method only allows for the examination of a plant pathogen's interactions with its host plant at a particular time period. Generally, this enables distinguishing various types of resistance such as complete, incomplete, and partial resistance, whereas some portions impede a pathogen's penetration initially, others cause a hypersensitive reaction to reduce supply of nutrients to make the pathogen starved. Moreover, spore forming capability of pathogen is also restricted in some situation (Glazebrook 2005). Kuska et al. (2015) have created a technique for hyperspectral microscopic analysis. With this data-driven phenotyping technique and sensor-based system, evaluation of over time interactions between host and pathogen and the

differentiation of barley genotypes against powdery mildew in terms of varying susceptibilities were made possible on a small-scale basis.

# 3.6 Use of Different Remote Sensing Methods for Different Diseases

Based on various sensors, for monitoring and detecting pests and diseases on plants, generally remote sensor techniques involve two groups which are discussed as follows:

- Imaging Approaches
  - RGB camera
  - Imaging based on multispectral spectrum
  - Imaging based on hyperspectral spectrum
  - Thermal base imaging
  - Fluorescence-based imaging

Non-Imaging Approaches

- Spectroscopy of VIS and IR
- Spectroscopy technique based on fluorescence3.6.1 RGB Camera

## 3.6.1.1 Use of Airborne Remote Sensing for Plant Disease Detection

## 3.6.1.1.1 ADAR System for the Detection and Diagnosis of Rice Sheath Blight Disease

Four aerial-based remote sensing photos were collected with the help of the ADAR (Airborne Data Acquisition and Registration) System 5500, Qin and Zhang (2005) in central Arkansas, USA identified the rice sheath blight disease. The pictures were divided into four bands: near infrared was included in band 4 with 780–1000 nm wavelength, red was in band 3 with 610–680 nm wavelength, green was included in band 2 with 530–600 nm wavelength, and blue was in band 1 with a wavelength of 450–540 nm. They compared the photos with the field disease index using three different techniques: the Direct Band Digital Number (DN) value, Standard Difference Indices (SDI), and Ratio Indices (RI). The findings suggested that RI and SDI may be used to remotely identify the pathogen that causes rice sheath blight (Qin and Zhang 2005).

# 3.6.2 Hyperspectral Imaging

# 3.6.2.1 Early Detection of Wheat Yellow Rust Disease Caused by *Puccinia striiformis* by Using Hyperspectral Imaging

Hyperspectral base imaging in agriculture has increased significantly in recent years. The amount and information quality become increased by this technology's usage of narrowband sensors. The spatial *Z*-axis, a spectral *X*-axis, and a spatial *Y*-axis are

axes on which whole data is based. The complete information of wavelength is contained in each spatially situated pixel of a picture. For the purpose of early identification of the winter yellow rust disease (*Puccinia striiformis*) in wheat, Bravo et al. (2003) employed VNIR hyperspectral imaging. The full spectral range from 463 to 895 nm was covered by 19 wavebands that were each 23 nm or 30 pixels wide. They noticed that due to the disintegration of leaf structure internally, the symptomatic plants had increased reflectance in the visible spectrum (VIS) due to decreased activity of chlorophyll and in the near infrared (NIR) spectrum higher absorption was observed (Bravo et al. 2003).

#### 3.6.3 Thermography for Plant Disease Detection

#### 3.6.3.1 Thermographic Assessment of Apple Scab Disease

Oerke et al. (2011) injected  $6 \times 10^5$  conidia/mL of the HS1 isolate of *V. inaequalis* onto apple leaves and monitored the results daily. They captured thermograms using a spectral sensitivity ranging from 8 to 12 m, Varioscan 3201 ST camera and by using IRBIS plus software pictures were then analyzed (Vers. 2.2, InfraTec.). Prior to the development of obvious scab signs, the researchers noticed that the leaves injected with *V. inaequalis* conidia had shown the appearance of concentric spots of very low leaf temperature (6 dpi). When the typical scab symptoms appeared at 8 dpi, the affected leaf area and difference of temperature from non-diseased areas increased, but the temperatures of apple leaves that were not infected varied little over space (Oerke et al. 2011).

## 3.6.4 Fluorescence Spectroscopy for Plant Disease Detection

## 3.6.4.1 Early Detection of the Hypersensitive Reaction to Tobacco Mosaic Virus Using Multicolor Fluorescence Imaging

In the "Samsun NN" and "Sumsun nn," the resistant and susceptible cultivars of tobacco plant, respectively, Chaerle et al. (2007) inoculated tobacco mosaic virus to observe the HR response and subsequent death of plant cells aggravated by TMV inoculation. A "Luminescence spectrometer LS52" equipped with a "Xenon flash lamp (FX-4400)" was used to excite the fluorescence. After 88 h of inoculation with TMV observation was started. Above 400 nm of wavelength, ultraviolet light as compared to the control induced blue fluorescence which considerably enhanced during the hypersensitivity response to tobacco mosaic virus infection. Towards the 550 nm range, the difference in fluorescence steadily diminished. The susceptible tobacco cultivar "Samsun nn" was not changed substantially in fluorescence emission by TMV infection (Chaerle et al. 2007).

#### 3.6.5 Multi-temporal Remote Sensing for Plant Disease Detection

## 3.6.5.1 Use of Multispectral Remote Sensing for Multi-temporal Wheat Disease Detection

For the identification and detection of wheat leaf rust and powdery mildew, QuickBird satellite multispectral multi-temporal images with high resolution were used which are evaluated by Franke and Menz (2007) in Bonn, Germany. Mixture tuned matched filtering (MTMF) and NDVI techniques were used to classify the data. The initial scene's classification accuracy was 56.8%, but the subsequent scenes attained much better accuracies of 65.9% and 88.6%, respectively, as compared to the initial scene of classification accuracy (Franke and Menz 2007).

## 3.7 Conclusion

For disease and pest management, large-scale growing of agricultural crop is the need of the hour for early disease diagnosis. In order to monitor and predict epidemics, remote sensing offers precise, non-invasive, accurate, quick, and reliable estimates of diseases. When used to identify illnesses in green plants, data obtained by hyperspectral remote sensing is collected from low altitudes and often has a great spectral and spatial resolution. Regional agricultural disease mapping has proved to be quite efficient for multi-temporal data based on remote sensing. The approach of categorization based on spectra can be used to identify agricultural diseases. When comparing the NDVI spectral profiles of healthy and diseased crops, a significant difference could be seen that indicated situation of crops under stress. To dramatically spatialize diagnostic results, remote sensing technology will be very beneficial. This will increase agricultural sustainability and safety by reducing the costly usage of pesticides for crop improvement and protection. A multidisciplinary approach involving engineering, plant pathology, and informatics is necessary to fully use the promise of these highly advanced, new technologies. The adoption and complete awareness of this approach will be enhanced by a solid decision support system via cross-disciplinary collaboration.

## References

- Apan, A., A. Held, S. Phinn, and J. Markley. 2004. Detecting sugarcane 'orangerust' disease using EO-1 Hyperion hyperspectral imagery. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 25: 489–498.
- Bauriegel, E., A. Giebel, M. Geyer, U. Schmidt, and W.B. Herppich. 2011. Early detection of Fusarium infection in wheat using hyper-spectral imaging. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 75: 304–312.
- Behmann, J., A.-K. Mahlein, T. Rumpf, C. Römer, and L. Plümer. 2014. A review of advanced machine learning methods for the detection of biotic stress in precision crop protection. *Precision Agriculture* 16: 239–260.

- Bergstrasser, S., D. Fanourakis, S. Schmittgen, M.P. Cendrero-Mateo, M. Jansen, H. Scharr, and U. Rascher. 2015. HyperART: Non-invasive quantification of leaf traits using hyperspectral absorption-reflectance-transmittance imaging. *Plant Methods* 11: 1.
- Bock, C.H., G.H. Poole, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2010. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29: 59–107.
- Bravo, C., D. Moshou, J. West, A. McCartney, and H. Ramon. 2003. Early disease detection in wheat fields using spectral reflectance. *Biosystems Engineering* 84: 137–145.
- Brenchley, G.H. 1964. Aerial photography for the study of potato blight epidemics. *World Review* of Pest Control 3: 68–84.
- Brown, H.E., M.A. Diuk-Wasser, Y. Guan, S. Caskey, and D. Fish. 2008. Comparison of three satellite sensors at three spatial scales to predict larval mosquito presence in Connecticut wetlands. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 112: 2301–2308.
- Bürling, K., M. Hunsche, and G. Noga. 2012. Presymptomatic detection of powdery mildew infection in winter wheat cultivars by laser-induced fluorescence. *Applied Spectroscopy* 66: 1411–1419.
- Camargo, A., and J.S. Smith. 2009. Image pattern classification for the identification of disease causing agents in plants. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 66: 121–125.
- Carter, G.A., and A.K. Knapp. 2001. Leaf optical properties in higher plants: Linking spectral characteristics to stress and chlorophyll concentration. *American Journal of Botany* 88: 677–684.
- Chaerle, L., D. Hagenbeek, E. De Bruyne, and D. Van der Straeten. 2007. Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging for disease-resistance screening of sugar beet. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 91: 97–106.
- Cheng, T., B. Rivard, G.A. Sánchez-Azofeifa, J. Feng, and M. Calvo-Polanco. 2010. Continuous wavelet analysis for the detection of green attack damage due to mountain pine beetle infestation. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 114: 899–910.
- Choudhary, A., S. Sharma, and P. Yadav. 2022. Remote sensing: A tool of plant disease management. Just Agriculture 2 (7): 031.
- Cobb, J.N., G. DeClerck, A. Greenberg, R. Clark, and S. McCouch. 2013. Next-generation phenotyping: Requirements and strategies for enhancing our understanding of genotype-phenotype relationships and its relevance to crop improvement. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 126: 867–887.
- Colwell, R. 1956. Determining the prevalence of certain cereal crop diseases by means of aerial photography. *Hilgardia* 26 (5): 223–286.
- Coops, N.C., R.H. Waring, M.A. Wulder, and J.C. White. 2009. Prediction and assessment of bark beetle-induced mortality of lodgepole pine using estimates of stand vigor derived from remotely sensed data. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 113: 1058–1066.
- Cséfalvay, L., G. Di Gaspero, K. Matouš, D. Bellin, B. Ruperti, and J. Olejníčková. 2009. Presymptomatic detection of Plasmopara viticola infection in grapevine leaves using chlorophyll fluorescence imaging. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 125: 291–302.
- Del Fiore, A., M. Reverberri, A. Ricelli, F. Pinzari, S. Serranti, A.A. Fabbri, G. Bonifazi, and C. Fanelli. 2010. Early detection of toxigenic fungi on maize by hyperspectral imaging analysis. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 144: 64–71.
- Delalieux, S., J. van Aardt, W. Keulemans, and P. Coppin. 2007. Detection of biotic stress (Venturia inaequalis) in apple trees using hyperspectral data: Non-parametric statistical approaches and physiological implications. *European Journal of Agronomy* 27: 130–143.
- Donohue, K., L.T. Huang, F. Forsberg, and C. Piccoli. 2001. Tissue classification with gen- eralized spectrum parameters. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology 27: 1505–1514.
- Douchkov, D., T. Baum, A. Ihlow, P. Schweizer, and U. Seiffert. 2013. Microphenomics for interaction of barley with fungal pathogens. In *Genomics of plant genetic resources*, ed. R. Tuberosa et al., 123–148. Dordrecht: Springer.

- ElMasry, G., N. Wang, A. ElSayed, and M. Ngadi. 2007. Hyperspectral imaging for nondestructive determination of some quality attributes for strawberry. *Journal of Food Engineering* 81: 98–107.
- Fahey, T., H. Pham, A. Gardi, R. Sabatini, D. Stefanelli, I. Goodwin, and D.W. Lamb. 2021. Active and passive electro-optical sensors for health assessment in food crops. *Sensors (Switzerland)* 21 (1): 1–40. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21010171.
- Fiorani, F., U. Rascher, S. Jahnke, and U. Schurr. 2012. Imaging plants dynamics in heterogenic environments. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 23: 227–235.
- Franke, J., and G. Menz. 2007. Multi-temporal wheat disease detection by multi-spectral remote sensing. *Precision Agriculture* 8: 161–172.
- Glazebrook, J. 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annual Review of Phytopathology 43: 205–227.
- Gogoi, N.K., B. Deka, and L.C. Bora. 2018. Remote sensing and its use in detection and monitoring plant diseases: A review. Agricultural Reviews. https://doi.org/10.18805/ag.r-1835.
- Gonzalez-Dugo, V., P. Hernandez, I. Solis, and P. Zarco-Tejada. 2015. Using high-resolution hyperspectral and thermal airborne imagery to assess physiological condition in the context of wheat phenotyping. *Remote Sensing* 7: 13586–13605.
- Grieve, B., S. Hammersley, A.-K. Mahlein, E.-C. Oerke, and H. Goldbach. 2015. Localized multispectral crop imaging sensors: Engineering & validation of a cost effective plant stress and disease sensor. In: Sensors applications symposium (SAS), 2015 IEEE, April 2015, 1–6.
- Hahn, F. 2009. Actual pathogen detection: Sensors and algorithms-a review. *Algorithms* 2: 301–338.
- Hillnhütter, C., A.-K. Mahlein, R.A. Sikora, and E.-C. Oerke. 2011. Remote sensing to detect plant stress induced by Heterodera schachtii and Rhizoctonia solani in sugar beet fields. *Field Crops Research* 122: 70–77.
- Huang, W., D.W. Lamb, Z. Niu, Y. Zhang, L. Liu, and J. Wang. 2007. Identification of yellow rust in wheat using in-situ spectral reflectance measurements and airborne hyperspectral imaging. *Precision Agriculture* 8: 187–197.
- Huang, J., H. Liao, Y. Zhu, J. Sun, Q. Sun, and X. Liu. 2012. Hyperspectral detection of rice damaged by rice leaf folder (Cnaphalocrocis medinalis). *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 82: 100–107.
- Iqbal, M.J., P.H. Goodwin, E.D. Leonardos, and B. Grodzinski. 2012. Spatial and temporal changes in chlorophyll fluorescence images of Nicotiana benthamiana leaves following inoculation with Pseudomonas syringae pv. tabaci. *Plant Pathology* 61: 1052–1062.
- Jackson, H.R., and V.R. Wallen. 1975. Microdensiometer measurements of sequential aerial photographs of field beans infected with bacterial blight. *Phytopathology* 65: 961–968.
- Jacquemoud, S., and S.L. Ustin. 2001. Leaf optical properties: A state of the art. In Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium Physical Measurements & Signatures in Remote Sensing, 8– 12 January 2001, 223–232. Aussois, France: CNES.
- Jansen, M., F. Gilmer, B. Biskup, K.A. Nagel, U. Rascher, A. Fischbach, A. Briem, G. Dreissen, S. Tittmann, S. Braun, I. De Jaeger, M. Metzlaff, U. Schurr, H. Scharr, and A. Walter. 2009. Simultaneous phenotyping of leaf growth and chlorophyll fluorescence via GROWSCREEN FLUORO allows detection of stress tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana and other rosette plants. *Functional Plant Biology* 36: 902–914.
- Jones, H.G., and R.A. Vaughan. 2010. *Remote sensing of vegetation: Principles, techniques, and applications*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Kuckenberg, J., I. Tartachnyk, and G. Noga. 2009. Detection and differentiation of nitrogendeficiency, powdery mildew and leaf rust at wheat leaf and canopy level by laser-induced chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biosystems Engineering* 103: 121–128.
- Kuska, M., M. Wahabzada, M. Leucker, H.-W. Dehne, K. Kersting, E.-C. Oerke, U. Steiner, and A.-K. Mahlein. 2015. Hyperspectral phenotyping on microscopic scale – Towards automated characterization of plant-pathogen interactions. *Plant Methods* 11: 28.

- Liu, J., J.R. Miller, D. Haboudane, E. Pattey, and M.C. Nolin. 2005. Variability of seasonal CASI image data products and potential application for management zone delineation for precision agriculture. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing* 31: 400–411.
- Lucieer, A., Z. Malenovský, T. Veness, and L. Wallace. 2014. HyperUAS-imaging spectroscopy from a multirotor unmanned aircraft system. *Journal of Field Robotics* 31: 571–590.
- Luo, J., W. Huang, J. Zhao, J. Zhang, C. Zhao, and R. Ma. 2013. Detecting aphid density of winter wheat leaf using hyperspectral measurements. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing* 6: 690–698.
- Mahlein, A.K. 2015. Plant disease detection by imaging sensors—parallels and specific demands for precision agriculture and plant phenotyping. *Plant Disease* 100: 241–251.
- Mahlein, A.-K. 2016. Present and future trends in plant disease detection. *Plant Disease* 100 (2): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2.
- Mahlein, A.-K., U. Steiner, H.-W. Dehne, and E.-C. Oerke. 2010. Spectral signatures of sugar beet leaves for the detection and differentiation of diseases. *Precision Agriculture* 11: 413–431.
- Mahlein, A.-K., E.-C. Oerke, U. Steiner, and H.-W. Dehne. 2012a. Recent advances in sensing plant diseases for precision crop protection. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 133: 197–209.
- Mahlein, A.-K., U. Steiner, C. Hillnhütter, H.-W. Dehne, and E.-C. Oerke. 2012b. Hyperspectral imaging for small-scale analysis of symptoms caused by different sugar beet disease. *Plant Methods* 8: 3.
- Mahlein, A.-K., T. Rumpf, P. Welke, H.-W. Dehne, L. Plümer, U. Steiner, and E.-C. Oerke. 2013. Development of spectral vegetation indices for detecting and identifying plant diseases. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 128: 21–30.
- Mahlein, A.K., M.T. Kuska, J. Behmann, G. Polder, and A. Walter. 2018. Hyperspectral sensors and imaging technologies in phytopathology: State of the art. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 56: 535–558.
- Mehl, P.M., Y.-R. Chen, S.M. Kim, and D.E. Chan. 2004. Development of hyperspectral imaging technique for the detection of apple surface defects and contaminations. *Journal of Food Engineering* 61: 67–81.
- Mewes, T., J. Franke, and G. Menz. 2011. Spectral requirements on airborne hyperspectral remote sensing data for wheat disease detection. *Precision Agriculture* 12: 795–812.
- Neumann, M., L. Hallau, B. Klatt, K. Kersting, and C. Bauckhage. 2014. Erosion band features for cell phone image based plant disease classification. In *Proceeding of the 22nd International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR), Stockholm, Sweden, 24–28 August 2014*, 3315–3320.
- Nilsson, H.-E. 1995. Remote sensing and imaging analysis in plant pathology. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 17: 154–166.
- Oerke, E.C. 2006. Crop losses to pests. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 144: 31–43.
  2020. Remote sensing of diseases. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 58: 225–252. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-010820-012832.
- Oerke, E.-C., P. Frohling, and U. Steiner. 2011. Thermographic assessment of scab disease on apple leaves. *Precision Agriculture* 12: 699–715.
- Oerke, E.-C., A.-K. Mahlein, and U. Steiner. 2014. Proximal sensing of plant diseases. In *Detection and diagnostic of plant pathogens, plant pathology in the 21st century*, ed. M.L. Gullino and P.J.M. Bonants, 55–68. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer Science and Business Media.
- Pethybridge, S.J., and S.C. Nelson. 2015. Leaf doctor: A new portable application for quantifying plant disease severity. *Plant Disease* 99: 1310–1316.
- Polder, G., G.W.A.M. van der Heijden, J. van Doorn, and T.A.H.M.C. Baltissen. 2014. Automatic detection of tulip breaking virus (TBV) in tulip fields using machine vision. *Biosystems Engineering* 117: 35–42.
- Qin, Z., and M. Zhang. 2005. Detection of rice sheath blight for in-season disease management using multispectral remote sensing. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* 7: 115–128.
- Qin, J., T.F. Burks, M.A. Ritenour, and W.G. Bonn. 2009. Detection of citrus canker using hyperspectral reflectance imaging with spectral information divergence. *Journal of Food Engineering* 93: 183–191.
- Robinson, R.A. 1969. Disease resistance terminology. Review of Applied Mycology 48: 593-606.
- Rousseau, C., E. Belin, E. Bove, D. Rousseau, F. Fabre, R. Berruyer, J. Guillaumes, C. Manceau, M.-A. Jaques, and T. Boureau. 2013. High throughput quantitative phenotyping of plant resistance using chlorophyll fluorescence image analysis. *Plant Methods* 9: 17.
- Rumpf, T., A.-K. Mahlein, U. Steiner, E.-C. Oerke, H.-W. Dehne, and L. Plümer. 2010. Early detection and classification of plant diseases with Support Vector Machines based on hyperspectral reflectance. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 74: 91–99.
- Sankaran, S., A. Mishra, R. Ehsani, and C. Davis. 2010. A review of advanced techniques for detecting plant diseases. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 72: 1–13.
- Seelan, S.K., S. Laguette, G.M. Casady, and G.A. Seielstad. 2003. Remote sensing applications for precision agriculture: A learning community approach. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 88: 157–169.
- Scholes, J.D., and S.A. Rolfe. 2009. Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging as tool for under-standing the impact of fungal diseases on plant performance: A phenomics perspective. *Functional Plant Biology* 36: 880–892.
- Shearer, S.A., and R.G. Holmes. 1990. Plant identification using color co-occurrence matrices. *Transactions of the ASAE. American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 33: 2037–2044.
- Steiner, U., K. Bürling, and E.-C. Oerke. 2008. Sensorik f
  ür einen pr
  äzisierten Pflanzenschutz. Gesunde Pflanz 60: 131–141.
- Stoll, M., H.R. Schultz, G. Baecker, and B. Berkelmann-Loehnertz. 2008. Early pathogen detection under different water status and the assessment of spray application in vineyards through the use of thermal imagery. *Precision Agriculture: An International Journal on Advances in Precision Agriculture* 9: 407–417.
- Strange, R.N., and P.R. Scott. 2005. Plant disease: A threat to global food security. *Annual Review* of *Phytopathology* 43: 83–116.
- Tartachnyk, I.I., I. Rademacher, and W. Kühbauch. 2006. Distinguishing nitrogen deficiency and fungal infection of winter wheat by laser-induced fluorescence. *Precision Agriculture: An International Journal on Advances in Precision Agriculture* 7: 281–293.
- Tucker, C.C., and S. Chakraborty. 1997. Quantitative assessment of lesion characteristic and disease severity using digital image processing. *Journal of Phytopathology* 145: 273–278.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz, eds. 2020a. Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches. Vol. 13, 1–339. ISBN: 978-3-030-35954-6. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35955-3.
   2020b. History and recent trends in plant disease control: An overview. In Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches, 1–13. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Walter, A., F. Liebisch, and A. Hund. 2015. Plant phenotyping: From bean weighing to image analysis. *Plant Methods* 11: 14.
- Wang, X., M. Zhang, J. Zhu, and S. Geng. 2008. Spectral prediction of Phytophthora infestans infection on tomatoes using artificial neural network (ANN). *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 29: 1693–1706.
- Weiss, M., F. Jacob, and G. Duveiller. 2020. Remote sensing for agricultural applications: A metareview. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 236: 111402.
- West, J.S., C. Bravo, R. Oberti, D. Lemaire, D. Moshou, and H.A. McCartney. 2003. The potential of optical canopy measurement for targeted control of field crop diseases. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 41: 593–614.
- Wijekoon, C.P., P.H. Goodwin, and T. Hsiang. 2008. Quantifying fungal infection of plant leaves by digital image analysis using Scion Image software. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 74: 94–101.

- Wolter, P.T., P.A. Townsend, B.R. Sturtevant, and C.C. Kingdon. 2008. Remote sensing of the distribution and abundance of host species for spruce budworm in Northern Minnesota and Ontario. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 112: 3971–3982.
- Xu, H.R., Y.B. Ying, X.P. Fu, and S.P. Zhu. 2007. Near-infrared spectroscopy in detecting leaf miner damage on tomato leaf. *Biosystems Engineering* 96: 447–454.
- Yang, C., C. Cheng, and R. Chen. 2007. Changes in spectral characteristics of rice canopy infested with brown planthopper and leaffolder. *Crop Science* 47: 329–335.
- Yao, Q., Z. Guan, Y. Zhou, J. Tang, Y. Hu, and B. Yang. 2009. Application of support vector machine for detecting rice diseases using shape and color texture features. In 2009 international conference on engineering computation, 79–83.
- Yuan, L., J. Zhang, Y. Shi, C. Nie, L. Wei, and J. Wang. 2014. Damage mapping of powdery mildew in winter wheat with high-resolution satellite image. *Remote Sensing* 6: 3611–3623.
- Zahir, S.A.D.M., A.F. Omar, M.F. Jamlos, M.A.M. Azmi, and J. Muncan. 2022. A review of visible and near-infrared (Vis-NIR) spectroscopy application in plant stress detection. *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical* 338 (February): 113468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sna.2022.113468.
- Zhang, J., R. Pu, W. Huang, L. Yuan, J. Luo, and J. Wang. 2012. Using in-situ hyperspectral data for detecting and discriminating yellow rust disease from nutrient stresses. *Field Crops Research* 134: 165–174.
- Zhang, J., R. Pu, L. Yuan, W. Huang, C. Nie, and G. Yang. 2013. Integrating remotely sensed and meteorological observations to forecast wheat powdery mildew at a regional scale. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing* 7: 4328–4339.
- Zhang, B., W. Huang, J. Li, C. Zhao, S. Fan, J. Wu, and C. Liu. 2014. Principles, developments and applications of computer vision for external quality inspection of fruits and vegetables: A review. *Food Research International* 62: 326–343.



# Amjad Abbas, Muhammad Amjad Ali, and Abdelfattah A. Dababat

#### Abstract

Technology

Plants disease development mainly depends on important factors like the plant, pathogen, and suitable environment. The presence of inoculum in the vicinity of the plant is very important. And inoculum comes in contact with the plant through water, soil, insects, and air. After physical contact with the pathogen, the plant responds to the pathogenic presence in multiple ways. Evaluation of losses due to pathogen attacks is always important, and assessment is made for mitigation purposes. Conventionally diseases are assessed through a predetermined rating scale. The rating scales are devised individually for each case depending on the nature of the pathogen and organ or tissue under attack. Some abiotic stresses also cause disease-like symptoms which could be differentiated by an expert only. It is important to know about the concept of disease, disease development, and plant resistance responses before image-based disease assessment.

#### **Keywords**

Disease image analysis  $\cdot$  Symptom analysis  $\cdot$  Imaging  $\cdot$  Machine learning  $\cdot$  Image processing

A. A. Dababat CIMMYT, Ankara, Turkey

A. Abbas  $(\boxtimes) \cdot M$ . A. Ali

Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan e-mail: amjad.abbas@uaf.edu.pk

# 4.1 Basics of Plant Disease Development

Animals have a highly advanced blood vascular system that plays many functions in their life, including defense against diseases; moreover, the animals can escape the pathogen populated sites by physical movement. Plants, contrary to animals, are sessile and are exposed to bacteria, fungi, viruses, nematodes, etc., which may or may not cause disease in plants. There is a continuous battle between the plant host and the concerned pathogen in their periphery. The pathogen's ability to cause disease is not so simple; they have to supersede many barriers set by nature in plants (Ahuja et al. 2012). Depending on their dispersion method, the pathogens enter the plants through roots or aerial parts. Their entry is subjected to the natural wounds and/or their ability to overcome the physical barriers through enzymatic digestion. To achieve such aggression, they need cell wall degrading enzymes to interfere with the normal functions of the plants.

Since thousands of microbes surround plants, many of which are pathogenic to the plant or other plant species. Some microbial pathogens are highly specific and cause infection to specific plant types are called narrow host range pathogens, while other pathogens that can cause infection on a reasonable number of plant species are called broad range pathogens (Ashutosh Rai 2014; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020). But plants are immune to the majority of pathogens.

Similarly, the plants having pathogen-specific resistance is called host resistance, while resistance of plants to a broad range of pathogens is called non-host resistance. The critical step is the compatibility or recognition of the pathogen both for host and non-host plants. An incompatible plant–pathogen interaction between a pathogen and non-host plant involves the induction of several responses like signaling compounds, cell death of the infected region, and appearance of an increase in the level of reactive oxygen species to hypersensitive response, which is an important type of plant defense (Zheng et al. 2012). Non-host resistance is either indicated by no visual symptom or necrosis of the localized region. From this discussion, it is clear that non-host resistance results in no visible symptom or strong delayed response like necrosis of the limited localized infected part. These two possibilities are dependent on the species of pathogen and non-host plant. A pathogen not showing symptoms on one non-host plant can cause localized necrosis on the other plant species.

Plants and animals possess an innate immune system against pathogens, while vertebrate animals have an adaptive immune system that produces specific antibodies against specific antigens released by the microbial pathogens. The plant's innate immune system consists of constitutive and inducible defense mechanisms. The constitutive resistance mechanisms include physical barriers formed by the plant cell wall and preformed low molecular compounds, peptides, and proteins. The inducible defense system against microorganisms relies on detecting unique patterns known as Microorganism/Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns (MAMPs/PAMPs) specific to these organisms. When microorganism interacts with plants, these MAMPs such as peptidoglycans, lipopolysaccharides, and flagellin are sensed

by pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) of the plant to instigate the induced resistance response (Zhang et al. 2013).

These PRRs have a similar leucine-rich repeat (LRR) as animal PRRs. In Arabidopsis, the transmembrane flagellin receptor FLAGELLIN-SENSITIVE 2 (FLS2) is one example. It is located in the plasma membrane and recognizes the bacterial flagellin epitope, which is a bacterial MAMP. The interaction of bacterial MAMPs and PRRs from plants results in different plant responses, such as the production of phytoalexins, PR proteins, and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), and involves the signaling compound i.e., salicylic acid (Newman et al. 2013). AMPs are widespread in plants and animals, and several groups of these peptides have been described from plants, such as thionins, plant defensins, lipid transfer proteins, snakins, and hevein-like peptides. These plant AMPs are basic and contain several cysteine residues forming disulfide bridges.

The immunity developed under the involvement of these receptors in plants is called pattern-triggered immunity (PTI). Microorganisms try to overcome PTI by delivering effector molecules into the plant cell. One of the best-understood examples of bacterial effectors is AvrPto produced by *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato*. These effector molecules suppress the plant's pathogen-triggered immunity (Altenbach and Robatzek 2007). However, in response to these effector molecules, plants have evolved resistance (R) proteins, mainly intracellular immune receptors. These molecules can recognize pathogen effector molecules, either directly or indirectly, and the result of this resistance response is called effector trigger immunity (ETI). The important outcome of ETI is the hypersensitive response, a form of programmed cell death (Article et al. 2014). During the hypersensitive response, the infected cells start to die, and this is an effective resistance mechanism against biotrophic pathogens which rely on living plant cells to obtain their nutrients.

Plants communicate the onset of disease to alert the other healthy parts of the plant. These uninfected parts become more resistant to infection by different pathogens. This resistance is called systemic acquired resistance (SAR). The induction of SAR is followed by effector-triggered immunity, and this immunity is effective against a broad range of pathogens (Durrant and Dong 2004).

# 4.2 Structural Insight Is Important

The cuticle is the outermost physical structure made up of the epidermal cells of plant organs in the phyllosphere. The cuticle is coated with wax, or the latter is intermingled in minute amount as a surface layer or an irregular manner. This is a natural barrier against biotic and abiotic stresses. In the case of biotic stresses, it deprives the pathogens, especially fungal spores, of the availability of moisture due to the presence of wax which lacks affinity for water. In the case of bacteria, it reduces their adhesion and multiplication probability by providing an escape from pathogenicity due to hydrophobicity. The uppermost cuticle having wax is called cuticle proper. Cuticle proper lies exactly on the newly formed cuticle layer adjacent to the cell wall (Pogorelko et al. 2013). The thickness of the cuticle varies among plant species depending upon the organ containing it. The cuticle is composed of cutin polymer.

Biosynthesis of the cuticle from the epidermal cell is complex; more than one gene is involved in this process, and these genes are reported in more than one plant species which shows their conserved nature, while most of the work is reported in the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Chemically, the cutin is an ester of 16–18 carbon-containing fatty acids and glycerols. Esterases divide the cutin polymer into comparatively smaller monomers. Wax is chemically ester of alcohol and much longer fatty acids (containing up to 40 Carbons) or the various derivatives of the same. Epicuticular wax gives the surface insulation while the intracuticular supports the structure from inside.

# 4.3 Pathogen Assessment at the Surface

In the case of fungal spores containing an average or basal level of cutinase enzyme, upon contact with plant surface, disintegrate a very small proportion of surface cuticle into monomers. The presence of these monomers in this interaction further activates mass production of the enzyme mentioned above inside the pathogen cells, linked to emergent transport or secretion to the interaction point for the further decay of the cuticle. Thus induction of this high level of cutinase is mediated through plant monomers. These monomers further activate the adhesion of spores and develop a specialized infection structure, "appressorium," as in the case of rice blast fungus Magnaporthe grisea. As already mentioned, wax is the critical component in the formation of cuticle proper, and the cuticle adjacent to the cell wall also plays a role in the induction of the fungal pathogenicity process. The wax on mango fruit and leaves is used to induce the germination and development of infection structure in Collectotrichum gloeosporioides fungus. Wax is isolated by chloroform as the solvent for this chemical; the in vitro application of wheat leaf wax enhances the formation of infection structure in the wheat rust fungus *Puccinia graminis* f.sp. tritici.

# 4.4 Explanation of Plant Defense

The monomers of plant cuticle as the degradation product of the pathogen's digesting enzymes are perceived as primary signals for the host to prepare for necessary defense. Simply these monomers act as primary elicitors for the plant. But the effective concentration of these monomers is still debatable how it can be fixed that a particular type and concentration is considered minimal for the activation of plant defense. Additionally, their presence at the interaction site is a well-established fact for such plant reactions. External application of cutin monomers present in the hydrolysates of apple or tomato on Cucumber used to induce the production of reactive oxygen species in the host as a result of induction. Similarly,

*Rhizoctonia solani* infects bean leaves, the spores in water used to cause disease while the same spore suspension aided with cutinase derived from *Venturia inaequalis* resulted in an apparent reduction in symptoms of disease in a comparative study.

The cell wall is the outermost structure of the cell. It can be divided into three important parts. The middle lamella is present as the adjacent structure of the neighboring cells. The other two structures are the primary and secondary walls. The primary walls lie outside of the secondary wall. The secondary wall is made of lignin and is present mainly in xylem cells, thus preventing the loss of water during transportation. In the absence of a secondary wall, the primary walls remain in contact with the cell membrane, which is present as the living structure of the cell surrounding the cytosol and organelles. Both of these walls vary in composition and thickness. The ingredients from which a cell is formed are mainly cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, glycoprotein, proteins, enzymes, and inorganic ions in minor amount. The ingredients are synthesized inside the cell and or in the endomembrane system of the cell as insoluble particles and assembled to form this rigid structure. The involvement of various proteins is reported, as more than 2000 genes directly or indirectly control the synthesis and activity of plant cell wall. Most of the plant cell machinery is involved in synthesizing and transporting the ingredients in forming the cell wall.

# 4.5 Resistant Plant and Disease Severity Concept

The cell provides a barrier during the attack of pathogens. This barrier is not entirely successful, yet it plays a primary role in the defense machinery. The phytopathogens must interact with the cell wall, depending upon the weapons of attack they have acquired during the long evolutionary race with the plant. Almost all necrotrophic fungi and bacteria cause soft rots, and some biotrophic fungi or bacteria primarily use the cell wall digesting enzymes in their interaction with the plant. Pathogens do not equally target all the components comparatively; pectin and xylan, which are primary constituents of the cell wall in cereals and among dicots, and are digested mainly by these enzymes as compared to cellulose which is packed as strong stuff of microfibrils. So these degrading enzymes, pectinases and xylanases, are important virulence factors for necrotrophic pathogens and help them in disease incidence.

To counterattack, the plant produces different inhibitor proteins. In the growing and metabolically active regions, the cell wall stiffness is not an easy target for the pathogen to attack. In the case of soil-borne fungi, it can colonize at the apical region, but the real invasion is at the elongation zone, the point having little weakened cell wall due to little metabolic move. This shows how the cell wall is important as a defense barrier. The fungi and oomycetes establish a special feeding structure called haustoria when they are in contact with the host cell surface. Bacterial pathogens lack such structures, but in the case of gram-negative pathogenic species, they have a specialized secretion system made of proteins to deliver effector proteins into the plant cell through pili. Papillae are also deposited at the site of infection and act as a physical barrier in penetrating pathogenic structures and products inside the cytosol. These papillae are active sites for the presence of secondary metabolites, which have antimicrobial properties. These are induced structures and appear at the time of infection. In the resistant plant, they evolved quickly as compared to susceptible plant types. In this way, cell wall halt such invasions at an early stage with a low cost of the cell energy compared to cell death which is also a sort of plant defense.

Additionally, the thickness of the cell wall of epidermal cells, which are exposed to pathogens earlier than others, is more significant in comparison. Such cells provide resistance to plants against fungal and bacterial pathogens aimed at direct interference. Maceration of cell wall through enzymatic activity helps the necrotrophic fungi and bacteria to overcome such a stiff structure and successful invasion with varying degrees of disease intensity.

# 4.6 Defense Induction in the Plant

The cytoplasm is the dense fluid that gives the platform for all activities of biomolecules for the existence and survival of the cell. But in some cases, the cytoplasm acts as a resistant structure by surrounding the hyphae of growing fungi or some granular particles that hinder the further advancement of the fungal structures by breaking them. In some cases, the plant cell nucleus divides, while in the situation of more vulnerable fungi, the cytoplasmic resistance response of the plant is overcome easily by the invading fungi. Enlargement of the nucleus and cytoplasm is also considered as the resistance response of the cytoplasm against pathogens with thick cytosol.

# 4.7 Callose Production and Image-Based Quantification

The nature of the cell wall as a physical barrier is already briefly discussed. The cell wall also possesses some inducible chemicals and structures which provide a great deal of primary defense against various biotrophic and hemibiotrophic pathogens. These structures include the appositions of the cell wall known as papillae. Necrotrophic pathogens secrete different hydrolytic enzymes, which macerate the effect of these defense responses. These structures are more effective against bacterial and fungal pathogens. Fungal pathogens face hurdles due to the induction of these assemblies during the formation of their feeding structures.

Additionally, these structures are equipped with various chemicals like callose, phenolics, lignins, etc., enhancing the plant cell's overall resistance against microbial invasions. Rapid response in the form of these structures equipped with biomolecules presents the plant's resistance against a particular pathogen. Some of the reports on the callose are  $\beta$ -(1,3)-glucan polymer which is amorphous in nature and acts as the matrix for accumulating antimicrobial compounds during pathogen attack. In this way, the delivery of these antimicrobial compounds becomes more targeted. Callose is deposited at higher levels in young leaves and seedlings



**Fig. 4.1** Demonstration of callose in the wild type of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. (a) Shows the uninfected leaf, while (b) shows the leaf infected with *Pseudomonas* bacterium. An enhanced level of callose in the leaf tissue and leaf trichomes is shown with white arrows, and it is part of plant induced structural resistance cascade

compared to older tissues. Callose deposition is triggered by the specific molecular patterns of the pathogen. These patterns are called pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). A famous example of these patterns is the N terminal conserved 22 amino acid flagellin molecule from *Pseudomonas* bacterium (Fig. 4.1). In response to this bacterial PAMP, the model plant Arabidopsis influences the elevated level of production of callose in the adjacent cells. While in the case of *Xanthomonas*, a common pathogen of bacterial blights, this bacterium nullifies the effect of higher levels of callose by counteracting through the abundant production of Xanthan. Xanthan is a polysaccharide produced in the *Xanthomonas* spp. of the bacteria.

Some of the mutant lines like pmr4, which is for truncating synthesis of callose, were found to have normal papillae suggesting that the callose has minor or no role in the structural defense of the cell wall; instead, it strengthens the chemical defense of the plant. The pmr4 mutant sustained papillae formation at the sites of powdery mildew attack caused by *Blumeria graminis* f.sp. *hordei*, while the amount of callose was very low and only a minor increase in penetration frequency by the pathogen was observed, suggesting the chemical nature of callose in the defense rather than a structural barrier. Deposition of callose is considered important as it is considered as a marker and produced in response to pathogen PAMPs, while its synthesis during abiotic stress is also observed. The priming of plants with signaling hormones like salicylic acid or non-protein amino acid  $\beta$ -amino butyric acid (BABA) are strong inducers of the accomulation of the callose. BABA-induced priming of plants for callose deposition exploits the abscisic acid (ABA) dependent pathway in the model plant. Callose is also correlated with the amount of H2O2, which is important during abiotic stresses. So callose is multifaceted and augmented in response to PAMPs like Flg22 or polysaccharide chitosan, variations in growth conditions, and varying degrees of accumulation of  $H_2O_2$ , while treatment of ABA has both positive and negative impacts on the accumulation of callose (Ali et al. 2013).

# 4.8 Why Image Analysis Is Important

Pathogens with high or low inoculum are present in the majority of ecosystems. Under favorable environmental conditions, along with the availability of host crops, pathogens result in the onset of various diseases. Prevalence of such favorable conditions for extended periods often results in epidemics with compromised host plants' compromised resistance levels. Susceptible hosts are vulnerable and usually are considered the habitat of pathogens. They provide important support in the survival and persistent availability of pathogen inoculum for many upcoming cropping seasons. However, human interventions like the use of pesticides could help to manage such diseases and save agricultural produce for ever-increasing human populations and animal feed (Capote et al. 2012).

Pesticides are used after properly assessing disease in a particular field or area. Nonetheless, pesticides are not targeted, and healthy plants often get the dose of chemicals that have an economic cost and environmental concerns. From the perspective of early assessment of an event or wise calculation based on windowpane analysis, the algorithm is traditionally employed with disease outcomes. Climatic conditions are significant and directly correlate with disease severity in any geographical region. The model works on the correlation of weather events with the development of the disease. But this model does not explain the real disease development and environmental conditions. Instead, a scalar-on-function regression model with a binary output at every crop event is more reliable and demonstrates the real disease progress going on under these so-called favorable environmental conditions.

Plant diseases are assessed by observing visual symptoms and laboratory tests for confirmation. Such field observations are also converted into a quantifiable form as percent disease severity or disease index, as shown in Figs. 4.2 and 4.3. But the main



**Fig. 4.2** Input disease indices for establishing disease severity scale ranging from healthy leaf shown in **a** and complete symptom development are displayed in **h**, whereas **b**–**g** show the varying intensity of symptoms with brown color



Fig. 4.3 Testing of disease severity scale in the field by conferring scoring from the established scorecard

problem is in the rating by individuals. Individuals vary in the ability to rate a particular disease because of different skills. Experienced and inexperienced raters differed in the ability to assess the same field having the disease (Bock et al. 2009). Such differences in the assessment are not reflected in the final conclusion of disease in a particular area or field, and decision-making could be compromised, which is entirely dependent on the individual data-driven campaign from the field.

During an inspection of the field for disease assessment, apparent symptoms like large lesions are easily estimated compared to small lesions in the same area. And the statistical analysis also verifies that error arises due to lesion number (Godoy et al. 1997). Similar studies on bean rust show that raters overestimated disease when they counted small lesions, which were higher in number in contrast to a few more extensive lesions with minute error (Hock et al. 1992). The plant tissue or organ and the size of the part under consideration also add in error during estimation, and severity could be different (Nita et al. 2003).

In the modern age, such disease rating is aided with online disease diagnosis using internet facilities. The revolution of smartphones with the internet is used for image analysis because of their fast computing ability, high-resolution cameras for taking images, and clear display. Computer vision, especially object recognition, has significantly improved in the past few years. It is widely used for many visualization-related problems in computer vision, including object classification per pre-trained instructions. The PASCAL VOC challenge for the recognition of images analyzing them based on a trained data set (Everingham et al. 2010), and more recently, the Large Scale Visual Recognition Challenge (ILSVRC) (Russakovsky et al. 2015) based on the ImageNet data set has made possible to analyze image-based input at a very high pace (Deng et al. 2009).

The algorithms are diverse, and selecting a suitable algorithm associated with image analysis is very important. All the related images of the disease under observation are collected. The input data is classified into different categories and attributes. The data set is divided into training and testing data sets with a ratio of 80–20%. Training of model is a challenging process and involves domain expert. The model is trained based on color (or wavelength), leaf segmentation, lesion size, lesion number, and leaf area (Mohanty et al. 2016). Once the model is trained on the data set of images, then the model is tested or subjected to transfer learning for the remaining data in the next phase. The training phase could be played with changing input attributes. After the training phase, the accuracy of the model is checked. Several experiments and epochs are important in the training phase. Epochs are the number of training iterations in which a particular neural network has completed a full pass of the training phase (Shah et al. 2019). The number of epochs is important to the well-converged learning of the model. Once the model is trained and tested, it is subjected to an unknown data set that will be infected with varying intensity of symptoms (Lin et al. 2013). Based on previous training, the model will classify the data based on attributes already selected during training. This trained model could be used in the form of a cell phone app. After providing the input image, the model will analyze and classify the image, and a particular disease condition associated with that image could be determined. The algorithms are trained for big data, and



thousands of images from a disease crop field could be classified in a short time, and a targeted decision could be easily taken (Fig. 4.4).

# 4.9 Conclusion

The modern approach for image analysis is more sensitive, reliable, and fast, and a big data set can be analyzed in a very short time. Such interpretations help to make the decision. Ultimately, it would help to save resources by providing correct information. Such information on the diseased patch of the field will help to make the targeted decisions. It could also be a suitable replacement for biochemical tests, which are time-consuming.

Model performance entirely depends on the training and testing data sets. If similar symptoms appear due to abiotic stresses like heat or drought, the model will not differentiate them unless trained for such attempts. Furthermore, model availability in the form of mobile applications could further help in the fast disease diagnosis on farms.

# References

- Ahuja, I., R. Kissen, and A.M. Bones. 2012. Phytoalexins in defense against pathogens. *Trends in Plant Science* 17 (2): 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.11.002.
- Ali, M.A., A. Abbas, D.P. Kreil, and H. Bohlmann. 2013. Overexpression of the transcription factor RAP2.6 leads to enhanced callose deposition in syncytia and enhanced resistance against the beet cyst nematode Heterodera schachtii in Arabidopsis roots. *BMC Plant Biology* 13 (1): 47. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-13-47.
- Altenbach, D., and S. Robatzek. 2007. Pattern recognition receptors: From the cell surface to intracellular dynamics. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 20 (9): 1031–1039. https://doi. org/10.1094/MPMI-20-9-1031.
- Article, R., C. Kwon, and H.S. Yun. 2014. Plant exocytic secretion of toxic compounds for defense. *Toxicological Research* 30 (2): 77–81.

- Ashutosh Rai, P.U. 2014. Differential expression of pathogenesis related protein genes in tomato during inoculation with A. solani. *Journal of Plant Pathology & Microbiology* 05 (01): 1–7. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7471.1000217.
- Bock, C.H., P.E. Parker, A.Z. Cook, T. Riley, and T.R. Gottwald. 2009. Comparison of assessment of citrus canker foliar symptoms by experienced and inexperienced raters. *Plant Disease* 93: 412–424.
- Capote, N., Ana Aguado, and A.M.P. Paloma Sánchez-Torres. 2012. Molecular tools for detection of plant pathogenic fungi and fungicide resistance. In *Agricultural and biological sciences*. *Plant pathology*, ed. Christian Joseph R. Cumagun , 1–53.ISBN 978-953-51-0489-6, Published: April 4, 2012 under CC BY 3.0 License
- Deng, J., W. Dong, R. Socher, L.-J. Li, K. Li, and L. Fei-Fei. 2009. Imagenet: A large-scale hierarchical image database. In *Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, 2009. CVPR 2009. IEEE Conference on. (IEEE).
- Durrant, W. E., & Dong, X. (2004). Systemic acquired resistance. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 42, 185–209.
- Everingham, M., L. Van Gool, C.K. Williams, J. Winn, and A. Zisserman. 2010. The pascal visual object classes (voc) challenge. *International Journal of Computer Vision* 88: 303–338. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11263-009-0275-4.
- Godoy, C.V., S.M.T.P.G. Carneiro, M.T. Iamauti, M. Dalla Pria, L. Amorim, R.D. Berger, and A. Bergamin Filho. 1997. Diagrammatic scales for bean disease: Development and validation. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenkrankheken und Pílanzenschutz* 104: 336–345.
- Hock, J., J. Kranz, and B.L. Renfro. 1992. Tests of standard diagrams for field use in assessing the tarspot disease complex of maize. *Tropical Pest Management* 38: 314–318.
- Lin, M., Q. Chen, and S. Yan. 2013. Network in network. arXiv:1312.4400.
- Mohanty, S.P., D.P. Hughes, and M. Salathé. 2016. Using deep learning for image-based plant disease detection. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7: 1419. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01419.
- Newman, M.-A., T. Sundelin, J.T. Nielsen, and G. Erbs. 2013. MAMP (microbe-associated molecular pattern) triggered immunity in plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 4 (May): 139. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00139.
- Nita, M., M.A. Ellis, and L.V. Madden. 2003. Reliability and accuracy of visual estimation of Phomopsis leaf blight of strawberry. *Phytopathology* 93: 995–1005.
- Pogorelko, G., V. Lionetti, D. Bellincampi, and O. Zabotina. 2013. Cell wall integrity: Targeted post-synthetic modifications to reveal its role in plant growth and defense against pathogens. *Plant Signaling and Behavior* 8 (9): e25435.
- Russakovsky, O., J. Deng, H. Su, J. Krause, S. Satheesh, S. Ma, et al. 2015. ImageNet large scale visual recognition challenge. *International Journal of Computer Vision* 115: 211–252. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11263-015-0816-y.
- Shah, D.A., P.A. Paul, E.D. De Wolf, and L.V. Madden. 2019. Predicting plant disease epidemics from functionally represented weather series. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 374: 20180273. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0273.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz, eds. 2020. Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches. Vol. 13, 1–339. ISBN: 978-3-030-35954-6. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35955-3.
- Zhang, Y., T. Lubberstedt, and M. Xu. 2013. The genetic and molecular basis of plant resistance to pathogens. *Journal of Genetics and Genomics* 40 (1): 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgg.2012. 11.003.
- Zheng, X.Y., N.W. Spivey, W. Zeng, P.P. Liu, Z.Q. Fu, D.F. Klessig, et al. 2012. Coronatine promotes Pseudomonas syringae virulence in plants by activating a signaling cascade that inhibits salicylic acid accumulation. *Cell Host and Microbe* 11 (6): 587–596. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chom.2012.04.014.



# Hyperspectral Imaging Through Spatial and Spectral Sensors for Phytopathometry

5

Yasir Iftikhar, Muhammad Ahmad Zeshan, Ashara Sajid, and Ganesan Vadamalai

#### Abstract

The indexing of plant diseases in quantification plays a crucial role in precision agriculture. Identifying plant diseases with symptomology is the traditional and most commonly observed practice in plant pathology. However, visual observation involves human errors and time consumption. Diagnosis of diseases and their severity in the plant are being recorded through disease rating scales, and innovation in these techniques is the need of time. Hyperspectral sensors and imaging techniques provide precision in detection and involve efficient data analysis at different space and times. This chapter provides an overview of hyperspectral sensors and imaging technologies used to assess plant–pathogen interaction and their implications for plant disease management.

#### Keywords

 $\label{eq:precision} Precision \ agriculture \cdot Disease \ quantification \ \cdot \ Hyperspectral \ imaging \ \cdot \ Disease \ management$ 

G. Vadamalai

Y. Iftikhar (🖂) · M. A. Zeshan · A. Sajid

Department of Plant Pathology, College of Agriculture, University of Sargodha, Sargodha, Pakistan e-mail: yasir.iftikhar@uos.edu.pk

Department of Plant Protection, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

## 5.1 Introduction

Phytopathometry is a fundamental and important part of plant pathology as epidemiology and disease management are dependent on it (Bock et al. 2020). Phytopathometry is the assessment of plant disease detection, identification, and quantification. The methods like color thresholding digital imaging have been employed for the accuracy in the percent area of the leaf affected by the disease (Goncalves et al. 2021). The pathogen's interruption of the plant's physiology results in modified reflectance from the surface, which can be determined by image analysis software for disease detection (Barbedo 2016; Ul Haq et al. 2020). The well-known image analysis software are Assess, ImageJ, Quant, and custommade (Karisto et al. 2017). There is an advancement in quick and accurate disease detection by using artificial intelligence algorithms accomplished by a convolutional neural network (CNN) for semantic segmentation (Esgario et al. 2020).

Hyperspectral imaging (HSI) is used to simultaneously acquire spatial and spectral data from single cells and macroscopic objects (Gowen et al. 2015). The reflectance at visible and infrared wavelengths provides information about leaf pigments and host plant physiology, respectively (Sankaran et al. 2010). Remote sensing helps quick diagnosis of disease and accurate management decisions (Weiss et al. 2020). Remote sensing deals with acquiring knowledge about an object without physical contact from the ground, aerial, or satellite sources (Gogoi et al. 2018). Biophysical and biochemical features mainly describe the spectral characteristics of plantations. In the visible field (0.4–0.7  $\mu$ m), the key light-absorbing pigments are chlorophyll a and b, carotenoids, xanthophylls, and polyphenols (Sahoo et al. 2015). RGB (Red, Green, Blue) image technique was used for predicting the disease outbreak; however, it has limitations under natural fields due to lighting and shade, which can easily be used in a greenhouse (Sugiura et al. 2016).

The spectral signatures of plant diseases that depict a particular developmental stage during pathogenesis were used to construct a spectral library. Machine learning analysis was used for detecting and quantifying diseases from hyperspectral images (Bohnenkamp et al. 2021). Thomas et al. (2017) have described host-microbe association through hyperspectral image analysis. The reflectance magnitude has an important role in detecting and quantifying the spatial and temporal progress of the host-microbe relationship. Mahlein (2010) explored leaf sugar beet diseases in the canopy and leaves using spectral signatures from hyperspectral sensors. The instrument having self-radiation is regarded as an active sensor, whereas the passive system operates with solar radiation (Schellber et al. 2008).

Hyperspectral remote sensing assesses biotic and abiotic stresses from leaf reflectance based upon spectral regions. Leaf pigments are dominant in the visible area of 400–700 nm, whereas the dominancy of leaf water contents and structure of cell lies in the near-infrared NIR (700–1000 nm) and short-wave infrared (SWIR, 1000–2500 nm) regions, respectively (Clevers et al. 2004). Changes in reflectance are attributed to modifications in foliage morphology and physiology. The reflectance of older and diseased plants was lower in the near-infrared band than in red (Li et al. 2005). Slonecker (2011) recommends a spectroradiometer to perform

in vitro and in vivo experiments. Hand-held spectroradiometers are used to monitor alterations in the spectral reflectance of plants. Hyperspectral devices enable immediate and detached identification (Kuska and Mahlein 2018). Thomas et al. (2018) described that hyperspectral devices are important in plant disease measurement. Innovative ways diagnose biotic stresses in plant robots, artificial intelligence, and satellites (Zheng et al. 2021). Artificial intelligence and machine learning are helpful in the physiological studies of plants (Walter et al. 2015). Big data is obtained from sensors using artificial intelligence and machine learning, which reduces the difference between theory and practical implications of hyperspectral science (Tardieu et al. 2017). The modern techniques increase the precision in diagnosis and reduce the chances for human error (Lobos et al. 2017).

Mahlein et al. (2019) used various sensors to diagnose head blight disease in vitro; the temperature of diseased plants differed from healthy ones, ensured through infrared thermography. Similarly, there was low photosynthesis in infected foliage, as depicted by chlorophyll fluorescence. Abdulridha et al. (2019a, b) used a hyperspectral (400–1000 nm) imaging system to detect citrus canker in vitro through radial basis function (RBF) and k-nearest neighbor (KNN). Top plant imaging used a crewless aerial vehicle to detect cankers in the field. Mahlein et al. (2013a, b) determined the severity of different fungal diseases by using a spectroradiometer at 450–950 nm wavelength, and data was analyzed through the RELIEF-F algorithm. Zhang et al. (2012) developed multivariate linear regression (MLR) and partial least square regression (PLSR) for analyzing hyperspectral images to assess powdery mildew disease.

# 5.2 Terminology

- Absolute error is calculated as the difference between recorded and original disease intensity.
- Accuracy: This is the closeness of recorded and actual values.
- Adequate sample size: It is related to the sampled object, e.g., field, plant, plant part required to maintain accuracy.
- **Color transformation**: Alteration in color to distinguish the patterns of an image.
- **Convolutional neural network (CNN)**: CNN works on a mathematical principal and is used to analyze digital images based upon pixel data.
- **Deep learning**: It is used to predict on the basis of modern techniques and statistics.
- Geometric three-dimensional (3D) sensor: 3D sensors measure the geometric surface of objects in space, to determine size and growth of plants.
- Hue, saturation, and intensity (HIS) color model: Hue defines color in  $0^{\circ}$  to  $360^{\circ}$ ; saturation white light (0–1), and intensity white to black (0–1).
- **Hyperspectral imaging**: Captures images at different wavelengths and pixel wise spectrum is obtained for further analysis.
- **Image analysis:** Use of digital images to detect, quantify, and identify the disease.
- Light detection and ranging (LiDAR): Obtaining accurate 3D information through pulsed laser.

- **Machine learning**: Use of artificial intelligence (AI) algorithms in disease detection and identification.
- Reflectance: It is the ratio of reflected light to the incident light to an object.
- **Remote sensing**: It is the phenomenon of taking the image of an object from a distance and then analyzing it through different software.
- Sensor data fusion: A collection of data from multiple sensors to detect plant diseases.
- **Spectral signature**: Severity of reflectance on electromagnetic spectrum for a particular plant condition.
- An unmanned aerial vehicle: It is controlled without a pilot.
- **Visible (VIS) spectrum**: Electromagnetic spectrum visible to the human eye, corresponding to wavelengths between 380 and 750 nm.

# 5.3 Visual Estimation of Plant Disease Incidence and Severity

Epidemics of plant diseases threaten food safety and security by lowering production quality and quantity in agriculture and forestry (Strange and Scott 2005; Savary et al. 2012, 2017). Visual information of plant disease incidences and their severities are the pre-requisites for estimating the crop losses, conducting disease surveys, marking the threshold levels, understanding the plant disease epidemiology, assessing the fungicides, and formulating the management strategies (Bock et al. 2020). A plant's disease symptoms may alter in shape, size, and color. The factor that is frequently most significant or interesting in a given experimental circumstance is disease severity (Paul et al. 2005). Visual estimation is the process of rating the severity of symptoms as the eye observes them. According to Madden et al. (2007), disease severity is the percent unit area of infected plants compared to healthy ones, whereas disease incidence is the ratio of infected units of plants in a specific population to healthy ones.

#### 5.3.1 From the Observation to Remote Sensing

Remote sensing is an innovative and effective tool in the field of patho-phytometry. Based on remote sensing, a sensor or gadget evaluates the amount of sickness or stress signal directly or indirectly (Nilsson 1995; Bock et al. 2010). The capture of the image through a non-VIS spectral range can also be used to estimate the severity of the condition. The methods are different in efficiency regarding quantifying the severity of infection (Mahlein et al. 2012, 2018; Kuska and Mahlein 2018). These systems employ wavelengths in the band of 250–2500 nm, and the calculations are exclusively dependent on the perception of wavelengths. No one system covers the complete range; thus, just a portion of it is often used, typically the near-infrared (NIR) and infrared (IR) bands. To calculate the percentage of infected tissue, raters must be able to distinguish between asymptomatic and symptomatic tissue. The number of observed pixels matched with already known characteristic pixels that

reflect a healthy state compared to a diseased state, which is detected using a variety of statistical processes, is the basis for measurement in VIS spectrum image analysis. The distinctive wavelengths connected to the sick condition are measured by HSI and MSI devices. Study of image acquisition compared to visual estimations is although complex but benefits (Mahlein 2016).

Scaling of disease is an essential factor in selecting an evaluation method due to disease severity information at various spatial scales. Additionally, to meet the demands of "phenomics" in plant breeding, the severity evaluation is a prerequisite to aid the data on a genomics scale and provide accurate and fast assessments (Mutka and Bart 2015; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020). In the phenomics age, high throughput is a crucial factor that affects development and effective resource use. The creation of optical sensors supports disease detection, severity, and categorization in a non-invasive manner. These technologies are already used in plant phenotyping and precision agriculture for resistance breeding (Fiorani and Schurr 2013; Kruse et al. 2014; Stewart et al. 2016; Mahlein et al. 2018).

#### 5.3.2 Quantification of Disease Severity and Importance

The data used in remote sensing depict actual values. A study or assessment is considered accurate if it is near the "gold standard" or true value (Bock et al. 2010, 2016). It must consider how closely an estimate corresponds to the actual value when determining disease severity or measuring accuracy (Madden et al. 2007). Two types of bias: systematic bias (based on the size of the real number); constant bias (based on the overall tendency for estimation).

There are two types of reliability: intra-rater (or method) reliability and inter-rater (or method) reliability. Accuracy can hinder research and waste resources and has an adverse effect on grower income. To properly study treatment effects, comprehend yield loss correlations, interpret surveys, and rate germplasm phenotypes, accurate measures or estimates of severity are crucial. Additionally, the necessity to spray can arise from using severity data as a decision threshold or for illness predictions (or not). Different circumstances may call for various degrees of accuracy. Disease evaluation can lead to a false negative, also known as type II error, as shown by many empirical and simulation-based research (Chiang et al. 2014, 2017a, b). Although this hasn't been discovered in studies on disease evaluation, a false positive (type I error) could be just as harmful. Precise measurements or calculations will reduce these two inaccuracies.

Disease severity has been evaluated using nominal, ordinal, and ratio scales. Brief descriptions of disease like "No," "Mild," "Moderate," and "Severe" are used as the basis for nominal scales, and the symbols are "–" for no disease or healthy, "+," for mild "++," for moderate, and "+++" for severe. Interval scales, among the primary scales, are not present because of lacking real zero.

Nominal scales are arbitrary and can change depending on who is rating them and when. Statistical techniques based on rank or frequency might be used to analyze the data. The term "quantitative ordinal scale" Normative scales (quantitative and qualitative) refers to numerical intervals from 0% to 100%, which is still unclear. These have been previously described as quantitative ordinal, category, and interval scales (Nutter Jr and Esker 2006; Hartung and Piepho 2007; Chiang et al. 2014; Bock et al. 2016).

Qualitative ordinal scales help measure the severity of various diseases without easily quantifiable symptoms. This group may include a variety of viruses, various systemic diseases, and root diseases, such as cassava mosaic disease and citrus huanglongbing (Hahn et al. 1980; Gottwald et al. 2007). These rank statistics are based on distinct reports of different expressions of symptoms and almost probably non-linear symptom development. Qualitative ordinal scales can also be examined using non-parametric statistics appropriate for various experimental designs and function distribution, or they can be studied using parametric statistics (Shah and Madden 2004; Fu et al. 2012). Equal or unequal intervals may be present in quantitative ordinal scales (Horsfall and Barratt 1945; Hunter and Roberts 1978).

Measurement scales: Many diseases allow for weight measurement using measuring scales. Quantitative ordinal scales can be analyzed using a proportional odds model, conversion of mid-point, or by first doing parametric analysis on the percent interval (Chiang et al. 2019). A disease severity index (DSI) can be created using the frequency of ordinal scores (Chester 1950). Actual severity and a severity index may or may not be related, but they differ fundamentally and shouldn't be used interchangeably. DSI may be particularly prone to overdose when using the above formula if intermediate values in the measurement class are ignored, according to a recent study by Chiang et al. (2017a, b). A standard scale used to measure severity visually is the % scale (Gent et al. 2018; Bock and Chiang 2019; Hamada et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2019).

# 5.4 Digital Imaging and Hyperspectral Imaging

It will be helpful to first think about what a common, non-hyperspectral digital image involves to understand hyperspectral technology. Central light waves, measured in nanometers (nm), are approximately 475 nm in blue light, 520 nm in the green light, and 650 nm in red light. Red, green, and blue are the three-wide wavelength bands that make up a color image. Each of the three types of cones in our eyes has a specific color range and is sensitive to the electromagnetic spectrum's blue, green, and red portions. The cones are either stimulated powerfully or weakly depending on the light wavelengths used to excite them. By combining the data from the three various types of cones, our brain creates a color image. The pixel in the digital image captures the integrated intensity of the blue, green, or red part of the light spectrum, depending on the filter in front of the pixel to mimic the sensitivity of the receptors.

A hyperspectral device can capture broad light. A small portion of the electromagnetic spectrum, from 400 to 700 nm, corresponds to the color visible to the human eye. The wavelength range from ultraviolet (UV) (starting at 250 nm) to short infrared waves (SWIR, 2500 nm) is commonly used in hyperspectral plants. To cover most of the spectrum, some sensors include a small range of standard cameras, such as optical and near-infrared (VIS-NIR, 400–1300 nm), SWIR (1300–2500 nm), or UV (250–400 nm). An actual multispectral image usually has additional bands, which may be the sample light emanating from the infrared part of the spectrum and—the light intensity of more than 700 nm. Hyperspectral images usually consist of hundreds of small wavelengths within the spectrum. With enough space adjustment, the path produces a dense, rich color database with hundreds of data points (pixels) per leaf. The wide range of visible and infrared light sources seems to be very effective in analyzing flora and fauna. This spectrum can detect changes in mesophyll cell structure (700–1300 nm) and leaf color (400–700 nm); however, wavelengths (1300–2500 nm) are required to detect effects on plant moisture (Peñuelas and Filella 1998). However, low drought pressure often does not have a sufficient effect that can be detected (Satterwhite and Henley 1990). Excessive drying, for example, may interfere with the formation of the mesophyll leaf, leading to changes in near-infrared light.

Hyperspectral imaging spectrometers use various hardware techniques; therefore, there are a few ways in which the image is obtained. Push brooms, filter wheels, and flexible liquid crystal filters are just a few examples of effective devices (Fong and Wachman 2008). Another use of a push-up vacuum cleaner involves transmitting incoming light through a convex grid (or prism) that separates it into waves of a certain length. A light sensor records this distortion (similar to a standard digital camera). The three components comprise the vacuum cleaner's device: camera, spectrometer, and lens. This technology simultaneously records the entire color spectrum and one area line in the image. Then, the camera or object is removed to capture the next line, thus converting it into a line scanner, and the final image is created when the full scan is complete. Other push-broom variants include a summary mode, in which a complete picture is taken with a single shot.

# 5.4.1 Disease Indices in Use

Before the widespread discovery of hyperspectral imaging devices, researchers who sought to measure outcomes based on color knowledge used multispectral, or hyperspectral, point-source devices (such as spectroradiometers, which do not produce a local image) to obtain color information. Generally, targeting and clicking ratings are not provided by hyperspectral instruments. Instead, the user has a great responsibility to create the recording process. Large data sets from acquisition must be analyzed to obtain significant results. Considering just a few of the wavelengths, looking at changes in all conditions in the sensitive areas previously described in the spectrum is a logical and direct approach to such large databases.

The normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), which measures the general health status of crops (Lasaponara and Masini 2007), is one of the most well-known and widely utilized metrics. For instance, *Eurygaster integriceps* Put. (Hemiptera: Scutelleridae), the Sunn pest/cereal pest that stresses wheat has been detected in wheat using NDVI (Genc et al. 2008). The majority of indices are highly specialized

and only perform effectively with the data sets for which they were intended (Verrelst et al. 2006).

Disease-centric studies focus on creating disease indices for detecting and quantifying specific diseases (Verrelst et al. 2006). One study used the leaf rust disease severity index (LRDSI) with an 87–91% accuracy in detecting the leaf rust (*Puccinia triticina*) in Wheat (Ashourloo et al. 2014) but to our knowledge, it has not been widely tested. Another commonly used method is finding a difference in the sudden increase in visibility on the red/near-infrared border. As chlorophyll absorbs most wavelengths up to 700 nm, the material is not clearly visible in this range but is strongly infrared, resulting in significant changes in the spectral (alternate) reaction of green vegetation in this area (from about 720 nm). According to Cho, the red edge can be extracted or found using various techniques (Cho and Skidmore 2006).

#### 5.4.2 Complete Spectrum-Based Classification

The goal of classification techniques is to separate the data into various unique classes. They come from a group of machine learning or statistical methods. One such method is quadratic discriminant analysis (QDA), which differentiates classes by the covariance matrix. A study of avocado plants investigated Laurel wilt fungus (*Raffaelea lauricola*) using garden plants and a glass house. QDA method used. QDA had an accuracy rate of 94% (Sankaran et al. 2012). Of course, alternate techniques can be used at each step of the analysis pipeline. For instance, a decision tree approach (a machine learning technique) has been utilized in place of QDA and has achieved 95% accuracy (Sankaran et al. 2012). The key is selecting the best data analysis strategy and guaranteeing a large, high-quality dataset. An increasing number of categorization and prediction algorithms are using such machine learning techniques train algorithms using a training data set to analyze and forecast outcomes from new, unforeseen data. An illustration of such a method is the multi-layer perceptron (MLP).

MLP neural networks use primary networks to map output input data. This method is based on the biological knowledge of networks that control how neurons interact with each other. The activation function and adjustable weights are used to update the input area and produce the desired output (using training data). This method requires prior knowledge (training data); therefore, it is wrong to use this procedure if the "disease spectra" are unknown. With the third separation method, the basic pattern or data modification is assessed by looking at spectral fingerprints using alternatives. It is necessary to use "slide" before inserting the output because the output from the second (and higher) system usually does not care for light variability (Tsai and Philpot 1998). However, they are susceptible to noise, which hyperspectral data frequently experiences. To produce a smoother signal, smoothing uses various forms of averaging to lessen the difference between the brightness of individual pixels and those of nearby pixels. Savitzky–Golay and Gaussian filters are two types of smoothing. Savitzky–Golay proposed a way to reduce jitter in noisy data by inserting local polynomials into a subset of data input and smoothing signal

by polynomial testing in one place (Schafer 2011). Gaussian filtering lowers noise by applying a Gaussian-weighted kernel to average the spectral data and concentrate on the center information.

#### 5.4.3 Use of Hyperspectral Data

When several plants are photographed over several days, hyperspectral data is huge in size. A single plant scan may easily take up one GB or more. The process will take much longer if the entire spectrum is analyzed than if only a few wavelengths are chosen. The data does contain much information, some of which may be important. If your camera records data in 800 spectral bands, you must decide whether you need all 800 bands or whether a combination of data at 400, 200, or other bands will suffice. This compares to compressing RGB images in a JPEG-like format. This compression reduces file sizes at the expense of permanently erasing image information (especially color). Few spectral bands are stored, leading to smaller files and a simpler process of data analysis at the expense of color markers that may be significant. Spectrographs acquired using three different system setups are calibrated and characterized by (Polder et al. 2003). The experiments examine the various noise kinds and the signal-to-noise ratio. By estimating the resolution, the spectral range, and the number of pixels, the studies also show that, to some extent, binning can take place without information loss.

# 5.5 Early Detection of Citrus and Solanaceae Plant Diseases Using Remote Sensing

#### 5.5.1 Remote Sensing in Citrus Diseases: Case Study

Citrus is a significant crop from a commercial point of view. The citrus orchards are present in all the tropical and sub-tropical areas of the world. Among the devastating diseases of citrus, bacterial canker (CBC) caused by *Xanthomonas citri* is the most threatening and is widely distributed (Terentev et al. 2022; Schubert et al. 2001; Das 2003). Another critical disease is Huanglongbing (HLB), caused by *Candidatus liberibacter* spp., and is transmitted via insect vectors from one place to place and plant to plant (Deng and Tang 1996). The main effect of these organisms is that they interfere with the nutrient supply of the plants, which can ultimately cause the plants' death. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and other nucleic acid-based techniques are the leading and efficient sources of diagnosis of HLB worldwide. To date, ecofriendly and effective method to control and manage the disease is challenging. Only measures are present to slow down or reduce further disease infestation by destroying the trees infected with HLB (Jagoueix et al. 1996; Fan et al. 2009; Mishra et al. 2012).

Remote sensing, with its two types, active and passive, is one of the latest and most influential and non-destructive techniques for the early detection associated with managing diseases (Terentev et al. 2022). Many articles have been published claiming to elaborate on the partial control measures related to HLB using the hyperspectral remote sensing (HRS) method. Principal component analysis (PCA) is the widely used technique in HRS (Sankaran et al. 2011). Li et al. (2012) used the red edge in the orange orchard field and laboratory experiments on two orange cultivars, "Valencia" and "Hamlin" orange, to find significant differences between healthy and infected HLB trees. The indoor database showed a higher level of accuracy than the external citrus fruit database (approximately 95% compared to 90%) due to better natural conditions and more citrus samples.

Overall, the accuracy of the visual aspect ratio of the data ranged from 43% to 95%. When using a multispectral camera instead of a hyperspectral, Kumar et al. (2012) found very accurate results (87% vs. 80% accuracy). In both multispectral and hyperspectral images, the MTMF (Sorted filter) and (SAM spectral angle) SAM method was most effective (Kumar et al. 2012). With the help of (at least squares vector support machine) LS-SVM. Weng et al. (2018) described healthy subdivision models infected with HLB (invisible and marked) and nutrient-dense orange leaves of local orange varieties, namely, Unshiu and Ponkan. These models had 90.2% accuracy, 96.0%, and 92.6% of the coolest, hottest, and all-time seasons, respectively. The authors have demonstrated the effectiveness of combining citrus carbohydrate metabolism and hyperspectral reflection imaging to identify HLB in various cultivars and growing seasons. The HLB of the Ponkan cultivar was obtained using a split model designed for the Satsuma cultivar data set with a modulation model, with an average accuracy rate of 93.5% and a low number of false negatives. In a study of non-destructive early detection and classification of citrus HLB disease, Deng et al. (2019) have successfully detected HLB early. By using the PLS-DA method and testing it with an exit-without-verification strategy, the study could provide three models for early detection and HLB disease planning (Deng et al. 2020; Lan et al. 2019, 2020; Mei et al. 2014). Smooth and precise methods have a very good impression on the third model built using Savitzky's pre-processed spectral data from Golay; it had a grade accuracy with a total accuracy of 96.4% and a predictable accuracy of at least 92% in five types of leaf samples.

#### 5.5.2 Remote Sensing in Solanaceae Plant Diseases: Case Study

One of the most popular food crops in greenhouses and outdoors is the Solanaceae family, which also contains tomatoes, potatoes, tobacco, peppers, and other plants. These crops are susceptible to various diseases that really can result in significant yield losses, including early and late blight (Foolad et al. 2008; Akino et al. 2013), several viruses (Roselló et al. 1996; Karasev and Gray 2013), bacterial and target spot (Hardwick 2006), among others. Due to the substantial economic costs associated with these diseases, it is crucial to identify them early to implement prompt and effective control strategies. The publications in this part that discuss the early diagnosis of such disorders utilizing HRS are highlighted. Zhang et al.

(2003) detected PLB disease under field conditions through hyperspectral imaging and elaborated on the most affected patches.

# References

- Abdulridha, J., O. Batuman, and Y. Ampatzidis. 2019a. UAV-based remote sensing technique to detect citrus canker disease utilizing hyperspectral imaging and machine learning. *Remote Sensors* 11: 1373. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11111373.
- Abdulridha, J., Y. Ampatzidis, J. Qureshi, and P. Robert. 2019b. Detection of target spot and bacterial spot diseases in tomato using UAV based and benchtop based hyperspectral imaging techniques. *Precision Agriculture* 21: 955–978.
- Akino, S., D. Takemoto, and K. Hosaka. 2013. Phytophthora infestans: A review of past and current studies on potato late blight. *Journal of General Plant Pathology* 80: 24–37.
- Ashourloo, D., M.R. Mobasheri, and A. Huete. 2014. Developing two spectral disease indices for detection of wheat leaf rust (Puccinia triticina). *Remote Sensing* 6: 4723–4740.
- Barbedo, J.G.A. 2016. A novel algorithm for semi-automatic segmentation of plant leaf disease symptoms using digital image processing. *Tropical Plant Pathology* 41: 210–224.
- Bock, C.H., and K.-S. Chiang. 2019. Disease incidence–severity relationships on leaflets, leaves, and fruit in the pecan–Venturia effusa pathosystem. *Plant Disease* 103: 2865–2876.
- Bock, C.H., G.H. Poole, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2010. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29: 59–107.
- Bock, C.H., K.S. Chiang, and E.M. del Ponte. 2016. Accuracy of plant specimen disease severity estimates: Concepts, history, methods, ramifications and challenges for the future. *CAB Reviews* 11: 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1079/PAVSNNR201611032.
- Bock, C.H., J.G. Barbedo, E.M. Del Ponte, D. Bohnenkamp, and A.K. Mahlein. 2020. From visual estimates to fully automated sensor-based measurements of plant disease severity: Status and challenges for improving accuracy. *Phytopathology Research* 2 (1): 1–30.
- Bohnenkamp, D., J. Behmann, S. Paulus, U. Steiner, and A.K. Mahlein. 2021. A hyperspectral library of foliar diseases of wheat. *Plant Disease* 111 (9). https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-09-19-0335-R.
- Chester, K.S. 1950. Plant disease losses: Their appraisal and interpretation. *Plant Disease Report* 193 (Suppl): 190–362.
- Chiang, K.-S., S.C. Liu, C.H. Bock, and T.R. Gottwald. 2014. What interval characteristics make a good categorical disease assessment scale? *Phytopathology* 104: 575–585.
- Chiang, K.-S., H.I. Liu, and C.H. Bock. 2017a. A discussion on disease severity index values. Part I: Warning on inherent errors and suggestions to maximize accuracy. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 171: 139–154.
- Chiang, K.-S., H.I. Liu, J.W. Tsai, J.R. Tsai, and C.H. Bock. 2017b. A discussion on disease severity index values. Part II: Using the disease severity index for null hypothesis testing. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 171: 490–505.
- Chiang, K.-S., H.I. Liu, Y.L. Chen, M. El Jarroudi, and C.H. Bock. 2019. Quantitative ordinal scale estimates of plant disease severity: Comparing treatments using a proportional odds model. *Phytopathology*. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-10-18-0372-R.
- Cho, M.A., and A.K. Skidmore. 2006. A new technique for extracting the red edge position from hyperspectral data: The linear extrapolation method. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 101: 181–193.
- Clevers, J.G.P.W., L. Kooistra, and E.A.L. Salas. 2004. Study of heavy metal contamination in river floodplains using the red-edge position in spectroscopic data. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 25: 3883–3895. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160310001654473.
- Das, A.K. 2003. Citrus canker-A review. Journal of Applied Horticultre 5: 52-60.

- Deng, X., and W. Tang. 1996. The studies on detection of citrus Huanglongbing pathogen by polymerase chain reaction. *Journal of South China Agricultural University* 17: 119–120.
- Deng, X., Z. Huang, Z. Zheng, Y. Lan, and F. Dai. 2019. Field detection and classification of citrus Huanglongbing based on hyperspectral reflectance. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 167: 105006.
- Deng, X., Z. Zhu, J. Yang, Z. Zheng, Z. Huang, X. Yin, S. Wei, and Y. Lan. 2020. Detection of citrus Huanglongbing based on multi-input neural network model of UAV HRS. *Remote Sensing* 12: 2678.
- Esgario, J.G.M., R.A. Krohling, and J.A. Ventura. 2020. Deep learning for classification and severity estimation of coffee leaf biotic stress. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 169: 105162.
- Fan, G., B. Liu, and R. Wu. 2009. Thirty years of research on citrus Huanglongbing in China. *Fujian Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 24: 183–190.
- Fiorani, F., and U. Schurr. 2013. Future scenarios for plant phenotyping. Annual Review of Plant Biology 64: 267–291.
- Fong, A.Y., and E. Wachman. 2008. Hyperspectral imaging for the life sciences. *Biophotonics International* 15: 38.
- Foolad, M.R., H.L. Merk, and H. Ashrafi. 2008. Genetics, genomics and breeding of late blight and early blight resistance in tomato. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 27: 75–107.
- Fu, L.Y., Y.-G. Wang, and C.J. Liu. 2012. Rank regression for analyzing ordinal qualitative data for treatment comparison. *Phytopathology* 102: 1064–1070.
- Genc, H., L. Genc, H. Turhan, S.E. Smith, and J.L. Nation. 2008. Vegetation indices as indicators of damage by the sunn pest (Hemiptera: Scutelleridae) to field grown wheat. *African Journal of Biotechnology*. http://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajb/article/view/58347.
- Gent, D.H., B.J. Claasen, M.C. Tworney, S.N. Wolfenbarger, and J.L. Woods. 2018. Susceptibility of hop crown buds to powdery mildew and its relation to perennation of Podosphaera macularis. *Plant Disease* 102: 1316–1325.
- Gogoi, N.K., B. Deka, and L.C. Bora. 2018. Remote sensing and its use in detection and monitoring plant diseases: A review. Agricultural Reviews 39 (4): 307–313.
- Goncalves, J.P., F.A.C. Pinto, D.M. Queiroz, F.M.M. Villar, J.G.A. Barbedo, and E.M.D. Ponte. 2021. Deep learning architectures for semantic segmentation and automatic estimation of severity of foliar symptoms caused by diseases or pests. *Biosystems Engineering* 210: 129–142.
- Gottwald, T.R., J.V. da Graça, and R.B. Bassanezi. 2007. Citrus Huanglongbing: The pathogen and its impact. *Plant Health Progress* 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1094/PHP-20070906-01-RV.
- Gowen, A.A., Y. Feng, E. Gaston, and V. Valdramidis. 2015. Recent applications of hyperspectral imaging in microbiology. *Talanta* 137: 43–54.
- Hahn, S.K., A.K. Howland, and E.R. Terry. 1980. Correlated resistance of cassava to mosaic and bacterial blight diseases. *Euphytica* 29: 305–311.
- Hamada, N.A., R.R. Moreira, C.N. Nesi, and L.L.M. De Mio. 2019. Pathogen dispersal and Glomerella leaf spot progress within apple canopy in Brazil. *Plant Disease* 103: 3209–3217.
- Hardwick, N.V. 2006. Disease forecasting. In *The epidemiology of plant diseases*, ed. B.M. Cooke, D.G. Jones, and B. Kaye, 2nd ed., 239–267. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Hartung, K., and H.-P. Piepho. 2007. Are ordinal rating scales better than percent ratings?—A statistical and "psychological" view. *Euphytica* 155: 15–26.
- Horsfall, J.G., and R.W. Barratt. 1945. An improved grading system for measuring plant disease. *Phytopathology* 35: 655.
- Hunter, R.E., and D.D. Roberts. 1978. A disease grading system for pecan scab [Fusicladium effusum]. *Pecan Quarterly* 12: 3–6.
- Jagoueix, S., J.M. Bové, and M. Gamier. 1996. Techniques for the specific detection of the two Huanglongbing (Greening) Liberobacter species: DNA/DNA hybridization and DNA amplification by PCR. In *International Organization of Citrus Virologists Conference Proceedings*, vol. 13. Riverside, CA: Department of Plant Pathology, University of California.

- Karasev, A.V., and S.M. Gray. 2013. Continuous and emerging challenges of potato virus Y in potato. Annual Review of Phytopathology 51: 571–586.
- Karisto, P., A. Hund, K. Yu, J. Anderegg, A. Walter, F. Mascher, B.A. McDonald, and A. Mikaberidze. 2017. Ranking quantitative resistance to Septoria tritici blotch in elite wheat cultivars using automated image analysis. *Phytopathology* 108: 568–581.
- Kruse, O.M.O., J.M. Prats-Montalbán, U.G. Indahl, K. Kvaal, A. Ferrer, and C.M. Futsaether. 2014. Pixel classification methods for identifying and quantifying leaf surface injury from digital images. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 108: 155–165.
- Kumar, A., W.S. Lee, R.J. Ehsani, L.G. Albrigo, C. Yang, and R.L. Mangane. 2012. Citrus greening disease detection using aerial hyperspectral and multispectral imaging techniques. *Journal of Applied Remote Sensing* 6: 063542.
- Kuska, M.T., and A.-K. Mahlein. 2018. Aiming at decision making in plant disease protection and phenotyping by the use of optical sensors. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 152: 987–992.
- Lan, Y., Z. Zhu, X. Deng, B. Lian, J. Huang, Z. Huang, and J. Hu. 2019. Monitoring and classification of Huanglongbing plants of citrus based on UAV HRS. *Transactions of the Chinese Society of Agricultural Engineering* 35: 92–100.
- Lan, Y., Z. Huang, X. Deng, Z. Zhu, H. Huang, Z. Zheng, B. Lian, G. Zeng, and Z. Tong. 2020. Comparison of machine learning methods for citrus greening detection on UAV multispectral images. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 171: 105234.
- Lasaponara, R., and N. Masini. 2007. Detection of archaeological crop marks by using satellite QuickBird multispectral imagery. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 34: 214–221.
- Li, L., S.L. Ustin, and M. Lay. 2005. Application of AVIRIS data in detection of oil-induced vegetation stress and cover change at Jornada, New Mexico. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 94: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2004.08.010.
- Li, X., W.S. Lee, M. Li, R. Ehsani, A.R. Mishra, C. Yang, and R.L. Mangan. 2012. Spectral difference analysis and airborne imaging classification for citrus greening infected trees. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 83: 32–46.
- Lobos, G.A., A.V. Camargo, A. del Pozo, J.L. Araus, R. Ortiz, and J.H. Doonan. 2017. Editorial: Plant phenotyping and phenomics for plant breeding. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8: 2181. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.02181.
- Madden, L.V., G. Hughes, and F. van den Bosch. 2007. *The study of plant disease epidemics*. St Paul: APS Press.
- Mahlein, A. 2010. Detection, identification and quantification of fungal diseases of sugar beet leaves using imaging and non-imaging hyperspectral techniques. Bonn: University of Bonn.
- Mahlein, A.-K. 2016. Plant disease detection by imaging sensors—Parallels and specific demands for precision agriculture and plant phenotyping. *Plant Disease* 100: 241–251.
- Mahlein, A.-K., E.C. Oerke, U. Steiner, and H.W. Dehne. 2012. Recent advances in sensing plant diseases for precision crop protection. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 133: 197–209.
- Mahlein, A.-K., T. Rumpf, P. Welke, H.-W. Dehne, L. Plümer, U. Steiner, et al. 2013a. Development of spectral indices for detecting and identifying plant diseases. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 128: 21–30.
- Mahlein, A.K., T. Rumpf, P. Welke, H.W. Dehne, L. Plümer, U. Steiner, and E.C. Oerke. 2013b. Development of spectral indices for detecting and identifying plant diseases. *Remote Sensing* and Environment 128: 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2012.09.019.
- Mahlein, A.-K., M.T. Kuska, J. Behmann, G. Polder, and A. Walter. 2018. Hyperspectral sensors and imaging technologies in phytopathology: State of the art. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 56: 535–558.
- Mahlein, A.K., E. Alisaac, A.A. Masri, J. Behmann, H.W. Dehne, and E.C. Oerke. 2019. Comparison and combination of thermal, fluorescence, and hyperspectral imaging for monitoring Fusarium head blight of wheat on spikelet scale. *Sensors* 19: 2281. https://doi.org/10.3390/s19102281.

- Mei, H., X. Deng, T. Hong, X. Luo, and X. Deng. 2014. Early detection and grading of citrus Huanglongbing using hyperspectral imaging technique. *Transactions of the Chinese Society of Agricultural Engineering* 30: 140–147.
- Mishra, A.R., D. Karimi, R. Ehsani, and W.S. Lee. 2012. Identification of citrus greening (HLB) using a VIS-NIR spectroscopy technique. *Transactions of the ASABE* 55: 711–720.
- Mutka, A.M., and R.S. Bart. 2015. Image-based phenotyping of plant disease symptoms. Frontiers in Plant Science 5: 734.
- Nilsson, H.-E. 1995. Remote sensing and image analysis in plant pathology. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 15: 489–527.
- Nutter, F.W., Jr., and P.D. Esker. 2006. The role of psychophysics in phytopathology. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 114: 199–213.
- Paul, P.A., S.M. El-Allaf, P.E. Lipps, and L.V. Madden. 2005. Relationships between incidence and severity of Fusarium head blight on winter wheat in Ohio. *Phytopathology* 95: 1049–1060.
- Peñuelas, J., and I. Filella. 1998. Visible and near-infrared reflectance techniques for diagnosing plant physiological status. *Trends in Plant Science* 3: 151–156.
- Polder, G., G.W. van der Heijden, L.P. Keizer, and I.T. Young. 2003. Calibration and characterisation of imaging spectrographs. *Journal of Infrared Spectroscopy* 11: 193–210.
- Roselló, S., M.J. Díez, and F. Nuez. 1996. Viral diseases causing the greatest economic losses to the tomato crop. I. The Tomato spotted wilt virus—A review. *Scientia Horticulturae* 67: 117–150.
- Sahoo, R.N., S.S. Ray, and K.R. Manjunath. 2015. Hyperspectral remote sensing of agriculture. *Current Science* 108: 848–859.
- Sankaran, S., A. Mishra, R. Ehsani, and C. Davis. 2010. A review of advanced techniques for detecting plant diseases. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 72: 1–13.
- Sankaran, S., A. Mishra, J.M. Maja, and R. Ehsani. 2011. Visible-near infrared spectroscopy for detection of Huanglongbing (HLB) using a VIS-NIR spectroscopy technique. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 77: 127–134.
- Sankaran, S., R. Ehsani, S.A. Inch, and R.C. Ploetz. 2012. Evaluation of visible-near infrared reflectance spectra of avocado leaves as a non-destructive sensing tool for detection of laurel wilt. *Plant Disease* 96: 1683–1689.
- Satterwhite, M.B., and J.P. Henley. 1990. Hyperspectral signatures (400 to 2500 nm) of vegetation, minerals, soils, rocks, and cultural features: Laboratory and field measurements. *Imaging* Spectrometry 4816: 156–163.
- Savary, S., A. Ficke, J.-N. Aubertot, and C. Hollier. 2012. Crop losses due to diseases and their implications for global food production losses and food security. *Food Security* 4: 519–537.
- Savary, S., S. Bregaglio, L. Willocquet, D. Gustafson, D. Mason D'Croz, A. Sparks, et al. 2017. Crop health and its global impacts on the components of food security. *Food Security* 9: 311–327.
- Schafer, R.W. 2011. What is a Savitzky-Golay filter? Signal Process Magazine IEEE 28: 111-117.
- Schellber, J., M.J. Hill, R. Gerhards, M. Rothmund, and M. Braun. 2008. Precision agriculture on grassland: Applications, perspectives and constraints. *European Journal of Agronomy* 29: 59–71.
- Schubert, T.S., S.A. Rizvi, X.A. Sun, T.R. Gottwald, J.H. Graham, and W.N. Dixon. 2001. Meeting the challenge of eradicating citrus canker in Florida—Again. *Plant Disease* 85: 340–356.
- Shah, D.A., and L.V. Madden. 2004. Non-parametric analysis of ordinal data in designed factorial experiments. *Phytopathology* 94: 33–43.
- Slonecker, E. 2011. Analysis of the effects of heavy metals on vegetation hyperspectral reflectance properties. In *Hyperspectral remote sensing of vegetation*, 561–578. Boca Raton: CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/b11222-33.
- Stewart, E.L., C.H. Hagerty, A. Mikaberidze, C.C. Mundt, Z. Zhong, and B.A. McDonald. 2016. An improved method for measuring quantitative resistance to the wheat pathogen Zymoseptoria tritici using high-throughput automated image analysis. *Phytopathology* 106: 782–788.
- Strange, R.N., and P.R. Scott. 2005. Plant disease: A threat to global food security. Annual Review of Phytopathology 43: 83–116.

- Sugiura, R., S. Tsuda, S. Tamiya, A. Itoh, K. Nishiwaki, N. Murakami, Y. Shibuya, M. Hirafuji, and S. Nuske. 2016. Field phenotyping system for the assessment of potato late blight resistance using RGB imagery from an unmanned aerial vehicle. *Biosystems Engineering* 148: 1–10.
- Tardieu, F., L. Cabrera-Bosquet, T. Pridmore, and M. Bennett. 2017. Plant phenomics, from sensors to knowledge. *Current Biology* 27: R770–R783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.05.055.
- Terentev, A., V. Dolzhenko, A. Fedotov, and D. Eremenko. 2022. Current state of hyperspectral remote sensing for early plant disease detection: A review. *Sensors* 22: 757. https://doi.org/10. 3390/s22030757.
- Thomas, S., M. Wahabzada, M.T. Kuska, U. Rascher, and A.K. Mahlein. 2017. Observation of plant pathogen interaction by simultaneous hyperspectral imaging reflection and transmission measurements. *Functional Plant Biology* 44: 23–34.
- Thomas, S., M.T. Kuska, D. Bohnenkamp, A. Brugger, E. Alisaac, and M. Wahabzada. 2018. Benefits of hyperspectral imaging for plant disease detection and plant protection: A technical perspective. *The Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection* 125: 5–20.
- Tsai, F., and W. Philpot. 1998. Derivative analysis of hyperspectral data. Remote Sensing of Environment 66: 41–51.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz. 2020. History and recent trends in plant disease control: An overview. In Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches, 1–13. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Ul Haq, I., S. Ijaz, Q. Shakeel, G. Li, L. Yang, and I. Rashid. 2020. Fungi: Cynosure of ornamental palms diseases. In *Etiology and integrated management of economically important fungal diseases of ornamental palms*, 85–113. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Verrelst, J., B. Koetz, M. Kneubühler, and M. Schaepman. 2006. Directional sensitivity analysis of vegetation indices from multi-angular Chris/PROBA data. In *ISPRS commission VII-term* symposium [Internet], 677–683. http://www.isprs.org/proceedings/XXXVI/part7/.
- Walter, A., F. Liebisch, and A. Hund. 2015. Plant phenotyping: From bean weighing to image analysis (review). *Plant Methods* 11: 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-015-0056-8.
- Weiss, M., F. Jacob, and G. Duveiller. 2020. Remote sensing for agricultural applications: A metareview. *Remote Sensing Environment* 236: 111402.
- Weng, H., J. Lu, H. Cen, M. He, Y. Zeng, S. Hua, H. Li, Y. Meng, H. Fang, and Y. He. 2018. Hyperspectral reflectance imaging combined with carbohydrate metabolism analysis for diagnosis of citrus Huanglongbing in different seasons and cultivars. *Sensons Actuators B: Chemical* 275: 50–60.
- Xu, W., K.G. Haynes, and X. Qu. 2019. Characterization of early blight resistance in potato cultivars. *Plant Disease* 103: 629–637.
- Zhang, M., Z. Qin, X. Liu, and S.L. Ustin. 2003. Detection of stress in tomatoes induced by late blight disease in California, USA, using HRS. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation* 4: 295–310.
- Zhang, J., R. Pu, J. Wang, W. Huang, L. Yuan, and J. Luo. 2012. Detecting powdery mildew of winter wheat using leaf level hyperspectral measurements. *Computers and Electronics Agriculture* 85: 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2012.03.006.
- Zheng, C., A. Abd-Elrahman, and V. Whitaker. 2021. Remote sensing and machine learning in crop phenotyping and management, with an emphasis on applications in strawberry farming. *Remote Sensing* 13: 531. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13030531.



# Fluorescent Imaging System-Based Plant Phenotyping for Disease Recognition

Siddra Ijaz, Imran Ul Haq, and Maria Babar

#### Abstract

Plant phenotyping is an emerging field that associates genomics with plant agronomy, physiology, and eco-physiology. Plant phenotyping has become a promising field in plant breeding research. Various phenotyping platforms have been developed that involve imaging technologies and robotics in recent years. However, these platforms have limited potential restricted to only a few plant species. To resolve this issue, various imaging methods are employed for the data collection, quantitative studies of very complex traits of plant development, their yield and production rate, and their response to various environmental stress. Main imaging techniques are visible imaging, imaging spectroscopy, 3D imaging, and, most importantly, fluorescence imaging. This chapter briefly reviews the fluorescent imaging techniques for plant phenotyping and their applications in this field.

#### **Keywords**

Imaging techniques  $\cdot$  Imaging  $\cdot$  Imaging spectroscopy  $\cdot$  3D imaging  $\cdot$  Fluorescence imaging  $\cdot$  Plant phenotyping

S. Ijaz (🖂) · M. Babar

Centre of Agricultural Biochemistry and Biotechnology (CABB), University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan

# 6.1 Introduction

## 6.1.1 Plant Phenotyping

Plant phenotyping is the evaluation of genetically diverse traits like growth, reproduction, endurance, resistance, morphology, metabolism, ecology, and productivity, as well as the primary assessment of individual quantitative factors, which serve as the foundation for more complex features (Mir et al. 2019). The plant phenotype comprises complicated characteristics, including root morphology (Clark et al. 2011), biomass (Menzel et al. 2009), leaf characteristics (Jansen et al. 2009), fruit qualities (Brewer et al. 2006), photosynthetic efficiency (Bauriegel et al. 2011), and biotic as well as abiotic stress responses (Singh et al. 2013; Naeem et al. 2020; Anjum et al. 2020; Ul Hag et al. 2020). Recent assessments of phenotypic traits for resistance to disease in genetic improvement depend mostly on professional morphological observations, which are time-consuming and can lead to biases among specialists and researchers. Plant phenotyping has gained importance as a topic of study in disease diagnosis (Phenodays 2014). Plant phenotyping aims to assess complex features, including development, production, and environmental stress tolerance, with a high degree of certainty and clarity at all developmental stages (Fiorani and Schurr 2013). High-throughput phenotyping programs have recently been used in culture rooms and glass houses. Such systems measure plant effectiveness and development using robotics, accurate environmental control, and imaging techniques (hardware and software). Nevertheless, these platforms are only appropriate for a small number of species, such as Arabidopsis rosette plants (Granier et al. 2006) and some cereal crops (Yang et al. 2013). It is necessary to develop and establish such platforms that allow phenotypical assessment of multiple crop species.

Numerous plant phenotyping platforms have been established to study complex plant characteristics associated with the development ability to adapt to biotic or abiotic stress conditions; however, the potential to acquire high-throughput pheno-typic data has become a hindrance in the plant genomics study. In recent years, scientists have undertaken substantial experimentation and research on high-throughput image-based phenotyping techniques, such as visible light imaging, fluorescence imaging, thermal imaging, spectrum imaging, stereo imaging, and tomographic imaging (Zhang and Zhang 2018).

Early and precise identification and analysis of plant disorders are critical for crop yield and a reduction in qualitative and quantitative losses. RGB imaging, multi- and hyperspectral sensors, thermography, and chlorophyll fluorescence are examples of optical techniques that have demonstrated their ability in automatically generated detection systems for detecting plant diseases at the initial stages of disease outbreaks. 3D imaging has recently been included as visual analysis, providing extra details and information on crop plants' health. Many systems, from proximal to remote sensing, are available for dynamical observation of individual plant organs and vast field areas. Innovative data analysis methods lead to accurate and precise plant disease detection. Sensor-based approaches support molecular approaches for

plant disease detection and disease management (Haq and Ijaz 2020). Agriculture and crop phenotyping are two highly relevant fields for the applications of sensorbased analysis (Mahlein 2016). The colors of grains or seeds, plants leave, canopies, fruits, roots, and the size of seeds, shapes, numbers, and textures can all be recorded directly utilizing two- or three-dimensional imaging systems. Using light, thermal, fluorescence, phantom, and 3D imaging systems, pathogenic characteristics associated with plants and pathologic characteristics linked to insects can be assessed directly or indirectly (Araus and Cairns 2014).

# 6.2 Fluorescent Imaging System and Its Principle

The chlorophyll compound is a fluorescent element in all plant species. As the chloroplasts are subjected to light, chlorophyll re-emits a part of the radiation that was absorbed, resulting in fluorescence. Fluorescence is light produced in a plant whenever smaller wavelength emissions are absorbed.

Furthermore, a source of actinic illumination combined with short, saturated blue fluorescence can be utilized to evaluate photo-assimilation effectiveness, non-photochemical quenching, and other physiological characteristics in the plants. The fluorescence imaging system is comprised of a fluorescence signal excitation system, collection of the fluorescence signal set element, and indicator (Gorbe and Calatayud 2012).

UV irradiation (between 340 and 360 nm) generates dual forms of luminescence, i.e., red and far-red fluorescence as well as blue-green fluorescence, which is the base of the multicolored fluorescence imaging system (Gorbe and Calatayud 2012). The method captures fluorescence signals in four spectral bands: blue, green, red, and infrared. The origin of fluorescence signals in the blue-green region is ferulic acid, primarily present in the cell wall, while the origin of signals in the red-infrared is chlorophyll-*a* (Kumar et al. 2015). Luminescence emission alterations and proportions amongst emissions in different regions, such as F440/F690 and F440/F740, can be utilized as stress indicators, with the F690/F740 ratio being a valuable measure of chloroplast contents (Li et al. 2014).

# 6.3 Florescent Image Processing Techniques

For the analysis of plant phenotypic characteristics, first, evaluate and interpret the images generated by various imaging technologies before studying the phenotypic traits of plants. Image coding, transformation, compression, enhancement, restoration, segmentation, description, and classification are standard image processing processes. Image segmentation is the most significant pre-processing operation, followed by feature extraction. Following that, data analysis is used to determine the target plant attributes.

#### 6.3.1 Image Segmentation

The excellence of the final picture analysis output is determined by picture segmentation. As a result, it is among the most crucial and, in many circumstances, the most difficult phases in image processing (Cheng et al. 2001). Thresholding is considered one of the traditional and widely used approaches. The thresholding algorithms divide pixels into groups based on similarities, considering that particular objects in a picture comprise pixels with comparable attributes. These limits can be calculated empirically using training examples (supervised approach) which can also be calculated based on the picture's information.

In most cases, an image is separated into portions with its threshold. A histogram is frequently created using pixel characteristics. The thresholds that separate the parts can then be calculated using various statistical methods. A typical method for detecting irregular patches is edge detection. In the segmentation technique, the margins of items of interest in a picture are assumed to correspond to sharp changes in pixel characteristics. Kernel-based filters depend on computed discrete derivatives and are used in several edge detection algorithms (Ghanbari and Atangana 2020).

#### 6.3.2 Feature Extraction

Feature extraction is a computer vision idea that recovers higher-level characteristic data from pictures. As color attributes are generally specific to particular objects or scenes, color attributes are a highly prevalent feature form. Color qualities are also more resilient than other visual aspects. As a result, a more concise depiction of color in imagery or a general area might be quite useful. Shades of colors are portrayed in images by utilizing a certain color model. The RGB, hue-saturation-intensity, and hue-saturation-value color models are all often used. The histogram, which assesses the worldwide distribution of colors in such styles, is the most frequent presentation for spectral features (Lenk et al. 2007).

Texture features describe the factors that measure the 3D designs of gray-scale or color differences inside an illustration. The most frequently applied texture classes are (1) statistical, (2) transformational, and (3) model-based. Quality traits are frequently employed in plant phenotyping to distinguish different items, such as leaves, trunks, buds, plant seeds, flowers, and fruits (Materka and Strzelecki 1998).

# 6.3.3 Analysis of Data

The fundamental challenge in achieving particular plant phenotyping objectives is data analysis. Spectral signs have already been established to associate biophysical and biochemical plant factors with plant development (Blackburn 2007). To determine healthy and unhealthy plants, spectral information can be translated into several forms, such as variation spectra, ratio spectra, and derived spectra (Pietrzykowski et al. 2006). Spectral vegetation indices (SVIs) have been created

and commonly used to examine, assess, and visualize temporal and spatial fluctuations in foliage. SVIs reduce the data dimension for disease identification and its discrimination by calculating ratios between spectral bands. As pigment quantity indicates the physiology of plants, certain color SVIs are expected to effectively detect fungal infection severity (Delalieux et al. 2007).

Classification is a process of attributing spectral signs to specific classes or programs and distinguishing these fractions from each other. Primary elements assessment, also known as principal component analysis (PCA), spectral angle mapper (SAM), and machine learning methods are the very conventional techniques applied for categorization (Rumpf et al. 2010). Most remote sensing classification algorithms can be used to identify disease-induced spectral variations because infection outbreaks and symptoms manifestation produce temporal and geographical differences in crop reflectivity. Rumpf et al. (2010) used support vector machines to effectively discriminate against sugar beet foliar infections in the pre-symptomatic stage (Rumpf et al. 2010). Data mining approaches have been demonstrated to be more effective at distinguishing between stressful events and disorders (Moshou et al. 2004). It is possible to distinguish between nutritious and canker-infection dented fruit of citrus with a spectral-based algorithm (Qin et al. 2009).

Multivariate approaches, including partial least squares (PLS), are the most extensively employed method for processing hyperspectral pictures. PLS constructs numerical patterns to plot hyperspectral information. Both spectrum and trait data are integrated into the standards for measurement; PLS-based models frequently exceed other models. When models have been built and verified, these could be used in routine analyses to anticipate phenotypic variables from outer sets of data and then combined with ecological and genotypic information to help breeders make choices (Cabrera-Bosquet et al. 2012). However, when using multivariate approaches, employing a large set of phenotypical and genotypical information is important to form the standard and prevent incorrect results (Kumar et al. 2015).

# 6.4 Application of Fluorescent Imaging

Fluorescent imaging is commonly employed to assess plant physiological and pathological characteristics. Fluorescent imaging could be employed to assess plant condition and activity of photosynthesis. It could also be utilized to analyze plant respiration, determine the impact of pest and insect-resistant genes in plants, and track plant pathogenic diseases. Moreover, it could also be used to identify the response of plants to biotic and abiotic factors and stresses like salinity stress before any developmental defects (Pérez-Bueno et al. 2016). Fluorescent imaging can detect physiological variations in tissues that are not detectable with a visible light camera. Researchers can use this characteristic to spot early symptoms of various biotic and abiotic stress and take preventative measures (Xu et al. 2021). Fluorescence imaging, as one of the helpful instruments in phenotyping approaches, can offer information about plant photosynthesis and facilitate the selection of helpful plant features in plant adaptation to biotic and abiotic stimuli (Cen et al. 2018). It is a

promising method for analyzing photosynthetic activity at the intracellular, foliar, and whole-plant levels, enabling plant phenotyping (Pérez-Bueno et al. 2016). Fluorescence imaging can assess photosynthesis and detect initial trauma reactions to abiotic and biotic variables before a drop in development and can be quantified to monitor the effects of plant diseases (Balachandran et al. 1997; Baker 2008; Chaerle et al. 2007).

Fluorescence imaging is a quick way to see if a plant's metabolism and growth are improving or deteriorating. Barbagallo et al. (2003) used descriptions of the parameters of fluorescence Fv/Fm for the growth of seedlings in a 96-well plate, and it was proposed that fluorescence imaging is a technique for studying stress-inducing compounds to test genotypes.

For example, Swarbrick et al. (2006) explored barley-infested leaves' endurance reaction with *Blumeria graminis* through fluorescence imaging. Photosynthesis was gradually inhibited over the entire leaf during a susceptible contact. Chaerle et al. (2007) monitored sugar beet lines that varied in their sensitivity to *Cercospora beticola* disease (Babar et al. 2021) and discovered that changes in fluorescence intensity were documented among susceptible plant and resistant plants using chlorophyll fluorescence imaging. Bürling et al. (2010) used fluorescence imaging to investigate variations in the amount of cultivar of wheat resistant to *Puccinia triticina*. He found that in PSII, they may be distinguished by employing the quantum produce pattern of non-regulated energy degeneracy.

Furthermore, high-throughput screening is done for photosynthetic variations and distinguishing mutations through diverse photosynthetic pigment components. It has been proposed as probable usage of chlorophyll fluorescence imaging for QTLs for development-linked characters. Approaches that utilize laser-induced fluorescence transients (Meroni et al. 2009) are being investigated to obtain quantities at the whole plant and its canopy level.

# 6.5 Disadvantages

Fluorescence imaging is a potent tool for resolving the three-dimensional variability of foliage photosynthesis activity; in addition, it has been employed in a variety of plant detection applications, including the initial finding of any symptoms caused by pathogenic agents. Visual observation cannot identify some metrics, such as growth disparities (Barbagallo et al. 2003).

The usage of phenotyping at a large scale and to build a standard approach for fluorescence imaging, picture dispensation, robustness, reproducibility, and data analysis tools is required. In the fluorescence imaging studies, most studies are restricted to single leave or seedlings of model crops. Furthermore, the supremacy necessities of fluorescence imaging may be prohibitive for applications of the field phenotyping (Bouvrais et al. 2010; Bibi et al. 2011; Murphy and Davidson 2002).

Choosing the correct fluorescent tint or dye is vital, as some dyes can create substantial fluctuations in the host membrane or may cause investigational errors, leading to inaccurate information and erroneous analysis (Bouvrais et al. 2010).

Long-term exposure to fluorescent light can cause color removal and reduce fluorescence intensity. When employing fluorescence microscopy, selecting fluorescent dye and making other new membrane probes are important aspects (Klymchenko et al. 2009).

For disease diagnosis, pathogen morphology is studied under microscopes. Pathogen isolation on selected artificial media is possible using microbiological methods, and pathogen identification and detection can be accomplished using molecular and serological approaches (Ijaz and Khan 2009; Ijaz 2011; Ul Haq et al. 2019). Plant protection services, as well as research and industrial development, utilize these methods for pathogen identification. In recent years, DNA-based strategies and serological techniques have revolutionized pathogen detection and disease identification (Bock et al. 2010; Martinelli et al. 2015; Ward et al. 2004; Ijaz et al. 2019; Ul Hag and Ijaz 2019). Since 1999, producers and guarantine inspectors have had access to highly specific and rapid testing methods. To analyze and identify plant diseases, tests like these could be used immediately on a site of fields, in a glasshouse, or throughout the production chain. For example, Phytophthora infestans, Ralstonia solanacearum, Erwinia amylovora, and some viruses such as Pepino mosaic virus, Tomato mosaic virus, Potato virus Y, and Potato virus X can all be detected using a variant of ELISA (Danks and Barker 2000). Strains of pathogen or their isolates that vary in virulence or are tolerant to a particular fungicide can be detected using molecular and serological approaches (Ijaz et al. 2020). However, as the quantity of pathogenic biomass might not always be proportionate to the point of observable disease symptoms, the degree of pathogenic growth in an infected plant is not always associated with disease intensity (Nutter Jr 2001).

Training professionals have undergone extensive research and analysis for visual observation and analysis. Conventionally, plant diseases are detected by observing plant disease symptoms or visible pathogen symptoms. However, visual estimation is always influenced by a person's understanding and expertise and could be modified by sequential fluctuation (Bock et al. 2008; Newton and Hackett 1994; Nutter Jr 2001).

The challenges in the diagnosis and detection of plant infections were highlighted by Riker and Riker in 1936. They presented an outline of the advantages and limitations of existing approaches before concluding, "We need improved diagnostic procedures; any one of the methods among cannot be considered standardized. They are only effective while good quality processes are established" (Riker and Riker 1936; Steddom et al. 2005). These long and time-taking approaches require qualified persons with sophisticated diagnostic and disease detection skills and are consequently prone to person handling errors.

# 6.6 Prospects

Future-oriented plant safety involves new and innovative methods to resolve forthcoming issues and trends in agricultural yield that require more precision than ever owing to consumer oversight, as Riker and Riker said in 1936. New sensor-based approaches for discovering, diagnosing, and quantifying plant diseases have recently been discovered (Hillnhütter et al. 2010; Mahlein et al. 2012a, b; Sankaran et al. 2010; West et al. 2003). The latest computerized techniques with extraordinary sensitivity and specifications are required to improve disease identification beyond visual estimate processes.

Sensors that detect reflectivity, plant temperature, or any emitted fluorescence are currently the most promising techniques (Chaerle and Van Der Straeten 2000; Mahlein et al. 2012a, b; Sankaran et al. 2010; West et al. 2003). These devices measure the visual characteristics of plants in various parts of the electromagnetic spectra and can use data that is not apparent to the naked eye. As the disease can induce changes in the color of the tissue, shape of the leaf, rate of transpiration, canopy structure, and density of the plant, these devices allow the identification of initial variations and alterations in the physiology of plant due to various to biotic and abiotic stresses (West et al. 2003).

# References

- Anjum, F., I.U. Haq, S. Ijaz, F. Mubeen, A. Habib, R.W.K. Qadri, and N.A. Khan. 2020. Morphogenomics based identification of Fusarium proliferatum causing Syagrus romanzoffiana wilt and exploitation of antifungal potential of Trichoderma species against this pathogen. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 102: 1097–1105.
- Araus, J.L., and J.E. Cairns. 2014. Field high-throughput phenotyping: The new crop breeding frontier. *Trends in Plant Science* 19 (1): 52–61.
- Babar, M., S. Ijaz, M.S. Khan, and I. Ul Haq. 2021. Computational genomics based probing of resistance gene analogs (RGAs) in mungbean under cercospora leaf spot disease challenge. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 58 (5): 1523–1536.
- Baker, N.R. 2008. Chlorophyll fluorescence: A probe of photosynthesis in vivo. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 59: 89.
- Balachandran, S., V.M. Hurry, S.E. Kelley, C.B. Osmond, S.A. Robinson, J. Rohozinski, G.G.R. Seaton, and D.A. Sims. 1997. Concepts of plant biotic stress. Some insights into the stress physiology of virus-infected plants, from the perspective of photosynthesis. *Physiologia Plantarum* 100 (2): 203–213.
- Barbagallo, R.P., K. Oxborough, K.E. Pallett, and N.R. Baker. 2003. Rapid, non-invasive screening for perturbations of metabolism and plant growth using chlorophyll fluorescence imaging. *Plant Physiology* 132 (2): 485–493.
- Bauriegel, E., A. Giebel, and W.B. Herppich. 2011. Hyperspectral and chlorophyll fluorescence imaging to analyse the impact of Fusarium culmorum on the photosynthetic integrity of infected wheat ears. *Sensors* 11 (4): 3765–3779.
- Bibi, S., R. Kaur, M. Henriksen-Lacey, S.E. McNeil, J. Wilkhu, E. Lattmann, D. Christensen, A.R. Mohammed, and Y. Perrie. 2011. Microscopy imaging of liposomes: From coverslips to environmental SEM. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 417 (1–2): 138–150.
- Blackburn, G.A. 2007. Hyperspectral remote sensing of plant pigments. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58 (4): 855–867.
- Bock, C.H., P.E. Parker, A.Z. Cook, and T.R. Gottwald. 2008. Visual rating and the use of image analysis for assessing different symptoms of citrus canker on grapefruit leaves. *Plant Disease* 92 (4): 530–541.
- Bock, C.H., G.H. Poole, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2010. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29 (2): 59–107.
- Bouvrais, H., T. Pott, L.A. Bagatolli, J.H. Ipsen, and P. Méléard. 2010. Impact of membraneanchored fluorescent probes on the mechanical properties of lipid bilayers. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1798 (7): 1333–1337.
- Brewer, M.T., L. Lang, K. Fujimura, N. Dujmovic, S. Gray, and E. van der Knaap. 2006. Development of a controlled vocabulary and software application to analyze fruit shape variation in tomato and other plant species. *Plant Physiology* 141 (1): 15–25.
- Bürling, K., M. Hunsche, and G. Noga. 2010. Quantum yield of non-regulated energy dissipation in PSII (Y (NO)) for early detection of leaf rust (Puccinia triticina) infection in susceptible and resistant wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) cultivars. *Precision Agriculture* 11 (6): 703–716.
- Cabrera-Bosquet, L., J. Crossa, J. von Zitzewitz, M.D. Serret, and J. Luis Araus. 2012. Highthroughput phenotyping and genomic selection: The frontiers of crop breeding converge F. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* 54 (5): 312–320.
- Cen, H.Y., J.N. Yao, H.Y. Weng, H.X. Xu, Y.M. Zhu, and H. Yong. 2018. Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence in plant phenotyping: A review. *Spectroscopy and Spectral Analysis* 38 (12): 3773.
- Chaerle, L., and D. Van Der Straeten. 2000. Imaging techniques and the early detection of plant stress. *Trends in Plant Science* 5 (11): 495–501.
- Chaerle, L., D. Hagenbeek, E. De Bruyne, and D. Van Der Straeten. 2007. Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging for disease-resistance screening of sugar beet. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 91 (2): 97–106.
- Cheng, H.D., X.H. Jiang, Y. Sun, and J. Wang. 2001. Color image segmentation: Advances and prospects. *Pattern Recognition* 34 (12): 2259–2281.
- Clark, R.T., R.B. MacCurdy, J.K. Jung, J.E. Shaff, S.R. McCouch, D.J. Aneshansley, and L.V. Kochian. 2011. Three-dimensional root phenotyping with a novel imaging and software platform. *Plant Physiology* 156 (2): 455–465.
- Danks, C., and I. Barker. 2000. On-site detection of plant pathogens using lateral-flow devices. *EPPO Bulletin* 30 (3–4): 421–426.
- Delalieux, S., J.A.N. Van Aardt, W. Keulemans, E. Schrevens, and P. Coppin. 2007. Detection of biotic stress (Venturia inaequalis) in apple trees using hyperspectral data: Non-parametric statistical approaches and physiological implications. *European Journal of Agronomy* 27 (1): 130–143.
- Fiorani, F., and U. Schurr. 2013. Future scenarios for plant phenotyping. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 64 (1): 267–291.
- Ghanbari, B., and A. Atangana. 2020. Some new edge detecting techniques based on fractional derivatives with non-local and non-singular kernels. *Advances in Difference Equations* 2020 (1): 1–19.
- Gorbe, E., and A. Calatayud. 2012. Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence imaging technique in horticultural research: A review. *Scientia Horticulturae* 138: 24–35.
- Granier, C., L. Aguirrezabal, K. Chenu, S.J. Cookson, M. Dauzat, P. Hamard, J.J. Thioux, G. Rolland, S. Bouchier-Combaud, A. Lebaudy, and B. Muller. 2006. PHENOPSIS, an automated platform for reproducible phenotyping of plant responses to soil water deficit in Arabidopsis thaliana permitted the identification of an accession with low sensitivity to soil water deficit. *New Phytologist* 169 (3): 623–635.
- Haq, I.U., and S. Ijaz. 2019. Assessment of genetic diversity based on ISSR markers in neopestalotiopsis species collected from guava (Psidium guajava I.) plants affected with canker disease in Pakistan. Applied Ecology Environmental Research 17: 11803–11811.
- 2020. History and recent trends in plant disease control: An overview. In *Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches*, ed. I.U. Haq and S. Ijaz, 1–13. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Haq, I.U., S. Ijaz, and M.Z. Latif. 2019. Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) based genetic variation analysis of shisham dieback associated strain of Ceratocystis fimbriata sensu lato species complex in Pakistan. Applied Ecology Environmental Research 17: 12573–12582.

- Haq, I.U., S. Ijaz, A. Faraz, N.A. Khan, M.Z. Latif, M.K. Sarwar, and B. Nasir. 2020. First report of Chamaedorea cataractum (Cat palm) wilt caused by Fusarium solani in Pakistan. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 102: 243–243.
- Hillnhütter, C., A. Schweizer, V. Kühnhold, and R.A. Sikora. 2010. Remote sensing for the detection of soil-borne plant parasitic nematodes and fungal pathogens. In *Precision crop protection-the challenge and use of heterogeneity*, ed. Erich-Christian Oerke, Roland Gerhards, Gunter Menz, and Richard A. Sikora, 151–165. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Ijaz, S. 2011. Microsatellite markers: An important fingerprinting tool for characterization of crop plants. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 9: 9196–9199.
- Ijaz, S., and I.A. Khan. 2009. Molecular characterization of wheat germplasm using microsatellite markers. *Genetics and Molecular Research* 8: 809–815.
- Ijaz, S., I.U. Haq, H.A. Razzaq, B. Nasir, and M. Babar. 2019. ISSR-based population genetics study for tagging a diverse population of shisham (Dalbergia sissoo) in Pakistan. *Applied Ecology Environmental Research* 17: 5851–5861.
- Ijaz, S., I.U. Haq, and B. Nasir. 2020. In silico identification of expressed sequence tags based simple sequence repeats (EST-SSRs) markers in Trifolium species. *ScienceAsia* 46: 6–10.
- Jansen, M., F. Gilmer, B. Biskup, K.A. Nagel, U. Rascher, A. Fischbach, S. Briem, G. Dreissen, S. Tittmann, S. Braun, and I. De Jaeger. 2009. Simultaneous phenotyping of leaf growth and chlorophyll fluorescence via GROWSCREEN FLUORO allows detection of stress tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana and other rosette plants. *Functional Plant Biology* 36 (11): 902–914.
- Klymchenko, A.S., S. Oncul, P. Didier, E. Schaub, L. Bagatolli, G. Duportail, and Y. Mély. 2009. Visualization of lipid domains in giant unilamellar vesicles using an environment-sensitive membrane probe based on 3-hydroxyflavone. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1788 (2): 495–499.
- Kumar, J., A. Pratap, and S. Kumar, eds. 2015. Phenomics in crop plants: Trends, options and limitations. Vol. 1, 310. New Delhi: Springer India.
- Lenk, S., L. Chaerle, E.E. Pfündel, G. Langsdorf, D. Hagenbeek, H.K. Lichtenthaler, D. Van Der Straeten, and C. Buschmann. 2007. Multispectral fluorescence and reflectance imaging at the leaf level and its possible applications. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58 (4): 807–814.
- Li, L., Q. Zhang, and D. Huang. 2014. A review of imaging techniques for plant phenotyping. Sensors 14 (11): 20078–20111.
- Mahlein, A.K. 2016. Plant disease detection by imaging sensors–parallels and specific demands for precision agriculture and plant phenotyping. *Plant Disease* 100 (2): 241–251.
- Mahlein, A.K., E.C. Oerke, U. Steiner, and H.W. Dehne. 2012a. Recent advances in sensing plant diseases for precision crop protection. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 133 (1): 197–209.
- Mahlein, A.K., U. Steiner, C. Hillnhütter, H.W. Dehne, and E.C. Oerke. 2012b. Hyperspectral imaging for small-scale analysis of symptoms caused by different sugar beet diseases. *Plant Methods* 8 (1): 1–13.
- Martinelli, F., R. Scalenghe, S. Davino, S. Panno, G. Scuderi, P. Ruisi, P. Villa, D. Stroppiana, M. Boschetti, L.R. Goulart, and C.E. Davis. 2015. Advanced methods of plant disease detection. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 35 (1): 1–25.
- Materka, A., and M. Strzelecki. 1998. Texture analysis methods–a review. COST B11 report. Vol. 10(1.97), 4968. Brussels: Technical University of Lodz, Institute of Electronics.
- Menzel, M.I., S. Tittmann, J. Buehler, S. Preis, N. Wolters, S. Jahnke, A. Walter, A. Chlubek, A. Leon, N. Hermes, and A. Offenhaeuser. 2009. Non-invasive determination of plant biomass with microwave resonators. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 32 (4): 368–379.
- Meroni, M., M. Rossini, L. Guanter, L. Alonso, U. Rascher, R. Colombo, and J. Moreno. 2009. Remote sensing of solar-induced chlorophyll fluorescence: Review of methods and applications. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 113 (10): 2037–2051.
- Mir, R.R., M. Reynolds, F. Pinto, M.A. Khan, and M.A. Bhat. 2019. High-throughput phenotyping for crop improvement in the genomics era. *Plant Science* 282: 60–72.

- Moshou, D., C. Bravo, J. West, S. Wahlen, A. McCartney, and H. Ramon. 2004. Automatic detection of 'yellow rust' in wheat using reflectance measurements and neural networks. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 44 (3): 173–188.
- Murphy, D.B., and M.V. Davidson. 2002. Fundamentals of light microscopy and electronic imaging. 2nd ed. John Wiley & Sons.
- Naeem, A.K., I.U. Haq, S. Ijaz, S.A. Khan, and R.W.K. Qadri. 2020. Unveiling the Fusarium proliferatum association with Ficus dieback from Punjab, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 57: 1337–1334.
- Newton, A.C., and C.A. Hackett. 1994. Subjective components of mildew assessment on spring barley. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 100 (6): 395–412.
- Nutter, F.W., Jr. 2001. Disease assessment. Encyclopedia of Plant Pathology 1: 312-325.
- Pérez-Bueno, M.L., M. Pineda, F.M. Cabeza, and M. Barón. 2016. Multicolor fluorescence imaging as a candidate for disease detection in plant phenotyping. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7: 1790.
- Phenodays. 2014. http://www.phenodays.com/. Accessed 10 Oct 2014.
- Pietrzykowski, E., C. Stone, E. Pinkard, and C. Mohammed. 2006. Effects of Mycosphaerella leaf disease on the spectral reflectance properties of juvenile Eucalyptus globulus foliage. *Forest Pathology* 36 (5): 334–348.
- Qin, J., T.F. Burks, M.A. Ritenour, and W.G. Bonn. 2009. Detection of citrus canker using hyperspectral reflectance imaging with spectral information divergence. *Journal of Food Engineering* 93 (2): 183–191.
- Riker, A.J., and E.S. Riker. 1936. Introduction to research on plant diseases. A guide to the principles and practice for studying various plant-disease problems. Buffalo Grove, IL: John S. Swift Company, Inc.
- Rumpf, T., A.K. Mahlein, U. Steiner, E.C. Oerke, H.W. Dehne, and L. Plümer. 2010. Early detection and classification of plant diseases with support vector machines based on hyperspectral reflectance. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 74 (1): 91–99.
- Sankaran, S., A. Mishra, R. Ehsani, and C. Davis. 2010. A review of advanced techniques for detecting plant diseases. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 72 (1): 1–13.
- Singh, H.C.P., N.K.S. Rao, and K.S. Shivashankar, eds. 2013. *Climate-resilient horticulture: Adaptation and mitigation strategies*, 81–88. New Delhi: Springer India.
- Steddom, K., M.W. Bredehoeft, M. Khan, and C.M. Rush. 2005. Comparison of visual and multispectral radiometric disease evaluations of Cercospora leaf spot of sugar beet. *Plant Disease* 89 (2): 153–151.
- Swarbrick, P.J., P. Schulze-Lefert, and J.D. Scholes. 2006. Metabolic consequences of susceptibility and resistance (race-specific and broad-spectrum) in barley leaves challenged with powdery mildew. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 29 (6): 1061–1076.
- Ward, E., S.J. Foster, B.A. Fraaije, and H.A. Mccartney. 2004. Plant pathogen diagnostics: Immunological and nucleic acid-based approaches. *Annals of Applied Biology* 145 (1): 1–16.
- West, J.S., C. Bravo, R. Oberti, D. Lemaire, D. Moshou, and H.A. McCartney. 2003. The potential of optical canopy measurement for targeted control of field crop diseases. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 41 (1): 593–614.
- Xu, Y., K. Tu, Y. Cheng, H. Hou, H. Cao, X. Dong, and Q. Sun. 2021. Application of digital image analysis to the prediction of chlorophyll content in astragalus seeds. *Applied Sciences* 11 (18): 8744.
- Yang, W., L. Duan, G. Chen, L. Xiong, and Q. Liu. 2013. Plant phenomics and high-throughput phenotyping: Accelerating rice functional genomics using multidisciplinary technologies. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 16 (2): 180–187.
- Zhang, Y., and N. Zhang. 2018. Imaging technologies for plant high-throughput phenotyping: A review. Frontiers of Agricultural Science and Engineering 5 (4): 406–419.



**Concept and Application of Infrared Thermography for Plant Disease Measurement** 

Qaiser Shakeel, Rabia Tahir Bajwa, Ifrah Rashid, Hafiz Muhammad Usman Aslam, Yasir Iftikhar, Mustansar Mubeen, Guoqing Li, and Mingde Wu

#### Abstract

G. Li · M. Wu

Fungal diseases cause significant losses in crop production, yields, and quality worldwide. Early and precise diagnosis and measurement of plant diseases are critical for crop production and agricultural yield reduction, both qualitatively and quantitatively. Early diagnosis and measurement of plant disease in the field allow farmers to treat infected regions more quickly and precisely anticipate output losses. Traditional detection approaches focus on pest scouting and visual inspection, often detecting the disease after the ideal control period has ended. Early detection and measurement will assist in avoiding disease spread to adjoining crops or fields, in addition to reducing losses of the individual producer. Hyperspectral and multispectral visualization techniques can assist in visualizing fields for plant disease protection by using diagnostic disease symptoms, including alteration in leaf color, structure, and moisture level. Infrared thermography is a thermal imaging technology currently used to detect plants stressed by biotic and abiotic factors. Temperature fluctuations have already been linked to

Department of Plant Pathology, Faculty of Agriculture and Environment, The Islamia University of Bahawalpur, Bahawalpur, Pakistan e-mail: <a href="mailto:qaiser.shakeel@iub.edu.pk">qaiser.shakeel@iub.edu.pk</a>

H. M. U. Aslam Department of Plant Pathology, Institute of Plant Protection, MNS-University of Agriculture, Multan, Pakistan

Y. Iftikhar · M. Mubeen Department of Plant Pathology, University College of Agriculture, University of Sargodha, Sargodha, Pakistan

State Key Laboratory of Agricultural Microbiology and Hubei Key Laboratory of Plant Pathology, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China

7

Q. Shakeel (🖂) · R. T. Bajwa · I. Rashid

pathogen attacks in various instances. In this way, infrared thermography in plant pathology allows for early and quick disease measurement. This technique is a non-destructive, non-invasive, and non-contact approach to determining the thermal characteristics of any material of concern, and it may be used in a wide range of applications where heat is produced or lost over time.

#### **Keywords**

Disease diagnosis  $\cdot$  Hyperspectral and multispectral visualization  $\cdot$  Thermal imaging

## 7.1 Introduction

Early diagnosis of plant-pathogen infection is critical for effective disease management and prevention (Chaerle and Van der Straeten 2000; Bauriegel et al. 2011; Lowe et al. 2017). Most plant diseases are caused by pathogenic fungi, which develop characteristic symptoms on plants as blight, cankers, lesions, galls, and other apparent disease symptoms, i.e., rots, wilts, blotches, and damping-off within a few weeks of disease development. These signs and symptoms entail variations in the plant's color or function due to the plant–pathogen interaction. Conidia of Erysiphales are apparent indicators of a pathogen (Takamatsu 2013). However, some pathogens develop disease symptoms at late infection stages; for instance, when powdery mildew infects rose plants, it does not produce any disease symptoms (e.g., red blister-like lesions) or pathogen signs on the upper leaf surface at early disease development stages.

Similarly, the mycelium of white powdery disease caused by *Podosphaera pannosa* occurs on plant leaves at many later stages of disease development as in powdery mildew (Coyier 1983; Linde and Shishkoff 2003). Consequently, consultants, professionals, and farmers must have exceptional observational abilities to detect disease early, which is not always attainable. Furthermore, the duration from host plant infection to the onset of disease characteristic symptoms (incubation period) is not constant and is highly reliant on the pathogen, host plant species, and environment factors (temperature, air, and relative humidity (Tomerlin and Jones 1983; Roger et al. 1999; Fraser et al. 2004). The diagnosis and management of disease symptoms and the development of direct and indirect approaches to identify the causal organism depend on characteristic disease symptoms (Nutter Jr. 2001; Bock et al. 2010).

In this regard, the lack of apparent symptoms quickly after a pathogen attack and the difficulties in estimating the incubation period create substantial hurdles to early infection identification and management, preventing disease progression and transmission. Techniques like digital photography and infrared thermography are already being applied to collect information about whole plant health or individual plant parts to measure plant diseases as soon as feasible after pathogen invasion (Xu et al. 2006). Image sensors for plant disease measurement, including digital image sensors such as RGB, multispectral, hyperspectral, and infrared thermography, have been reviewed (Lowe et al. 2017).

It has been found that RGB and hyperspectral photography are preferred for diagnosing particular plant diseases, such as distinct forms of mildew produced by *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *tritici*, causing wheat powdery mildew (Lowe et al. 2017). Hyperspectral cameras, on the other hand, are necessary to produce high-precision findings. Compared to RGB cameras, multispectral and hyperspectral cameras have more accurate images for several plant diseases because multispectral and hyperspectral pictures utilize visible light and a broad spectrum of electromagnetic waves (Nagasubramanian et al. 2019). The application determines whether to use multispectral or hyperspectral photographic methods. Hyperspectral and multispectral sensors are highly costly. Additionally, lighting circumstances might cause inaccuracies or false information in multispectral, hyperspectral, and RGB digital images concerning plant health (Kwan 2019). This raises significant challenges to the practical application of the above methodologies in field and greenhouse plants, implying that hyperspectral remote sensors might be a potential option for some of the measurement issues outlined above (Kwan 2019).

Plant temperature is measured using infrared thermography. This is linked to the status of plant water and variations in transpiration, which a variety of factors can cause, including early plant disease development (Jones 1999a; Oerke et al. 2006; Mahlein 2016; Belfiore et al. 2019). The data linking variations in leaf temperature associated with plant transpiration, which was driven by several plant-pathogen infections, have been found (Jones 1999a; Vagelas et al. 2021). Foliar plant diseases, including leaf spots, significantly impact plant organs' transpiration rate and water movement (Mahlein 2016). Many various processes, including mechanical or enzymatic damage to leaf cell membranes, stomatal opening stimulation mediated by pathogen-produced toxins, and plant vessel clogging by fungal hyphae, can result in water loss or deficiency, and hence a change in leaf temperature (Mendgen et al. 1996; Wang et al. 2015; Kwan 2019). Due to the collapse of mesophyll cells induced by pathogen toxins, image processing indicated a local reduction in temperature. Tobacco mosaic virus infection in the same plant leaves, on the other hand, was identified early that use the same procedures by a local reduction in temperature.

Thermography technologies were used to visualize *Cercospora beticola* infections on sugar beet leaves at an early infection stage before the development of the plant damage (Chaerle et al. 2004, 2006). Infrared thermography also signifies that yeasts, mushrooms, and molds all kept their temperatures lower than their surrounding temperature (Cordero et al. 2020). As a result, temperature variations on the plant leaves surface may indicate the presence of an infection.

Infrared sensors provide low-cost thermography access, ideally suited to observing variability in the plant due to stress (Lee et al. 1993; Jones 1999a; Vagelas et al. 2021). Infrared cameras with long thermal waves, referred to as thermal cameras, are calibrated sensors that can capture emitted rays in the thermal range (8–14 m) and produce pictures showing temperature readings per pixel. As a result, temperature data might be substituted with thermal pictures to assess plant physiological conditions in a short time (Pineda et al. 2020). Because leaf temperature appears to be a highly effective indication of plant physiological condition, plant phenotyping depending on imaging methods has become a widely available and significant technique in agriculture (Li et al. 2014). Both abiotic and biotic stresses, such as drought, high salinity stress, insect pest aggressiveness, and microorganism invasions, cause changes in leaf temperature (Jones 2004; Prashar et al. 2013; Khanal et al. 2017).

Thermography is frequently used in conjunction with other imaging remote sensors. Image processing and data analysis tools are used to improve precision agricultural approaches. Even though thermography is an incredibly useful tool for detecting early biotic and abiotic damage on host plants before symptoms develop. When reading thermograms concerning temperature, there are a few things to keep in mind, such as water adequacy or plant scarcity. This is because the surface temperature of the host plant is determined mainly by environmental elements, including temperature, air, and relative humidity (Pineda et al. 2020). The main objective of this chapter is to demonstrate the general concept of thermography and the application and efficacy of thermal infrared cameras (consuming less cost than other remote sensors) to measure plant diseases.

# 7.2 Background

In addition to regulating water supply and general metabolic activity by external factors, pathogens may impact plant cells' stomatal and cuticular conductance, leading to substantial changes in leaf temperature. Digital infrared thermography can identify management regions in plant disease control since leaf temperature may be recorded digitally and with excellent spatial resolution. To apply site-specific, targeted, or on-demand fungicides in integrated plant disease management, it is critical to notice changes in plants or canopies related to minor disease severity during the initial phases of disease epidemiology. The detection of ethylene, which has been linked to pathogen cellular injury (Boller 1983), and optical techniques for analyzing the reflection and fluorescence features of plants, both being related to the photosynthetic mechanism, are some strategies (Coops et al. 2003; Laudien et al. 2004; Franke et al. 2005).

Thermography provides a quantitative examination of spatial and temporal physiological data on the condition of a plant (Jones 2004). In plant pathology, infrared thermography is applied to investigate spatiotemporal heterogeneity of stomatal conductance (Jones 1999a; Omasa and Takayama 2003; Prytz et al. 2003), to plan irrigation (Gebhardt 1990; Jones 1999b), to measure ice-nucleation or temperature tolerance in host plants, to analyze pathogen–plant interaction by screening temperature patterns on the surface of plant leaves, (Wisniewski et al. 1997; Yang et al. 2003; Oerke et al. 2006), and to monitor for mutants with modified stomatal regulation (Chaerle et al. 1999; Oerke et al. 2006).

Remote sensors must be sensitive to physical problems related to fungal invasion and infection arising from pathogen invasion and tissue colonization for detecting, identifying, and quantifying plant diseases and related pathogens remotely. Unlike weeds, which can be identified and recognized digitally in crops early after emergence due to their macroscopic size and shape (Gerhards and Christensen 2003), microbes that cause diseases in plants can only be identified by their impact on plant cells; characteristic symptoms generally occur just after latent colonization of plant cells. Previous research has demonstrated that remote infrared thermography may be utilized to identify *Pseudoperonospora cubensis* causing cucumber downy mildew before symptoms appear (Lindenthal et al. 2005; Oerke et al. 2005). Under a controlled environment, maximum temperature difference within a plant leaf or a canopy becomes appropriate to differentiate between affected or unaffected tissue.

## 7.3 Precision Agriculture for Managing Plant Diseases

Plant diseases are a major stumbling block to agricultural yields worldwide. Modern farming policies strive to reduce the application of fertilizers and pesticides by targeting and integrating cultural management strategies to control weeds, insect pests, and pathogens (Maloy 2005). Precision agriculture is based on the establishment of technology, including thermography techniques allowing the detection and mapping of obstacles in agricultural fields (Cerovic et al. 1999; Mulla 2013; Baron et al. 2012, 2016). Such techniques can be utilized to assess the impact of pressure on plant metabolism. As a result, thermography has evolved into non-destructive solid tools that are now indispensable; they deliver critical information to decide and for the proper timing to apply the treatments. (Usha and Singh 2013; Li et al. 2014; Mahlein 2016).

# 7.4 Thermography

The conversion of images created by thermal wavelength radiation radiated by colder elements to make such wavelength images visible is the primary purpose of thermography (Williams 2009). The thermography term can also be applied to systems in which no visual images are created. However, a thermal image is captured and processed entirely electronically to measure or quantify certain specific characteristics or detect the presence of an entity or a pathogen. Thermography is appropriate because of four main features (Davis and Lettington 1988):

- (i) It is completely a passive technology that does not need an external light source to assist day and night process and integrate detection.
- (ii) It may identify hot or cold spots and distinct emissivity zones.
- (iii) Infrared radiation penetrates fog and haze more quickly than visible light, facilitating the recognition of optically obscured objects.
- (iv) It is a real-time digital sensing approach.

The field of thermography has advanced rapidly in recent years. Agriculture, soil moisture investigations, industries, pharmaceutical, veterinary, and military applications utilize thermography (Vadivambal and Jayas 2011). Infrared thermography techniques have been used in a broad range of areas due to the availability of the current commercial system. Through this technology, the temperature of any substance surface may be traced with high precision; however, while monitoring outside surface temperature, various elements such as heat, wind, fog, and rain impact the potential of thermographic images (Holst 2000; Hashim et al. 2020).

## 7.4.1 Principles of Infrared Thermography

The principle of infrared thermography is dependent on the fact that all objects above absolute zero generate infrared radiation, particularly at -273 °C temperature (Prakash 2000). The infrared is an unseen band of light on the visible electromagnetic spectrum with wavelengths ranging from 0.75 to 100 m. Near-infrared (0.75–2.5 m), shorter-infrared (1.4–3 m), medium-infrared (13–8 m), and long-wave infrared (>8 m), and extreme infrared (15–100 m) regions all constitute the infrared region (Tsai and Hamblin 2017).

A long-wave infrared system of infrared thermography is appropriate at room temperature, while the medium-wave infrared system is useful at higher temperatures (i.e., 400 °C). Short-wave infrared devices are more effective at scattering reflected radiation than emitted radiation (Tsai and Hamblin 2017).

Transmission windows having a mostly translucent environment to infrared light are the base to divide the infrared spectrum. Thermographic tools can monitor infrared rays from short to long wavelengths. The emissivity and temperature of a material influence the emission of its radiation. Thermal sensors use infrared detectors to convert the infrared radiation emitted by a target material into an electric signal. It emerges as a colored or monochromatic thermal photograph with a color shift representing the thermal fluctuation of material (O'Donnell et al. 2014). The fundamental advantage of thermography is that it is a non-destructive, contactless, and simple instrument for detecting temperature distribution over a short period.

The quantity of emitted radiations by a body is determined by its temperature T and emissivity. Generally, the emissivity of a perfectly white object is about 0 and 1 for a perfectly black thing.

The released infrared radiations quantified by an infrared camera may be transformed into an electric signal and presented as a monochromatic or colored picture using an infrared thermal camera sensor.

Based on infrared energy emitted by the object, the temperature of the object's surface can be measured.

$$W = \sigma T \frac{4}{s} = \frac{2\pi^5 k^4}{15 \ c^2 h^3} \times T^4 \tag{7.1}$$

Here W denotes emitted flux energy per unit area (W/m<sup>2</sup>),  $T_s$  denotes the temperature of the material surface (K), and Stefan–Boltzmann constant (=  $5.67 \times 10^{-8}$  W/m<sup>2</sup> K<sup>4</sup>) is denoted by  $\sigma$ ; however, c represents the light speed in a vacuum while k and h denote Boltzmann's constant and Planck's constant, respectively.

The emissivity of substances  $\varepsilon$  is requisite for real substances. For perfect black bodies, the valid equation is as given below:

$$W_r = \varepsilon \sigma T_r^4 \tag{7.2}$$

Here the emitted radiation energy is denoted by  $W_r$ , which is the sign of the temperature of body  $T_r$  that emits radiation energy. So, the basic concept of infrared thermography is the requirement of  $W_r$  visualization to apprehend the emitted radiation energy (Gowen et al. 2010; Lee et al. 2018).

#### 7.4.1.1 Passive Infrared Thermography

Passive infrared thermography is easier as compared to active infrared thermography. It entails just the detection of infrared thermal visualization without the application of an external source of energy to the body during analysis. The thermal disparity in a picture is only visible if temperature variations exist concerning ambient temperature due to thermal emissions from the surrounding environment. The examination is carried out employing passive mode in most infrared imaging techniques. The thermal energy radiated by objects is detected by the infrared camera, which simply monitors phenomena. This suggests that the temperature trends detected are entirely attributable to actual temperature variances. As a result, the surface thermal parameters of an object are determined by thermal imaging collected in the passive mode (Lee et al. 2018)

#### 7.4.1.2 Active Infrared Thermography

Active infrared thermography, on the other hand, entails exposing the object to thermal energy before cooling and heating it. The variances in thermal resistance caused by flaws cause anomalous thermal dispersion during the thermal transfer process, which occurs during the flow of internal heat in the body. This mode of infrared thermography can be utilized to determine the flaws under the sub-surface (Skala et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2018). Two distinct active infrared thermography methods are discussed here.

#### 7.4.1.2.1 Lock-in Mode Thermography

By introducing a sinusoidal fluctuating thermal energy, the lock-in mode creates a thermal wave and movement of heat within the specimen. This thermography mode is responsive to local surface influences in the phase image (Meola et al. 2006). A halogen lamp or a laser light for a sinusoidally fluctuating light source will be employed as the source of heat. A halogen lamp or a laser light can be used as the sinusoidally fluctuating light source. The penetration intensity of the emitted thermal energy is determined by the switching frequency used. The frequency domain is

utilized to analyze the thermal properties, which are then used to determine the type and depth of the flaw.

#### 7.4.1.2.2 Pulse Mode Thermography

The thermal sensor can track the thermal retardation of the sample from the reflected thermal flow when a pulse is applied by taking sequential photos at regular intervals. The acquired visual depicts the reaction of the object's parallel region to each pulse. The heat flow rate within the body is changed by the areas with various characteristics, including flaws on the object, and the thermal characteristics of the body differ from those surrounding it. To disrupt the thermal equilibrium in the object, a pulse mode thermograph provides a short-term energy pulse to the object. This mode of infrared thermography is a quick qualitative assessment approach; however, background interference and non-cracked emissivity may be severely impacted by heat response properties (Sakagami and Kubo 2002).

## 7.4.2 Application of Infrared Thermography

Plant diseases have impeded crop production in agriculture and resulted in significant economic losses. For example, global crop losses due to biotic disease are predicted to result in a \$220 billion revenue loss per year (Faostat 2019). Farmers should be able to decrease the prevalence of infections in its development. Research has revealed that thermography may be used to analyze and monitor geographical and temporal patterns in plant diseases at different phases of disease progression. Infrared thermography can identify and quantify local crop infections caused by pathogens before the initiation of crop damage. Thermal sensing can have considerable implications for highly sensitive infection prediction models to spatial and temporal variations in the host temperature. The physiology of infected plant tissue, including transpiration rate, photosynthetic alteration, salicylic acid accumulation, the conductance of stomata, and death of plant cells, is modified during pathogen infection (Xu et al. 2006). Through digital optical sensor techniques, foliar plant diseases can be diagnosed and quantified directly. The thermal infrared technology has been considered an efficient tool for visualization, detection, or quantification of plant disease before the development of visible symptoms (Ishimwe et al. 2014).

Infrared thermography is associated with microclimate in plant stands and variations in transpiration; it is used to measure plant temperature driven by initial plant pathogenic infections (Jones et al. 2002; Oerke et al. 2006; Lenthe et al. 2007; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020). Infrared thermographic cameras can perceive infrared energy radiated in the thermal infrared range between 8 and 12  $\mu$ m. This radiation may then be seen in false color pictures with each image pixel, including the temperature data of the target material. Infrared thermography may be applied in plant research at many temporal and geographical dimensions, including airborne and small-scale applications. However, it is often subject to environmental factors such as sunlight, ambient temperature, rainfall, or wind speed. There is a strong link between leaf temperature and plant transpiration, which various diseases impact differently (Jones

1992; Jones et al. 2002). While several foliar pathogens, including rusts and leaf spots, cause only localized changes in the affected area, root pathogens (such as *Rhizoctonia solani* or *Pythium* spp.) or systemic infections (such as *Fusarium* spp.) frequently affect the rate of transpiration and water flow throughout the whole plant or its organs. Plant-virus associations in tobacco and *Cercospora beticola* causing leaf spots in sugar beet have been linked to local temperature fluctuations caused by pathogen infection or plant defensive mechanisms (Chaerle et al. 2004). Nilsson (1991) proved practical applications by showing a strong link between the severity of several root and leaf diseases in diverse crops (wheat, barley, oat, potatoes, sugar beet, etc.). The variability between and among leaves can be used to analyze infrared thermography efficiently. An important marker for the emergence of plant disease is the mean temperature difference between individual crop stands, plants, and leaves.

Infrared thermography has been applied in many agriculture sections, including monitoring greenhouse and nurseries, programming irrigation, estimating crop yield, detecting plant disease, assessing fruit maturity, and detecting bruising in vegetables and fruits. Infrared thermography has been applied many times in plant pathology and is a very effective technique for detecting and quantifying plant diseases early.

# 7.5 Disease Detection and Measurement

The physical condition of infected host tissue is transformed during plant–pathogen interaction, including alterations in transpiration, photosynthesis, the buildup of salicylic acid (SA), stomatal conductance, and even host cell death (Xu et al. 2006). Advanced optical sensor technologies may directly monitor plant foliar disease. Powdery mildew of barley, infected cucumber leaves, and wheat yellow rust were all identified through hyperspectral reflectance sensors (Olivier et al. 2003) and (Moshou et al. 2004). However, because plants are delicate to physiological disorders related to fungal infection, digital infrared thermography has the efficiency in detecting and measuring management regions in controlling plant diseases and affiliated pathogens via high spatial resolution. Additionally, foliar diseases usually disturb the transpiration of infected plants (Oerke et al. 2006).

While analyzing the varying temperature allocation between the infected tomato leaves by tobacco mosaic virus strain-TMV-U1 and the healthy or non-infected leaves of different tomato species through digital infrared thermography in addition to microscopic observations (Xu et al. 2006) revealed the reduction in leaf temperature approximately 0.5–1.3 °C lower for the infected leaves compared with the non-infected leaves. However, the maximum temperature difference reduced as the infection progressed due to a rise in leaf senescence and leaf transpiration at all phases of scab formation. Maximum temperature difference may be utilized to distinguish between infected and non-infected leaves and measure the disease. Infrared thermography can also detect and measure plant pathogens before they develop apparent symptoms or signs.

#### 7.5.1 Disease Detection and Measurement in Grapevines

The potential of infrared thermography to detect and measure pathogen (*Plasmopara viticola*) in both the irrigated and non-irrigated grapevines (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Riesling) has been explored. The study was conducted by the following four in vivo treatments: (i) irrigated grapevines without inoculation, (ii) irrigated grapevines with inoculation, (iii) non-irrigated grapevines without inoculation, (iv) non-irrigated grapevines with inoculation. Thermography has revealed that pathogen activity increased leaf temperature at the inoculation site in irrigated grapevines, but non-irrigated grapevines exhibited lower temperatures at the infection sites. To detect and quantify the temperature variation between diseased and healthy leaves, thermography is a simple way of delivering information to diagnose biotic pressure on the plant before characteristic symptom development, i.e., a manifestation of apparent necrosis on infected plant leaves (Stoll et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2014).

## 7.5.2 Disease Detection and Measurement in Apple

Plant pathogenic fungi may affect plant tissue's cuticular and stomatal conductance, leading to substantial changes in leaf temperature. Apple scab disease is caused by Venturia inaequalis colonizing leaves under the plant cuticle. Infrared thermography is one of the most appropriate approaches to detect and measure the development of pathogen (V. inaequalis) on apple plants. The pathogen isolates N5, SID, and HS1 each differ in virulence and were reproduced in apple plants by applying spore suspensions onto the leaves of apple plants and incubating them at 100% relative humidity for 48 h. Before incubation, the inoculum is sprayed on apple leaves @ 1-6droplets (20 µl) of spore suspension through a commercial hand sprayer having about 1 cm distance among drops. The inoculated apple leaves approve that with increased concentration of inoculum, the temperature intensity decreases within the plant leaves while the degree of affected leaf region enhances. After 5 days of inoculation, symptomatic leaf tissue temperature profiles viably display the differences in characteristic lesion size and pathogen intensity in tissue colonization. Additionally, the alteration in the water status of the infected plant might be detected or measured 1-3 days before the development of characteristic symptoms by fungal colonization (Oerke et al. 2011).

## 7.5.3 Disease Detection and Measurement in Rose Plant

The capacity of infrared thermography to detect early indicators of fungal infections on rose plants (Rosa hybrida L) was investigated. The best derived thermal properties with the greatest linguistic fence values were chosen after performing a set of features. After 2 days of inoculation, the best prediction scores for detecting and quantifying gray mold and powdery mildew before symptoms appeared were 80% and 69%, respectively (Stoll et al. 2008). The findings of this study demonstrated that it is possible to identify and quantify powdery mildew and gray-mold infections before they manifest symptoms.

# 7.5.4 Disease Detection and Measurement in Sweet Potatoes

Research on viral infection due to co-infection during the cultivation of sweet potatoes (*Ipomoea batatas* L) was conducted. Observing the morphological and physiological impacts of disease in sweet potatoes during 29 days, the application of infrared thermography and chlorophyll inflorescence in photosynthesis output within sweet potatoes has been assessed. The spread and integration of the virus in sweet potatoes were associated with the treatment alterations observed in infrared thermography and chlorophyll inflorescence technique. This study initially verified using infrared thermography and chlorophyll inflorescence techniques to determine the severity of infections caused by the SPCSV and SPFMV viruses concerning sweet potatoes (Wang et al. 2019).

# 7.5.5 Disease Detection and Measurement in Wheat

Thermography can be applied to discriminate between infected and uninfected wheat plants at six dpi, at least 4 days earlier than the appearance of apparent symptoms. This study has resulted in these two outcomes. The maximum temperature difference and the average temperature of uninfected wheat stalks have not altered appreciably during the monitored period. Moreover, the average temperature indicated a consistent decline, and the maximum temperature difference of the inoculated wheat gradually raised as the inoculation days passed. The findings revealed that infrared thermography is a reliable technology for quick and non-disruptive screening and quantification of wheat yellow rust that can also detect wheat stripe rust at the initial stages of invasion (Yao et al. 2018).

# 7.5.6 Disease Detection and Measurement in Peanut

The diagnosis of peanut leaf spots was made using thermography and spectroscopy techniques. Two sets of thermal evaluations were conducted, first relying on the complete canopy and second based on a single host plant. Infrared thermography measurements in the first set showed that the infected region had a greater radiance than the uninfected region. These thermal characteristics may be caused by the decreased root absorption potential in diseased plants, particularly noticeable at the warmest times when the plant needed more water. The second set of evaluations was performed in an individual plant that was observed for thermal action and precise infrared responses throughout the day. The information indicated that the infected plants.

Before the leaves' evident necrosis, the temperature difference allowed differentiation between infected and uninfected plant leaves (Omran 2017).

## 7.5.7 Disease Detection and Measurement in Oil Palm

The effectiveness of thermography in identifying basal stem rot infected an oil palm (*Ganoderma boninense*) tree has been examined. Based on the infrared thermal visual examination, it was possible to distinguish between healthy and basal stem rot infected trees by extracting characteristics using the Principal Component Analysis (PCA) approach. Depending on trendline figures, it is possible to distinguish between non-infected and trees infected with basal stem rot. The Support Vector Machine is better than the k-nearest neighbor with higher precision, i.e., 89.2% and 84.4% precision percentage during training and assessing sessions. Thermography can be used to distinguish between basal stem rot infected and healthy trees. The technique can be used in further research to categorize various disease severity levels (Bejo et al. 2018).

## 7.5.8 Disease Detection and Measurement in Cucumber

Infrared thermography is a practical approach for predicting the pre-symptomatic influence of pathogens and disease on infected plants. (Oerke et al. 2006) Infrared thermography was applied (Oerke et al. 2005) to identify and measure *Pseudoperonospora cubensis* causing downy mildew of cucumber. Under a controlled environment, the maximum temperature difference within a target leaf helps distinguish between infected and non-infected plant tissue. Under un-controlled environments, the temperature of the leaf and rate of transpiration were similar for infected and non-infected plant tissues, transpiration rates varied greatly depending on disease symptoms.

## 7.5.9 Disease Detection and Measurement in Tea Plants

Classification of rapid thermography was investigated to diagnose diseases of tea plants. To boost detection accuracy and make the UAV last longer, a grayscale canopy visual scatter curve is created to construct a classifier that can instantly spot the disease visual. A coefficient of determination ( $R^2$  of 0.97) is found between the lesion number algorithm and human observational counting, which is 2% more compared to the lacking algorithm classifier. This research provides recommendations for using aerial thermographic visuals to monitor the status of tea gardens (Yang et al. 2019).

## 7.6 Conclusion

The management of polycyclic plant diseases depends on the early diagnosis and measurement of pathogen infections. Conventional serological and nucleic acid tests were applied to identify plant diseases. However, new cutting-edge techniques, including digital remote sensing, different sensors, and precision agriculture, are used to quickly and effectively detect and measure plant diseases. In contrast to other remote sensing techniques, applying infrared thermography in plant pathology offers the benefits of sensitivity, high analysis speed, and convenient usage. In addition to early illness detection, this method creates a solid foundation for thorough disease analysis through computer programming skills.

This advanced technology makes it simple to measure and monitor the surface temperature of the infected plant, which makes it a suitable tool for (i) identifying plant disease, (ii) differentiating between active and inactive mycelium, and (iii) measuring the phase of plant disease invasion regarding temperature variation.

#### References

- Baron, M., J. Flexas, and E.H. Delucia. 2012. Photosynthetic responses to biotic stress. In Terrestrial photosynthesis in a changing environment: A molecular, physiological, and ecological approach, 331–350.
- Baron, M., M. Pineda, and M.L. Perez-Bueno. 2016. Picturing pathogen infection in plants. Zeitschrift f
  ür Naturforschung. Section C 71: 355–368.
- Bauriegel, E., A. Giebel, M. Geyer, U. Schmidt, and W.B. Herppich. 2011. Early detection of fusarium infection in wheat using hyperspectral imaging. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 75: 304–312.
- Bejo, S., G. Abdol Lajis, S. Abd Aziz, I.A. Seman, and T. Ahamed. 2018. Detecting basal stem rot (BSR) disease at oil palm tree using thermal imaging technique. *14th International Conference* on Precision Agriculture: 1–8.
- Belfiore, N., R. Vinti, L. Lovat, W. Chitarra, D. Tomasi, R. de Bei, F. Meggio, and F. Gaiotti. 2019. Infrared thermography to estimate vine water status: Optimizing canopy measurements and thermal indices for the varieties merlot and Moscato in Northern Italy. *Agronomy* 9: 821.
- Bock, C.H., G.H. Poole, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2010. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29: 59–107.
- Boller, T. 1983. Regulation of the production of stress ethylene and its significance. *Schriftenreihe der Universita*<sup>-</sup>*t HohenheimPflanzliche Produktion* 129: 167–188.
- Cerovic, Z.G., G. Samson, F. Morales, N. Tremblay, and I. Moya. 1999. Ultraviolet-induced fluorescence for plant monitoring: Present state and prospects. *Agronomie* 19: 543–578.
- Chaerle, L., and D. Van der Straeten. 2000. Imaging techniques and the early detection of plant stress. *Trends in Plant Science* 5: 495–501.
- Chaerle, L., W.V. Caeneghem, E. Messens, H. Lamber, M. van Montagu, and D. van der Straeten. 1999. Presymptomatic visualization of plant–virus interactions by thermography. *Nature Biotechnology* 17: 813–816.
- Chaerle, L., D. Hagenbeek, E. De Bruyne, R. Valcke, and D. Straeten. 2004. Thermal and chlorophyll fluorescence imaging distinguish plant-pathogen interactions at an early stage. *Plant Cell Physiology* 45: 887–896.

- Chaerle, L., I. Leinonen, H.G. Jones, and D. Van Der Straeten. 2006. Monitoring and screening plant populations with combined thermal and chlorophyll fluorescence imaging. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58: 773–784.
- Coops, N., M. Stanford, K. Old, M. Dudzinski, D. Culvenor, and C. Stone. 2003. Assessment of Dothistroma needle blight of Pinus radiata using airborne hyperspectral imagery. *Phytopathol*ogy 93: 1524–1532.
- Cordero, R.J., E.R. Mattoon, and A. Casadevall. 2020. Fungi are colder than their surroundings. *BioRxiv*.
- Coyier, D.L. 1983. Control of rose powdery mildew in the greenhouse and field. *Plant Disease* 67: 919.
- Davis, A.P., and A.H. Lettington. 1988. Principles of thermal imaging. *Applications of Thermal Imaging*: 1–34.
- Faostat. 2019. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2019. Production: Crops. http://faostat.fao.org
- Franke, J., G. Menz, E.-C. Oerke, and U. Rascher. 2005. Comparison of multi- and hyperspectral imaging data of leaf rust infected wheat plants. In *Proceedings of SPIE, Vol. 5976. Remote* sensing for agriculture, ecosystems, and hydrology VII, ed. M. Owe and G. D'Urso, 341–350.
- Fraser, C., S. Riley, R.M. Anderson, and N.M. Ferguson. 2004. Factors that make an infectious disease outbreak controllable. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101: 6146–6151.
- Gebhardt, A. 1990. Differenzierte Einschätzung des Wasserversorgungszustandes landwirtschaftlicher Kulturen mittels thermografischer Luftaufnahmen. *Archiv für Acker- und Pflanzenbau und Bodenkunde* 34: 741–748.
- Gerhards, R., and S. Christensen. 2003. Real-time weed detection, decision making and patch spraying in maize (Zea mays L.), sugarbeet (Beta vulgaris L.), winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) and winter barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Weed Research* 43: 1–8.
- Gowen, A.A., B.K. Tiwari, P.J. Cullen, K. McDonnell, and C.P. O'Donnell. 2010. Applications of thermal imaging in food quality and safety assessment. *Trends in Food Science and Technology* 21 (4): 190–200.
- Hashim, I.C., A.R.M. Shariff, S.K. Bejo, F.M. Muharam, K. Ahmad, and H. Hashim. 2020. Application of thermal imaging for plant disease detection. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 540 (1): 012052. IOP Publishing.
- Holst, G.C. 2000. *Common sense approach to thermal imaging*. Washington, DC: SPIE Optical Engineering Press.
- Ishimwe, R., K. Abutaleb, and F. Ahmed. 2014. Applications of thermal imaging in agriculture—A review. *Advances in Remote Sensing* 3 (03): 128.
- Jones, H.G. 1992. Plant and microclimate. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- ———. 1999a. Use of thermography for quantitative studies of spatial and temporal variation of stomatal conductance over leaf surfaces. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 22: 1043–1055.
- ——. 1999b. Use of infrared thermography for estimation of stomatal conductance in irrigation scheduling. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 95: 135–149.
- 2004. Application of thermal imaging and infrared sensing in plant physiology and ecophysiology. In *Advances in botanical research*, vol. 41, 107–163. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press.
- Jones, H.G., M. Stoll, T. Santoa, C. de Sousa, M.M. Chaves, and O.M. Grant. 2002. Use of infrared thermography for monitoring stomatal closure in the field: Application to grapevine. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53: 2249–2260.
- Khanal, S., J. Fulton, and S. Shearer. 2017. An overview of current and potential applications of thermal remote sensing in precision agriculture. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 139: 22–32.
- Kim, G., G.-H. Kim, J. Park, D.Y. Kim, and B.-K. Cho. 2014. Application of infrared lock-in thermography for the quantitative evaluation of bruises on pears. *Infrared Physics & Technol*ogy 63: 133–139.
- Kwan, C. 2019. Methods and challenges using multispectral and hyperspectral images for practical change detection applications. *Information* 10: 353.

- Laudien, R., G. Bareth, and R. Doluschitz. 2004. Comparison of remote sensing based analysis of crop diseases by using high resolution multispectral and hyperspectral data—Case study: Rhizoctonia solani in sugar beet. Geoinformatics 2004. Proceedings of the 12th conference on geoinformatics—Geospatial information research: Bridging the Pacific and Atlantic. University of Ga<sup>°</sup> vle, Sweden, 7–9 June 2004, 670–676.
- Lee, H.J., E.B. Tucker, R.C. Crain, and Y. Lee. 1993. Stomatal opening is induced in epidermal peels of *Commelina communis* L. by GTP analogs or pertussis toxin. *Plant Physiology* 102: 95–100.
- Lee, J.S., G.W. Hong, K. Shin, D. Jung, and J.H. Kim. 2018. Recent developments involving the application of infrared thermal imaging in agriculture. *Journal of Sensor Science and Technol*ogy 27 (5): 280–293.
- Lenthe, J.H., E.C. Oerke, and H.W. Dehne. 2007. Digital infrared thermography for monitoring canopy health of wheat. *Precision Agriculture* 8: 15–26.
- Li, L., Q. Zhang, and D. Huang. 2014. A review of imaging techniques for plant phenotyping. Sensors 14: 20078–20111.
- Linde, M., and N. Shishkoff. 2003. DISEASE | powdery mildew. *The Encyclopedia of Rose Science*: 158–165.
- Lindenthal, M., U. Steiner, H.-W. Dehne, and E.-C. Oerke. 2005. Effect of downy mildew development on transpiration of cucumber leaves visualized by digital infrared thermography. *Phytopathology* 95: 233–240.
- Lowe, A., N. Harrison, and A.P. French. 2017. Hyperspectral image analysis techniques for the detection and classification of the early onset of plant disease and stress. *Plant Methods* 13: 80.
- Mahlein, A.-K. 2016. Plant disease detection by imaging sensors—Parallels and specific demands for precision agriculture and plant phenotyping. *Plant Disease* 100: 241–251.
- Maloy, O.C. 2005. Plant disease management. Plant health Instructor 10: 0202-0201.
- Mendgen, K., M. Hahn, and H. Deising. 1996. Morphogenesis and mechanisms of penetration by plant pathogenic fungi. Annual Review of Phytopathology 34: 364–386.
- Meola, C., G.M. Carlomagno, A. Squillace, and A. Vitiello. 2006. Non-destructive evaluation of aerospace materials with lock-in thermography. *Engineering Failure Analysis* 13 (3): 380–388.
- Moshou, D., C. Bravo, J. West, S. Wahlen, A. McCann, and H. Ramon. 2004. Automatic detection of yellow rust in wheat using reflectance measurements and neural networks. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 44: 173–188.
- Mulla, D.J. 2013. Twenty five years of remote sensing in precision agriculture: key advances and remaining knowledge gaps. *Biosystems Engineering* 114: 358–371.
- Nagasubramanian, K., S. Jones, A.K. Singh, S. Sarkar, A. Singh, and B. Ganapathysubramanian. 2019. Plant disease identification using explainable 3D deep learning on hyperspectral images. *Plant Methods* 15: 98.
- Nilsson, H.E. 1991. Hand-held radiometry and IR-thermography of plant diseases in field plot experiments. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 12: 545–557.
- Nutter, F.W., Jr. 2001. Disease assessment terms and concepts. In *Encyclopedia of plant pathology*, ed. O.C. Maloy and T.D. Murray, 312–323. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- O'Donnell, C.P., C. Fagan, and P.J. Cullen, eds. 2014. Process analytical technology for the food industry. New York, NY: Springer.
- Oerke, E.-C., M. Lindenthal, and Fro"hling P, Steiner U. 2005. Digital infrared thermography for the assessment of leaf pathogens. In *Precision agriculture '05*, ed. J.V. Stafford, 91–98. Wageningen: Wageningen University Press.
- Oerke, E.C., U. Steiner, H.W. Dehne, and M. Lindenthal. 2006. Thermal imaging of cucumber leaves affected by downy mildew and environmental conditions. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57 (9): 2121–2132.
- Oerke, E.-C., P. Fröhling, and U. Steiner. 2011. Thermographic assessment of scab disease on apple leaves. *Precision Agriculture* 12 (5): 699–715.

- Olivier, M., S. Heming, and G.G. Adams. 2003. Exploring the spatial variation of take-all (*Gaeumannemyces graminis* var. *tritici*) for site-specific management. In 4th European Conference on Precision Agriculture, 481–486. Berlin: Wageningen Academic Publishers.
- Omasa, K., and K. Takayama. 2003. Simultaneous measurement of stomatal conductance, non-photochemical quenching, and photochemical yield of photosystem II in intact leaves by thermal and chlorophyll fluorescence imaging. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 44: 1290–1300.
- Omran, E.S. 2017. Early sensing of peanut leaf spot using spectroscopy and thermal imaging. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science* 63 (7): 883–896.
- Pineda, M., M. Barón, and M.L. Pérez-Bueno. 2020. Thermal imaging for plant stress detection and phenotyping. *Remote Sensing* 13: 68.
- Prakash, A. 2000. Thermal remote sensing: concepts, issues and applications. *International Archives of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* 33 (B1; PART 1): 239–243.
- Prashar, A., J. Yildiz, J.W. McNicol, G.J. Bryan, and H.G. Jones. 2013. Infra-red thermography for high throughput field phenotyping in Solanum tuberosum. *PLoS One* 8: e65816.
- Prytz, G., C.M. Futsaether, and A. Johnsson. 2003. Thermography studies of the spatial and temporal variability in stomatal conductance of Avena leaves during stable and oscillatory transpiration. *New Phytologist* 158: 259–258.
- Roger, C., B. Tivoli, and L. Huber. 1999. Effects of temperature and moisture on disease and fruit body development of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on pea (*Pisum sativum*). *Plant Pathology* 48: 1–9.
- Sakagami, T., and S. Kubo. 2002. Applications of pulse heating thermography and lock-in thermography to quantitative non-destructive evaluations. *Infrared Physics & Technology* 43 (3-5): 211–218.
- Skala, J., M. Svantner, J. Tesar, and A. Franc. 2016. Active thermography inspection of protective glass contamination on laser scanning heads. *Applied Optics* 55 (34): D60D66.
- Stoll, M., H.R. Schultz, and B.B. Loehnertz. 2008. Exploring the sensitivity of thermal imaging for *Plasmopara viticola* pathogen detection in grapevines under different water status. *Functional Plant Biology* 35: 281–288.
- Takamatsu, S. 2013. Origin and evolution of the powdery mildews (Ascomycota 1660, Erysiphales). *Mycoscience* 54: 75–86.
- Tomerlin, J.R., and A.L. Jones. 1983. Effect of temperature and relative humidity on the latent period of Venturia inaequalis in apple leaves. *Phytopathology* 73: 51–54.
- Tsai, S.R., and M.R. Hamblin. 2017. Biological effects and medical applications of infrared radiation. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*. 170: 197–207.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz. 2020. Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches. Vol. 13, 1–339. ISBN: 978-3-030-35954-6. Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35955-3.
- Usha, K., and B. Singh. 2013. Potential applications of remote sensing in horticulture A review. *Scienctia Horticulturae* 153: 71–83.
- Vadivambal, R., and D.S. Jayas. 2011. Applications of thermal imaging in agriculture and food industry—A review. Food and Bioprocess Technology. 4 (2): 186–199.
- Vagelas, I., A. Papadimos, and C. Lykas. 2021. Pre-symptomatic disease detection in the vine, chrysanthemum, and rose leaves with a low-cost infrared sensor. *Agronomy* 11 (9): 1682.
- Wang, M., Y. Sun, G. Sun, X. Liu, L. Zhai, Q. Shen, and S. Guo. 2015. Water balance altered in cucumber plants infected with *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. cucumerinum. *Scientific Reports* 5: 7722.
- Wang, L., S. Poque, and J.P. Valkonen. 2019. Phenotyping viral infection in sweetpotato using a highthroughput chlorophyll fluorescence and thermal imaging platform. *Plant Methods* 15 (1): 116.
- Williams, T. 2009. Thermal imaging cameras: Characteristics and performance. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Wisniewski, M., S.E. Lindow, and E.N. Ashworth. 1997. Observations of ice nucleation and propagation in plants using infrared video thermography. *Plant Physiology* 113: 327–334.

- Xu, H., S. Zhu, Y. Ying, and H. Jiang. 2006. Early detection of plant disease using infrared thermal imaging. Proceedings of Optics for Natural Resources, Agriculture, and Foods 6381: 638110.
- Yang, S.Y., T. Hayashi, M. Hosokawa, and S. Yazawa. 2003. Leaf temperature drop measured by thermography and occurrence of leaf browning injury in Saintpaulia. *Environment Control in Biology* 41: 265–270.
- Yang, N., M. Yuan, P. Wang, R. Zhang, J. Sun, and H. Mao. 2019. Tea diseases detection based on fast infrared thermal image processing technology. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*. 99 (7): 3459–3466.
- Yao, Z., D. He, and Y. Lei. 2018. Thermal imaging for early non-destructive detection of wheat stripe rust. In 2018 ASABE Annual International Meeting. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, 1.



# Application of Biosensors in Plant Disease Detection

Imran Ul Haq, Siddra Ijaz, Shehla Riaz, Muhammad Kaleem Sarwar, and Hayssam M. Ali

#### Abstract

Over the past years, significant advancement has been seen in detecting plant diseases. Early plant disease detection has a significant role as it ensures the farmer takes important steps to save crops from failure. Biosensor technology is a remarkable advancement with many advantages like its sensitivity and less time for detection. This chapter discusses a brief history of biosensors, design, component and working principle of biosensors, appealing features, and various biosensors, while illustrative examples of these biosensors depict their role in plant disease detection. Moreover, the untamed potential of these biosensors in plant disease detection with certain limitations is briefly discussed. In the end, future prospective and opportunities for detection based on biosensors are discussed.

## Keywords

Biosensors · Components of biosensors · Plant disease detection

S. Ijaz

H. M. Ali Department of Botany and Microbiology, College of Science, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

I. Ul Haq  $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$ . Riaz  $\cdot M$ . K. Sarwar

Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan

Centre of Agricultural Biochemistry and Biotechnology (CABB), University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan

## 8.1 Introduction

Plant pathogens are a constant threat to crops as they cause numerous diseases and significant crop losses (Fletcher et al. 2006). Approximately, 83% of infectious diseases are due to fungi, 9% are due to viruses and phytoplasmas, and more than 7% of diseases are caused by bacteria (Khakimov et al. 2022). Almost 14.1% of the crop is lost due to pests and diseases (Kourous 2016), accounting for a \$ 220 billion loss in annual agriculture trade (Agrios 2005).

There is plenty of evidence in the history of agricultural science that widespread disease outbreaks have resulted in disastrous outcomes. Plant diseases still inflict considerable harm to agriculture today, despite the availability of contemporary, more reliable techniques for preventing and protecting plants from disease outbreaks in a specific area. Plant pathogens are mainly managed by chemical control and agricultural practices such as crop rotation, disease-free seed use, resistant varieties, and seed treatment with fungicide (Sharma et al. 2011; Mancini and Romanazzi 2014). Fungicides effectively control plant pathogens (Davidson and Kimber 2007; Allayarov et al. 2019; Ul Haq et al. 2020). However, excessive and longterm usage of fungicides has resulted in fungicide resistance among fungal populations (Mamiev et al. 2020; Donoso and Valenzuela 2018). Delays in diagnosis and the inability to take preventative actions can result in significant crop losses and a drop in product quality. Thus, it is consequently critical to developing accurate, timely, sensitive, and rapid pathogen detection methods to apply optimum chemistries more effectively (Dyakov and Elansky 2019; Narayanasamy 2011). Timely detection of the pathogen will reduce the lavish use of chemicals, minimizing the pressure on the pathogen's population and hazardous environmental impact (Khakimov et al. 2022). Various biochemicals, molecular, and culture-dependent methods are developed to achieve this goal. However, these methods are inappropriate for detection because they lack accuracy, reliability, rapidity, and accuracy.

Consequently, biosensors for the early and rapid detection of various plant diseases are of significant interest. Moreover, there is a broad scope of innovative strategies based on biosensing technology for plant disease detection. In this chapter, we discuss various methods for the detection of plant disease with particular reference to biosensing technology and quote multiple types of biosensors with their specific characteristics and their role in plant disease detection. Moreover, limitations in using biosensor technology are also discussed.

## 8.2 Plant Disease Detection

Crop inspection through visual observations is the oldest traditional approach for disease and perhaps pathogen diagnosis. However, the process of inspection through traditional ways is so slow that the pathogen is likely to have established itself in host populations when the diagnosis is made. To overcome these problems, current efforts for disease diagnosis are being employed, which mainly focus on developing the techniques with earlier pathogen detection technologies having accurate, sensitive, and speedy detection processes.

Despite advancements in these technologies, these widely used methods have drawbacks, such as complex sample preparation steps, long diagnostic time, transporting samples from the field to specialized laboratories, and requiring trained professionals. Consequently, an in-field diagnostic procedure that is faster, more reliable, exceptionally sensitive, and accurate is required. The main qualities of optics or electrochemistry could be used to construct a "point of care technology." This method improves bioassays by allowing quick response time without requiring the person's interpretation skills and low-cost on-site experiments (Lau and Botella 2017; Cassedy et al. 2020).

### 8.2.1 Traditional Methods of Plant Disease Detection

Plant disease diagnosis is improving all the time. New methods and technologies are being developed and used to assure the accuracy and speed of diagnostics. Traditional diagnostic procedures, however, retain their importance and enable the fast, rapid, and accurate diagnosis of plant diseases using newly developed equipment and technology. This allows for precise and quick decision-making about controlling agricultural crop diseases. Plant pathology research employs various diagnostic techniques: visual inspection, microscopy, mass spectrophotometry, mycological diagnosis, biological diagnosis, molecular genetics identification, immunological diagnostics, and other methods are examples of these (Reich et al. 2013; Kamilov et al. 2020; Zuparov et al. 2020).

## 8.2.2 Modern Methods of Plant Disease Detection

The disease diagnosis based on the host plant's symptoms is not always accurate. Because many diseases have symptoms similar to physiological abnormalities induced by external stimuli, some pathogens produce asymptomatic or weakly identifiable symptoms in the early stages of development.

The long time it takes to diagnose diseases using indicator plants, as well as the necessity for specific isolation chambers and employing this method where pesticides are already being used, affects the accuracy of the diagnosis. Furthermore, the same symptom can be caused by various factors, i.e., bacteria, fungi, or non-infectious diseases. This makes diagnosing diseases and precisely identifying their pathogen challenging. As a result, it can be inferred that diagnosis of disease based on symptoms is not a good approach. The necessity to solve current issues in traditional plant disease diagnosis has led to new approaches for detecting and diagnosing pathogen presence in plant pathology. Several advanced approaches are employed in phytopathology to identify pathogens. Immunological diagnostics, mass spectrophotometry, molecular-genetic identification, and other techniques are among them (Ahmad et al. 2012; Fang and Ramasamy 2015).

Crop disease detection can be done using both direct and indirect methods. When a large number of samples are to be analyzed, molecular and modern serological approaches for direct disease detection are utilized for high-throughput analysis. Plant pathogens are directly detected via these approaches, allowing for reliable pathogen identification. On the other hand, indirect approaches employ morphological changes, transpiration rate changes, temperature changes, and volatile organic compounds emitted by diseased plants to detect plant pathogens (Lukhmenev 2012).

## 8.3 What Are Biosensors?

A biosensor is an analytical instrument that uses a bio-element recognition component in close contact with the transducer to detect chemical or biochemical occurrences at the sensor surface qualitatively or quantitatively. Bio-element recognition component reacts with the analyte and transforms biochemical change into a signal, which is then processed before being displayed on the screen (Arnold and Meyerhoff 1988). A biosensor can employ any transduction mechanism, such as loop-mediated isothermal amplification, electrochemical, surface plasmon resonance, quartz crystal microbalance, fluorescence, and lateral flow techniques for the generation of plant biosensors (Lowe 1984; Choi et al. 2017; Le et al. 2017; Wong et al. 2017; Arora 2018). Few biosensing approaches for plant biosensing have been established despite the availability of a wide range of biomolecules to recognize the desired analyte.

## 8.3.1 History

The concept of a biosensor is not so old. Cremer in 1906 first time gave the concept of the biosensor. He found that the quantity of acid in an aqueous medium equals the electric potential developed between the medium (Nikhil et al. 2016). This cleared the way for Leland C. Clark, Jr., called the "father of biosensors," to build "real biosensors" in 1959. Clark made a sensor to detect glucose by using a glucose oxidase electrode which detects the oxygen or hydrogen peroxide in biological samples. Afterward, significant advancement has been seen in developing highly selective and sensitive biosensors (Clark Jr and Lyons 1962; Li and Lee 2020).

#### 8.3.2 Components of Biosensors

Biosensors comprise three major components: biological sensing element, transducer or physicochemical detector, and a signal processing system (Malhotra et al. 2017). Biological sensing elements react with the target analyte to develop a signal. Important sensing elements include microbes, enzymes, antibodies, organelles, tissues, cell receptors, and nucleic acids.

The transducer modifies the signal formed by the reaction of the target analyte and biorecognition component into the detectible signal. Then the electrical signal is amplified by the processing system and delivered to the data processor, transforming it into a quantifiable signal such as a color change, digital display, or printout (Malik et al. 2013).

#### 8.3.3 Design of Biosensor

A biosensor comprises two parts: transducer and biological sensor element. A biosensor is frequently used with signal processing equipment, including a printer or display screen (Korotkaya 2014).

#### 8.3.4 Biological Receptor

The biological receptor is also called a sensor or detector element, which detects the presence or concentration of an analyte or substance. The receptor is a biological component with biochemical properties used to precisely detect the target analyte (Chaubey and Malhotra 2002). When interacting with a target analyte, the biological receptor gives a signal in pH, light, charge, heat, or mass change. The receptor must be stable, specific, and immobile. The biological receptor must recognize the target analyte in the sample to be tested selectively. The biological receptor controls the device's sensitivity by producing a signal that the transducer evaluates (Paddle 1996). A tissue, microbe, enzyme, antibody, nucleic acid, organelle, or cell receptor, for example, can be a component. Catalytic and non-catalytic receptors can be separated into two types (Castillo et al. 2004). Devices for continuous monitoring of chemicals at the concentration of millimolar or micromolar use the catalytic group of biological receptors. Microbes, enzymes, and tissues are examples of them. The non-catalytic group is used primarily in biosensors monitoring analytes such as medicines, hormones, and toxins, typically in very low quantities. These are disposable devices that are used once before being discarded. Antibodies, nucleic acids, antigens, and other receptors are examples (Pearson et al. 2000).

## 8.3.5 Transducer

A transducer is the biosensor's second most important component. A transducer, in general, is a material that can transform one type of energy into another (Bhalla et al. 2016). A transducer in a biosensor converts the physiochemical signal obtained from the biological receptor. The interaction between biological receptor and target analyte produces a measurable signal that can be optical, piezoelectrical, electrochemical, and so on. The transducer senses and quantifies changes in the biological receptor and is used to bind glucose biosensor. Glucose oxidase acts as a biological receptor and is used to bind glucose which is then converted into gluconic acid in oxygen's presence. The transducer detected a change in pH and transformed into a voltage change (Bojorge Ramírez et al. 2009). While designing a transducer, reaction time, analyte concentration range, specificity to the target analyte and suitability for its application should be considered. A suitable transducer should be extremely analyte-specific and quite sensitive to quickly give readings at least analyte concentration (Sethi 1994).

#### 8.3.6 Working of Biosensor

A biosensor operates on the principle of signal transduction. All biosensor components are combined and intended to translate biological changes into an electrical signal and, eventually, a measured output. Biosensors, to put it another way, can analyze the chemical by converting its biological reaction into a detectable signal(Soleymani and Li 2017).

The target analyte in the sample to be tested first reacts with the biological receptor in a specific way, causing a physiological change. The physicochemical parameters of the transducer near the biological receptor are also altered, resulting in the transducer's electronic characteristics, which are then translated into a detectable electrical signal (Njagi and Kagwanja 2011). Depending on the type of biological receptor, the signal can either be a current or voltage. If the output of the transducer is in the form of current, it will be converted into voltage.

Furthermore, because the output voltage is often low, the signal processing unit must perform further modifications, processing, and amplification through many filters. Finally, the signal processing unit's output should equal the quantity of target being measured. (Ali et al. 2017).

# 8.4 Characteristics of Biosensors

While designing a biosensor, certain features and characteristics must be considered by keeping the nature of the applications of biosensors. These variables determine a biosensor's performance and utility.

## 8.4.1 Sensitivity

This is thought to be the most crucial feature. The sensitivity can be defined as the connection between the alteration in the concentration of the analyte and the strength of the signal emitted by the transducer. A biosensor should, in theory, produce a signal when minor changes occur in the target analyte's concentration. Biosensors can detect analytes at concentrations of ng/ml or fg/ml, depending on the application. This is typically required for medical and environmental monitoring applications (Wang et al. 2012).

## 8.4.2 Selectivity

In the presence of other molecules or chemicals, this refers to the biosensor's ability to bind and react solely to the intended analyte. A false-positive result occurs when a signal or reaction is formed when it reacts with non-target analyte. This is typical in low-selectivity biosensors, which fail in clinical applications (Polatoğlu et al. 2020).

### 8.4.3 Stability

The biosensor's stability is critical, especially for biosensors that are utilized for continuous monitoring. This characteristic affects the biosensor device's ability to maintain its function over time in the face of disruptions caused by external sources. The external sources could be temperature, relative humidity, and other environmental factors. Such disruptions can cause divergence in the output signal during measurement and thus lower the accuracy and precision of biosensor equipment (Bhalla et al. 2016).

This is because the biosensor device's transducers and other electrical components are largely temperature sensitive, which can significantly impact their stability. Temperature can also alter the biological receptor's integrity, as this component degrades with temperature variations (Wilkins and Atanasov 1996).

## 8.4.4 Detection Limit

It may be defined as the least concentration of target, a quantifiable signal or response. A biosensor's detection limit should be as low as possible (Wilkins and Atanasov 1996).

## 8.4.5 Reproducibility

Another important feature in biosensing is the capacity of the biosensor equipment to provide the same output signals or outcomes in duplicate runs of the experiment. The biosensor's capacity to achieve this criterion relies on the transducer's ability to act precisely and accurately (Bhalla et al. 2016).

#### 8.4.6 Response Time

This feature describes how long it takes for the biosensor to produce a signal once the biological receptor engages with the target analyte (Njagi and Kagwanja 2011).

#### 8.4.7 Range or Linearity

Linearity of a biosensor can be defined as the precision of the signal received in response to a collection of samples with variable concentrations. This property describes the biosensor's resolution, which is the smallest alteration in the concentration of target analyte required for the biosensor to respond. Because most applications need a biosensor to monitor a target analyte over an extensive range of concentrations, this is a critical feature for a biosensor (Wilkins and Atanasov 1996).

# 8.5 Classification of Biosensors

Biosensors are classified based on detection system into thermal, electrical, mechanical, magnetic, and optical biosensors. Biosensors are categorized as affinity, catalytic, or non-catalytic biosensors based on the biorecognition principle (Nguyen et al. 2019). In a catalytic biosensor, the contact between the analyte and the bioreceptor leads to the production of a unique biological reaction product. Enzymes, bacteria, tissues, and entire cells are all included in this biosensor. The analyte is irreversibly bonded to the receptor in an affinity (non-catalytic) biosensor, and no new biological reaction product is generated during the interaction. Cell receptors, antibodies, and nucleic acids are used as the targets for detection in this sort of sensor (Iglič and Rappolt 2019).

## 8.5.1 Enzyme-Based Biosensors

Enzymes are known as biocatalysts that are capable of speeding up biological reactions. The binding capabilities and catalytic reaction for detecting the target analyte are fundamental to the operation of an enzyme-based biosensor (Morrison et al. 2007).

For enzyme-based biosensors, electrochemical transducers are most typically utilized. Glucose and urea biosensors are the most prevalent enzyme-based biosensors. Cordeiro et al., created and characterized enzyme-based biosensors for in vitro real-time glucose monitoring. For enzyme-based biosensors, electrochemical transducers are most typically utilized. Glucose and urea biosensors are the most prevalent enzyme-based biosensors. For enzyme-based biosensors, electrochemical transducers are most typically utilized. Glucose and urea biosensors, electrochemical transducers are most typically utilized. Glucose and urea biosensors are the most prevalent enzyme-based biosensors. For enzyme-based biosensors are the most prevalent enzyme-based biosensors (Cordeiro et al. 2018).

The usage of enzymes as recognition elements in biosensors has expanded as a result of combining enzymes with nanomaterials (Naresh and Lee 2021). Uygun et al. used nanoparticles to create a highly stable potentiometric urea biosensor. Their designed sensor has a reaction time of 30 s and a detection limit of 0.77 \_M (Öndeş et al. 2021).

## 8.5.2 Antibody-Based Biosensors

Antibodies are the elements with biorecognition characteristics having a wide range of applications and have been used for two decades because of strong antigen– antibody interactions. Antibodies have a similar structure to immunoglobulins (Ig), comprising two light chains and two heavy polypeptide chains joined together by disulfide bonds (Dodig 2009; Naresh and Lee 2021).

Immunosensors are biosensors with an implanted antibody as a ligand or rely on antibody–antigen interaction (Skottrup et al. 2008). There are two types of immunosensors: non-labeled and labeled. The complex of antigen and antibody

complex is determined using non-labeled immunosensors by calculating the physical changes that occur as the complex forms. A sensitively detectable label is used in the case of labeled immunosensors. Label measurement is a sensitive way to analyze the antigen–antibody complex (Lim and Ahmed 2019, 2016).

#### 8.5.3 Aptamer-Based Biosensors

Aptamers are short segments of single-stranded nucleic acids that are synthesized and may be folded into 2D and 3D structures and preferentially bind to target molecules. Due to increased surface density and reduced spatial obstruction, the targets have a high binding performance in 2D or 3D structures (Tombelli et al. 2005; Dhiman et al. 2017; Hong et al. 2012).

Because of their nucleic acid nature, aptamers are functionally stable molecules against various storage conditions. Aptamers are stable in a wide range of pH from 2 to 12 and can undergo thermal refolding. Aptamers can be modified chemically per the target molecule's requirement (Naresh and Lee 2021).

## 8.5.4 Whole Cell-Based Biosensors

Microbes (bacterial, fungus, algae, protozoa, and viruses) are used for developing whole cell-based biosensors because they contain possible biorecognition elements (Riangrungroj et al. 2019. They can also build recognition elements like antibodies necessity for purification and extraction (Gui et al. 2017; Kylilis et al. 2019).

These biosensors are easier to work with and proliferate faster than animal or plant cells. The cell can react with a wide range of analytes, generate the electrochemical signal that a transducer can detect, and communicate the information (Berepiki et al. 2020; Ron and Rishpon 2009).

#### 8.5.5 Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors

Different nanomaterials have been used as bioreceptors as nanotechnology and nanoscience have progressed (Zamora-Galvez et al. 2017). Aside from the bioreceptors listed above, nanomaterials have recently been identified as a new type of bioreceptor. NMs can function as both bioreceptors and transducers. In biosensing technology, NPs have a wider range of uses. Cerium oxide-based nanomaterials, for example, have a catalytic activity beneficial to bioreceptors (Singh et al. 2020). Different inorganic materials, including graphene and CNT-based nanomaterials, noble metal NPs, and QDs, have been effectively exploited as transducers due to their effective transduction properties (Chamorro-Garcia et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2016).

## 8.5.6 Electrochemical Biosensors

An electrochemical biosensor comprises two main parts: an electrochemical transducer that converts biological data into an electrical signal that is then seen on a reading device (Ronkainen et al. 2010). A signal created on the surface of the electrode is turned into an electrical signal for quantitative measurement following active contact between the analyte and biorecognition element. This type of biosensor can detect infections in the air, water, and seeds in various environments, including greenhouses, postharvest storage conditions, and fields (Grieshaber et al. 2008; Fang and Ramasamy 2015).

#### 8.5.7 Optical Biosensors

Colorimetric biosensors, surface plasmon resonance-based biosensors, and fluorescence-based assays are the most popular optical biosensors for plant pathogen detection. These biosensors quantify the reaction between a target analyte and ligand. Optical biosensors use a light source, an immobilized biorecognition element, an optical transmission medium, and a signal detecting device. Finally, in phase, the amplitude and frequency of a specific light are measured in response to the biorecognition process's physicochemical conversion (change) (Ray et al. 2017).

## 8.6 Biosensor-Based Diagnosis of Plant Diseases

Plant pathogenic microorganisms produce a variety of infectious diseases that are becoming a significant threat worldwide. Electrochemical approaches for detecting plant infection have raised interest due to their simple instrumentation, high specificity, affectability, speed, and cost, as well as their potential for use in sub-atomic sensing instruments (Yin et al. 2012). Many researchers have attempted to construct various sorts of biosensors using a variety of methodologies, but they have too far.

Umasankar et al. have published nanomaterial-based electrochemical sensors for plant disease detection (Umasankar and Ramasamy 2013). Ariffin et al. described the photolithography-based synthesis of nanowire transducers and their usage in detecting CMV and PRSV viruses (Ariffin et al. 2014; Patel 2021).

In recent decades, considerable advancements have been made in plant disease diagnosis using biosensor-based approaches. Regiart et al. developed a microfluidic electrochemical-based biosensor for detecting *Xanthomonas arboricola* in the walnut plant (Regiart et al. 2017). This method was highly specific, sensitive, and three times faster than ELISA. Malecka et al. used DNA-based biosensor to detect Plum Pox Virus (PPV) (Malecka et al. 2014). An electrochemical biosensor based on an ion channel was used to assess the interaction between ssDNA of PPV on the carbon electrode surface. This electrode had a detection limit of 12.8 pg. Another electrochemical biosensor was developed with the same sensitivity for detecting PPV virus using an anti-PPV polyclonal antibody (Jarocka et al. 2011).

These biosensors are not expensive, need little skill, and are used to identify target pathogens quickly in the field to detect plant infections. The biosensors are also highly selective and sensitive. For example, a nanoparticle electrochemical-based biosensor was more sensitive and accurate than traditional PCR in detecting *Pseudomonas syringae* (Lau et al. 2017).

DNA-based electrochemical sensors are capable of monitoring the environment to detect plant pathogens. Among the various electrochemical biosensors, quartz crystal microbalance-based (QCM), electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (EIS), and voltammetric techniques are used in labs.

Khater et al. developed a labelless biosensor for detecting the citrus tristeza virus and results suggested that this technique can be employed to detect plant diseases in the field. The sensing platform was developed using gold nanoparticles on the carbon electrode to detect the ssDNA layer (Saha et al. 2012; Zhou et al. 2016; Khater et al. 2019). Cebula et al. developed label-free EIS using antibodymodified gold electrodes to detect *Pseudomonas syringae* pv lachrymans. Wang and Li developed a microfluidic microarray assembly method for detecting three fungal species: Botrytis squamosa, Botrytis cinerea, and Didymella bryoniae, at the same time. They used a glass chip coated with polydimethylsiloxane by using probe line arrays (Hughes 1922). The sample was detected quickly when crossed through the microarray line through microchannels. Lau et al. developed another sensitive approach to detecting the DNA of plant pathogen by using colloidal gold nanoparticles as capture probes (Wang and Li 2007; Lau et al. 2017). This biosensor utilized the recombinase polymerase amplification of the target DNA sequence to detect *Pseudomonas syringae* in infected plant samples. Bhardwaj et al. used gold nanobipyramids optical biosensors for detecting Aflatoxin B1 (Bhardwaj et al. 2021).

Charlermroj et al. developed a novel method to detect four important plant pathogens using microsphere immunoassay: Chili Vein-banding Mottle Virus, *Acidovorax avenae citrulli*, Watermelon Silver Mottle Virus (Tarasov et al. 2015; Charlermroj et al. 2013a, b). Fluorescence-coded magnetic microspheres and antibodies are used to detect the target pathogen, and further evaluations were made using antibodies labeled with R-phycoerythrin (Ashiba et al. 2017; Charlermroj et al. 2013a, b). Adegoke et al. developed quantum dot based nanobiosensors to detect ZIKV RNA (Adegoke et al. 2017).

# 8.7 Biological and Technical Limitations in Detection Using Biosensors

Due to recent breakthroughs in micro-and nanotechnologies, biosensor-based detection methods are extremely specific, sensitive, and offer speedy findings. However, there are other factors to consider and potential obstacles in adopting and implementing these techniques in agriculture. Biosensors will become an excellent tool for plant disease management, but these should be applied with information on the crop, pathogen, and disease epidemiology. This information includes specific characteristics, cultural practices, environmental conditions, and various management strategies. This could lead to the development a prediction system that could be employed to enhance crop productivity and quality (Khasanov et al. 2009; Dominguez et al. 2015).

Furthermore, the detection accuracy using biosensors depends on various sampling techniques such as sampling design, duration of sampling, and various methods which expose the analyte to a biosensor probe (Ray et al. 2017).

The biological quantities of target pathogens in plant materials evaluated may significantly impact detection limits. Sometimes they are interrupted by the presence of non-target molecules that interfere with probe binding (Wei et al. 2010).

When nucleic acids are used as a target for hybridization of complementary capture probe, the process impacts binding specificity and accuracy in the diagnosis, which could lead to false-positive results due to nonspecific capture on the sensing surface. The complexity of the sample matrix, which incorporates ions and cells, could cause amplifier optimization to fail (Wang et al. 2017; Vidic et al. 2019). Separate the target analyte from the sample is a critical step in improving detection (Sin et al. 2014).

Despite the various advantages of using optical and electrochemical biosensing approaches over the conventional methods discussed in this study, more research is needed to apply this technology for quantifying plant pathogens in the field. Validation of a portable sensor necessitates using specialist hardware, which can be costly and difficult for non-experts like farmers. It is still unknown how much inoculum is required to cause disease in host plants. This threshold must be established to transform the pathogen level measured by the biosensor into an estimate of disease risk.

## 8.8 Future Work

Even though plant biosensors-based research has become increasingly important, there is now less study available. Furthermore, the expected presentation of biosensors for its application on non-plant entities does not exclude plant biosensors from moving in the presence of current processes such as "Transcriptomic Biosensors," "Hereditarily Encoded Biosensors," and "ChmericBiosensing technologies." Incorporating unique disease detection sensors, such as optical fiber biosensors and electrochemical biosensors, would provide a more beneficial technique to detect plant infections.

Given the importance of plant health monitoring, the current state of biosensors, and the limitations of currently available techniques and novel biomarkers, scientists are expected to refocus their efforts on plant health and growth monitoring with an appropriate kick start.

# 8.9 Conclusion

One of the most commonly encountered problems worldwide is the loss of a significant portion of crop yield due to diseases and pests. The presence of diseases in the plants reduces the output after supplying adequate resources to the fields. This

set of prompts focuses on practical approaches for identifying the cause of plant diseases. Early identification of the type of plant disease present is required to provide powerful strategies for diagnosing and avoiding destruction. Traditional methods for detecting phytopathogens, such as microscopic analysis of diseased tissue or culture, take time and require a knowledgeable person, but emerging techniques, such as biosensors, are simple and quick. Biosensors for identifying plant pathogenic bacteria have sparked increased attention, with research focusing on creating compact portable devices that would allow for quick, precise, and localized recognition. Agriculture scientists should investigate biosensor technologies in conjunction with synthetic biology.

#### References

- Adegoke, O., M. Morita, T. Kato, M. Ito, T. Suzuki, and E.Y. Park. 2017. Localized surface plasmon resonance-mediated fluorescence signals in plasmonic nanoparticle-quantum dot hybrids for ultrasensitive Zika virus RNA detection via hairpin hybridization assays. *Biosensors* and Bioelectronics 94: 513–522.
- Agrios, G.N. 2005. Plant pathology, 952. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Ahmad, F., O.O. Babalola, and H.I. Tak. 2012. Potential of MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry as a rapid detection technique in plant pathology: Identification of plant-associated microorganisms. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*. 404: 1247–1255.
- Ali, J., J. Najeeb, M.A. Ali, M.F. Aslam, and A. Raza. 2017. Biosensors: Their fundamentals, designs, types and most recent impactful applications: A review. *Journal of Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 8: 1–9.
- Allayarov, A.N., S.B. Abdurakhmonova, and A.A. Khakimov. 2019. The spread of alternaria leaf spot disease in cabbage vegetable plants, its damages and the efficacy of fungicides used against them. *EPRA International Journal of Research and Development* 4: 118–122.
- Ariffin, S.A., T. Adam, U. Hashim, S. Faridah Sfaridah, I. Zamri, and M.N.A. Uda. 2014. Plant diseases detection using nanowire as biosensor transducer. *Advanced Materials Research* 832: 113–117. Trans Tech Publications Ltd.
- Arnold, M.A., and M.E. Meyerhoff. 1988. Recent advances in the development and analytical applications of biosensing probes. *Critical Reviews in Analytical Chemistry* 20: 149–196.
- Arora, K. 2018. Advances in nano based biosensors for food and agriculture. In Nanotechnology, food security and water treatment, 1–52. Cham: Springer.
- Ashiba, H., Y. Sugiyama, X. Wang, H. Shirato, K. Higo-Moriguchi, K. Taniguchi, Y. Ohki, and M. Fujimaki. 2017. Detection of norovirus virus-like particles using a surface plasmon resonance-assisted fluoroimmunosensor optimized for quantum dot fluorescent labels. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*. 93: 260–266.
- Berepiki, A., R. Kent, L.F. Machado, and N. Dixon. 2020. Development of high-performance whole cell biosensors aided by statistical modeling. ACS Synthetic Biology 9 (3): 576–589.
- Bhalla, N., P. Jolly, N. Formisano, and P. Estrela. 2016. Nikhil Bhalla, Pawan Jolly, NelloFormisano and Pedro Estrela. *Essays in Biochemistry*. 60: 1–8.
- Bhardwaj, H., G. Sumana, and C.A. Marquette. 2021. Gold nanobipyramids integrated ultrasensitive optical and electrochemical biosensor for aflatoxin B1 detection. *Talanta* 222: 121578.
- Bojorge Ramírez, N., A.M. Salgado, and B. Valdman. 2009. The evolution and developments of immunosensors for health and environmental monitoring: Problems and perspectives. *Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering* 26: 227–249.
- Cassedy, A., E. Mullins, and R. O'Kennedy. 2020. Sowing seeds for the future: The need for on-site plant diagnostics. *Biotechnology Advances* 39: 107358.

- Castillo, J., S. Gáspár, S. Leth, M. Niculescu, A. Mortari, I. Bontidean, V. Soukharev, S.A. Dorneanu, A.D. Ryabov, and E. Csöregi. 2004. Biosensors for life quality: Design, development and applications. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 102: 179–194.
- Chamorro-Garcia, A., A. De La Escosura-Muñiz, M. Espinoza-Castañeda, C.J. Rodriguez-Hernandez, C. De Torres, and A. Merkoçi. 2016. Detection of parathyroid hormone-like hormone in cancer cell cultures by gold nanoparticle-based lateral flow immunoassays. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine* 12: 53–61.
- Charlermroj, R., O. Himananto, C. Seepiban, M. Kumpoosiri, and N. Warin. 2013a. Multiplex detection of plant pathogens using a microsphere.
- Charlermroj, R., O. Himananto, C. Seepiban, M. Kumpoosiri, N. Warin, M. Oplatowska, O. Gajanandana, I.R. Grant, N. Karoonuthaisiri, and C.T. Elliott. 2013b. Multiplex detection of plant pathogens using a microsphere immunoassay technology. *PLoS One* 8: 62344.
- Chaubey, A., and B. Malhotra. 2002. Mediated biosensors. *Biosensors and bioelectronics* 17: 441–456.
- Choi, J.R., K.W. Yong, R. Tang, Y. Gong, T. Wen, H. Yang, A. Li, Y.C. Chia, B. Pingguan-Murphyand, and F. Xu. 2017. Lateral flow assay based on paper–hydrogel hybrid material for sensitive point-of-care detection of dengue virus. *Advanced Healthcare Materials* 6: 1600920.
- Clark, L.C., Jr., and C. Lyons. 1962. Electrode systems for continuous monitoring in cardiovascular surgery. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 102: 29–45.
- Cordeiro, C.A., A. Sias, T. Koster, B.H.C. Westerink, and T.I.F.H. Cremers. 2018. In vivo "realtime" monitoring of glucose in the brain with an amperometric enzyme-based biosensor based on gold coated tungsten (W-Au) microelectrodes. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 263: 605–613.
- Davidson, J.A., and R.B. Kimber. 2007. Integrated disease management of ascochyta blight in pulse crops. In Ascochyta blights of grain legumes, 99–110. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Dhiman, A., P. Kalra, V. Bansal, J.G. Bruno, and T.K. Sharma. 2017. Aptamer-based point-of-care diagnostic platforms. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 246: 535–553.
- Dodig, S. 2009. Interferences in quantitative immunochemical methods. *Biochemia Medica*. 19: 50–62.
- Dominguez, R.B., G.A. Alonso, R. Muñoz, A. Hayat, and J.L. Marty. 2015. Design of a novel magnetic particles based electrochemical biosensor for organophosphate insecticide detection in flow injection analysis. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 208: 491–496.
- Donoso, A., and S. Valenzuela. 2018. In-field molecular diagnosis of plant pathogens: Recent trends and future perspectives. *Plant Pathology* 67: 1451–1461.
- Dyakov, Y.T., and S.N. Elansky. 2019. *General phytopathology*. Moscow: Yurayt Publishing House.
- Fang, Y., and R.P. Ramasamy. 2015. Current and prospective methods for plant disease detection. *Biosensors* 5: 537–561.
- Fletcher, J., C. Bender, B. Budowle, W.T. Cobb, S.E. Gold, C.A. Ishimaru, D. Luster, U. Melcher, R. Murch, H. Scherm, and R.C. Seem. 2006. Plant pathogen forensics: Capabilities, needs, and recommendations. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*. 70: 450–471.
- Grieshaber, D., R. MacKenzie, J. Vörös, and E. Reimhult. 2008. Electrochemical biosensors-sensor principles and architectures. *Sensors* 8: 1400–1458.
- Gui, Q., T. Lawson, S. Shan, L. Yan, and Y. Liu. 2017. The application of whole cell-based biosensors for use in environmental analysis and in medical diagnostics. *Sensors* 17 (7): 1623.
- Hong, P., W. Li, and J. Li. 2012. Applications of aptasensors in clinical diagnostics. Sensors 12 (2): 1181–1193.
- Hughes, W.S. 1922. The potential difference between glass and electrolytes in contact with the glass. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 44: 2860–2867.
- Iglič, A., and M. Rappolt, eds. 2019. Advances in biomembranes and lipid self-assembly. Cambridge: Academic Press.

- Jarocka, U., M. Wąsowicz, H. Radecka, T. Malinowski, L. Michalczuk, and J. Radecki. 2011. Impedimetric immunosensor for detection of plum pox virus in plant extracts. *Electroanalysis* 23: 2197–2204.
- Kamilov, S.G., K.K. Nuraliev, R.K. Sattarova, and A.A. Khakimov. 2020. The history of mycology and phytopathology development in Uzbekistan. *Mikologiyai Fitopatologiya* 54: 313–319.
- Khakimov, A., I. Salakhutdinov, A. Omolikov, and S. Utaganov. 2022. Traditional and currentprospective methods of agricultural plant diseases detection: A review. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 951 (1): 012002. IOP Publishing.
- Khasanov, B. O., R. O. Ochilov, and R. A. Gulmurodo. 2009. Diseases of vegetables, potatoes and melon crops and their control measures.
- Khater, M., A. De La Escosura-Muñiz, D. Quesada-González, and A. Merkoçi. 2019. Electrochemical detection of plant virus using gold nanoparticle-modified electrodes. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 1046: 123–131.
- Korotkaya, E.V. 2014. Biosensors: Design, classification, and applications in the food industry. Foods and Raw Materials. 2: 161–171.
- Kourous, G. 2016. Global pact against plant pests marks 60 years in action.
- Kylilis, N., P. Riangrungroj, H.E. Lai, V. Salema, L.Á. Fernández, G.B.V. Stan, and K.M. Polizzi. 2019. Whole-cell biosensor with tunable limit of detection enables low-cost agglutination assays for medical diagnostic applications. ACS Sensors 4 (2): 370–378.
- Lau, H.Y., and J.R. Botella. 2017. Advanced DNA-based point-of-care diagnostic methods for plant diseases detection. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8: 2016.
- Lau, H.Y., H. Wu, E.J. Wee, M. Trau, Y. Wang, and J.R. Botella. 2017. Specific and sensitive isothermal electrochemical biosensor for plant pathogen DNA detection with colloidal gold nanoparticles as probes. *Scientific Reports* 7: 1–7.
- Le, T.T., P. Chang, D.J. Benton, J.W. McCauley, M. Iqbal, and A.E. Cass. 2017. Dual recognition element lateral flow assay toward multiplex strain specific influenza virus detection. *Analytical Chemistry*. 89: 6781–6786.
- Li, Y.C.E., and I.C. Lee. 2020. The current trends of biosensors in tissue engineering. *Biosensors* 10: 88.
- Lim, S.A., and M.U. Ahmed. 2016. Electrochemical immunosensors and their recent nanomaterialbased signal amplification strategies: A review. *RSC Advances* 6 (30): 24995–25014.
- Lim, S. A., and M. U. Ahmed 2019. Introduction to immunosensors.
- Liu, J., M. Cui, H. Zhou, and S. Zhang. 2016. Efficient double-quenching of electrochemiluminescence from CdS: Eu QDs by hemin-graphene-au nanorods ternary composite for ultrasensitive immunoassay. *Scientific Reports* 6: 1–9.
- Lowe, C.R. 1984. Biosensors. Trends in Biotechnology. 2: 59-65.
- Lukhmenev, V. 2012. Phytopathology: A tutorial. Orenburg: OSAU Publishing Center.
- Malecka, K., L. Michalczuk, H. Radecka, and J. Radecki. 2014. Ion-channel genosensor for the detection of specific DNA sequences derived from plum pox virus in plant extracts. *Sensors* 14: 18611–18624.
- Malhotra, S., A. Verma, N. Tyagi, and V. Kumar. 2017. Biosensors: Principle, types and applications. *International Journal of Advance Research and Innovative Ideas in Education* 3: 3639–3644.
- Malik, P., V. Katyal, V. Malik, A. Asatkar, G. Inwati, and T.K. Mukherjee. 2013. Nanobiosensors: Concepts and variations. *International Scholarly Research Notices* 2013.
- Mamiev, M.S., A.A. Khakimov, M.A. Zuparov, and U.N. Rakhmonov. 2020. Effectiveness of different fungicides in controlling botrytis grey mould of tomato. *IOP Conference Series: Earth* and Environmental Science 614 (1): 012112. IOP Publishing.
- Mancini, V., and G. Romanazzi. 2014. Seed treatments to control seedborne fungal pathogens of vegetable crops. *Pest Management Science* 70: 860–868.
- Morrison, D.W., M.R. Dokmeci, U.T.K.A.N. Demirci, and A. Khademhosseini. 2007. Clinical applications of micro-and nanoscale biosensors. *Biomedical Nanostructures* 1: 439–460.

- Narayanasamy, P. 2011. Detection of fungal pathogens in plants. In Microbial plant pathogensdetection and disease diagnosis, 5–199. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Naresh, V., and N. Lee. 2021. A review on biosensors and recent development of nanostructured materials-enabled biosensors. *Sensors* 21 (4): 1109.
- Nguyen, H.H., S.H. Lee, U.J. Lee, C.D. Fermin, and M. Kim. 2019. Immobilized enzymes in biosensor applications. *Materials* 12 (1): 121.
- Nikhil, B., J. Pawan, F. Nello, and E. Pedro. 2016. Introduction to biosensors. *Essays in biochemistry* 60: 1–8.
- Njagi, J.I., and S.M. Kagwanja. 2011. The interface in biosensing: Improving selectivity and sensitivity. In *Interfaces and interphases in analytical chemistry*, 225–247. American Chemical Society.
- Öndeş, B., F. Akpınar, M. Uygun, M. Muti, and D.A. Uygun. 2021. High stability potentiometric urea biosensor based on enzyme attached nanoparticles. *Microchemical Journal* 160: 105667.
- Paddle, B.M. 1996. Biosensors for chemical and biological agents of defence interest. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*. 11: 1079–1113.
- Patel, P. 2021. A review on plant disease diagnosis through biosensor. International Journal of Biosensors & Bioelectronics 7 (2): 50–52.
- Pearson, J.E., A. Gill, and P. Vadgama. 2000. Analytical aspects of biosensors. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry 37: 119–145.
- Polatoğlu, İ., L. Aydın, B.Ç. Nevruz, and S. Özer. 2020. A novel approach for the optimal design of a biosensor. *Analytical Letters* 53: 1428–1445.
- Ray, M., A. Ray, S. Dash, A. Mishra, K.G. Achary, S. Nayak, and S. Singh. 2017. Fungal disease detection in plants: Traditional assays, novel diagnostic techniques and biosensors. *Biosensors* and Bioelectronics 87: 708–723.
- Regiart, M., M.A. Fernández-Baldo, J. Villarroel-Rocha, G.A. Messina, F.A. Bertolino, K. Sapag, A.T. Timperman, and J. Raba. 2017. Microfluidic immunosensor based on mesoporous silica platform and CMK-3/poly-acrylamide-co-methacrylate of dihydrolipoic acid modified gold electrode for cancer biomarker detection. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 963: 83–92.
- Reich, M., P.P. Bosshard, M. Stark, K. Beyser, and S. Borgmann. 2013. Species identification of bacteria and fungi from solid and liquid culture media by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. *Journal of Bacteriology and Parasitology* 10: 2155–9597.
- Riangrungroj, P., C.S. Bever, B.D. Hammock, and K.M. Polizzi. 2019. A label-free optical wholecell Escherichia coli biosensor for the detection of pyrethroid insecticide exposure. *Scientific Reports* 9 (1): 1–9.
- Ron, E.Z., and J. Rishpon. 2009. Electrochemical cell-based sensors. Whole Cell Sensing Systems I: 77–84.
- Ronkainen, N.J., H.B. Halsall, and W.R. Heineman. 2010. Electrochemical biosensors. *Chemical Society Reviews*. 39: 1747–1763.
- Saha, K., S.S. Agasti, C. Kim, X. Li, and V.M. Rotello. 2012. Gold nanoparticles in chemical and biological sensing. *Chemical Reviews*. 112: 2739–2779.
- Sethi, R.S. 1994. Transducer aspects of biosensors. Biosensors and Bioelectronics. 9: 243-264.
- Sharma, K.D., V. Sharma, R. Singh, and H. Nayyar. 2011. Control of chickpea blight disease caused by *Didymellarabiei* by mixing resistance inducer and contact fungicide. *Crop Protection* 30: 519–1522.
- Sin, M.L., K.E. Mach, P.K. Wong, and J.C. Liao. 2014. Advances and challenges in biosensorbased diagnosis of infectious diseases. *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics* 14: 225–244.
- Singh, K.R., V. Nayak, T. Sarkar, and R.P. Singh. 2020. Cerium oxide nanoparticles: Properties, biosynthesis and biomedical application. *RSC Advances* 10 (45): 27194–27214.
- Skottrup, P.D., M. Nicolaisen, and A.F. Justesen. 2008. Towards on-site pathogen detection using antibody-based sensors. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 24: 339–348.
- Soleymani, L., and F. Li. 2017. Mechanistic challenges and advantages of biosensor miniaturization into the nanoscale. ACS Sensors. 2: 458–467.
- Tarasov, A., A.J. Vilella, E. Cuppen, I.J. Nijman, and P. Prins. 2015. Sambamba: Fast processing of NGS alignment formats. *Bioinformatics* 31: 2032–2034.
- Thévenot, D.R., K. Toth, R.A. Durst, and G.S. Wilson. 2001. Electrochemical biosensors: Recommended definitions and classification. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 16: 121–131.
- Tombelli, S., M. Minunni, and M. Mascini. 2005. Analytical applications of aptamers. Biosensors and Bioelectronics 20 (12): 2424–2434.
- Ul Haq, I., S. Ijaz, and (eds). 2020. Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches. Vol. 13, 1–339. ISBN: 978-3-030-35954-6. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35955-3.
- Umasankar, Y., and R.P. Ramasamy. 2013. Highly sensitive electrochemical detection of methyl salicylate using electroactive gold nanoparticles. *Analyst* 138 (21): 6623–6631.
- Vidic, J., P. Vizzini, M. Manzano, D. Kavanaugh, N. Ramarao, M. Zivkovic, V. Radonic, N. Knezevic, I. Giouroudi, and I. Gadjanski. 2019. Point-of-need DNA testing for detection of foodborne pathogenic bacteria. *Sensors* 19: 1100.
- Wang, L., and P.C. Li. 2007. Flexible microarray construction and fast DNA hybridization conducted on a microfluidic chip for greenhouse plant fungal pathogen detection. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55: 10509–10516.
- Wang, Y., W. Knoll, and J. Dostalek. 2012. Bacterial pathogen surface plasmon resonance biosensor advanced by long range surface plasmons and magnetic nanoparticle assays. *Analyti*cal Chemistry 84: 8345–8350.
- Wang, R., L. Wang, Z.T. Callaway, H. Lu, T.J. Huang, and Y. Li. 2017. A nanowell-based QCM aptasensor for rapid and sensitive detection of avian influenza virus. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical.* 240: 934–940.
- Wei, F., P.B. Lillehoj, and C.M. Ho. 2010. DNA diagnostics: Nanotechnology-enhanced electrochemical detection of nucleic acids. *Pediatric Research* 67 (5): 458–468.
- Wilkins, E., and P. Atanasov. 1996. Glucose monitoring: State of the art and future possibilities. *Medical Engineering & Physics*. 18: 273–288.
- Wong, C.L., M. Chua, H. Mittman, L.X. Choo, H.Q. Lim, and M. Olivo. 2017. A phase-intensity surface plasmon resonance biosensor for avian influenza A (H5N1) detection. *Sensors* 17: 2363.
- Yin, B.C., Y.M. Guan, and B.C. Ye. 2012. An ultrasensitive electrochemical DNA sensor based on the ssDNA-assisted cascade of hybridization reaction. *Chemical Communications* 48 (35): 4208–4210.
- Zamora-Galvez, A., E. Morales-Narváez, C.C. Mayorga-Martinez, and A. Merkoçi. 2017. Nanomaterials connected to antibodies and molecularly imprinted polymers as bio/receptors for bio/sensor applications. *Applied Materials Today* 9: 387–401.
- Zhou, H., T. Han, Q. Wei, and S. Zhang. 2016. Efficient enhancement of electrochemiluminescence from cadmium sulfide quantum dots by glucose oxidase mimicking gold nanoparticles for highly sensitive assay of methyltransferase activity. *Analytical Chemistry*. 88: 2976–2983.
- Zuparov, M.A., A.A. Khakimov, M.S. Mamiev, and A.N. Allayarov. 2020. In vitro efficacy testing of fungicides on Botrytis cinerea causing gray mold of tomato. *International Journal on Emerging Technologies* 11: 50.



Immunotechnology for Plant Disease Detection 9

Qaiser Shakeel, Rabia Tahir Bajwa, Ifrah Rashid, Hafiz Muhammad Usman Aslam, Yasir Iftikhar, Mustansar Mubeen, Guoqing Li, and Mingde Wu

#### Abstract

There has been a persistent concern that massive crop production loss occurs yearly due to plant pathogens worldwide. Developing and using advanced technologies for timely plant disease detection are vital to reduce crop damage by pathogen infection during crop development, harvesting, and post-harvest processing of the produce, boosting crop productivity and ensuring agriculture sustainability. Among various techniques available to detect plant disease, immunotechnology is broadly recognized as the most effective and powerful disease diagnostic tool. Immunotechnology is generally popular for its quick, highly sensitive, particular features that make it a reliable tool for pathogen detection. However, proper application of such techniques is very challenging as it requires a substantial cost for equipment as well as one has to thoroughly understand the technology to deduce and troubleshoot irregular errors or lab results. In this chapter, we have demonstrated in detail the application of

Q. Shakeel (🖂) · R. T. Bajwa · I. Rashid

H. M. U. Aslam Department of Plant Pathology, Institute of Plant Protection, Multan, Pakistan

Y. Iftikhar · M. Mubeen Department of Plant Pathology, University College of Agriculture, University of Sargodha, Sargodha, Pakistan

G. Li · M. Wu State Key Laboratory of Agricultural Microbiology and Hubei Key Laboratory of Plant Pathology, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China

Department of Plant Pathology, Faculty of Agriculture and Environment, The Islamia University of Bahawalpur, Bahawalpur, Pakistan e-mail: <a href="mailto:qaiser.shakeel@iub.edu.pk">qaiser.shakeel@iub.edu.pk</a>

immunotechnology for detecting plant pathogens and highlighted the advantages and limitations of each technique based on immunotechnology.

**Keywords** 

Disease diagnostic tool  $\cdot$  Immunotechnology  $\cdot$  Detection of pathogens  $\cdot$  Inoculum quantification  $\cdot$  Advantages and limitations

# 9.1 Introduction

Management of plant diseases is a top issue in economies that rely heavily on agriculture due to the significant agricultural output lost annually due to various diseases, a particularly acute problem in developing nations (Agrios 2005; Strange 2012). Approximately, US \$1500 billion is spent annually on agriculture (Agrios 2005). During the unavailability of resistant plant varieties, the most effective alternative is to detect and quantify the pathogen as early as possible and prevent the infection's development. So, the use of quick, accurate, and targeted diagnostic techniques is crucial for the success of several integrated pest control schemes. Developing a more practical approach for plant disease detection and linking them to decision-making authorities to successfully detect plant diseases and protect crop production are critical. To detect plant diseases, several methods have been designed (Punja et al. 2007).

Immunotechnology is a successful way of quick and accurate pathogen detection, but each technique has some limitations and drawbacks in addition to advantages. Immunotechnology includes various techniques such as serological assays (i.e., antibody-based techniques), nucleic acid-based techniques, and point-of-care DNA extracting techniques. Early traditional approaches relied on symptom observation, including field examinations to diagnose disease symptoms and analyze pathogens in the lab by cultivating specific culture media following biochemical, physiological, and pathogenicity assays (Horsfall and Cowling 1977). While traditional procedures are effective, they take a long time and need experienced or professional plant pathologists to detect the pathogen causing the particular disease. For diagnosing plant pathogens, it was important to find detection techniques with improved specificity. sensitivity, and speed (UI Haq and Ijaz 2020). Therefore. immunotechnology has gained success in rapidly detecting plant diseases and offering pathogen management at an early stage.

Due to their efficiency, sensitivity, and low cost, serological diagnostic techniques for the detection of plant diseases have gained popularity. Since the 1980s, the use of antibodies in plant diagnostics has increased, and several evaluations of this technique have been reviewed (Alvarez 2004; Narayanasamy 2011). The poor specificity of polyclonal antibodies for phytopathogens formed by animal vaccination may cause them to interact with adjacent pathogen species (Macario and Conway de Macario 1985). As monoclonal antibodies only target a single antigen in a pathogenic protein, sensitivity has increased due to their

development (Thornton 2009). As a result, several serological diagnostic techniques have been designed and are often used to detect plant diseases, including enzymelinked immunosorbent assays (ELISA), lateral flow devices (LFD), immunofluorescent tests, and immunoblots (Comstock 1992; Novakova et al. 2006; Kokoskova and Janse 2009; Tomlinson et al. 2010). The production of monoclonal antibodies is costly, though, and it has been suggested that related species may have similar epitopes that induce monoclonal antibodies to respond favorably (Teitelbaum et al. 1991; Gorris et al. 1994).

Researchers were able to research and design nucleic acid-based methods to detect plant disease due to the development of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in the 1980s. Several PCR-based screening techniques are now for detecting plant pathogens (Ward et al. 2004a, b; Vincelli and Tisserat 2008). For instance, immunocapture-PCR (IC-PCR), a specific device, which combines standard PCR amplification with infectious viral particles that antibodies have trapped, has been used to identify viruses. This method effectively identified the bacterial blight disease (caused by Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. dieffenbachiae) in Anthurium propagation material and enhanced sensitivity by 250-fold than direct amplification by conventional PCR (Khoodoo et al. 2005). To increase sensitivity and specificity, it has also been documented to amplify pathogen-specific sequences and couple PCR with other methods (Merighi et al. 2000; Brasileiro et al. 2004; Carrasco-Ballesteros et al. 2007).

Early in the 1990s, PCR-ELISA, a fusion of traditional ELISA and PCR, was established (Nutman et al. 1994). An ELISA plate with an immobilized probe and a labeled PCR product are hybridized together in this test. Subsequent inclusion of an enzyme conjugate and a substrate allows photometric analysis of the acquired PCR product. With this test, one amplicon community, among many others produced in a multiplex reaction, may be found (Laitinen et al. 2002). With more specificity than traditional PCR, this method has been used to detect bacteria effectively, fungi, and viruses (Shindo et al. 1994; Daly et al. 2002; Bailey et al. 2002; Somai et al. 2002). The DNA amplified by PCR was discovered to crossbreed with the ELISA probe from other microbial species, which is why the test produced false-positive findings when identifying Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Neisseria meningitides (Kent et al. 1995; Gillespie et al. 1997; Borrow et al. 1998).

Real-time PCR that enabled the prevalence of pathogens to be detected and their quantification in plant tissue marked a significant advancement in DNA-based diagnostic procedures. This allowed assessing the disease severity (Heid et al. 1996). The requirement of this method for pricey tools and reagents prevents it from being used as a quick, inexpensive diagnostic approach to immunotechnology. Additionally, due to the high sensitivity of this method, there is a probability that it will detect even minute quantities of contamination in biological materials or reagents, leading to the assessment of false positives and necessitating the use of standardization procedures or pre-read runs to ensure the reliability of the findings (Wong and Medrano 2005; Nowrouzian et al. 2009).

Point-of-care diagnostic tests are an important diagnostic approach based on immunotechnology that may be carried out quickly and affordably in the open field without using expensive equipment (Yager et al. 2006). Although PCR-based techniques offer several benefits over competing technologies, they are significantly less suitable for POC applications because they need the energy to execute the temperature variation necessary for DNA amplification (Barany 1991). Isothermal DNA amplification techniques work well to overcome this restriction (Gill and Ghaemi 2008; Craw and Balachandran 2012). For example, POC diagnosis of plant disease has been accomplished using isothermal amplification in conjunction with portable fluorometers and lateral flow strips for DNA extraction (Vincent et al. 2004; Piepenburg et al. 2006; Chow et al. 2008; Lutz et al. 2010; Mahalanabis et al. 2010; Rohrman and Richards-Kortum 2012). However, the cost and potential suitability of portable fluorometers for usage in harsh weather-prone environments prevent their wide-scale use. Finding a POC diagnostic assessment technique that integrates the complete procedure from sample processing to result reporting is still difficult. Given that field might be far from bioanalytical labs and that adequate transportation can provide logistical challenges, the agricultural sectors could benefit immensely from the availability of practical and affordable POC methods. This chapter emphasizes various techniques for plant disease detection based on immunotechnology.

# 9.2 Immunotechnology to Detect Plant Diseases

# 9.2.1 Immunotechnology Based on Serological Methods

Serological methods were designed to identify viruses because they cannot be spontaneously grown. Monoclonal and polyclonal antisera and methods like western blots, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), dot-blot immunobinding assay, immunostrip test, and serologically specific electron microscopy (SSEM) can now be used to detect more than a thousand pathogens, bacteria, and fungi (Alarcon et al. 1990; Caruso et al. 2002; Van Vuurde et al. 1987; Hampton et al. 1990). Due to its high-throughput capacity, ELISA, which was first utilized in the 1970s, is perhaps the most popular immunodiagnostic method. The organism, freshness of the tested sample, and titer affect how sensitive an ELISA test is; for example, bacteria can be detected at 100 cfu/mL (Schaad et al. 2001, 2003). Antibodies cannot be frequently defrosted and must be stored at temperatures lower than -20 °C.

Many bacteria and viruses have polyclonal antisera that have been developed in research laboratories or for commercial purposes and used in various techniques (Nolasco et al. 2002). However, due to their recurrent cross-reactivity, monoclonal antisera that are more potent have been formed through the hybridoma technique with cell lines specific to single epitopes (Holzloehner et al. 2013). ELISA techniques using monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies are already developed for several taxa of plant pathogenic bacteria. Reliable diagnostic kits are being marketed commercially. Monoclonal antibodies are more costly and often detect just one antigen. Numerous epitomes on a single antigen are detected by polyclonal

antibodies, which are also inexpensive than monoclonal antibodies (Robison 1995). They do, however, have a limited shelf life and batch variations.

# 9.2.2 Immunotechnology Based on Nucleic Acids

Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) and the numerous PCR versions real-time PCR (RT-PCR), nested PCR (nPCR), multiplex PCR (M-PCR), cooperative PCR (Co-PCR), and DNA fingerprinting) all are immunotechnology-based nucleic acid techniques for the detection of plant diseases. Nucleic acid sequence-based amplification (NASBA), AmpliDet RNA, and reverse-transcriptase PCR are RNA-based alternatives. These techniques can get beyond ambiguous pathogen taxonomy or diagnoses, allowing for quick and precise pathogen detection and quantification (López et al. 2009). The preparation of samples for molecular characterization is crucial and demands effective and repeatable techniques. Numerous documented DNA and RNA isolation techniques were designed to prevent the occurrence of inhibitory substances that make pathogen detection more difficult (Louws et al. 1999). Humic substances, phenolic compounds, or polysaccharides from plants or other substrates are the main components that impede DNA polymerase (Minsavage et al. 1994; Mumford et al. 2006).

Numerous methodologies have been generated for PCR-based techniques employing various genomes, such as dsDNA, ssDNA, or ssRNA. It is a common practice to use commercial kits especially developed for extracting nucleic acids from different plant materials. The Ultra Clean Plant DNA and RNA extraction kits from MoBio, RNeasy and DNeasy Plant System from Qiagen, and the Extract-N-Amp Plant PCR kit and Easy-DNAExtraction kit from Sigma are among the standout products. Sonication or electrical devices may be integrated into Lab-On-A-Chip devices to treat and purify the genome (Taylor et al. 2001; Gascoyne et al. 2004). The most recent technology uses small tools for DNA isolation from microchips by techniques like laser irradiation and capillary electrophoresis (Lin et al. 2007). Although intriguing, not all plant materials respond well to these techniques. Before being used for regular detection, they must be tested against every possible plant, pathogen, or substrate combination (López et al. 2009; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020).

Precisely designing probes and oligonucleotides is the foundation of all molecular diagnostic techniques for plant disease detection. The National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) provides GenBank<sup>®</sup> (a Nucleotide Sequence Search tool) to locate the target sequences. The Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST), with the BLASTn tool built to explore nucleotides, can be used to find similar sections for every target. Primer designs for RNA or DNA targets are simple to create when specific nucleotide sequences are chosen (UI Haq et al. 2021; Babar et al. 2021; Nasir et al. 2021). Various molecular techniques are available to detect plant pathogens in open areas, greenhouses, and orchards. One of the most popular vegetable species worldwide is the tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.), grown on over 4.6 million hectares globally (FAO). Due to the ongoing and unabated need

from the processing sector and consumers, this crop is being grown in monoculture. This substantially encourages the colonization and pathogenicity development of many diseases. The global horticulture issue is getting severe due to the increased prevalence of several endemic plant diseases and the advent of new ones brought on by various pathogens, including viruses, bacteria, fungi, and phytoplasmas. The tomato yellow leaf curl disease in Sicily (TYLCD) has been reported to be caused by another viral agent known as Begomovirus but appears to generate the same symptoms in plants and is one of the most significant cases. The loss of crop production might range from 20 to 100% based on the specific Begomovirus involved. It implies that immunotechnology is the only approach for differentiating the several Begomoviruses (Davino et al. 2006).

Compared to immunoassays, PCR has several benefits, including the potential to identify a single target in complicated mixtures, the quick and accurate detection of many targets, and the possibility to detect obligate plant pathogens that cannot be cultured as viruses, certain bacteria, and phytoplasma (Jiaz et al. 2022). For amplification and detection of DNA in PCR-based diagnostic tests, primers are produced to bind with particular DNA segments from the target species. Plant diseases are frequently detected and identified by amplifying specific sequences of nucleic acids (Mumford et al. 2006). The pathogen is present in the analyzed sample, and the detection of the amplification material confirms its presence. SYBR GREEN UV light detection has superseded the original approach of seeing the amplified product by agarose gel electrophoresis involving ethidium bromide (EtBr) staining. The application of dye-quenched probes has increased PCR accuracy and pathogen sensitivity (Morris et al. 1996; Thelwell et al. 2000). Although more advanced immunotechnologies can achieve the desired result within minutes, PCR can typically be completed in 2-3 h (Tomlinson et al. 2007). The most practical method for detecting plant viruses is RT-PCR, which has a sensitivity comparable to ELISA or hybridization approaches.

With nPCR, which is carried out in two phases and uses either 1 or 2 internal primers, specificity and sensitivity can be improved (Simmonds et al. 1990; Olmos et al. 1997; Pradhanang et al. 2000). Primer interaction between the two amplification may result from this strategy. Additionally, contamination rates may rise with two sessions of amplification in several tubes when using the procedure frequently and extensively.

Co-PCR was created to identify plant pathogenic bacteria and viruses (Caruso et al. 2003). Co-PCR, performed in a single reaction, lowers the possibility of contamination and provides sensitivity comparable to RT-PCR and nPCR. The specificity for virus diagnosis when colorimetric detection is at least 1000 times greater than that achieved with RT-PCR and is comparable with those of nested RT-PCR. The nucleotide sequencing can be described by combining it with dot-blot hybridization. But the limited reagents can make the reaction more susceptible to inhibitors, demanding better RNA quality (Olmos et al. 2005).

M-PCR is a PCR variant amplifying two or more target sequences instantaneously in the same practice (López et al. 2009). As many diseases typically attack a single plant, M-PCR is helpful (Davino et al. 2012; Panno et al. 2012, 2014). Experimental evaluation of the selected primers reliability is required. Combining the benefits of M-PCR and nPCR, the multiplex nested RT-PCR speeds up the process and lowered costs in a single tube while enabling simultaneous detection of the target pathogen. Similar to M-PCR, it involves an in silico evaluation and experimental confirmation of primer reliability. As opposed to traditional PCR, RT-PCR enables pathogen detection and real-time reaction analysis. Numerous specialized techniques have been devised, and this high-throughput method delivers excellent speed, sensitivity, specificity, and reliability. Using modified primers, distinct primer tags, and combined probes, RT-PCR eliminates the potential of cross-contamination. However, RT-PCR needs to be modified to account for elements like reaction components, circumstances, and primer design. Compared to conventional PCR, it performs well with tiny amplicons (50–200 bp) and at lower dNTP, primer, and magnesium concentrations. Several chemistries, including TaqMan, SYBRGreen, Molecular Beacons, and Scorpion, are accessible commercially. For each analysis, the type and design of the primer must be tuned. Since TaqMan can distinguish between nucleotide sequences that vary just by one bp, it is the most popular real-time PCR system.

DNA fingerprinting is a molecular nucleic acid-based technology used to identify people based on distinctive patterns (polymorphisms) in their DNA by using samples of blood, hair, semen, or other biological materials (Ijaz 2011). The method was first introduced in 1984, focusing on DNA sequences known as mini-satellites that featured sequences with an unknown purpose. Apart from identical twins, these patterns are particular to each person. This method was modified for the detection of plant diseases. Targeting regions of DNA with defined variability in single nucleotides (short tandem repeats, STRs; single-nucleotide polymorphisms, SNPs) or other repeating polymorphic zones is done by various DNA fingerprinting techniques using either PCR, restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), or both. The quantity and length of recurring patterns evaluated determine the likelihood of successfully identifying an individual.

Most fingerprinting techniques use PCR to detect fragments. These include amplified 16S ribosomal DNA restriction analysis (ARDRA), repetitive-sequence PCR (rep-PCR), random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), and amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) (Grothues and Rudolph 1991; Scholz et al. 1994; Clerc et al. 1998; Little et al. 1998; Scortichini et al. 2001; Manceau and Brin 2003). The application will determine the approach, including diagnosis, DNA marker tracing, the organism being studied, and the plant-pathogen interaction. A fingerprinting method should typically not require any prior investment in DNA probe characterization, sequence analysis, or primer design. One of the most accurate genetic approaches for differentiating between plant pathogenic bacteria is AFLP analysis (Vos et al. 1995). AFLP uses PCR amplification to determine nucleotide restriction fragments for DNA of any source or intricacy. A small number of universal primers are used to create fingerprints with not any prior sequence information. Choosing particular primer sets makes it possible to "tune" the number of fragments identified in a single reaction. Since the AFLP approach combines the RFLP dependability with the PCR

power, it is durable and reliable due to the strict reaction conditions utilized for primer annealing. Fluorescent dye-labeled primers and automated DNA sequencers for data collection have recently been added to the methodology, which reduces the complexity of the original AFLP technology. To effectively detect and classify bacterial species, this modified technique (fAFLP) has been applied (Manceau and Brin 2003; Cirvilleri et al. 2007a, b).

RNA sequences are frequently amplified using NASBA. For regular amplification of genome in a single composition at a single temperature, this technique was introduced in the early 1990s (Compton 1991). Just a water bath is required by NASBA and does not need a thermal cycler. This method has been used to detect bacteria and viruses (Rodriguez-Làzaro et al. 2006; Olmos et al. 2005; Klerks et al. 2001; Scuderi et al. 2010). DNase treatments are also not required because NASBA amplifies RNA. This method may be used to precisely identify live cells by selectively amplifying mRNA sequences against a backdrop of genomic DNA. The reagents and time needed to produce the amplicons can be reduced using a hybridization device (such as Hybrio Ltd. or Hybrimax) (Olmos et al. 2005).

Nucleic acid detection underwent a renaissance in the early 1990s due to DNA arrays. Target sequences were quickly and accurately determined. Support miniaturization and greater spot density were made possible in the previous 2 years by better visual scanning. The size of resultant chips or "microarrays" is just a few cm<sup>2</sup> and can contain millions of probes representing a target species' whole transcriptome or genome. PDD has made considerable use of oligo DNA microarrays, which imprint the spots utilizing a variety of oligo lengths and methods (Singh-Gasson et al. 2000). The oligos size ranges between 25 and 70 bp. Although small oligos are more effective at detecting non-specific hybridizations, large oligos often have greater sensitivity (Bates et al. 2005).

For phytopathogens, detecting microarrays have been created through several worldwide collaborations. The procedure enables the direct performance of many molecular diagnostic procedures, including isolation of genome, PCR reactions, and pathogen detection, with the possibility for automation (Liu et al. 2007; van Doorn et al. 2007; Ijaz et al. 2022). Additionally, microarrays are capable of multiplex pathogen detection.

The number of target species, the study's length, and the project's budget are only a few variables that influence the selection of a molecular approach (López et al. 2009). Although these techniques are quite effective and precise, they have some drawbacks. For example, unequal distribution of pathogens throughout plants, especially woody perennials, might make molecular diagnostics unreliable, especially at stages before symptom development. Pathogen titers are frequently under the sensitivity level of these assays, typically 10–100 pg, in substances including water, insect vectors, seeds, and soil. When the target sequence of nucleic acid is damaged, or the reagents are of poor quality, false-negative results can also happen (Louws et al. 1999). Sample contamination and the small size of the sample both have the potential to produce false-positive results. Because of polymerases and transcriptase inhibitors, the specificity of PCR-based procedures is frequently lower than anticipated. Deceased plant pathogens can provide false-positive findings in PCR, which is especially important when examining quarantine diseases. Deceased pathogens can also amplify non-specific compounds and artifacts due to incorrect priming or dimerization. Furthermore, apparatus and reagent costs must be considered while choosing an immunological technique.

# 9.2.2.1 Advantages

There is no denying the advantages of speed, high specificity, sensitivity, and the capacity to measure pathogen biomass. Here are a few instances of how nucleic acid (NA)-based tests have been used.

- 1. Quickly identifying and detecting infections for which conventional methods are insufficient or unavailable, such as:
  - (a) Obligatory parasites, particularly in samples of a complex environment for instance, vascular arbuscular mycorrhizae (Henson and French 1993; Chen and Zheng 2007; Liu et al. 2015);
  - (b) Species that need substantial expertise to detect through microscopy, e.g., *Meloidogyne* spp. (Stanton et al. 1997; Tesařová et al. 2003);
  - (c) Species that cannot sporulate or develop poorly under in vitro conditions (Tisserat et al. 1994);
  - (d) Pathogenic microbes that resemble associated nonpathogenic microbial species morphologically (Peres et al. 2007);
  - (e) Immature life phases of pathogens, for example, eggs or juveniles of nematodes (Powers 2006; Adam et al. 2007).
- 2. The detection and characterization of pathogens may be of regulatory significance or have a significant economic impact. Sudden oak death is caused by the pathogen *Phytophthora ramorum* (Tooley et al. 2006; Bunyasi et al. 2022). Karnal bunt of wheat due to *Tilletia indica* infection and citrus canker caused by *Xanthomonas citri* strains are three significant instances of plant diseases where molecular characterization is a vital technique (Frederick et al. 2000).
- 3. Measuring biomass of the pathogen in samples of ambient material or host tissue (Mumford et al. 2006).
- 4. Determining the geographical origin of disease strains or the genetic links (Fatmi et al. 2005).
- 5. Keeping track of latent infections presence and comparative significance. NA-based approaches can be used with histological assessments to distinguish between restricted, latent infection in symptomless plant tissues and active colonization of the host plant by the virulent pathogen (Flowers et al. 2006).
- 6. Detecting is still alive but no longer culturable bacteria (Grey and Steck 2001).
- 7. Detection of primary inoculum of the airborne pathogen in the early period (Bunyasi et al. 2022), without requiring persons expertized in morphological detection of pathogenic fungi.
- 8. Evaluation of pathogen for host plant indexing and certification programs (Weller et al. 2000).
- 9. Identifying and measuring seed-borne pathogens (Pecchia et al. 2019).

- 10. Screening biotypes of aggressive pathogens belong to different races (Mavrodieva et al. 2004; Hariharan and Prasannath 2021).
- 11. Fungicide resistance analysis includes measuring the number of resistance alleles of fungicide in a pathogen population (McCartney et al. 2003; Zhonghua and Michailides 2005).
- 12. Evaluating a cultivated crop probable risk of storage degradation (Atallah and Stevenson 2006).
- 13. Screening biomass of pathogen and plant colonization are involved in breeding programs to differentiate between hosts plants that are tolerant and those that are resistant (20).

# 9.2.2.2 Limitations

There are several review publications on NA-based methods for microbe identification, and the benefits of these methods are well-established and well-explained. Fewer reviews go into depth on limitations, but people still need to be aware of them to utilize NA-based detection techniques correctly.

# 9.2.2.2.1 False Positives and Negatives are Brought on by Improper Specificity

Operators of NA-based techniques must understand that primers and probes may not always show complete specificity for the particular pathogen and just that pathogen—in each experiment. An isolate's primary collection is utilized to design a primer set that may not have included every naturally present variant or clade, which might result in false positives PCR (Cuppels et al. 2006; Tredway 2006; Rubio et al. 2020). Amplification of DNA may not occur if the primer-binding site is altered, even by a single-nucleotide mismatch (Singleton 2000; Stadhouders et al. 2010). A primer set intended to be species-specific or strain-specific may, on the other hand, cross-react with other strains or species, leading to false-positive results (Weller et al. 2000; Tredway 2006; Lauri and Mariani 2009). NA-based assays are not the only ones with imperfect specificity, but it is crucial to be aware of this risk when performing these assays.

Using molecular primers or markers created for a minimum of two distinct genomic regions strengthens NA-based pathogen identification techniques according to the principle that two sources of evidence are more reliable than one. This is crucial for pathogens with significant potential for injury, specifically when there are few or no non-NA-based sources of evidence available. Results from established NA approaches that fall short of this requirement should be taken with some care. In direct relation to the magnitude of the database used to design and validate a primer set, diagnosticians' confidence in its specificity might rise. The sequences from several isolates reflecting a large geographic range for the target pathogen should preferably be used to design a primer set. However, it is practically unattainable to have a complete illustration of a phytopathogen population before phylogenetic analyses evaluate the connections between strains, as they helped ensure that all relevant clades are included in the sequence alignments utilized to choose primers. The best way to verify primer sets is to evaluate them against

- 1. Concerned pathogen isolates,
- 2. A broad range of associated species microbes, and.
- 3. Distinct species of unrelated microbes and frequently found close to the host tissue that will likely be examined.

Positive responses should always be seen in the first category and not in the second or third group (Vincelli and Tisserat 2008).

#### 9.2.2.2.2 Collection of Samples

The collection of a suitable sample is considered "the most crucial phase in the assessment procedure" in the medical pathology laboratory, and this is also applicable for the detection of plant diseases. Because an NA-based analysis normally only uses one to two microliter of a sample extract, extreme caution must be taken to ensure that the extract is obtained from well-chosen, relevant tissue samples having the most probability of being invaded by the target pathogen (Alvarez 2004; Vincelli and Tisserat 2008). A single worldwide assay for plant pathogens, even though multiplexing capacities are considerably expanding, mainly through microarrays. At a minimum, one might need a root assay, a lower stem assay, and a foliar assay to test for a wide variety of known pathogens. However, since different pathogens often colonize different tissues and portions of plant organs (Agrios 2004), one might need to separately process and test several samples even if they are collected from the same organ.

Recent survey procedures show potential sample issues for NA-based diagnostic techniques for sudden oak death caused by oomycete *P. ramorum*. This pathogen causes catastrophic oozing cankers on Fagaceae family members, but it can also infect a broad range of plant species by causing foliar spotting, foliar blighting, and/or twig dieback (Davidson et al. 2003). Additionally, *P. ramorum* can invade the potting soil of asymptomatic or uninfected plants (Bulluck et al. 2006; Linderman and Davis 2006). Accordingly, a researcher may gather and analyze several symptomatic samples of infected plant materials and soil to see if P. ramorum exists in a nursery to assure the highest probability of pathogen detection.

#### 9.2.2.2.3 Risks of Contamination

PCR has the exponential nature of target DNA amplification, making the method susceptible to contamination. This emphasizes the requirement for superior lab practice record and performance and incorporating appropriate controls in all experiments. A negative control, which contains water rather than the template, and positive control, which includes DNA from a strain known to respond favorably, should be included in every run. (Espy et al. 2006; Titov et al. 2015; Hu 2016).

#### 9.2.2.2.4 Inhibition of PCR

Inhibitors of PCR include chemical and inorganic substances found in host plant tissues, microbial cell components, and other substances (Schrader et al. 2012; Acharya et al. 2017). To ensure that a negative result is not associated with the

inhibitors present in the reaction tube of PCR, it is crucial to involve appropriate controls with every sample (Wilson 1997; Pearce 1998). It can be achieved using either of 2 basic strategies:

- 1. An internal control, having a multiplex reaction mixture involving a primer set for the target pathogen and a primer set for the detection of the host genome, e.g., host ITS gene or a cytochrome oxidase gene (Ward et al. 2004a, b; Roux et al. 2019).
- A parallel control, having the same reaction tube comprising a sample aliquot "spiked" with DNA of an identified positive microbial strain (Singleton 2000).
  PCR inhibition occurs when the internal or parallel control fails to amplify effectively.

There are many methods to avoid PCR inhibition, including reducing the amount of plant host tissue that is used to extract pathogen DNA, 10- to 1000-fold dilution of the sample, centrifugation for pathogen concentration, the inclusion of inhibitor-binding substances, cells immunocapture or adsorption of agar to split pathogen cells from inhibiting chemicals, pathogen accumulation on artificial growth media before PCR, and other methods (Ozakman and Schaad 2003; Mavrodieva et al. 2004; Lauri and Mariani 2009; Narayanasamy 2010; Acharya et al. 2017). Although PCR inhibition is a risk that the technician should be conscious of at all times, it is easily handled and provided reasonable controls that allow its diagnosis are involved in every experiment.

# 9.2.2.2.5 Viability of PCR Positive

Amplification of all DNA template sources occurs in the reaction chamber in PCR-based assays, regardless of whether they are viable. However, technological ways to avoid this issue include sample processing with ethidium monoazide, which covalently binds with DNA and limits PCR amplification by penetrating dead cells (but not living cells). Pathogen selective concentration on medium before PCR processing (Vincelli and Tisserat 2008) and application of reverse-transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) for the amplification of mRNA, which is linked with living cells, are other methods to improve the diagnosis of viable cells (Singleton 2000). Since assays based on immunotechnology can produce comparable results, the issue of false positives caused by dead microbial cells is not specific to PCR (Janse 1988).

#### 9.2.2.2.6 Other

There are additional potential sources of such failures in addition to the likelihood of false negatives brought on by DNA polymorphisms among conspecific isolates, which was previously described. For instance, if the target pathogen exists as resilient dormant structures, e.g., oospores, from which DNA extraction is difficult, a false negative may occur (Martin et al. 2000; López-Alvarado et al. 2014). The above-discussed measures to improve sensitivity may be helpful if such potential occurs. False-negative results may also happen as diseased tissues deteriorate in vivo due to declining pathogen densities and secondary organism invasion (Cuppels et al. 2006). Last but not least, hybridization between similar pathogen species might

make NA-based diagnoses more difficult (Cooke et al. 2000; Martin and Tooley 2004; Vincelli and Tisserat 2008).

# 9.3 Conclusion

The number of methods available for tackling disease issues that are now of concern in plant pathology programs is growing because of immunotechnology for detecting the pathogen. The use of immunotechnology nowadays also improves the foundation of the laboratories and the technical capability to react to new problems as they arise. Considering the limits of each approach based on immunotechnology is essential for practical application. The critical application of such tools also requires respect for the importance and utility of conventional laboratory procedures and the need to gather several lines of evidence in persistent situations.

# References

- Acharya, K.R., N.K. Dhand, R.J. Whittington, and K.M. Plain. 2017. PCR inhibition of a quantitative PCR to detect Mycobacterium avium subspecies Paratuberculosis DNA in feces: diagnostic implications and potential solutions. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 8: 115.
- Adam, M.A.M., M.S. Phillips, and V.C. Blok. 2007. Molecular diagnostic key for identifying single juveniles of seven common and economically important species of root-knot nematode (Meloidogyne spp.). *Plant Pathology* 56 (1): 190–197.
- Agrios, G. 2004. Plant pathology. 5th ed. Burlington, MA: Elsevier.
- Agrios, G.N. 2005. Plant pathology. Amsterdam: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Alarcon, B., M.M. López, M. Cambra, M.T. Gorris, and J. Guerri. 1990. Differentiation of Erwinia carotovora subsp. carotovora and Erwinia carotovora subsp. atroseptica isolated from potato by Western blot and subsequent indirect ELISA. *Journal of Applied Biology* 69: 17–24. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1990.tb02906.x.
- Alvarez, A. 2004. Integrated approaches for detection of plant pathogenic bacteria and diagnosis of bacterial diseases. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 42: 339–366.
- Atallah, Z.K., and W.R. Stevenson. 2006. A methodology to detect and quantify five pathogens causing potato tuber decay using real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction. *Phytopathology* 96: 1037–1045.
- Babar, M., S. Ijaz, M.S. Khan, and I. Ul Haq. 2021. Computational genomics based probing of resistance gene analogs (RGAs) in mungbean under cercospora leaf spot disease challenge. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. 58: 1523–1536.
- Bailey, A.M., D.J. Mitchell, K.L. Manjunath, G. Nolasco, and C.L. Niblett. 2002. Identification to the species level of the plant pathogens phytophthora and pythium by using unique sequences of the ITS1 region of ribosomal DNA as capture probes for PCR ELISA. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 207: 153–158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2002.tb11044.x.
- Bates, S.R., D.A. Baldwin, A. Channing, L.K. Gifford, A. Hsu, and P. Lu. 2005. Cooperativity of paired oligonucleotide probes for microarray hybridization assays. *Analytical Biochemistry* 342: 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2005.03.030.
- Barany, F. 1991. The ligase chain reaction in a PCR world. PCR Methods and Applications 1: 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.1.1.5.
- Borrow, R., M. Guiver, F. Sadler, E.B. Kaczmarski, and A.J. Fox. 1998. False positive diagnosis of meningococcal infection by the IS1106 PCR ELISA. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 162: 215–218. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb13001.x.

- Brasileiro, B.T.R.V., M.R.M. Coimbra, M.A. De Morais, and N.T. De Oliveira. 2004. Genetic variability within Fusarium solani specie as revealed by PCR-fingerprinting based on PCR markers. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology* 35: 205–210. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S1517-83822004000200006.
- Bulluck, R., P. Shiel, P. Berger, D. Kaplan, G. Parra, W. Li, L. Levy, J. Keller, M. Reddy, N. Sharma, M. Dennis, J. Stack, J. Pierzynski, J. O'Mara, C. Webb, L. Finley, K. Lamour, J. McKemy, and M. Palm. 2006. A comparative analysis of detection techniques used in US regulatory programs to determine presence of *Phytophthora ramorum* in *Camellia japonica* 'Nucio's Gem' in an infested nursery in Southern California. *Plant Health Progress*. https://doi. org/10.1094/PHP-2006-1016-01-RS.
- Bunyasi, E.W., K. Middelkoop, A. Koch, Z. Hoosen, H. Mulenga, A.K. Luabeya, et al. 2022. Molecular detection of airborne Mycobacterium tuberculosis in South African high schools. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 205 (3): 350–356.
- Carrasco-Ballesteros, S., P. Castillo, B.J. Adams, and E. Perez-Artes. 2007. Identification of *Pratylenchus thornei*, the cereal and legume root-lesion nematode, based on SCAR-PCR and satellite DNA. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 118: 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10658-007-9110-3.
- Caruso, P., M.T. Gorris, M. Cambra, J.L. Palomo, J. Collar, and M.M. López. 2002. Enrichment double-antibody sandwich indirect enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay that uses a specific monoclonal antibody for sensitive detection of Ralstonia solanacearum in asymptomatic potato tubers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 68: 3634–3638. https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.68.7.3634-3638.2002.
- Caruso, P., E. Bertolini, M. Cambra, and M.M. López. 2003. A new and cooperational polymerase chain reaction (co-PCR) for rapid detection of Ralstonia solanacearum in water. *The Journal of Microbiological Methods* 55: 257–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7012(03)00161-1.
- Clerc, A., C. Manceau, and X. Nesme. 1998. Comparison of randomly amplified polymorphic DNA with amplified fragment length polymorphism to assess genetic diversity and genetic relatedness within genospecies III of Pseudomonas syringae. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 64: 1180–1187.
- Chen, J.S., and C.F. Zheng. 2007. Application of ITS sequences in fungi classification and identification. *Journal of Anhui Agricultural Sciences* 35 (3785–3786): 3792.
- Chow, W.H.A., C. Mccloskey, Y.H. Tong, L. Hu, Q.M. You, C.P. Kelly, et al. 2008. Application of isothermal helicase-dependent amplification with a disposable detection device in a simple sensitive stool test for toxigenic Clostridium difficile. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics* 10: 452–458. https://doi.org/10.2353/jmoldx.2008.080008.
- Cirvilleri, G., G. Scuderi, A. Bonaccorsi, and M. Scortichini. 2007a. Occurrence of Pseudomonas syringae pv. coryli on hazelnut orchards in Sicily, Italy and characterization by fluorescent amplified fragment length polymorphism. *Journal of Phytopathology* 155: 397–402. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.2007.01249.x.
- Cirvilleri, G., G. Scuderi, V. Catara, and M. Scortichini. 2007b. Typing of Pseudomonas syringae pv. pisi strains by fluorescent AFLP fingerprinting. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 89: 421–425. https://doi.org/10.4454/jpp.v89i3.776.
- Comstock, J.C. 1992. Detection of the sugarcane leaf scald pathogen, Xanthomonas-Albiline ans, using tissue blot immunoassay, ELISA, and isolation techniques. *Plant Disease* 76: 1033–1035. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-76-1033.
- Cooke, D.E.L., A. Drenth, J.M. Duncan, G. Wagels, and C.M. Brasier. 2000. A molecular phylogeny of *Phytophthora* and related oomycetes. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 30: 17–32.
- Craw, P., and W. Balachandran. 2012. Isothermal nucleic acid amplification technologies for pointof-care diagnostics: a critical review. *Lab on a Chip* 12: 2469–2486. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c2lc40100b.
- Compton, J. 1991. Nucleic acid sequence-based amplification. Nature 350: 91–92. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/350091a0.

- Cuppels, D.A., F.J. Louws, and T. Ainsworth. 2006. Development and evaluation of PCR-based diagnostic assays for the bacterial speck and bacterial spot pathogens of tomato. *Plant Disease* 90: 451–458.
- Daly, P., T. Collier, and S. Doyle. 2002. PCR-ELISA detection of *Escherichia coli* in milk. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 34: 222–226. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1472-765x.2002.01074.x.
- Davidson, J.M., S. Werres, M. Garbelotto, E.M. Hansen, and D.M. Rizzo. 2003. Sudden oak death and associated diseases caused by *Phytophthora ramorum*. *Plant Health Progress*. https://doi. org/10.1094/PHP-2003-0707-01-DG.
- Davino, S., C. Napoli, M. Davino, and G.P. Accotto. 2006. Spread of tomato yellow leaf curl virus: Partial displacement of another geminivirus originally present. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 114: 293–299.
- Davino, S., L. Miozzi, S. Panno, L. Rubio, M. Davino, and G.P. Accotto. 2012. Recombination profiles between tomato yellow leaf curl virus and tomato yellow leaf curl Sardinia virus in laboratory and field condition: Evolutionary and taxonomic implications. *The Journal of General Virology* 93: 2712–2717. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.045773-0.
- Espy, M.J., J.R. Uhl, L.M. Sloan, S.P. Buckwalter, M.F. Jones, E.A. Vetter, J.D.C. Yao, N.L. Wengenack, J.E. Rosenblatt, F.R. Cockerill III, and T.F. Smith. 2006. Real-Time PCR in clinical microbiology: Applications for routine laboratory testing. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 19: 165–256.
- Fatmi, M., V.D. Damsteegt, and N.W. Schaad. 2005. A combined agar-absorption and BIO-PCR assay for rapid, sensitive detection of *Xylella fastidiosa* in grape and citrus. *Plant Pathology* 54: 1–7.
- Flowers, J.L., J.R. Hartman, and L.J. Vaillancourt. 2006. Histology of *Diplodia pinea* in diseased and latently infected *Pinus nigra* shoots. *Forest Pathology* 36: 447–459.
- Frederick, R.D., K.E. Snyder, P.W. Tooley, Y. Berthier-Schaad, G.L. Peterson, M.R. Bonde, N.W. Schaad, and D.A. Knorr. 2000. Identification and differentiation of *Tilletia indica* and *T. walkeri* using the polymerase chain reaction. *Phytopathology* 90: 951–960.
- Gascoyne, P.R.C., J.V. Vykoukal, J.A. Schwartz, T.J. Anderson, D.M. Vykoukal, K.W. Current, C. McConaghy, F.F. Becker, and C. Andrews. 2004. Dielectrophoresis-based programmable fluidic processors. *Lab on a Chip* 4: 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1039/b404130e.
- Gill, P., and A. Ghaemi. 2008. Nucleic acid isothermal amplification technologies A review. Nucleosides, Nucleotides & Nucleic Acids 27: 224–243. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15257770701845204.
- Gillespie, S.H., T.D. Mchugh, and L.E. Newport. 1997. Specificity of IS6110-based amplification assays for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 35: 799–800.
- Gorris, M.T., B. Alarcon, M.M. Lopez, and M. Cambra. 1994. Characterization of monoclonal antibodies specific for *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. atroseptica and comparison of serological methods for its sensitive detection on potato tubers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 60: 2076–2085.
- Grey, B.E., and T.R. Steck. 2001. The viable but nonculturable state of *Ralstonia solanacearum* may be involved in long-term survival and plant infection. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 67: 3866–3872.
- Grothues, D., and K. Rudolph. 1991. Macrorestriction analysis of plant pathogenic Pseudomonas species and pathovars. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 79: 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1097(91)90532-F.
- Hampton, R., E. Ball, and S. De Boer. 1990. Serological methods for detection and identification of viral and bacterial plant pathogens. A laboratory manual. St. Paul: APS Press.
- Hariharan, G., and K. Prasannath. 2021. Recent advances in molecular diagnostics of fungal plant pathogens: a mini review. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 10: 600234.
- Heid, C.A., J. Stevens, K.J. Livak, and P.M. Williams. 1996. Real time quantitative PCR. *Genome Research* 6: 986–994. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.6.10.986.

- Henson, J.M., and R. French. 1993. The polymerase chain reaction and plant disease diagnosis. Annual Review of Phytopathology 31: 81–109.
- Holzloehner, P., E. Schliebs, N. Maier, J. Füner, B. Micheel, and K. Heilmann. 2013. Production of monoclonal camelid antibodies by means of hybridoma technology. *Journal of Immunology* 190 (135): 14.
- Horsfall, J.G., and E.B. Cowling. 1977. *Plant disease: An advanced treatise*. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Hu, Y. 2016. Regulatory concern of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) carryover contamination. Polymerase Chain Reaction for Biomedical Applications: 57–68.
- Ijaz, S. 2011. Microsatellite markers: An important fingerprinting tool for characterization of crop plants. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 10: 7723–7726.
- Ijaz, S., I. Ul Haq, N.A. Khan, and B. Nasir. 2022. Molecular identification and detection of phytofungi. In *Phytomycology and molecular biology of plant pathogen interactions*, 139–148. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Janse, J.D. 1988. A detection method for *Pseudomonas solanacearum* in symptomless potato tubers and some data on its sensitivity and specificity. *EPPO Bulletin* 18: 343–351.
- Kent, L., T.D. Mchugh, O. Billington, J.W. Dale, and S.H. Gillespie. 1995. Demonstration of homology between Is6110 of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and Dnas of other *Mycobacterium* Spp. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 33: 3082–3082.
- Khoodoo, M.H.R., F. Sahin, and Y. Jaufeerally-Fakim. 2005. Sensitive detection of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. dieffenbachiae on Anthurium andreanum by immunocapture-PCR (IC-PCR) using primers designed from sequence characterized amplified regions (SCAR) of the blight pathogen. European Journal of Plant Pathology 112: 379–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-005-7062-z.
- Klerks, M.M., G. Leone, J.L. Lindner, C.D. Schoen, and J.F.J.M. van den Heuvel. 2001. Rapid and sensitive detection of Apple stem pitting virus in apple trees through RNA amplification and probing with fluorescent molecular beacons. *Phytopathology* 91: 1085–1091. https://doi.org/10. 1094/PHYTO.2001.91.11.1085.
- Kokoskova, B., and J.D. Janse. 2009. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the detection and identification of plant pathogenic bacteria (in particular for *Erwinia amylovora* and *Clavibacter michiganensis* subsp. sepedonicus). *Methods in Molecular Biology* 508: 75–87. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-59745-062-1\_7.
- Laitinen, R., E. Malinen, and A. Palva. 2002. PCR-ELISA I: application to simultaneous analysis of mixed bacterial samples composed of intestinal species. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology* 25: 241–248.
- Lauri, A., and P.O. Mariani. 2009. Potentials and limitations of molecular diagnostic methods in food safety. *Genes & Nutrition* 4 (1): 1–12.
- Lin, C.H., C.H. Tsai, C.W. Pan, and L.M. Fu. 2007. Rapid circular microfluidic mixer utilizing unbalanced driving force. *Biomedical Microdevices* 9: 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10544-006-9009-3.
- Linderman, R.G., and E.A. Davis. 2006. Survival of *Phytophthora ramorum* compared to other species of *Phytophthora* in potting media components. *HortTechnology* 16: 502–507.
- Little, E.L., R.M. Bostock, and B.C. Kirkpatrick. 1998. Genetic characterization of Pseudomonas syringae pv. syringae strains from stone fruit in California. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 64: 3818–3823. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.64.10.3818-3823. Accessed June 2014.
- Liu, C.X., L. Lagae, and G. Borghs. 2007. Manipulation of magnetic particles on chip by magnetophoretic actuation and dielectrophoretic levitation. *Applied Physics Letters* 90: 184109. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2736278.
- Liu, L., C.L. Wang, W.Y. Peng, J. Yang, M.Q. Lan, B. Zhang, et al. 2015. Direct DNA extraction method of an obligate parasitic fungus from infected plant tissue. *Genetics and Molecular Research* 14 (4): 18546–18551.

- López, M.M., P. Llop, A. Olmos, E. Marco-Noales, M. Cambra, and E. Bertolini. 2009. Are molecular tools solving the challenges posed by detection of plant pathogenic bacteria and viruses? *Current Issues in Molecular Biology* 11: 13–46. swfrec.ifas.ufl.edu/hlb/database/pdf/ 00002423.pdf. Accessed June 2014.
- López-Alvarado, J., L. Sáez, R. Filigheddu, N. Garcia-Jacas, and A. Susanna. 2014. The limitations of molecular markers in phylogenetic reconstruction: The case of Centaurea sect. Phrygia (Compositae). *Taxon* 63 (5): 1079–1091.
- Louws, F.J., J.L.W. Rademaker, and F.J. Brujin. 1999. The three Ds of PCR-based genomic analysis of phytobacteria: Diversity, detection, and disease diagnosis. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 37: 81–125. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.37.1.81.
- Lutz, S., P. Weber, M. Focke, B. Faltin, J. Hoffmann, C. Muller, et al. 2010. Microfluidic lab-on-afoil for nucleic acid analysis based on isothermal recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA). *Lab on a Chip* 10: 887–893. https://doi.org/10.1039/b921140c.
- Macario, A.J.L., and E. Conway de Macario. 1985. *Monoclonal antibodies against bacteria*. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Mahalanabis, M., J. Do, H. Almuayad, J.Y. Zhang, and C.M. Klapperich. 2010. An integrated disposable device for DNA extraction and helicase dependent amplification. *Biomedical Microdevices* 12: 353–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10544-009-9391-8.
- Manceau, C., and C. Brin. 2003. Pathovars of Pseudomonas syringae are structured in genetic populations allowing the selection of specific markers for their detection in plant samples. In *Pseudomonas syringae and related pathogens*, ed. N.S. Iacobellis et al., 503–512. Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Martin, F.N., and P.W. Tooley. 2004. Identification of *Phytophthora* isolates to species level using restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of a polymerase chain reaction amplified region of mitochondrial DNA. *Phytopathology* 94: 983–991.
- Martin, R.R., D. James, and C.A. Lévesque. 2000. Impacts of molecular diagnostic technologies on plant disease management. Annual Review of Phytopathology 38: 207–239.
- Mavrodieva, V., L. Levy, and D.W. Gabriel. 2004. Improved sampling methods for real-time polymerase chain reaction diagnosis of citrus canker from field samples. *Phytopathology* 94: 61–68.
- McCartney, H.A., S.J. Foster, B.A. Fraaije, and E. Ward. 2003. Molecular diagnostics for fungal plant pathogens. *Pest Management Science* 59: 129–142.
- Merighi, M., A. Sandrini, S. Landini, S. Ghini, S. Girotti, S. Malaguti, et al. 2000. Chemiluminescent and colorimetric detection of *Erwinia amylovora* by immunoenzymatic determination of PCR amplicons from plasmid pEA29. *Plant Disease* 84: 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS. 2000.84.1.49.
- Minsavage, G.V., C.M. Thompson, D.L. Hopkins, R.M.V.B.C. Leite, and R.E. Stall. 1994. Development of a polymerase chain reaction protocol for detection of Xylella fastidiosa in plant tissue. *Phytopathology* 84: 456–461. www.apsnet.org/publications/phytopathology/ backissues/Documents/1994Articles/Phyto84n05\_456.PDF. Accessed June 2014.
- Morris, T., B. Robertson, and M. Gallagher. 1996. Rapid reverse transcriptionPCR detection of hepatitis C virus RNA in serum by using the TaqMan fluorogenic detection system. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 34: 2933–2936. jcm.asm.org/content/34/12/2933. Accessed June 2014.
- Mumford, R., N. Boonham, J. Tomlinson, and I. Barker. 2006. Advances in molecular diagnostics new solutions for old problems. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 116: 1–19.
- Narayanasamy, P. 2010. Microbial plant pathogens-detection and disease diagnosis: viral and viroid pathogens. Vol. 3. Dordrecht: Springer.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. 2011. Microbial plant pathogens-detection and disease diagnosis. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Nasir, B., S. Ijaz, F.S. Awan, and I. Ul Haq. 2021. Genome-wide probing of NBS-LRR encoding genes in red clover (Trifolium pratense L) for the identification of resistance gene analogs in Trifolium alexandrinum L. *ScienceAsia* 47: 425–433.
- Nolasco, G., Z. Sequeira, C. Soares, A. Mansinho, A.M. Bailey, and C.L. Niblett. 2002. Asymmetric PCR ELISA: Increased sensitivity and reduced costs for the detection of plant viral nucleic

acids. European Journal of Plant Pathology 108: 293–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet. 2008.09.030.

- Novakova, S., J. Klaudiny, E. Kollerova, and Z.W. Subr. 2006. Expression of a part of the Potato virus A non-structural protein P3 in *Escherichia coli* for the purpose of antibody preparation and P3 immunodetection in plant material. *Journal of Virological Methods* 137: 229–235. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2006.06.020.
- Nowrouzian, F.L., I. Adlerberth, and A.E. Wold. 2009. High frequency of false-positive signals in a real-time PCR-based "Plus/Minus" assay. APMIS 117: 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1600-0463.2008.00010.x.
- Nutman, T.B., P.A. Zimmerman, J. Kubofcik, and D.D. Kostyu. 1994. A universally applicable diagnostic-approach to filarial and other infections. *Parasitology Today* 10: 239–243. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0169-4758(94)90127-9.
- Olmos, A., M. Cambra, M.A. Dasi, T. Candresse, O. Esteban, M.T. Gorris, and M. Asensio. 1997. Simultaneous detection and typing of Plum pox potyvirus (PPV) isolates by heminested-PCR and PCR-ELISA. *Journal of Virological Methods* 68: 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-0934(97)00120-1.
- Olmos, A., E. Bertolini, M. Gil, and M. Cambra. 2005. Real-time assay for quantitative detection of non persistently transmitted Plum pox virus RNA targets in a single aphids. *Journal of Virological Methods* 128: 151–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2005.05.011.
- Ozakman, M., and N.W. Schaad. 2003. A real-time BIO-PCR assay for detection of *Ralstonia* solanacearum race 3, biovar 2, in asymptomatic potato tubers. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 25: 232–239.
- Panno, S., S. Davino, L. Rubio, E.A. Rangel, M. Davino, J. Garcia-Hernandez, and A. Olmos. 2012. Simultaneous detection of the seven main tomatoinfecting RNA viruses by two multiplex reverse transcription polymerase chain reactions. *Journal of Virological Methods* 186: 152–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2012.08.003.
- Panno, S., I. Ferriol, E. Rangel, A. Olmos, C.-G. Han, F. Martinelli, L. Rubio, and S. Davino. 2014. Detection and identification of Fabavirus species by one-step RT-PCR and multiplex RT-PCR. *Journal of Virological Methods* 197: 77–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.12.002.
- Pearce, D.A. 1998. PCR as a tool for the investigation of seed-borne disease. In Applications of PCR in mycology, ed. P.D. Bridge, D.K. Arora, C.A. Reddy, and R.P. Elander, 309–324. New York: CAB International.
- Pecchia, S., B. Caggiano, D. Da Lio, G. Cafà, G. Le Floch, and R. Baroncelli. 2019. Molecular detection of the seed-borne pathogen Collectorichum lupini targeting the hyper-variable IGS region of the ribosomal cluster. *Plants* 8 (7): 222.
- Peres, N.A., R. Harakava, G.C. Carroll, J.E. Adaskaveg, and L.W. Timmer. 2007. Comparison of molecular procedures for detection and identification of *Guignardia citricarpa* and *G. mangiferae*. *Plant Disease* 91: 525–531.
- Piepenburg, O., C.H. Williams, D.L. Stemple, and N.A. Armes. 2006. DNA detection using recombination proteins. *PLoS Biology* 4: e204. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040204.
- Powers, T. 2006. Nematode molecular diagnostics: From bands to barcodes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 42: 367–383.
- Pradhanang, P.M., J.G. Elphinstone, and R.T.V. Fox. 2000. Sensitive detection of Ralstonia solanacearum in soil: A comparison of different detection techniques. *Plant Pathology* 49 (41): 4–422. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3059.2000.00481.x.
- Punja, Z.K., S. De Boer, and H.L.N. Sanfaçon. 2007. Biotechnology and plant disease management. Cambridge, MA: Cabi Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1079/9781845932886.0000.
- Robison, B.J. 1995. Use of commercially available ELISA kits for detection of foodborne pathogens. In *Diagnostic bacteriology protocols*, ed. J. Howard and D.M. Whitcombe, 123– 132. Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1385/0-89603-297-3:123.
- Rodriguez-Làzaro, D., M. Hernàndez, M. D'Agostino, and N. Cook. 2006. Application of nucleic acid sequence-based amplification for the detection of viable foodborne pathogens: Progress and

challenges. Journal of Rapid Methods and Automation in Microbiology 14: 218–236. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-4581.2006.00048.x.

- Rohrman, B.A., and R.R. Richards-Kortum. 2012. A paper and plastic device for performing recombinase polymerase amplification of HIV DNA. *Lab on a Chip* 12: 3082–3088. https:// doi.org/10.1039/c2lc40423k.
- Roux, G., C. Ravel, E. Varlet-Marie, R. Jendrowiak, P. Bastien, and Y. Sterkers. 2019. Inhibition of polymerase chain reaction: Pathogen-specific controls are better than human gene amplification. *PLoS One* 14 (9): e0219276.
- Rubio, L., L. Galipienso, and I. Ferriol. 2020. Detection of plant viruses and disease management: Relevance of genetic diversity and evolution. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11: 1092.
- Schaad, N.W., W. Song, S. Hutcheson, and F. Dane. 2001. Gene tagging systems for polymerase chain reaction based monitoring of bacteria released for biological control of weeds. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 23: 36–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060660109506906.
- Schaad, N.W., R.D. Frederick, J. Shaw, W.L. Schneider, R. Hickson, M.D. Petrillo, and D.G. Luster. 2003. Advances in molecular-based diagnostics in meeting crop biosecurity and phytosanitary issues. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 41: 305–324. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.phyto.41.052002.095435.
- Scholz, B.K., J.L. Jakobek, and P.B. Lindgren. 1994. Restriction fragment length polymorphism evidence for genetic homology within a pathovar of Pseudomonas syringae. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 60: 1093–1100. aem.asm.org/content/60/4/1093. Accessed Apr 2014.
- Schrader, C., A. Schielke, L. Ellerbroek, and R. Johne. 2012. PCR inhibitors–occurrence, properties and removal. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 113 (5): 1014–1026.
- Scortichini, M., U. Marchesi, M.P. Rossi, and P. Di Prospero. 2001. Bacteria associated with hazelnut (Corylus avellana L.) decline are of two groups: Pseudomonas avellanae and strains resembling P. syringae pv. syringae. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 68: 476–484. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.2.476-484.2002.
- Scuderi, G., M. Golmohammadi, J. Cubero, M.M. López, G. Cirvilleri, and P. Llop. 2010. Development of a simplified NASBA protocol for detecting viable cells of the citrus pathogen Xanthomonas citri subsp. citri under different treatments. *Plant Pathology* 59: 764–772. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2010.02305.x.
- Shindo, M., A.M. Dibisceglie, J. Silver, T. Limjoco, J.H. Hoofnagle, and S.M. Feinstone. 1994. Detection and quantitation of Hepatitis-C Virus-Rna in serum using the polymerase chainreaction and a colorimetric enzymatic detection system. *Journal of Virological Methods* 48: 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-0934(94)90089-2.
- Simmonds, P., L.Q. Zhang, H.G. Watson, S. Rebus, E.D. Ferguson, P. Balfe, et al. 1990. Hepatitis C quantification and sequencing in blood products, haemophiliacs, and drug users. *Lancet* 336: 1469–1472. https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-6736(90)93179-S.
- Singleton, P. 2000. *DNA methods in clinical microbiology*. Boston, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Singh-Gasson, S., R.D. Green, Y. Yue, C. Nelson, F. Blattner, M.R. Sussman, and F. Cerrina. 2000. Maskless fabrication of lightdirected oligonucleotide microarrays using a digital micromirror array. *Nature Biotechnology* 17: 974–978. https://doi.org/10.1038/13664.
- Somai, B.M., A.P. Keinath, and R.A. Dean. 2002. Development of PCR-ELISA for detection and differentiation of *Didymella bryoniae* from related Phoma species. *Plant Disease* 86: 710–716. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS.2002.86.7.710.
- Stadhouders, R., S.D. Pas, J. Anber, J. Voermans, T.H. Mes, and M. Schutten. 2010. The effect of primer-template mismatches on the detection and quantification of nucleic acids using the 5' nuclease assay. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics* 12 (1): 109–117.
- Stanton, J., A. Hugall, and C. Moritz. 1997. Nucleotide polymorphisms and an improved PCR-based mtDNA diagnostic for parthenogenetic root-knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne spp.*). *Fundamental and Applied Nematology* 20: 261–268.

- Strange, R. 2012. Almost 40 Per Cent of Worldwide Crops Lost to Diseases. The Crop Site. http:// www.thecropsite.com/articles/1202/almost-40-per-cent-of-worldwide-crops-lost-to-diseases.
- Taylor, M.T., P.B. Belgrader, J. Furman, F. Pourahmadi, G.T.A. Kovacs, and M.A. Northrup. 2001. Lysing bacterial spores by sonication through a flexible interface in a microfluidics system. *Analytical Chemistry* 73: 492–496. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac000779v.
- Teitelbaum, D., R. Aharoni, M. Sela, and R. Arnon. 1991. Cross-reactions and specificities of monoclonal antibodies against myelin basic protein and against the synthetic copolymer 1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 88: 9528–9532. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.88.21.9528.
- Tesařová, B., M. Zouhar, and P. Ryšánek. 2003. Development of PCR for specific determination of root-knot nematode Meloidogyne incognita. *Plant Protection Science* 39 (1): 23.
- Thelwell, N., S. Millington, A. Solinas, J. Booth, and T. Brown. 2000. Mode of action and application of scorpion primers to mutation detection. *Nucleic Acids Research* 28: 3752– 3761. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/28.19.3752.
- Thornton, C.R. 2009. Production of monoclonal antibodies to plant pathogens. *Methods in Molec*ular Biology 508: 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-062-1\_6.
- Tisserat, N.A., S.H. Hulbert, and K.M. Sauer. 1994. Selective amplification of rDNA internal transcribed spacer regions to detect *Ophiosphaerella korrae* and *O. herpotricha. Phytopathology* 84: 478–482.
- Titov, V.N., V.A. Ameliushkina, and T.A. Rozhkova. 2015. The contamination under polymerase chain reaction studies: problems and solutions. *Klinicheskaia Laboratornaia Diagnostika* 60 (1): 26–39.
- Tomlinson, J.A., I. Barker, and N. Boonham. 2007. Faster, simpler, morespecific methods for improved molecular detection of Phytophthora ramorum in the field. *Applied and Environmen*tal Microbiology 73: 4040–4047. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00161-07.
- Tomlinson, J. A., M.J. Dickinson, and N. Boonham. 2010. Rapid detection of *Phytophthora* ramorum and *P. kernoviae* by two-minute DNA extraction followed by isothermal amplification and amplicon detection by generic lateral flow device. *Phytopathology* 100: 143–149. https:// doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-100-2-0143.
- Tooley, P.W., F.N. Martin, M.M. Carras, and R.D. Frederick. 2006. Real-time fluorescent polymerase chain reaction detection of *Phytophthora ramorum* and *Phytophthora pseudosyringae* using mitochondrial gene regions. *Phytopathology* 96: 336–345.
- Tredway, L.P. 2006. Genetic relationships among *Magnaporthe poae* isolates from turfgrass hosts and relative susceptibility of 'Penncross' and 'Penn A-4' creeping bentgrass. *Plant Disease* 90: 1531–1538.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz. 2020. History and recent trends in plant disease control: An overview. In Plant disease management strategies for sustainable agriculture through traditional and modern approaches, 1–13. Springer Nature.
- ——, and N.A. Khan. 2021. Genealogical concordance of phylogenetic species recognition based delimitation of Neopestalotiopsis species associated with leaf spots and fruit canker disease affected guava plants. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 58: 1301–1313.
- van Doorn, R., M. Szemes, P. Bonants, G.A. Kowalchuk, J.F. Salles, E. Ortenberg, and C.D. Schoen. 2007. Quantitative multiplex detection of plant pathogens using a novel ligation probebased system coupled with universal, highthroughput real-time PCR on open arrays. *BMC Genomics* 14: 276. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-8-276.
- Van Vuurde, J.W., M.A. Ruissen, and H. Vruggink. 1987. Principles and prospects of new serological techniques including immunosorbent immunofluorescence, immunoaffinity isolation and immunosorbent enrichment for sensitive detection of phytopathogenic bacteria. In *Plant pathogenic bacteria*, Current plant science and biotechnology in agriculture, ed. E.L. Civerolo, A. Collmer, R.E. Davis, and A.G. Gillaspie, vol. 4, 835–842.
- Vincelli, P., and N. Tisserat. 2008. Nucleic acid–based pathogen detection in applied plant pathology. *Plant Disease* 92 (5): 660–669.

- Vincent, M., Y. Xu, and H.M. Kong. 2004. Helicase-dependent isothermal DNA amplification. EMBO Reports 5: 795–800. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400200.
- Vos, P., R. Hogers, M. Bleeker, M. Reijans, T. van de Lee, M. Hornes, A. Frijters, J. Pot, J. Peleman, M. Kuiper, and M. Zabeau. 1995. AFLP: A new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucleic Acids Research* 23: 4407–4414. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/23.21.4407.
- Ward, L.I., P.A. Beales, A.V. Barnes, and C.R. Lane. 2004a. A real-time PCR assay based method for routine diagnosis of *Spongospora subterranea* on potato tubers. *Journal of Phytopathology* 152: 633–638.
- Ward, E., S.J. Foster, B.A. Fraaije, and H.A. Mccartney. 2004b. Plant pathogen diagnostics: immunological and nucleic acid-based approaches. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 145: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3109/1040841X.2010.489892.
- Weller, S.A., J.G. Elphinstone, N.C. Smith, N. Boonham, and D.E. Stead. 2000. Detection of *Ralstonia solanacearum* strains with a quantitative, multiplex, real-time, fluorogenic PCR (Taqman) assay. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66: 2853–2858.
- Wilson, I.G. 1997. Inhibition and facilitation of nucleic acid amplification. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63: 3741–3751.
- Wong, M.L., and J.F. Medrano. 2005. Real-time PCR for mRNA quantitation. *BioTechniques* 39: 75–85. https://doi.org/10.2144/05391RV01.
- Yager, P., T. Edwards, E. Fu, K. Helton, K. Nelson, M.R. Tam, et al. 2006. Microfluidic diagnostic technologies for global public health. *Nature* 442: 412–418. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature05064.
- Zhonghua, M., and T.J. Michailides. 2005. Advances in understanding molecular mechanisms of fungicide resistance and molecular detection of resistant genotypes in phytopathogenic fungi. *Crop Protection* 24: 853–863.



# **Molecular Phytopathometry**

# 10

# Siddra Ijaz, Imran Ul Haq, Samara Mukhtar, and Zakia Habib

## Abstract

Phytopathogens are naturally occurring organisms that cause severe damage to plant health, resulting in reduced crop quality, productivity, and yield. These pathogens cause a significant threat to the agricultural sector worldwide, leading to severe economic losses. Early detection and identification of these phytopathogens are critical in facilitating effective disease management. Nucleic acid-based detection techniques have proven to be effective in pathogen identification and disease quantification. Recent advancements in several variants of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays, DNA or RNA probe-based methods, post-amplification methods, isothermal amplification-based methods, RNA interference, next-generation sequencing methods, and DNA barcoding have a high potential for the identification, characterization, and quantification of phytopathogens. These molecular tools are helpful for the diagnosis of both asymptomatic and symptomatic diseases caused by phytopathogens in their culturable and unculturable states. The detection is based on genotypic characters rather than phenotypic characters as in conventional methods. Hence, these tools are considered more reliable, easier, rapid, highly sensitive, and specific than the conventional methods.

#### Keywords

Phytopathogens  $\cdot$  PCR assays  $\cdot$  DNA barcoding  $\cdot$  RNA interference  $\cdot$  Next-generation sequencing

I. U. Haq

Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan

S. Ijaz ( $\boxtimes$ ) · S. Mukhtar · Z. Habib

Centre of Agricultural Biochemistry and Biotechnology (CABB), University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan

# 10.1 Introduction

Plants are under constant and growing threat from phytopathogens. Phytopathogens are naturally occurring organisms that cause severe diseases in plants. These pathogens cause devastating damage to plants, negatively impacting agricultural food production worldwide. Phytopathogens include fungi, bacteria, viruses, oomycetes, nematodes, parasites, and phytoplasmas (López et al. 2009). It has been estimated that annual agricultural crop losses due to phytopathogens are approximately 2020 billion dollars. FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization) declared the "International Year of Plant Health (IYPH)" for 2020, which aims to improve plant health for the sustainable food industry (FAO 2020). Currently, phytopathogenic fungi cause 83% of loss in the global agricultural sector, followed by viruses, phytoplasmas, and bacteria that account for 9% and 7%, respectively (Khakimov et al. 2022). On average, pathogen-induced yield losses are estimated to be around 12% in soybean, maize, rice, and barley, 24% in potatoes and groundnuts, and 50% and 80% in wheat and cotton, respectively. Post-cultivation losses due to these pathogens are predicted to be 30–40% (Pimentel et al. 2005; Roberts 2006).

Fungal pathogens are predominant infectious organisms that cause severe stress in crops. About 8000 fungal species are linked to plant diseases (Ijaz et al. 2021a, b, c). They can damage plants alone or by interacting with other phytopathogens at any stage, from seedling to mature. Most commonly known fungal diseases are blight (caused by *Phytophthora infestans*), wilt (caused by *Fusarium* and *Verticillium species*), anthracnose (caused by *Colletotrichum spp.*), powdery mildew (caused by *Podosphaera xanthii*), scab (caused by *Cladosporium cucumerinum*), dieback (caused by *Phytophthora spp*), rust (caused by *Puccinia triticina*), leaf spot (caused by *Alternaria, Cercospora*, and *Colletotrichum spp.*), root rot and damping-off (caused by *Pythium, Phytophthora, Fusarium*, and *Rhizoctonia spp.*) (Iqbal et al. 2018; Jain et al. 2019; Hussain and Usman 2019; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020; Anjum et al. 2020; Naeem et al. 2020; Ul Haq et al. 2019). It is the foremost requirement to identify diseases caused by these pathogens and evaluate disease severity to overcome food insecurity and economic crisis (McCartney et al. 2003; Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020; Ijaz et al. 2020).

The term "Phytopathometry" or "Plant Pathometry" was first devised by Large (1953, 1966) from Pathos, means "disease" and metron, means "measure." Nutter et al. (1991) Defined Phytopathometry as "disease assessment, " which is an extension of phytopathology that involves assessing and measuring plant diseases. This branch broadly includes exposure, identification, and quantification of diseases caused by various phytopathogens. There are five requirements of disease quantification necessary for yield loss analyses stated by Large (1966) and restated by Gregory (1982). These requirements are (1) detailed information on a healthy crop morphology and its development; (2) extensive study of the plant diseases present in the field; (3) preparing field assessment key for disease severity; (3) performing field trials to assess disease progress using filed key; and (5) assessment of disease severity using disease progress curve. Plant disease quantification is necessary to understand the disease impact on crop yield, improve breeding programs for

developing disease resistance, evaluate disease management strategies, understand the coevolution of plant and pathogen populations, and to study pathogen ecology and disease epidemiology (Bock et al. 2010 2016; Madden et al. 2007). Inaccurate plant disease assessment can lead to the failure of disease management strategies. For a practical disease management approach, it is necessary to quantify pathogens associated with its host and environment.

Phytopathometry can be performed either with traditional methods or with molecular methods. In the past years, pathogens detection was carried out through conventional methods that rely on morphological, microscopic, and cultural approaches (Nilsson et al. 2011). These approaches require labor, skill, extensive time, and previous knowledge of a pathogen. In the morphological approach, disease-causing agents are identified through a skilled observer's visual examination of the infected tissues (Chalupová et al. 2014). But in some cases, symptoms cannot be observed visually, resulting in pathogen identification complications. This approach is not sensitive and specific enough to identify the pathogen. It is also not suitable for regular analysis of a large number of pathogens. Low reproducibility in pathogen detection, lack of phylogenetic information, and stressed or injured pathogens are some major drawbacks of the cultural approach. These stressed pathogens do not show visible colonies on culture media, thus resulting in difficulty in identifying pathogens (Oliver 2005). Due to these limitations in the conventional diagnosis of phytopathogens, molecular approaches have revolutionized the pathogen identification, classification, and characterization in plant pathology.

These techniques include PCR-based detection methods based on genotypic characters rather than on morphological observations as in conventional methods (Spring and Thines 2010; Badali and Nabili 2012). These methods are more reliable, rapid, highly sensitive, and specific with no need for prior knowledge of classical taxonomy. Also, the isolation and purification of pathogens do not require in vitro culturing. Other molecular techniques are DNA or RNA probe-based methods (northern blotting, in situ hybridization, and fluorescence in situ hybridization), post-amplification techniques (DNA microarray and DNA macroarray), Isothermal amplification-based methods (rolling circle amplification, loop-mediated isothermal amplification, and nucleic acid sequence-based amplification), RNA interference, next-generation sequencing (DNA-Seq-based NGS and RNA-Seq-Based NGS), and DNA barcoding (Capote et al. 2012; Aslam et al. 2017).

# 10.2 PCR-Based Detection Methods

Nucleic acid-based diagnostic methods are DNA, RNA, and protein-based detection techniques. Through different primers and probes, many nucleic acid-based assays have been designed. These primers bind to a targeted organism's specific DNA or RNA sequence, which will be highly specific to a population's taxon (genus, species, or strain) (Aslam et al. 2017).

#### 10.2.1 Conventional Polymerase Chain Reaction

Conventional PCR (conventional polymerase chain reaction), along with its variants, is one of the most common DNA-based detection methods adopted by many molecular laboratories for accurately identifying, quantifying, and characterizing plant pathogens (Baldi and La Porta 2020). An American biochemist Kary Banks Mullis invented the PCR technique in 1983 (Awarded with a Nobel prize in 1993), a great revolution in medicine, molecular biology, and plant pathology (Bartlett and Stirling 2003). This technique allows the synthesis (amplification) of a particular DNA sequence into multiple copies in no time. This can be achieved through repetitive cycles of three steps (denaturation, annealing, and elongation) at different temperatures. All the reaction mixtures such as DNA, primers or probes (oligonucleotides), dNTPs (deoxyribonucleotide triphosphates), buffer, and a Taq *Polymerase* (thermostable enzyme), are mixed in a tube and placed in a PCR machine. Primers are short nucleotide sequences that bind to a specific region of DNA by complementary base pairing (Mullis and Faloona 1987; McCartney et al. 2003). Specific amplification of target-specific nucleic acid sequence is used to identify and detect the disease-causing pathogen in plants. After the PCR reaction, the amplified DNA product is visualized using gel electrophoresis on agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide. The presence of a specific DNA band in gel electrophoresis shows the confirmation of a specific disease-causing agent. PCR was primarily used to detect bacteria and viruses (Cai et al. 2014). But now, it is also used for the detection of fungal phytopathogens.

PCR is a widely used technique due to its precise, sensitive, rapid, and simplest nature because the detection is possible from a complex mixture and a single spore. It also has the potential to detect non-culturable pathogens such as RNA-based viruses and some bacteria, including phytoplasma (Henson and French 1993; McCartney et al. 2003). PCR performance depends on dNTPs (deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate) concentration and the efficiency of DNA extraction, polymerase type, activity, cycling parameters, and the stability and composition of the buffer. Its efficacy may also be affected due to the presence of inhibitors in the sample (López et al. 2006; Fang and Ramasamy 2015). To overcome the PCR inhibitors effect, CTAB (cetyltrimethylammonium bromide), along with specific enzymatic and chemical treatments, is considered the most helpful method for DNA isolation. To recover the DNA during isolation, silica matrix purification is preferable over ethanol precipitation during the phenol-chloroform step (Mancini et al. 2016).

Although PCR is a highly specific technique and provides accurate results, it is costly, requires too much labor, and involves a series of steps (sampling, genomic DNA isolation, primer designing, gel electrophoresis, DNA purification, etc.). Additionally, to start the process of DNA replication, there is a need to design sequence-specific primers, which is problematic for the samples collected from the field. Sometimes, the accurate results are not achieved by a single primer pair, so various other PCR variants are now widely used over the traditional PCR. In 1991, the PCR technique was firstly used for plant disease diagnosis to identify and detect a bacterium, *Pseudomonas syringae pv pisi*, also known as pea bacterial blight

(Rasmussen and Wulff 1991). Henson and French (1993) also identified several other fungal pathogens such as *Mycosphaerella fijiensis* (causing leaf spot disease in plantain) and *M. musicola* (causing leaf spot disease in a banana) through PCR technology. Two fungal pathogens, *Sclerotium rolfsii* (in 2010) and *Colletotrichum capsici* (in 2011), have been identified through PCR technology based on a specific sequence of ITS region (Torres-Calzada et al. 2011; Jeeva et al. 2010).

#### 10.2.2 End-point PCR

PCR discovery has revolutionized the molecular and plant pathology fields for precisely identifying and detecting phytopathogens, including fungi. End-point PCR is commonly used to detect the presence or absence of DNA/RNA targets from the environmental samples and to check the relative quantity of targets (Thalinger et al. 2021). Specific primers and universal primers are designed (for amplifying specific fungal pathogens or multiple pathogenic species, respectively) in end-point PCR for specific detection of fungal phytopathogens. The identity for each set of nucleotide sequences can be examined by comparing the fungal isolates with ex-type fungal cultures present in NCBI (National Centre for Biotechnology Information) GenBank database using BLAST software. The targeted DNA/RNA in agarose gel ensures the presence of specific plant pathogenic fungi in the sample (Moher et al. 2015).

End-point PCR technique is more economical and user-friendly than other PCR-based assays for fungal phytopathogens isolation and detection. But it is also laborious and challenging to construct primer pairs to delimit the closely linked pathogenic fungal species. Two fungal species, Phacidiopycnis washingtonensis (causing speck rot in apple) and Sphaeropsis pyriputrescens (causing apple rot diseases), are identified and diagnosed by end-point and quantitative PCR assays (Sikdar et al. 2014). For quick diagnosis and detection, the qPCR (quantitative or real-time) assay was considered more sensitive and precise than end-point PCR. Several other plant pathogenic fungi have been diagnosed and characterized through the end-point PCR method. These included Neopestalotiopsis clavispora and Colletotrichum siamense, causing leaf spot disease in Macadamia (Prasannath et al. 2020), Golovinomyces cichoracearum, responsible for Hemp powdery mildew disease (Pépin et al. 2018), Exobasidium maculosum, causing Blueberry leaf and fruit spot (Brewer et al. 2014) and Cercospora tezpurensis, causing leaf spot disease in Capsicum assamicum (Meghvansi et al. 2013; Babar et al. 2021), Curvularia lunata in Chamaedorea seifrizii and Trifolium alexandrinum (Haq et al. 2021; Haq et al. 2021), C. buchloas in Medicago sativa (Haq et al. 2021), C. tuberculata in Archontophoenix alexandrae (Haq et al. 2020a, b, c), and Alternaria alstroemeriae in Caryota mitis L. (Haq et al. 2020a, b, c).

#### 10.2.3 Bio-PCR

Bio-PCR is a modified variant of the end-point PCR technique that has an extra step of pre-assay incubation to enhance the number of pathogens for easy detection in contaminated samples. It is the combination of biological and enzymatic amplification of PCR targets. Bio-PCR mainly focuses on targeted pathogens by increasing their number on the growth medium and inhibiting the growth of non-targeted pathogens for improved sensitive detection. Bio-PCR has several advantages over conventional and other PCR-based methods that it exhibits a higher level of sensitivity, DNA extraction is not required before amplification, and elimination of falsepositive and negative results because of the dead cells found in the seed also extracts due to the presence of PCR inhibitors in seeds, respectively (Schaad et al. 1995; Marcinkowska 2002). However, it is a highly effective technique for the sensitive detection of seed-borne fungal phytopathogens. However, it is costly and more timeconsuming than other PCR-based assays when selective media is required in Bio-PCR (Mancini et al. 2016).

A fungal phytopathogen, *Colletotrichum lupini*, is responsible for seed and airborne lupin anthracnose disease, resulting in significant yield loss and mainly affects the stems and pods also identified and diagnosed with the help of Bio-PCR assay. Three important species of seed-borne fungal phytopathogens including *Alternaria radicina*, *A. alternata*, and *A. dauci* infecting carrot, are identified and detected by developing specific primers based on ITS (Internal Transcribed Spacer) region in rDNA during the Bio-PCR method along with DFBM (deep-freezer-blotter) (Konstantinova et al. 2002). In this method, seeds were incubated in amended Yeast Malt Broth to enhance the biomass of *C. lupine*, and the detection was done by using species-specific primers of IGS (Intergenic spacer) sequence in rDNA in lupin species (Pecchia et al. 2019).

# 10.2.4 Nested PCR (N-PCR)

Nested PCR is a modification of end-point and traditional PCR when an improvement in specificity and sensitivity of a sample is required. It is also 1000 times more sensitive than conventional PCR (Yeo and Wong 2002). Its potential has been reported in plant pathology as many infected viruses and bacteria have been identified in plants (Roberts et al. 1996; Olmos et al. 1997). Various PCR variants have been developed with higher specificity and sensitivity that permits the quantification of many infected pathogens in plants. In this PCR variant, two sequential rounds of PCR amplification reactions are performed, which use two pairs of primer. A single external primer pair is used for generic amplification, and its product is considered a template for the second cycle of PCR amplification via internal primer pair (Porter-Jordan et al. 1990).

Before a nested PCR is carried out, the products from the first PCR round are transferred to a separate tube with one internal primer (heminested amplification) or two internal primers (nested amplification). As the two reactions are to be performed

in two different tubes, this approach is more prone to cross-contamination, leading to an increased risk of false-positive results, particularly when this variant is used on a large scale daily. In addition, using two primer pairs makes this technique more inefficient and affluent than traditional PCR because of two PCR amplification reactions (Rahman et al. 2013). Another drawback is that there is an interference between two primers during amplification. For this, there is a need to precisely maintain the external and internal primer ratio and the minimum amount of external primers required to reduce intrusion during the second PCR amplification reaction.

The chances of cross-contamination risks can be avoided if laboratories follow strict precautions for each PCR cycle to be performed in a different place with separate equipment (Trtkova and Raclavsky 2006). Moreover, some researchers proposed that by improving the relative concentration of internal and external primers, a single-tube nested PCR allows high-throughput can be used to eliminate the drawbacks of this approach. It is a method that identifies and detects some viruses (Yourno 1992) and numerous bacteria such as Erwinia amylovora and Pseudomonas savastanoi (Llop et al. 2000; Bertolini et al. 2003) and fungal pathogens. Several nested PCR protocols have been developed for rapid and highly sensitive identification and detection of phytoplasmas (Khan et al. 2006; Samuitiene and Navalinskiene 2006). Nested PCR and printed or squashed samples on nitrocellulose membrane are used to detect RNA targets from many plant viruses and individual insect vectors (Moreno et al. 2007). Two Phytophthora species (P. palmivora and P. parasitica), responsible for Orchid disease, were identified using nested PCR (Tsai et al. 2006). A fungus, Phytophthora cactorum, a causal agent of leather rot in strawberries is also detected through nested PCR (Bhat and Browne 2010).

#### 10.2.5 Co-operational PCR (Co-PCR)

A new PCR variant, co-operational PCR (Co-PCR), was developed to detect plant viruses and bacteria. It is carried out in a simple reaction with the simultaneous action of four primers, one primer pair external to the other, resulting in four amplicon production. And the co-operational action of these amplicons leads to the production of the longest fragment. It has minimum chances of contamination and low risk of manipulation with increased specificity and sensitivity, and also uses a small volume of reagents ten times less than traditional and nested. As the small volume of reagents could enhance the susceptibility toward inhibitors, a large quantity of RNA is required to obtain good sensitivity for detection (Olmos et al. 2002, 2005; Caruso et al. 2003). In both Co-PCR and nested PCR, the external primer pair is used to amplify a large sequence of targeted DNA while the internal primer pair, for more specific detection and characterization of amplicon obtained from the first PCR reaction at species and strain level (Capote et al. 2012).

Co-PCR was firstly developed for the successful sensitive detection of plant RNA viruses, including CTV (Citrus tristeza virus), CLRV (Cherry leaf roll virus), CMV (Cucumber mosaic virus), SLRSV (Strawberry latent ringspot virus), and PPV (Plum pox virus) (Olmos et al. 2002) and for the identification of bacteria, *Ralstonia* 

*solanacearum*, in water and in cuttings of *Pelargonium* species (Caruso et al. 2003; Marco-Noales et al. 2008). Coupling of Co-PCR and dot blot hybridization by using a particular probe and with colorimetric visualization is used to allow the characterization of nucleotide sequence. The sensitivity and specificity level for viral detection is 1000 times more than the conventional and RT-PCR and similar to nested RT-PCR, which is used for bacterial detection. Grapevine fungi (*Phaeomoniella chlamydospora*) have been identified and characterized by combining co-PCR with dot blot hybridization and the colorimetric detection method (Martos et al. 2011). There are also some other protocols of Co-PCR for detecting plant pathogens such as *Candidatus Phytoplasma pyri*, *Candidatus Phytoplasma prunorum*, and *Candidatus Phytoplasma mali* (Bertolini et al. 2007).

# 10.2.6 Multiplex PCR (M-PCR)

Another PCR variant, multiplex PCR, was designed for the simultaneous sensitive detection of multiple targeted DNA or RNA sequences in the same reaction mixture, involving different PCR primer pairs for every target, hence the time and money can be saved without compromising on the efficiency (James 1999; López et al. 2009). It is considered a valuable tool and has a great potential in plant pathology where several phytopathogens (viruses, fungi, or bacteria) infest a single host plant; thus, simultaneous and specific detection is required (López et al. 2006). In M-PCR, more than one DNA fragment is simultaneously amplified that is specific to the targeted infecting pathogen. These fragments can be detected and visualized based on the molecular weight on the agarose gel. DNA amplification efficiency is strongly affected because of the amplicon size, as a shorter amplicon amplifies more rapidly than a larger amplicon. To overcome this problem, the accurate design of primers is necessary with the optimized condition of their relative concentration and annealing temperature so that all the amplicons must be generated and detected efficiently (Dasmahapatra and Mallet 2006).

Many researchers have used this variant for the simultaneous detection and identification of various phytopathogens such as *Phytophthora lateralis* in water and cedar trees (Winton and Hansen 2001), *Tapesia acuformis* and *T. yallundae* (mating type pathogens) (Dyer et al. 2001), for detection and differentiation among 11 taxons of wood rotting fungi infesting different hardwood trees (Guglielmo et al. 2007), for distinguishing two powdery mildews *Golovinomyces cichoracearum*, *Podosphaera xanthii* and *Macrophomina phaseolina* in sunflower (Chen et al. 2008; Ijaz et al. 2013), for the simultaneous identification of plant pathogenic fungi (*Fusarium oxysporum*, *Phytophthora nicotianae*, *Phytophthora cactorum*, as well as *Bipolaris cactivora*) that are responsible for infection in grafted Cacti (Ji Cho et al. 2016). However, few examples are found where three or above three plant viruses are amplified in M-PCR due to the presence of different compatible primers in a reaction mixture. Two examples include the simultaneous detection and differentiation of six olive tree viruses (SLRSV, CMV, Olive latent virus-1 (OLV-1), Olive latent virus-2 (OLV-2), CLRV, and Arabic mosaic virus) by using twenty

compatible primers (Bertolini et al. 2001) and the simultaneous detection of nine viruses including grapevine virus A, grapevine virus B, grapevine fleck virus, grapevine leafroll-linked virus-1, -2, -3, ArMV, rupestris stem pitting-linked virus, and grapevine fleck virus, causing disease in grapevine (Gambino and Gribaudo 2006).

Currently, PLPs (padlock probes) from the LD (ligation detection) system are used in the multiplex PCR approach to identify and simultaneously detect plant pathogenic fungi and oomycetes. Padlock probes are long oligonucleotide-based probes with compatible sequences at their 5' and 3' ends to target DNA. PLPs include ZipCode (unique sequence identifier) for standard microarray hybridization, an internal endonuclease IV (cleavage site for linearization), and a desthiobiotin moiety to capture and release. After the DNA sample is amplified, it is subjected to PLP ligation. Upon hybridization of PLPs to the targeted DNA, they are circularized by an enzyme ligase. After that, probes are captured on streptavidin attached with magnetic beads and cleave at the internal site. So, the original ligated PLPs will be detected through ZipCode microarray. Several phytopathogens have been simultaneously identified and detected by PLPs in complex samples from horticulture water circulation systems. These pathogenic microorganisms are Pythium undulatum, P. aphanidermatum, P. ultimum, Fusarium solani, F. oxysporum, Phytophthora nicotianae, P. cactorum, Verticillium albo-atrum, V. dahlia, Myrothecium verrucaria and M. roridum (van Doorn et al. 2009). Several other multiplexing tools have replaced m-PCR variants like multiplex nested PCR and multiplex RT-PCR.

## 10.2.6.1 Multiplex RT-PCR

The sequence of different pairs of compatible primers, specific to multiple targets, must be checked in silico and trials must be performed in a laboratory, so multiplex RT-PCR is designed. As in simple M-PCR, general and ordinary primers, those that are based upon 16SrRNA gene sequence, are not suitable for the amplification of multiple DNA targets. The reason is that multiple targets are competing with each other by making the reaction more detectable for the most abundant targets and difficult for less abundant targets. In real-time multiplex PCR, more than two probes that are different from each other are required for simultaneous detection.

# 10.2.6.2 Multiplex Nested PCR

Multiplex nested PCR combines both multiplex and nested PCR with enhanced sensitivity and reliability, reducing the reagent cost and time as the two PCR reactions are taking place simultaneously in a single PCR machine. This variant is suitable for simultaneously detecting multiple DNA/RNA targets by using separate primers for each target. During primer designing, care is needed to avoid primer dimer and hairpin formation. Some researchers have coupled the multiplex nested PCR with colorimetric visualization to enhance the interpretation of results and sensitivity.

# 10.2.7 Reverse Transcription PCR (RT-PCR)

Several changes have been made in PCR procedure since it was discovered. Some changes in procedure have expanded the diagnostic capability and use of this technique in many medical and biological fields. Other variants of PCR cannot differentiate among dead or living fungi and its structure, so the development of the RT-PCR variant is necessary to overcome this limitation. Several pathogenicity tests must evaluate the results obtained from the identification and detection of plant fungi. Although messenger RNA (mRNA) is rapidly destroyed in dead cells, detecting mRNA through RT-PCR is important to check the viability of cells (Capote et al. 2012; Sheridan et al. 1998). In this method, mRNA is firstly reverse transcribed into complementary DNA (cDNA) with the help of general primers and an enzyme called RT (reverse transcriptase). This cDNA is then amplified through any traditional or another PCR method.

Through RT-PCR, many RNA-containing viruses (retroviruses) have been identified and detected, important for synthesizing and estimating the effectiveness of antibacterial vaccine therapy. It is also used for rapid detection of a viable population of fungus, *Mycosphaerella graminicola*, in wheat crops (Guo et al. 2005). Nested PCR coupled with RT-PCR (RT-nested PCR) was used to detect and diagnose a fungal pathogen, *Oidium neolycopersici*, in tomato (Matsuda et al. 2005). In many cereal crops like wheat, maize, barley, rye, and oat, a fungus (*Fusarium graminearum*) responsible for Fusarium ear blight disease is also detected and quantified by the RT-PCR approach (Brown et al. 2011). Moreover, this approach is also useful for gene expression analysis of plants (susceptible barley) and fungi (Fusarium graminearum) during the early development of disease (Yang et al. 2010).

# 10.2.8 Magnetic Capture Hybridization PCR (MCH-PCR)

The magnetic capture hybridization PCR (MCH-PCR) method was established to overcome the effects of PCR inhibitor molecules in plant tissues. It is based on the DNA extraction method involving a purification step in which hybridization takes place by using a single-stranded DNA probe on the magnetic beads that is highly specific to the targeted DNA sequence and amplifies it (Jacobsen 1995). The process of hybridization occurs between the targeted fungal DNA and magnetic beads coated with biotinylated oligomers, separating a compound from the inhibitors (Capote et al. 2012). Once the magnetic capture hybridization is done, PCR amplification is performed via species-specific primers. An oligonucleotide sequence-based probe in MCH-PCR is designed by selecting the highly conserved regions of fungal phytopathogens along with the specificity of the targeted sequence is checked by performing BLAST. It was used to detect and evaluate a fungus, *Nectria galligena*, causing an infection to pear and apple trees (Langrell and Barbara 2001). MCH-PCR and real-time PCR assays were used to detect and diagnose two seed pathogens of cucurbit seed samples, including *Didymella bryoniae* (a fungus responsible for

gummy stem blight) and *Acidovorax avenae* (cause bacterial fruit blotch) (Ha et al. 2009). It increases PCR sensitivity, decreases detection time, and eliminates the effects of PCR inhibitors and an excess of non-target DNA (Amagliani et al. 2006).

# 10.2.9 PCR-ELISA

Polymerase chain reaction-enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (PCR-ELISA) is a merge tool of both PCR and ELISA, making it a powerful tool for detection. It is based on an immunological method to detect and quantify the PCR amplicons. This method involves two primers (forward and reverse) labeled with biotin and an antigenic group (fluorescein) separately at their 5' ends (Landgraf et al. 1991). An amplified PCR product is then immobilized on the microtiter plates, and this is achieved due to the presence of avidin or streptavidin on microplates and biotin of a forward primer. However, the quantification is done by an ELISA with a colorimetric detection signal because an antigenic group is present in the reverse primer. It is highly sensitive and precise like nested PCR and has a lower detection limit and analytical time. Another notable advantage of this technique is that it can be easily handled, error-free and there is no need for a hybridization process or electrophoretic separation. PCR-ELISA is carried out in microtiter plates with 96 wells to quantify PCR products for routinely diagnostic purposes. This assay has been used to detect and differentiate a fungus, *Didymella bryoniae*, in cucurbits and numerous species of Pythium and Phytophthora (Somai et al. 2002; Bailey et al. 2002).

#### 10.2.10 In situ PCR

In situ PCR is a new molecular approach that combines the benefits of both PCR for increased sensitivity and in situ hybridization for cellular localization. It is a useful technique as it amplifies particular sequences directly within integral plant cells or tissues (Long 1998; Nuovo 1994). This technique works less efficiently due to high background detection because nonspecific DNA synthesis may occur on tissue segments (Nuovo et al. 1994). Also, it is a laborious technology because demanding an extra step of hybridization and protocols for other techniques like light microscopy. In situ PCR was used to identify and detect spores as well as mycelia of *Blumeria graminis* fungus on the leaves of barley (Bindslev et al. 2002).

# 10.2.11 PCR-DGGE

PCR-DGGE (Polymerase chain reaction denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis) is a new variant of PCR that allows the genetic diversity analysis of microbial ecosystems and monitors the population dynamics without requiring previous knowledge of species (Portillo et al. 2011). When DNA samples are running in an acrylamide gel, they are separated via denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis

(DGGE) or its variant temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE) by using a chemical gradient (urea) or temperature, respectively. In the PCR-DGGE technique, PCR amplification is done for the targeted DNA samples obtained from the environment or plant, followed by denaturing electrophoresis. Denaturing gradient gel employs the separation of PCR products, and DNA sequence variants of specific fragment lengths move at different levels, so it is a powerful technique, allowing highly effective in the identification of polymorphisms in several targeted DNA sequences. Also, specific primers are designed for PCR-DGGE, which are rich in GC content at the 5' end to increase the detection capability.

The visible and well-separated bands in the gel can be isolated, re-amplified, or cloned and subjected to sequence and identification. Even identifying elements that show up to 1% of the whole microbial community is possible through PCR-DGGE technology. Furthermore, this technique is helpful for rapidly identifying numerous microbial species and for detecting unknown or novel microbes. However, this technique has several drawbacks, such as giving the comparative information for the abundance of identified species, which is more time-consuming with poor reproducibility. The presence of microheterogeneity in specific targeted genes may cause the various bands to appear in a gel for single species resulted in overestimation of community genetic variation, and hence there may be a difficulty in results interpretation. Also, DNA sequence variants with different fragment lengths but with the same melting temperatures are not always appropriately separated.

In some scenarios, the genetic diversity study of complex microbial communities and various plants such as shisham could provide unclear gels because many bands are found during PCR-DGGE (Capote et al. 2012; Ijaz et al. 2018). This method helps to detect and compare the structure of various fungal communities, including Phytophthora species present in different environmental samples or plant materials. For example, the structure and relative abundance of soil microbial and fungal communities are studied by the cultural management practices like chemical fumigation, biofumigation, or fertilization (Wakelin et al. 2008; Omirou et al. 2011).

# 10.2.12 Real-Time or Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

Traditional PCR only amplifies targeted DNA, which is insufficient for rapid detection and diagnosis of diseases. In the past few years, advanced technology has been introduced in plant pathology to detect phytopathogens and is considered modified version of traditional PCR, where targeted DNA or RNA is amplified and quantified in a PCR reaction mixture in real-time (Mackay 2004). This technique's monitoring of the reaction during PCR amplification is possible because of the fluorescent dyes like SYBR Green I or *Taq* Manprobe (fluorescent-labeled probes based on specific sequences), Molecular Beacons, Eva Green, dye-based primer systems like hairpin primers or Plexor system. The fluorescent signals are produced when dyes intercalate to DNA or RNA targets, and thus, signal intensity is based on how many targets are present within the samples and the signal upsurges as the number of generated amplicons upgrades after each cycle of PCR amplification

(Wittwer et al. 1997; McCartney et al. 2003; Badali and Nabili 2012). Sequencespecific primers are important to determine the relative copy number of targeted DNA/RNA sequences by projecting a Ct (cycle threshold) value (Balodi et al. 2017).

aPCR has various benefits that overcome the drawbacks of traditional PCR in terms of using less time, fewer reagents, cost-effective, reducing labor assay, fast and more accurate, high specificity along with improved sensitivity, and there is no need for post PCR processing methods (e.g., electrophoresis, hybridization, and colorimetric reactions), prevent the chances of cross-contamination. The improved sensitivity is important in plant pathology for estimating fungal pathogens in a plant sample to check the disease condition and the level of disease in a damaged sample (Garrido et al. 2009). Additionally, during detection, it allows the detection of other variants of pathogens, point mutations in genes, and quantification of originally targeted pathogens. This technique also has certain limitations, such as the fluorescent dye for monitoring purposes is non-specific. The intercalating dye binds to all the target DNA within a sample, causing primer dimer formation; hence, false results are obtained. So fluorogenic probes are preferable to fluorescent dyes because of their high efficiency (Bu et al. 2005; Atkins and Clark 2004). Two fluorescent dyes, such as reporter dye and quencher dye, are linked with these probes to the 5' end and 3' end, respectively, and the close proximity of these two dyes prevents the fluorescence emission. As the PCR reaction proceeds, reporter dye separates from quenching dye because of the exonuclease activity of Taq Polymerase enzyme, and reporter dye produces light signals (Dasmahapatra and Mallet 2006).

The quantitative PCR has been proposed to detect and quantify various infectious fungal pathogens, including *Cladosporium cladosporioides*, Alternaria alternate, Aspergillus versicolor, Stachybotrys chartarum, etc. (Black 2009). An emerging and hypervirulent plant fungus, Cryphonectria parasitica, is responsible for several diseases such as wilting, lethal bark canker, blight, and dieback in three plant species (Chestnut trees, Cannabis sativa, and Castanea dentate) (Jain et al. 2019; Murolo et al. 2018) is also detected and quantified through qPCR by utilizing rDNA ITS regions with a precision of approximately 2 fg of genomic DNA sequences that was equal to the fungal pathogen single spore (Chandelier et al. 2019). A qPCR protocol was developed to distinguish and quantify several fungal phytopathogens such as *Ramularia collo-cygni*, which cause small and brownish spots on leaves, awns, and sheaths in seeds of barley (Havis et al. 2014), Verticillium longisporum (Depotter et al. 2017), Diaporthe gulyae and Diaporthe helianthi, causative agents of phomopsis stem canker in sunflower (Elverson et al. 2020), and Neopestalotiopsis species in guava (Haq and Ijaz 2019). Fusarium solani complex and Colletotrichum spp., causative agent of dieback disease were also detected and quantified through qPCR (Haq and Ijaz 2019; Latif et al. 2021; Yasin et al. 2022; Iqbal et al. 2018).

# 10.2.13 Droplet Digital PCR (ddPCR)

Droplet digital PCR (ddPCR) is the latest technology that enables the exact quantification of nucleic acid targets in a sample. The sample containing the targeted DNA is fractioned into about 20,000 nanoliter-sized droplets, and PCR reaction of the template molecule is performed independently in each droplet. So fluorescence measurement estimates the exact quantity of amplified target DNA for every droplet (Hindson et al. 2011). This technology presents enormous benefits over traditional and real-time quantification PCR, such as unparalleled sensitivity when detecting low copy number genes, absolute quantification with no need for a standard curve, high precision, and through different fluorescence signals, multiple targeted genes in a single PCR reaction can be identified (Hayden et al. 2013). Additionally, it is highly resistant to PCR contaminants that can cause major problems during the analysis of plant samples (Blaya et al. 2016; Rački et al. 2014). However, ddPCR has not been recognized for POC study in agriculture so far but some methodologies of ddPCR have been developed for the quantitative detection of different viruses and fungal pathogens (Liu et al. 2019; Selvaraj et al. 2018; Zhong et al. 2018). While it was planned to be used in clean plant programs nationally to avoid the importation of pathogen-infected nursery stock (Voegel and Nelson 2018).

# 10.3 DNA or RNA Probe-Based Methods

DNA/RNA probe methods are highly sensitive, cost-effective, and require less time to identify pathogens, particularly fungi. These techniques include northern blotting, in situ hybridization, and fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH). These techniques use the probe for DNA/RNA analysis with no need for its amplification. The probe is a short, single-stranded DNA or RNA sequence that is radioactively or fluorescently labeled. These probes identify the homologous sequences present in the targeted gene. In the traditional method, these probes are used as a replacement for PCR but in novel techniques, these are used in combination with PCR for effective pathogen detection (McCartney et al. 2003).

## 10.3.1 Northern Blotting

Northern blotting is an RNA-based technique to evaluate the gene expression of pathogens. In Northern blot (named as RNA blot), RNA is transferred to a carrier to identify the targeted pathogen and the level of disease caused by this pathogen. The northern blot is just like the Southern blot, with the only difference being the use of RNA rather than DNA. In Northern blotting, RNA is purified from a homogenized tissue sample to examine the expression of the targeted gene. A labeled probe binds to its complementary sequence (Kim et al. 2010). In autoradiography, a visible band should be detected if a probe hybridizes to its complementary RNA sequence. RNA size can be estimated from the position of a band on the blot. The main drawback of this technique is the possible degradation of RNA in gel electrophoresis. Secondly, multiple probes give problematic results for pathogen detection. The sensitivity of this technique is comparatively less to RT-PCR. *Magnaporthe grisea* is a fungal
pathogen that has been detected in rice crops using northern blotting and RT-PCR (Qi and Yang 2002).

#### 10.3.2 In Situ Hybridization

In situ hybridization (ISH), also known as hybridization histochemistry, is a molecular technique for pathogen detection. In this method, a single strand (ss) radioactive probe is used, also known as a riboprobe that binds to its complementary RNA sequences of a targeted pathogen. These ssRNA probes are categorized with radioactive isotopes, <sup>35</sup>S, <sup>32</sup>P, and <sup>125</sup>I that give efficient and most sensitive results (Hayden et al. 2002). It is similar to northern blotting, with the only difference of starting material that is a histological section rather than a tissue digest (Jensen 2014). The main hindrance of this technique is that radiolabeled probes are hazardous and quite expensive. These probes must be handled and disposed of with intensive care. Another drawback of this technique is that low RNA/DNA concentrations cannot be detected (Qian and Lloyd 2003). This tool has been used to identify various fungal pathogens such as *Sporothrix schencki, Blastomyces dermatitidis, Cryptococcus neoformans, Histoplasma capsulatum, Puccinia horiana*, and *Coccidioides immitis* (Hayden et al. 2001).

#### 10.3.3 Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization

Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) is a recent and advanced molecular technique for rapidly characterizing pathogens such as fungi, bacteria, and viruses. High sensitivity, reproducibility, accuracy, safety, specificity, and swiftness are the paramount attributes of FISH (Bozorg-Ghalati et al. 2019). It comprises a high potential to provide details about specific pathogen identification, morphology as well as resolution from a combination of pathogens (Frickmann et al. 2017). A fluorescent probe is used to identify a targeted sequence found in the pathogen genome. It binds to only that chromosome sequence with which it has a high level of complementary and homology. The targeted sequences of the probe are either ribosomal RNA or mitochondrial genome. It works by direct hybridization of fluorescently labeled oligonucleotide probe with mRNA of targeted phytopathogens. Then these hybridized sites are detected and visualized through confocal laser scanning microscopy or wide-field epifluorescence microscopy (Lukumbuzya et al. 2019). The fluorescent probes are developed through enzymatic integration of fluorophore-modified base. Various probes that can be used in this technique are a centromeric repeat-based probe, locus-specific probe, and whole chromosome-based probe (Volpi and Bridger 2008).

In case of traditional techniques for pathogen detection, cells need to be in a vigorously and actively dividing stage. Conversely, FISH has the potential to identify non-dividing cells, which makes it an extremely useful and adaptable technique. These non-dividing cells could be identified even with a low degree of

fluorescence strength. *Sclerotium rolfsii*, a soil-borne pathogen that causes potato blight disease in tomato was detected by FISH using cyanine-labeled probes (Cy3 and Cy5 cyanine dyes) (Milner et al. 2019). However, some pitfalls can limit its application for phytopathogens detection. In FISH, the process of fluorochromelabeled probe development is quite complicated (Volpi and Bridger 2008) and results in fast positive outcomes because of these autofluorescence materials. The precision and reliability of FISH assay mainly depend on the specificity of the fluorescent probes. Insufficient hybridization, high order secondary structures (RNA-protein interaction, 3-D RNA structure, and formation of loop and hairpin structure) in the probe and its target sequence, low ribosome content, and photobleaching could also give false-negative results (Moter and Göbel 2000).

## 10.4 Post-amplification technique

#### 10.4.1 Macroarray

Macroarray is also acknowledged as DNA array hybridization or else Reverse Dot Blot Hybridization (RDBH) (Singh and Kumar 2013). This assay is based on the hybridization of amplified and labeled targeted gene to immobilized probes (speciesspecific 15-30 bp oligonucleotides) dotted on a fixed support platform (nylon or nitrocellulose membrane) by UV cross-linking (Leinberger et al. 2005; Tsui et al. 2011). It simultaneously analyses a larger number of PCR products (amplified targeted gene) in one hybridization reaction (Zhang et al. 2008). It is comparatively more sensitive and reliable than PCR. So, PCR amplification is incorporated with a hybridization reaction that results in 1000 folds increase in sensitivity compared with PCR alone (Taoufik et al. 2004). It requires less time (about 1–2 days) in comparison with the radioactive culture technique that requires 2–8 weeks for accomplishment. It was first established to detect mutation in the human genome. Now, this assay is becoming a widely used molecular tool for the identification of phytopathogens such as bacteria (Fessehaie et al. 2003), viruses (Agindotan and Perry 2007, 2008), nematodes (Uehara et al. 1999), and mainly fungi (Chen et al. 2009). It is quite an effective and reliable molecular assay where phytopathogens can be detected and identified from a mixture of pathogens without needing isolation and purification in culture (Tambong et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2007, 2008).

Macroarray combined with PCR tool has been used to detect mycobacterium based on species level (Leinberger et al. 2005). Furthermore, macroarray was carried out to target species-specific *TUB2* gene sequence and then amplified by digoxigenin-labeled primers (Bt2a and Bt2b) in PCR. This array was then used to detect and discriminate 15 different fungal species from genera *Neonectria*, *Cylindrocarpon*, *Dactylonectria*, *Phaeomoniella*, *Cladophora*, *Ilyonectria*, and *Campylocarpum* as well as the black-foot disease-causing pathogens *Dactylonectria pauciseptata*, *D. macrodidyma*, *Ilyonectria robusta*, *I. liriodendra*, and *I. europaea* (Agusti-Brisach and Armengol 2013). 34 fungal pathogens that cause young wine decline (YWD) disease of young grapevine were also spotted through DNA

macroarray assay (Úrbez-Torres et al. 2015). It has also been used to detect and identify many fungal phytopathogens such as *Candida albicans*, *Alternaria alternata*, *Fusarium solani*, and *Cladosporium herbarum* (Sato et al. 2010). However, there are certain limitations due to which its sensitivity and reliability could be compromised. This array cannot quantify the targeted pathogen and also cannot give information about whether the isolated DNA is from a living pathogen (Úrbez-Torres et al. 2015).

#### 10.4.2 DNA Microarray

A DNA microarray, also known as a gene chip, DNA chip, or biochip, is a collection of microscopic DNA spots fixed on a solid surface (commonly glass or nylon filters) in well-defined regions (Bhat and Rao 2020). These spots are comprised of 1000s of particular DNA sequences known as probes, hybridized with targeted cDNA from a sample. This hybridized probe-cDNA complex is then identified and quantified with silver, chemiluminescence, or fluorophore-labeled targets to evaluate the transcript level (cDNA quantification) in a sample using a software (Russo et al. 2003; Lievens and Thomma 2005). This software generates an expression profile for the targeted gene present in a sample (Russo et al. 2003). It permits the analysis of a wide range of mRNA and measurement of gene expression (Reymond 2001). Previously, it was used only to study gene expression, but new development has led to the identification of various phytopathogens such as fungi, bacteria, viruses, and viroids (Nam et al. 2014; Tiberini and Barba 2012; Krawczyk et al. 2017; Musser et al. 2014).

PCR primers along with fluorescent-labeled probes that target the genome of particular fungal potato pathogens, *Fusarium species (TEF- 1a)*, *Alternaria alternate, A. solani, (Alt\_ al gene), Colletotrichum coccodes (TUB2), Rhizoctonia solani,* and *Spongospora subterranea* (ITS region) were used by RT-PCR microarray tool in 48-well silicon microarrays (Nikitin et al. 2018). *Aspergillus candida* species were also diagnosed using this technology (Singh and Kumar 2013). Although the DNA microarray technique is simple, reliable, fast, and cost-effective, there are some drawbacks. Firstly, high mRNA amount is required to assess expression level, physical cell disruption is necessary to evaluate gene expression profile, generation of false data due to mRNA degradation, and it can only detect sequences according to its deigned array (Bumgarner 2013). Recently, a new microarray technique (Arraytube) has been used to detect several root rot pathogens in beet, *Penicillium expansum, Botrytis cinerea*, and *Aphanomyces cochlioides* using specific marker gene sequences (*TEF-1a*, ITS, and 16S rDNA) along with operative probes (Liebe et al. 2016).

# 10.5 Isothermal Amplification-Based Methods

## 10.5.1 Rolling Circle Amplification

Rolling circle amplification (RCA) is a highly efficient isothermal amplification of circular DNA. It is an enzymatic assay that generates either RNA or single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) using DNA or RNA polymerase enzymes. DNA polymerase, short DNA/RNA primers, dNTPs (deoxynucleotide triphosphate), a circular DNA template, homologous buffer, DNA binding, and unwinding proteins are major perquisites for RCA assay (Gu et al. 2018). In RCA reaction, primers have dual roles, firstly as signal amplifier for RCA and secondly as a discriminator for their complementarity to the targeted sequence. Use of second primer, paired with the targeted sequence, could generate hyper-branched RCA (HBRCA) that can be utilized as a substitute of PCR for targeted gene amplification. In recent times, two fungal pathogens, *Cryptococcus gattii* and *C. neoformans*, are diagnosed using HBRCA assay (Trilles et al. 2014). This assay is based on the rolling replication of short ssDNA molecules.

Circularizing oligonucleotide probes (species-specific PLPs) are used in this assay. These probes are short and single-stranded, having target sites of 20 nucleotides at both ends (5' and 3') that are connected by a linker sequence of 40 nucleotides (Tsui et al. 2011). These probes bind to their targeted sequence resulting in the binding of both ends in circularized form using a ligase enzyme. These circularized probes span the targeted region's entire sequence due to the helical nature of dsDNA (double-stranded DNA). These probes can only detect that DNA fragment with known sequences (Wang and Yang 2009).

RCA is an efficient, simple, robust, and reliable technology for identifying and locating nucleic acid sequences (Gusev et al. 2001) with no need for temperature cycling devices (Goo and Kim 2016; Dong et al. 2013). Four podlock probes, PLP-Nv, PLP-Nm, PLP-Nk, and PLP-Np, were designed to target TEF-1 $\alpha$ , resulting in the identification of *Neofabraea kienholzii*, *N. perennans*, *N. malicorticis*, and *N. vagabunda* that cause apple bull's eye rot disease. An RCA reaction was performed for the detection of these pathogens (Lin et al. 2018). In further analysis, an RCA reaction was conducted to diagnose and identify *Fusarium oxysporum*, *F. tricinctum*, and *F. graminearum* that cause Fusarium head blight disease. The padlock probes used in this assay were developed based on polymorphism in *TEF-1* $\alpha$  (Davari et al. 2012). This technique can also be used to study gene expression, mRNA splicing, single nucleotide polymorphism, and post-translational modification of proteins (Gao et al. 2019).

## 10.5.2 Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification

Loop-mediated amplification (LAMP) is a novel, robust, and specific DNA amplification technique which is a PCR alternative for diagnosing various plant diseases (Le and Vu 2017; Li et al. 2017). This technique is based on amplifying the targeted sequences under isothermal conditions. Just like RCA, it also doesn't require any temperature cycling devices to generate thermal changes as an alternative, it only needs a single tube (single temperature) to amplify the targeted sequence (Tsui et al. 2011; Fakruddin 2011). Therefore, it is established on auto-cycling strand displacement activity for the targeted DNA amplification. The LAMP technique consists of two main steps: an initial stage with cycling amplification and an elongation stage (Panno et al. 2020). This assay uses a bst DNA polymerase enzyme and four sets of primers (two sets of internal primers and two sets of outer primers). Forward inner primer (FIP) and backward inner primer (BIP) are internal primers, while F3 and B3 are two outer primers that distinguish 6 unique sequences present on the targeted DNA sequences. Each FIR, as well as BIP primers, consists of unique sequences corresponding to the coding and non-coding sequences of targeted DNA. The addition of loop forward (LP) and loop backward (LB) primers can accelerate LAMP assay resulting in reduced time and increased sensitivity (Nagamine et al. 2002; Francois et al. 2011; Fakruddin 2011). LAMP reaction is performed in a water bath or heat block at 60–65 °C (an ideal temperature for bst DNA polymerase activity). Its high efficacy and exponential amplification yield 109–1010 times the target gene in just 1 h (Chander et al. 2014; Notomi et al. 2000). Later on, the resulting amplicon (amplification product) is spotted through SYBR Green dye or bromophenol blue dye in gel electrophoresis. These amplicons have several inverted repeats of the targeted gene that display a structure like cauliflower with many loops. LAMP technique is comparatively more precise, inexpensive, and reliable compared with traditional PCR (Ren et al. 2009; Waliullah et al. 2020).

However, laterally, LAMP was primarily developed for detecting DNA molecules; another modified technique, RT-LAMP, was established for targeted RNA detection and its amplification (Fukuta et al. 2013a, b). This technique has diagnosed various phytopathogens, such as fungi and viruses. Plum pox virus (PPV) is a plant virus that has been identified by this technique (Varga and James 2006). Ascochyta rabiei is a fungal pathogen causing ascochyta blight disease in chickpeas which has been identified using this method. For A. rabiei detection, LAMP, compared to conventional PCR, is not only an accurate, specific, and efficient method but also requires minimum operational time (Das et al. 2012). Despite its efficiency, there are major downsides involving indirect assessment methods such as SYBR Green dye, Mn<sup>2+</sup> dye, hydroxynaphthol blue dye, and bromophenol blue dye that cannot distinguish the targeted sequence and nonspecific amplified products. Molecular beacons are fluorescent-labeled short oligonucleotide hybridization probes that can resolve this problem by generating fluorescent signal when it binds to their targeted DNA. So, LAMP products are directly assessed by these probes. Optimum requirements for molecular beacons are 25 bp to 45 bp beacon length, 0.6–1 pmol/µL concentration, and 60–65 °C temperature (Liu et al. 2017).

Paracoccidioides brasiliensis, Penicillium marneffei, Ochroconis gallopava, Ophiostoma clavatum, Pythium aphanidermatum, and P. myriotylum are various fungal pathogens that have been identified using LAMP method (Tsui et al. 2011; Fukuta et al. 2013a, b, 2014; Niessen 2015). Uromyces betae is a fungal pathogen that cause rust disease in sugar beet, was diagnosed via LAMP method within 30 minutes by targeting DNA sequence of cytochrome b protein (Kaczmarek et al. 2019). Another fungal pathogen, *Fusarium circinatum* that infects pine and conifers causing pitch canker disease was identified by conventional LAMP and quantitative LAMP methods. Hybridization of LAMP probes with *TEF-1* $\alpha$  sequence indicated that quantitative LAMP is more specific than cLAMP for detecting *F. circinatum* (Stehlíková et al. 2020). *Fusarium odoratissimum* tropical race 4 (TR4) that causes panama disease in bananas has been identified by LAMP tool using TR4 markers (Ordóñez et al. 2019). This method is highly specific and sensitive to using various primer up to six to amplify targeted nucleic acids (Becherer et al. 2020). Regardless of its efficiency, it shows some shortcomings due to compromised efficacy. Using six primers for a short DNA fragment, high amount of indicators and other constituents that can halt enzyme activity could exhibit some limitation using the LAMP tool (Tanner et al. 2015).

# 10.5.3 Nucleic Acid Sequence-Based Amplification (NASBA)

NASBA is a transcriptional and isothermal-based amplification method designed particularly for RNA detection of targeted phytopathogens. DNA can also be detected using some NASBA systems (Sergentet-Thevenot et al. 2008). In recent years, various DNA amplification methods have been developed, such as PCR, RCA, and LAMP, but none can amplify RNA directly. NASBA is preferable for mRNA amplification over other methods for its high sensitivity. This technique is based on RNA amplification followed by its conversion into complementary DNA (cDNA) through reverse transcriptase enzyme. It can produce  $<10^8$  copies of nucleic acids (DNA/RNA) in just 1 and 1/2 h incubation using three enzymes (Wernecke and Mullen 2014). It is an isothermal reaction carried out at 41 °C and hence doesn't need any thermal cycler (Loens et al. 2006), having high amplification power compared with RT-PCR (Chang et al. 2012). Three enzymes used in NASBA reaction are reverse transcriptase derived from avian myeloblastosis virus (for reverse transcription of RNA to generate cDNA), RNase H (for hydrolysis of RNA fragment from DNA/ RNA hybrid), and T7 RNA polymerase (for producing high copy number of ssRNA complementary to targeted RNA) (Chang et al. 2012).

An imperative feature of NASBA assay is the construction of ssRNA (NASBA amplicons) that could be used directly for additional amplification and inquired for further assessment without its degradation (Chang et al. 2012). NASBA products are then assessed via electrochemiluminescence or colorimetric detection using digoxigenin-labeled probes or via RT NASBA assay using molecular beacons (Heo et al. 2019). NASBA-beacon assay delivers results in less than 1 hour with less contamination risk because of RNA-based amplification. It quantifies phytopathogens RNA, particularly viruses, via mRNA expression (Fakruddin et al. 2012; Lauri and Mariani 2009). Several plant viruses have been detected using NASBA assays, such as Potato virus Y and Apple stem pitting virus (Klerks et al. 2001). *Clavibacter michiganensis* and *Ralstonia solanacearum* are two bacterial phytopathogens that have also been diagnosed by this tool (Schoen et al. 2005).

However, no fungal pathogen has been detected yet, but in the future, it shows great potential for the detection and quantification of fungal phytopathogens.

# 10.6 RNA Interference

RNA interference (RNAi) is the up-to-date tool for identifying and controlling phytopathogens, particularly mycotoxigenic fungi (Panwar et al. 2013). RNA interference depends on various factors such as constructing a vector that must generate double-stranded RNA followed by synthesis of small interfering RNA (siRNA), availability of targeted sites for RNAi in phytopathogens, high capability of phytopathogens to uptake siRNA, the half-life of siRNA, and amplification of the subsequent targeted gene. RNAi technology has intrinsic cellular defense activity for detecting targeted gene in the pathogen. This dsRNA or hairpin RNA (hpRNA) identifies their targeting homology sequences leading in the silencing or degeneration of that gene (Nakayashiki et al. 2005). For identifying fungal pathogens, specific hpRNA and dsRNA can limit fungal diseases. A major negative aspect of this tool is the off-target effect of these RNA molecules. This tool has been used in various plants to diagnose fungal pathogens such as *Fusarium graminearum* in barley (Chen et al. 2006) and *Aspergillus flavus* in Zea mays (Masanga et al. 2015).

## 10.7 Next-Generation Sequencing

NGS (next-generation sequencing), also recognized as high-throughput sequencing (HTS) is an advanced technology for diagnosing phytopathogens. This tool has presented various innovative methods for detecting and identifying pathogens (Chalupowicz et al. 2019). This approach is based on the sequencing of targeted DNA/RNA molecules. NGS can be either based on DNA-sequence-based next-generation sequencing or RNA-sequence-based next-generation sequencing. Pyrosequencing, Polony sequencing (Polymerase colony sequencing), massively parallel signature sequencing, and oligonucleotide ligation-based sequencing are some recent and advanced approaches in HTS (Rajesh and Jaya 2017).

## 10.7.1 DNA-Seq-Based Next-Generation Sequencing

Isolation of DNA and its fragmentation, library construction, sequencing, bioinformatics analysis, mutation annotation as well as data analysis are the foremost requirement in performing DNA-seq-based NGS to identify a particular targeted gene to detect phytopathogens (Qin 2019).

## 10.7.2 RNA-Seq-Based Next-Generation Sequencing

RNA-seq is an innovative and advanced technology that explores the dynamic nature and expression level of mRNA transcripts (transcriptome) with high resolution. RNA-seq is based on converting a large RNA population into cDNA library through reverse transcription. Then cDNA is fragmented, followed by ligation of the adaptor at either one or both ends for sequencing purposes. Sequencing can be done with amplification and without amplification of cDNA. Sequencing can be performed either from a single end, called single-end sequencing or from both ends, called pair-end sequencing. Reads are small segments of DNA or RNA, usually 30–400 bp in size, depending on which sequencing approach is used. After that, a library is constructed to determine the targeted RNA transcript. For library construction, fragmentation of cDNA/ RNA is necessary to perform NGS further.

Then, the targeted mRNA transcript is primed with either oligo primers or random primers for reverse transcription reaction. Oligo primers are preferred over random primers because of the addition of poly-adenylated mRNA that gives precise information (Mortazavi et al. 2008). After sequencing, subsequent reads are aligned to the reference genome sequence or amassed de novo to generate a genome-scale map of mRNA transcripts which comprises information on gene structure as well as expression level. Trinity and Rnnotator are software that align the RNA-seq data by assembling the resultant reads without a reference genome. This approach helps to find the novel transcripts from various sources (Grabherr et al. 2011).

Most generally used NGS platforms for RNA-seq are SOLiD, Illumina's HiSeq, Ion Torrent, and Illumina MiSeq, which has set a standard for NGS (Wang and Peng 2014; Kukurba and Montgomery 2015). RNA-seq tool can be used to identify and detect phytopathogens, particularly fungal pathogens causing disease. In previous studies, a whole-genome NGA approach was established through Illumina MiSeq platform to diagnose a novel pathogen, Calonectria pseudonaviculata, causing Sarcococca blight in ornamental plants (Malapi-Wight et al. 2016). Magnaporthe oryzae that results in rice blast disease (Soanes et al. 2012), Verticillium dahliae that causes vascular wilt disease in tomato (de Jonge et al. 2012), Puccinia striiformis that causes wheat yellow rust disease (Hubbard et al. 2015), Pseudoperonospora cubensis and P. humuli that cause cucurbit downy mildew disease are detected through DNA/ RNA seq-based NGS approach (Withers et al. 2016). In another study, a hierarchical and hybrid de novo association analysis was performed by combining Pacific Biosciences (Pac Bio) and Illumina platforms to diagnose Monilinia fructicola, causing brown rot disease (De Miccolis Angelini et al. 2019). Using this hybrid approach, another rust fungal pathogen (*Hemileia vastatrix*) genome was sequenced using Illumina HiSeq and PacBio RII sequencing platforms (Porto et al. 2019). This reference genome sequence could be used for the identification of other species. If no prior knowledge is available for a novel pathogen, the whole genome can be sequenced without primers and PCR amplification (Hadidi et al. 2016; Malapi-Wight et al. 2016). With the advancement in single nucleotidebased sequencing, third-generation sequencing is preferred over second-generation

sequencing technology (Schadt et al. 2010). Time consumption, low RNA yield, RNA stability, integrity, impurities with chemicals, and DNA are some major factors in HTS that limit its application in phytopathogens detection (Cortés-Maldonado et al. 2020).

# 10.8 DNA Barcoding

DNA barcoding is a multipurpose molecular tool for diagnosing phytopathogens using a particular segment of DNA. These particular sequences ( $\sim 600$  bp) are barcode regions unanimously present in target lineages (Gao and Zhang 2013). It shows considerable sequence variation to distinguish various pathogens (Krishnamurthy and Francis 2012). It has been proven quite efficient for identifying symptomless plants and pathogens in their latent period. DNA barcoding has been productively used to identify fungi, bacteria, and viruses. DNA barcoding based on PCR, LAMP, RCA, and other molecular techniques has revolutionized the pathogen detection approach (Choudhary et al. 2021). Its efficacy depends on higher genetic variations present within species than between species. Fungal morphological identification is not effective, so DNA barcoding gives promising results for diagnosing fungal pathogens (Roe et al. 2010). Internal transcribed spacer (ITS) is an ideal barcode for identifying fungal phytopathogens (Schoch et al. 2012) such as Sclerotinia trifolium causing stem crown rot disease in Trifolium alexandrinum (Faraz et al. 2021). Hsieh et al. (2020) used an amalgamation of ITS, histone H3, β-tubulin barcode regions to diagnose *Cercospora*, *Fusarium*, and and Colletotrichum species in Platostoma palustre plant.

## References

- Agindotan, B., and K.L. Perry. 2007. Macroarray detection of plant RNA viruses using randomly primed and amplified complementary DNAs from infected plants. *Phytopathology* 97 (1): 119–127.
  - 2008. Macroarray detection of eleven potato-infecting viruses and Potato spindle tuber viroid. *Plant Disease* 92 (5): 730–740.
- Agusti-Brisach, C., and J. Armengol. 2013. Black-foot disease of grapevine: an update on taxonomy, epidemiology and management strategies. *Phytopathologia Mediterranea*: 245–261.
- Amagliani, G., E. Omiccioli, A. Del Campo, I.J. Bruce, G. Brandi, and M. Magnani. 2006. Development of a magnetic capture hybridization-PCR assay for Listeria monocytogenes direct detection in milk samples. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 100 (2): 375–383.
- Anjum, F., I.U. Haq, S. Ijaz, F. Mubeen, A. Habib, R.W.K. Qadri, and N.A. Khan. 2020. Morphgenomics based identification of Fusarium proliferatum causing Syagrus romanzoffiana wilt and exploitation of antifungal potential of Trichoderma species against this pathogen. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 102: 1097–1105.
- Aslam, S., A. Tahir, M.F. Aslam, M.W. Alam, A.A. Shedayi, and S. Sadia. 2017. Recent advances in molecular techniques for the identification of phytopathogenic fungi–a mini review. *Journal* of Plant Interactions 12 (1): 493–504.
- Atkins, S.D., and I.M. Clark. 2004. Fungal molecular diagnostics: a mini review. *Journal of Applied Genetics* 45 (1): 3–15.

- Babar, M., S. Ijaz, M.S. Khan, and I.U. Haq. 2021. Computational genomics based probing of resistance gene analogs (RGAs) in mungbean under cercospora leaf spot disease challenge. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 58: 1523–1536.
- Badali, H., and M. Nabili. 2012. Molecular tools in medical mycology; where we are! Jundishapur Journal of Microbiology 6 (1): 1–3.
- Bailey, A.M., D.J. Mitchell, K.L. Manjunath, G. Nolasco, and C.L. Niblett. 2002. Identification to the species level of the plant pathogens Phytophthora and Pythium by using unique sequences of the ITS1 region of ribosomal DNA as capture probes for PCR Elisa. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 207 (2): 153–158. ISSN 0378-1097.
- Baldi, P., and N. La Porta. 2020. Molecular approaches for low-cost point-of-care pathogen detection in agriculture and forestry. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11: 570862.
- Balodi, R., S.U.N.A.I.N.A. Bisht, A. Ghatak, and K.H. Rao. 2017. Plant disease diagnosis: technological advancements and challenges. *Indian Phytopathology* 70 (3): 275–281.
- Bartlett, J. M. S., and Stirling, D. A. 2003 in PCR Protocols 3-6.
- Becherer, L., N. Borst, M. Bakheit, S. Frischmann, R. Zengerle, and F. von Stetten. 2020. Loopmediated isothermal amplification (LAMP)–review and classification of methods for sequencespecific detection. *Analytical Methods* 12 (6): 717–746.
- Bertolini, E., A. Olmos, M.M. López, and M. Cambra. 2003. Multiplex nested reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction in a single tube for sensitive and simultaneous detection of four RNA viruses and Pseudomonas savastanoi pv. savastanoi in olive trees. *Phytopathology* 93 (3): 286–292.
- Bertolini, E., Olmos, A., Martínez, M. C., Gorris, M. T., & Cambra, M. (2001). Single-step multiplex RT-PCR for simultaneous and colourimetric detection of six RNA viruses in olive trees. Journal of Virological Methods, 96(1), 33-41.
- Bertolini, E., E. Torres, A. Olmos, M.P. Martin, A. Bertaccini, and M. Cambra. 2007. Co-operational PCR coupled with dot blot hybridization for detection and 16SrX grouping of phytoplasmas. *Plant Pathology* 56 (4): 677–682.
- Bhat, A.I., and G.P. Rao. 2020. DNA microarray for detection of plant viruses. In *Characterization* of *Plant Viruses*, 357–367. New York, NY: Humana.
- Bhat, R.G., and G.T. Browne. 2010. Specific detection of Phytophthora cactorum in diseased strawberry plants using nested polymerase chain reaction. *Plant Pathology* 59 (1): 121–129.
- Bindslev, L., R.P. Oliver, and B. Johansen. 2002. In situ PCR for detection and identification of fungal species. *Mycological Research* 106 (3): 277–279.
- Black, J. 2009. Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) of Filamentous Fungi in Carpet. RTI Press.
- Blaya, J., E. Lloret, A.B. Santisima-Trinidad, M. Ros, and J.A. Pascual. 2016. Molecular methods (digital PCR and real-time PCR) for the quantification of low copy DNA of Phytophthora nicotianae in environmental samples. *Pest Management Science* 72: 747–753.
- Bock, C.H., K. Chiang, and E.M. Del Ponte. 2016. Accuracy of plant specimen disease severity estimates: concepts, history, methods, ramifications and challenges for the future. *CAB Reviews* 11 (032): 1–21.
- Bock, C.H., G.H. Poole, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2010. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29 (2): 59–107.
- Bozorg-Ghalati, F., I. Mohammadpour, and R. Ranjbaran. 2019. Applications of fluorescence in situ hybridization in detection of disease biomarkers and personalized medicine. *Comparative Clinical Pathology* 28 (1): 3–10.
- Brewer, M.T., A.N. Turner, P.M. Brannen, W.O. Cline, and E.A. Richardson. 2014. Exobasidium maculosum, a new species causing leaf and fruit spots on blueberry in the southeastern USA and its relationship with other Exobasidium spp. parasitic to blueberry and cranberry. *Mycologia* 106 (3): 415–423.

- Brown, N.A., C. Bass, T.K. Baldwin, H. Chen, F. Massot, P.W. Carion, et al. 2011. Characterisation of the Fusarium graminearum-wheat floral interaction. *Journal of Pathogens* 2011.
- Bu, R., R.K. Sathiapalan, M.M. Ibrahim, I. Al-Mohsen, E. Almodavar, M.I. Gutierrez, and K. Bhatia. 2005. Monochrome LightCycler PCR assay for detection and quantification of five common species of Candida and Aspergillus. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 54 (3): 243–248.
- Bumgarner, R. 2013. Overview of DNA microarrays: types, applications, and their future. Current Protocols in Molecular Biology 101 (1): 22–21.
- Cai, H.Y., J.L. Caswell, and J.F. Prescott. 2014. Nonculture molecular techniques for diagnosis of bacterial disease in animals: a diagnostic laboratory perspective. *Veterinary Pathology* 51 (2): 341–350.
- Capote, N., A.M. Pastrana, A. Aguado, and P. Sánchez-Torres. 2012. Molecular tools for detection of plant pathogenic fungi and fungicide resistance. *Plant Pathology*: 151–202.
- Caruso, P., E. Bertolini, M. Cambra, and M.M. López. 2003. A new and sensitive co-operational polymerase chain reaction for rapid detection of Ralstonia solanacearum in water. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 55 (1): 257–272.
- Chalupová, J., M. Raus, M. Sedlářová, and M. Šebela. 2014. Identification of fungal microorganisms by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. *Biotechnology Advances* 32 (1): 230–241.
- Chalupowicz, L., A. Dombrovsky, V. Gaba, N. Luria, M. Reuven, A. Beerman, et al. 2019. Diagnosis of plant diseases using the Nanopore sequencing platform. *Plant Pathology* 68 (2): 229–238.
- Chandelier, A., M. Massot, O. Fabreguettes, F. Gischer, F. Teng, and C. Robin. 2019. Early detection of Cryphonectria parasitica by real-time PCR. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 153 (1): 29–46.
- Chander, Y., J. Koelbl, J. Puckett, M.J. Moser, A.J. Klingele, M.R. Liles, et al. 2014. A novel thermostable polymerase for RNA and DNA loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP). *Frontiers in Microbiology* 5: 395.
- Chang, C.C., C.C. Chen, S.C. Wei, H.H. Lu, Y.H. Liang, and C.W. Lin. 2012. Diagnostic devices for isothermal nucleic acid amplification. *Sensors* 12 (6): 8319–8337.
- Chen, R.S., C. Chu, C.W. Cheng, W.Y. Chen, and J.G. Tsay. 2008. Differentiation of two powdery mildews of sunflower (Helianthus annuus) by a PCR-mediated method based on ITS sequences. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 121 (1): 1–8.
- Chen, W., K.A. Seifert, and C.A. Lévesque. 2009. A high density COX1 barcode oligonucleotide array for identification and detection of species of Penicillium subgenus Penicillium. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 9: 114–129.
- Chen, X., A. Steed, C. Harden, and P. Nicholson. 2006. Characterization of Arabidopsis thaliana– Fusarium graminearum interactions and identification of variation in resistance among ecotypes. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 7 (5): 391–403.
- Choudhary, P., B.N. Singh, H. Chakdar, and A.K. Saxena. 2021. DNA barcoding of phytopathogens for disease diagnostics and bio-surveillance. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 37 (3): 1–20.
- Cortés-Maldonado, L., J. Marcial-Quino, S. Gómez-Manzo, F. Fierro, and A. Tomasini. 2020. A method for the extraction of high quality fungal RNA suitable for RNA-seq. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 170: 105855.
- Das, A., S. Babiuk, and M.T. McIntosh. 2012. Development of a loop-mediated isothermal amplification assay for rapid detection of capripoxviruses. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 50 (5): 1613–1620.
- Dasmahapatra, K.K., and J. Mallet. 2006. DNA barcodes: recent successes and future prospects. *Heredity* 97 (4): 254–255.
- Davari, M., A.D. van Diepeningen, A. Babai-Ahari, M. Arzanlou, M.J. Najafzadeh, T.A. van der Lee, and G.S. de Hoog. 2012. Rapid identification of Fusarium graminearum species complex using Rolling Circle Amplification (RCA). *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 89 (1): 63–70.

- De Jonge, R., H. Peter van Esse, K. Maruthachalam, M.D. Bolton, P. Santhanam, M.K. Saber, et al. 2012. Tomato immune receptor Ve1 recognizes effector of multiple fungal pathogens uncovered by genome and RNA sequencing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109 (13): 5110–5115.
- De Miccolis Angelini, R.M., G. Romanazzi, S. Pollastro, C. Rotolo, F. Faretra, and L. Landi. 2019. New high-quality draft genome of the brown rot fungal pathogen Monilinia fructicola. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 11 (10): 2850–2855.
- Depotter, J.R., L. Rodriguez-Moreno, B.P. Thomma, and T.A. Wood. 2017. The emerging British Verticillium longisporum population consists of aggressive Brassica pathogens. *Phytopathology* 107 (11): 1399–1405.
- Dong, H., C. Wang, Y. Xiong, H. Lu, H. Ju, and X. Zhang. 2013. Highly sensitive and selective chemiluminescent imaging for DNA detection by ligation-mediated rolling circle amplified synthesis of DNAzyme. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 41: 348–353.
- Dyer, P.S., P.A. Furneaux, G. Douhan, and T.D. Murray. 2001. A multiplex PCR test for determination of mating type applied to the plant pathogens Tapesia yallundae and Tapesia acuformis. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 33 (3): 173–180.
- Elverson, T.R., B.J. Kontz, S.G. Markell, R.M. Harveson, and F.M. Mathew. 2020. Quantitative PCR assays developed for Diaporthe helianthi and Diaporthe gulyae for phomopsis stem canker diagnosis and germplasm screening in sunflower (Helianthus annuus). *Plant Disease* 104 (3): 793–800.
- Fakruddin, M.D. 2011. Loop mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP)-an alternative to polymerase chain reaction (PCR). *Bangladesh Research Publications Journal* 5 (4).
- Fakruddin, M.D., R.M. Mazumdar, A. Chowdhury, and K.B. Mannan. 2012. Nucleic acid sequence based amplification (NASBA)-prospects and applications. *International Journal of Life Science* and Pharma Research 2 (1): 106–121.
- Fang, Y., and R.P. Ramasamy. 2015. Current and prospective methods for plant disease detection. *Biosensors* 5 (3): 537–561.
- FAO launches 2020 as the UN's International Year of Plant Health 2020 http://www.fao.org/news/ story/en/item/1253551/icode/ (2 December 2019).
- Faraz, A., I.U. Haq, and S. Ijaz. 2021. First report of Sclerotinia trifoliorum stem and crown rot on Trifolium alexandrinum in Pakistan. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 103: 735–736.
- Fessehaie, A., S.H. De Boer, and C.A. Lévesque. 2003. An oligonucleotide array for the identification and differentiation of bacteria pathogenic on potato. *Phytopathology* 93 (3): 262–269.
- Francois, P., M. Tangomo, J. Hibbs, E.J. Bonetti, C.C. Boehme, T. Notomi, et al. 2011. Robustness of a loop-mediated isothermal amplification reaction for diagnostic applications. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology* 62 (1): 41–48.
- Frickmann, H., A.E. Zautner, A. Moter, J. Kikhney, R.M. Hagen, H. Stender, and S. Poppert. 2017. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) in the microbiological diagnostic routine laboratory: a review. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology* 43 (3): 263–293.
- Fukuta, S., R. Takahashi, S. Kuroyanagi, Y. Ishiguro, N. Miyake, H. Nagai, et al. 2014. Development of loop-mediated isothermal amplification assay for the detection of P ythium myriotylum. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 59 (1): 49–57.
- Fukuta, S., R. Takahashi, S. Kuroyanagi, N. Miyake, H. Nagai, H. Suzuki, et al. 2013a. Detection of Pythium aphanidermatum in tomato using loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) with species-specific primers. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 136 (4): 689–701.
- Fukuta, S., M. Tamura, H. Maejima, R. Takahashi, S. Kuwayama, T. Tsuji, et al. 2013b. Differential detection of Wheat yellow mosaic virus, Japanese soil-borne wheat mosaic virus and Chinese wheat mosaic virus by reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification reaction. *Journal of Virological Methods* 189 (2): 348–354.
- Gambino, G., and I. Gribaudo. 2006. Simultaneous detection of nine grapevine viruses by multiplex reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction with coamplification of a plant RNA as internal control. *Phytopathology* 96 (11): 1223–1229.

- Gao, H., K. Zhang, X. Teng, and J. Li. 2019. Rolling circle amplification for single cell analysis and in situ sequencing. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 121: 115700.
- Gao, R., and G. Zhang. 2013. Potential of DNA barcoding for detecting quarantine fungi. *Phytopathology* 103 (11): 1103–1107.
- Garrido, C., M. Carbú, F.J. Fernández-Acero, N. Boonham, A. Colyer, J.M. Cantoral, and G. Budge. 2009. Development of protocols for detection of Colletotrichum acutatum and monitoring of strawberry anthracnose using real-time PCR. *Plant Pathology* 58 (1): 43–51.
- Goo, N.I., and D.E. Kim. 2016. Rolling circle amplification as isothermal gene amplification in molecular diagnostics. *BioChip Journal* 10 (4): 262–271.
- Grabherr, M.G., B.J. Haas, M. Yassour, J.Z. Levin, D.A. Thompson, I. Amit, et al. 2011. Fulllength transcriptome assembly from RNA-Seq data without a reference genome. *Nature Biotechnology* 29 (7): 644–652.
- Gregory, P.H. 1982. E. C. Large, and phytopathometry. Plant Pathology 31: 7-8.
- Gu, L., W. Yan, L. Liu, S. Wang, X. Zhang, and M. Lyu. 2018. Research progress on rolling circle amplification (RCA)-based biomedical sensing. *Pharmaceuticals* 11 (2): 35.
- Guglielmo, F., S.E. Bergemann, P. Gonthier, G. Nicolotti, and M. Garbelotto. 2007. A multiplex PCR-based method for the detection and early identification of wood rotting fungi in standing trees. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 103 (5): 1490–1507.
- Guo, J.R., F. Schnieder, M. Beyer, and J.A. Verreet. 2005. Rapid detection of Mycosphaerella graminicola in wheat using reverse transcription-PCR assay. *Journal of Phytopathology* 153 (11–12): 674–679.
- Gusev, Y., J. Sparkowski, A. Raghunathan, H. Ferguson Jr., J. Montano, N. Bogdan, et al. 2001. Rolling circle amplification: a new approach to increase sensitivity for immunohistochemistry and flow cytometry. *The American Journal of Pathology* 159 (1): 63–69.
- Ha, Y., A. Fessehaie, K.S. Ling, W.P. Wechter, A.P. Keinath, and R.R. Walcott. 2009. Simultaneous detection of Acidovorax avenae subsp. citrulli and Didymella bryoniae in cucurbit seedlots using magnetic capture hybridization and real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Phytopathology* 99 (6): 666–678.
- Hadidi, A., R. Flores, T. Candresse, and M. Barba. 2016. Next-generation sequencing and genome editing in plant virology. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7: 1325.
- Haq, I. U., S. Ijaz, A. Faraz, and N. A. Khan (2020a). First report of Curvularia tuberculata leaf spot on Archontophoenix Alexandrae in Pakistan. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 102(4), 1329.
- (2021). Characterization of Curvularia buchloes causing leaf spots on Medicago sativa L. (alfalfa) and its management through fungicides. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, 128(2), 493–500.
- Haq, I.U., S. Ijaz, A. Faraz, N.A. Khan, M.Z. Latif, M.K. Sarwar, and B. Nasir. 2020b. First report of Chamaedorea cataractarum (Cat palm) wilt caused by Fusarium solani in Pakistan. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 102 (1): 243.
- Haq, I.U., S. Ijaz, Q. Shakeel, G. Li, L. Yang, and I. Rashid. 2020c. Fungi: cynosure of ornamental palms diseases. In *Etiology and Integrated Management of Economically Important Fungal Diseases of Ornamental Palms*, 85–113. Cham: Springer.
- Haq, I.U., and S. Ijaz. 2019. Assessment of genetic diversity based on ISSR markers in neopestalotiopsis species collected from guava (Psidium guajava l.) Plants affected with canker disease in Pakistan. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research 17: 11803–11811.
- Havis, N.D., K. Gorniak, M.A. Carmona, A.N. Formento, A.G. Luque, and M.M. Scandiani. 2014. First molecular detection of Ramularia leaf spot (Ramularia collo-cygni) in seeds and leaves of barley in Argentina. *Plant Disease* 98 (2): 277–277.
- Hayden, R.T., Z. Gu, J. Ingersoll, D. Abdul-Ali, L. Shi, S. Pounds, et al. 2013. Comparison of droplet digital PCR to real-time PCR for quantitative detection of cytomegalovirus. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 51: 540–546. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.02620-12.
- Hayden, R.T., X. Qian, G.W. Procop, G.D. Roberts, and R.V. Lloyd. 2002. In situ hybridization for the identification of filamentous fungi in tissue section. *Diagnostic Molecular Pathology: The American Journal of Surgical Pathology, Part B* 11 (2): 119–126.

- Hayden, R.T., X. Qian, G.D. Roberts, and R.V. Lloyd. 2001. In situ hybridization for the identification of yeastlike organisms in tissue section. *Diagnostic Molecular Pathology* 10 (1): 15–23.
- Henson, J.M., and R.C. French. 1993. The polymerase chain reaction and plant disease diagnosis. *Papers in Plant Pathology* 31 (1): 81–109.
- Heo, S., H.R. Kim, and H.J. Lee. 2019. Development of a quantitative real-time nucleic acid sequence based amplification (NASBA) assay for early detection of apple scar skin viroid. *The Plant Pathology Journal* 35 (2): 164.
- Hindson, B.J., K.D. Ness, D.A. Masquelier, P. Belgrader, N.J. Heredia, A.J. Makarewicz, et al. 2011. High-throughput droplet digital PCR system for absolute quantitation of DNA copy number. *Analytical Chemistry* 83 (22): 8604–8610.
- Hsieh, C.W., Y.Y. Chuang, M.Z. Lee, and R. Kirschner. 2020. First inventory of fungi in symptomless and symptomatic Chinese mesona indicates phytopathological threat. *Plant Disease* 104 (9): 2391–2397.
- Hubbard, A., C.M. Lewis, K. Yoshida, R.H. Ramirez-Gonzalez, C. de Vallavieille-Pope, J. Thomas, et al. 2015. Field pathogenomics reveals the emergence of a diverse wheat yellow rust population. *Genome Biology* 16 (1): 1–15.
- Hussain, F., and F. Usman (2019). Fungal biotic stresses in plants and its control strategy. *Abiotic* and biotic stress in plants.
- Ijaz, S., A. Faraz, M.K. Sarwar, M.Z. Latif, and N.A. Khan. 2020. First report of leaf spots in Caryota mitis L. caused by Alternaria alstroemeriae in Pakistan. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 102 (2): 585–585.
- Ijaz, S., A. Faraz, M.K. Sarwar, and N.A. Khan. 2021a. First report of Curvularia leaf spot of Chamaedorea seifrizii caused by Curvularia lunata in Pakistan. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 103 (2): 713–713.
- Ijaz, S., I.U. Haq, Z. Habib, S. Mukhtar, and B. Nasir. 2021b. Biotechnological applications for developing resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses and other quality traits in fodder crops. In *Sustainable Winter Fodder*, 31–80. CRC Press.
- Ijaz, S., I.U. Haq, N.A. Khan, and B. Nasir. 2021c. Molecular identification and detection of Phytofungi. In *Phytomycology and Molecular Biology of Plant–Pathogen Interactions*, 139–148. CRC Press.
- Ijaz, S., H.A. Razzaq, M. Babar, and I. Haq. 2018. Assessment of population genetics of shisham (Dalbergia sissoo) based on genetic structure and diversity analysis. *International Journal of Biosciences* 13 (3): 209–222.
- Ijaz, S., H.A. Sadaqat, and M.N. Khan. 2013. A review of the impact of charcoal rot (Macrophomina phaseolina) on sunflower. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* 151 (2): 222–227.
- Iqbal, Z., M.A. Khan, M. Sharif, J.H. Shah, M.H. ur Rehman, and K. Javed. 2018. An automated detection and classification of citrus plant diseases using image processing techniques: a review. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 153: 12–32.
- Jacobsen, C.S. 1995. Microscale detection of specific bacterial DNA in soil with a magnetic capture-hybridization and PCR amplification assay. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 61 (9): 3347–3352.
- Jain, A., S. Sarsaiya, Q. Wu, Y. Lu, and J. Shi. 2019. A review of plant leaf fungal diseases and its environment speciation. *Bioengineered* 10 (1): 409–424.
- James, D. 1999. A simple and reliable protocol for the detection of apple stem grooving virus by RT–PCR and in a multiplex PCR assay. *Journal of Virological Methods* 83 (1–2): 1–9.
- Jeeva, M.L., A.K. Mishra, P. Vidyadharan, R.S. Misra, and V. Hegde. 2010. A species-specific polymerase chain reaction assay for rapid and sensitive detection of Sclerotium rolfsii. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 39 (6): 517–523.
- Jensen, E. 2014. Technical review: in situ hybridization. *The Anatomical Record* 297 (8): 1349–1353.

- Ji Cho, H., S.W. Hong, H.J. Kim, and Y.S. Kwak. 2016. Development of a multiplex PCR method to detect fungal pathogens for quarantine on exported cacti. *The Plant Pathology Journal* 32 (1): 53.
- Kaczmarek, A. M., K. M. King, J. S. West, M. Stevens, D. Sparkes, and M. J. Dickinson (2019). A loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) assay for rapid and specific detection of airborne inoculum of Uromyces betae (sugar beet rust). *Plant Disease*, 103(3), 417–421.
- Khakimov, A., I. Salakhutdinov, A. Omolikov, and S. Utaganov (2022). Traditional and currentprospective methods of agricultural plant diseases detection: a review. In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*. vol. 951(1), IOP Publishing. p. 012002.
- Khan, J.A., P. Srivastava, and S.K. Singh. 2006. Sensitive detection of a phytoplasma associated with little leaf symptoms in Withania somnifera. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 115 (4): 401–408.
- Kim, S.W., Z. Li, P.S. Moore, A.P. Monaghan, Y. Chang, M. Nichols, and B. John. 2010. A sensitive non-radioactive northern blot method to detect small RNAs. *Nucleic Acids Research* 38 (7): e98.
- Klerks, M.M., G. Leone, J.L. Lindner, C.D. Schoen, and J.F.J.M. Van den Heuvel. 2001. Rapid and sensitive detection of Apple stem pitting virus in apple trees through RNA amplification and probing with fluorescent molecular beacons. *Phytopathology* 91 (11): 1085–1091.
- Konstantinova, P., P.J. Bonants, M.P. Van Gent-Pelzer, and P. Van Der Zouwen. 2002. Development of specific primers for detection and identification of Alternaria spp. in carrot material by PCR and comparison with blotter and plating assays. *Mycological Research* 106 (1): 23–33.
- Krawczyk, K., B. Uszczyńska-Ratajczak, A. Majewska, and N. Borodynko-Filas. 2017. DNA microarray-based detection and identification of bacterial and viral pathogens of maize. *Journal* of Plant Diseases and Protection 124 (6): 577–583.
- Krishna Krishnamurthy, P., and R.A. Francis. 2012. A critical review on the utility of DNA barcoding in biodiversity conservation. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 21 (8): 1901–1919.
- Kukurba, K.R., and S.B. Montgomery. 2015. RNA sequencing and analysis. Cold Spring Harbor Protocols 2015: 951–969.
- Landgraf, A., B. Reckmann, and A. Pingoud. 1991. Direct analysis of polymerase chain reaction products using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay techniques. *Analytical Biochemistry* 198 (1): 86–91.
- Langrell, S.R.H., and D.J. Barbara. 2001. Magnetic capture hybridisation for improved PCR detection of Nectria galligena from lignified apple extracts. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 19 (1): 5–11.
- Large, E.C. 1953. Some recent developments in fungus disease survey work in England and Wales. *The Annals of Applied Biology* 40: 594–599.
  - ----. 1966. Measuring plant disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology 4: 9-26.
- Latif, M.Z., Imran Ul Haq, S. Ijaz, A. Habib, and I.A. Khan. 2021. Assessment of the distribution, incidence, and severity of Shisham (Dalbergia sissoo) dieback disease in Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 58 (6): 1819–1826.
- Lauri, A., and P.O. Mariani. 2009. Potentials and limitations of molecular diagnostic methods in food safety. *Genes & Nutrition* 4 (1): 1–12.
- Le, D.T., and N.T. Vu. 2017. Progress of loop-mediated isothermal amplification technique in molecular diagnosis of plant diseases. *Applied Biological Chemistry* 60 (2): 169–180.
- Leinberger, D.M., U. Schumacher, I.B. Autenrieth, and T.T. Bachmann. 2005. Development of a DNA microarray for detection and identification of fungal pathogens involved in invasive mycoses. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43 (10): 4943–4953.
- Li, Y., P. Fan, S. Zhou, and L. Zhang. 2017. Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP): a novel rapid detection platform for pathogenes. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 107: 54–61.
- Liebe, S., D.S. Christ, R. Ehricht, and M. Varrelmann. 2016. Development of a DNA microarraybased assay for the detection of sugar beet root rot pathogens. *Phytopathology* 106 (1): 76–86.
- Lievens, B., and B.P. Thomma. 2005. Recent developments in pathogen detection arrays: implications for fungal plant pathogens and use in practice. *Phytopathology* 95 (12): 1374–1380.

- Lin, H., X. Jiang, J. Yi, X. Wang, R. Zuo, Z. Jiang, et al. 2018. Molecular identification of Neofabraea species associated with bull's-eye rot on apple using rolling-circle amplification of partial EF-1α sequence. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 64 (1): 57–68.
- Liu, W., S. Huang, N. Liu, D. Dong, Z. Yang, Y. Tang, et al. 2017. Establishment of an accurate and fast detection method using molecular beacons in loop-mediated isothermal amplification assay. *Scientific Reports* 7 (1): 1–9.
- Liu, Y., Y. Wang, Q. Wang, Y. Zhang, W. Shen, R. Li, et al. 2019. Development of a sensitive and reliable reverse transcription droplet digital PCR assay for the detection of citrus yellow vein clearing virus. *Archives of Virology* 164 (3): 691–697.
- Llop, P., A. Bonaterra, J. Peñalver, and M.M. López. 2000. Development of a highly sensitive nested-PCR procedure using a single closed tube for detection of Erwinia amylovora in asymptomatic plant material. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66 (5): 2071–2078.
- Loens, K., H. Goossens, C. De Laat, H. Foolen, P. Oudshoorn, S. Pattyn, et al. 2006. Detection of rhinoviruses by tissue culture and two independent amplification techniques, nucleic acid sequence-based amplification and reverse transcription-PCR, in children with acute respiratory infections during a winter season. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 44 (1): 166–171.
- Long, A.A. 1998. In-situ polymerase chain reaction: foundation of the technology and today's options. *European Journal of Histochemistry* 42 (2): 101–109.
- López, M. M., P. Llop, A. Olmos, M. Cambra, E. Bertolini, and V. Biotecnología (2006). Update on molecular tools for detection of plant pathogenic bacteria and viruses.
- López, M.M., P. Llop, A. Olmos, E. Marco-Noales, M. Cambra, and E. Bertolini. 2009. Are molecular tools solving the challenges posed by detection of plant pathogenic bacteria and viruses? *Current Issues in Molecular Biology* 11 (1): 13–46.
- Lukumbuzya, M., M. Schmid, P. Pjevac, and H. Daims. 2019. A multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization approach using an extended set of fluorophores to visualize microorganisms. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10: 1383.
- Mackay, I.M. 2004. Real-time PCR in the microbiology laboratory. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 10 (3): 190–212.
- Madden, L. V., Hughes, G., & Van Den Bosch, F. (2007). The study of plant disease epidemics.
- Malapi-Wight, M., C. Salgado-Salazar, J.E. Demers, D.L. Clement, K.K. Rane, and J.A. Crouch. 2016. Sarcococca blight: use of whole-genome sequencing for fungal plant disease diagnosis. *Plant Disease* 100 (6): 1093–1100.
- Mancini, V., S. Murolo, and G. Romanazzi. 2016. Diagnostic methods for detecting fungal pathogens on vegetable seeds. *Plant Pathology* 65 (5): 691–703.
- Marcinkowska, J.Z. 2002. Methods of finding and identification of pathogens in seeds. *Plant Breeding and Seed Science* 46 (1): 31–48.
- Marco-Noales, E., E. Bertolini, C. Morente, and M.M. López. 2008. Integrated approach for detection of nonculturable cells of Ralstonia solanacearum in asymptomatic Pelargonium spp. cuttings. *Phytopathology* 98 (8): 949–955.
- Martos, S., E. Torres, M.A. El Bakali, R. Raposo, D. Gramaje, J. Armengol, and J. Luque. 2011. Co-operational PCR coupled with dot blot hybridization for the detection of Phaeomoniella chlamydospora on infected grapevine wood. *Journal of Phytopathology* 159 (4): 247–254.
- Masanga, J.O., J.M. Matheka, R.A. Omer, S.C. Ommeh, E.O. Monda, and A.E. Alakonya. 2015. Downregulation of transcription factor aflR in Aspergillus flavus confers reduction to aflatoxin accumulation in transgenic maize with alteration of host plant architecture. *Plant Cell Reports* 34 (8): 1379–1387.
- Matsuda, Y., T. Sameshima, N. Moriura, K. Inoue, T. Nonomura, K. Kakutani, et al. 2005. Identification of individual powdery mildew fungi infecting leaves and direct detection of gene expression by single conidium polymerase chain reaction. *Phytopathology* 95 (10): 1137–1143.
- McCartney, H.A., S.J. Foster, B.A. Fraaije, and E. Ward. 2003. Molecular diagnostics for fungal plant pathogens. *Pest Management Science: Formerly Pesticide Science* 59 (2): 129–142.

- Meghvansi, M.K., M.H. Khan, R. Gupta, and V. Veer. 2013. Identification of a new species of Cercospora causing leaf spot disease in Capsicum assamicum in northeastern India. *Research in Microbiology* 164 (9): 894–902.
- Milner, H., P. Ji, M. Sabula, and T. Wu. 2019. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (Q-PCR) and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) detection of soilborne pathogen Sclerotium rolfsii. *Applied Soil Ecology* 136: 86–92.
- Moher, D., L. Shamseer, M. Clarke, D. Ghersi, A. Liberati, M. Petticrew, et al. 2015. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Systematic Reviews* 4 (1): 1–9.
- Moreno, A., Bertolini, E., Olmos, A., Cambra, M., & Fereres, A. (2007). Estimation of vector propensity for Lettuce mosaic virus based on viral detection in single aphids.
- Mortazavi, A., B.A. Williams, K. McCue, L. Schaeffer, and B. Wold. 2008. Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. *Nature Methods* 5 (7): 621–628.
- Moter, A., and U.B. Göbel. 2000. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) for direct visualization of microorganisms. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 41 (2): 85–112.
- Mullis, K.B., and F.A. Faloona. 1987. [21] Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerasecatalyzed chain reaction. In *Methods in Enzymology*, vol. 155, 335–350. Academic Press.
- Murolo, S., R.M. De Miccolis Angelini, F. Faretra, and G. Romanazzi. 2018. Phenotypic and molecular investigations on hypovirulent Cryphonectria parasitica in Italy. *Plant Disease* 102 (3): 540–545.
- Musser, R.O., S.M. Hum-Musser, M. Gallucci, B. DesRochers, and J.K. Brown. 2014. Microarray analysis of tomato plants exposed to the nonviruliferous or viruliferous whitefly vector harboring pepper golden mosaic virus. *Journal of Insect Science* 14 (1).
- Naeem, A.K., I.U. Haq, S. Ijaz, S.A. Khan, R. Waseem, and K. Qadri. 2020. Unveiling the fusarium proliferatum association with ficus dieback from Punjab, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 57 (5): 1337–1344.
- Nagamine, K., T. Hase, and T.J.M.C.P. Notomi. 2002. Accelerated reaction by loop-mediated isothermal amplification using loop primers. *Molecular and Cellular Probes* 16 (3): 223–229.
- Nakayashiki, T., C.P. Kurtzman, H.K. Edskes, and R.B. Wickner. 2005. Yeast prions [URE3] and [PSI+] are diseases. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 102 (30): 10575–10580.
- Nam, M., J.S. Kim, S. Lim, C.Y. Park, J.G. Kim, H.S. Choi, et al. 2014. Development of the largescale oligonucleotide chip for the diagnosis of plant viruses and its practical use. *The Plant Pathology Journal* 30 (1): 51.
- Niessen, L. 2015. Current state and future perspectives of loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP)-based diagnosis of filamentous fungi and yeasts. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 99 (2): 553–574.
- Nikitin, M., K. Deych, I. Grevtseva, N. Girsova, M. Kuznetsova, M. Pridannikov, et al. 2018. Preserved microarrays for simultaneous detection and identification of six fungal potato pathogens with the use of real-time PCR in matrix format. *Biosensors* 8 (4): 129.
- Nilsson, R.H., K. Abarenkov, K.H. Larsson, and U. Kõljalg. 2011. Molecular identification of fungi: rationale, philosophical concerns, and the UNITE database. *The Open Applied Informatics Journal* 5 (1).
- Notomi, T., H. Okayama, H. Masubuchi, T. Yonekawa, K. Watanabe, N. Amino, and T. Hase. 2000. Loop-mediated isothermal amplification of DNA. *Nucleic Acids Research* 28 (12): e63– e63.
- Nuovo, G.J. 1994. PCR in situ hybridization. In *In Situ Hybridization Protocols*, 223–241. Humana Press.
- Nuovo, G.J., P. MacConnell, and F. Gallery. 1994. Analysis of nonspecific DNA synthesis during in situ PCR and solution-phase PCR. *Genome Research* 4 (2): 89–96.
- Nutter, F.W. Jr., P.S. Teng, and F.M. Shokes 1991. Disease assessment terms and concepts. *Plant Disease* 75:1187–1188.
- Oliver, J.D. 2005. The viable but nonculturable state in bacteria. *Journal of Microbiology* 43 (spc1): 93–100.

- Olmos, A., E. Bertolini, and M. Cambra. 2002. Simultaneous and co-operational amplification (Co-PCR): a new concept for detection of plant viruses. *Journal of Virological Methods* 106 (1): 51–59.
- Olmos, A., E. Bertolini, M. Gil, and M. Cambra. 2005. Real-time assay for quantitative detection of non-persistently transmitted Plum pox virus RNA targets in single aphids. *Journal of Virological Methods* 128 (1–2): 151–155.
- Olmos, A., M. Cambra, M.A. Dasi, T. Candresse, O. Esteban, M.T. Gorris, and M. Asensio. 1997. Simultaneous detection and typing of plum pox potyvirus (PPV) isolates by heminested-PCR and PCR-ELISA. *Journal of Virological Methods* 68 (2): 127–137.
- Omirou, M., C. Rousidou, F. Bekris, K.K. Papadopoulou, U. Menkissoglou-Spiroudi, C. Ehaliotis, and D.G. Karpouzas. 2011. The impact of biofumigation and chemical fumigation methods on the structure and function of the soil microbial community. *Microbial Ecology* 61 (1): 201–213.
- Ordóñez, N., M. Salacinas, O. Mendes, M.F. Seidl, H.J.G. Meijer, C.D. Schoen, and G.H.J. Kema. 2019. A loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) assay based on unique markers derived from genotyping by sequencing data for rapid in planta diagnosis of Panama disease caused by Tropical Race 4 in banana. *Plant Pathology* 68 (9): 1682–1693.
- Panno, S., S. Matić, A. Tiberini, A.G. Caruso, P. Bella, L. Torta, et al. 2020. Loop mediated isothermal amplification: principles and applications in plant virology. *Plants* 9 (4): 461.
- Panwar, V., B. McCallum, and G. Bakkeren. 2013. Endogenous silencing of Puccinia triticina pathogenicity genes through in planta-expressed sequences leads to the suppression of rust diseases on wheat. *The Plant Journal* 73 (3): 521–532.
- Pecchia, S., B. Caggiano, D. Da Lio, G. Cafà, G. Le Floch, and R. Baroncelli. 2019. Molecular detection of the seed-borne pathogen Collectorichum lupini targeting the hyper-variable IGS region of the ribosomal cluster. *Plants* 8 (7): 222.
- Pépin, N., Z.K. Punja, and D.L. Joly. 2018. Occurrence of powdery mildew caused by Golovinomyces cichoracearum sensu lato on Cannabis sativa in Canada. *Plant Disease* 102 (12): 2644–2644.
- Pimentel, D., R. Zuniga, and D. Morrison. 2005. Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. *Ecological Economics* 52 (3): 273–288.
- Porter-Jordan, K., E.I. Rosenberg, J.F. Keiser, J.D. Gross, A.M. Ross, S. Nasim, and C.T. Garrett. 1990. Nested polymerase chain reaction assay for the detection of cytomegalovirus overcomes false positives caused by contamination with fragmented DNA. *Journal of Medical Virology* 30 (2): 85–91.
- Portillo, M.C., D. Villahermosa, A. Corzo, and J.M. Gonzalez. 2011. Microbial community fingerprinting by differential display-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 77 (1): 351–354.
- Porto, B.N., E.T. Caixeta, S.M. Mathioni, P.M.P. Vidigal, L. Zambolim, E.M. Zambolim, et al. 2019. Genome sequencing and transcript analysis of Hemileia vastatrix reveal expression dynamics of candidate effectors dependent on host compatibility. *PLoS One* 14 (4): e0215598.
- Prasannath, K., V.J. Galea, and O.A. Akinsanmi. 2020. Characterisation of leaf spots caused by Neopestalotiopsis clavispora and Colletotrichum siamense in macadamia in Australia. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 156 (4): 1219–1225.
- Qi, M., and Y. Yang. 2002. Quantification of Magnaporthe grisea during infection of rice plants using real-time polymerase chain reaction and northern blot/phosphoimaging analyses. *Phyto*pathology 92 (8): 870–876.
- Qian, X., and R.V. Lloyd. 2003. Recent developments in signal amplification methods for in situ hybridization. *Diagnostic Molecular Pathology* 12 (1): 1–13.
- Qin, D. 2019. Next-generation sequencing and its clinical application. *Cancer Biology & Medicine* 16 (1): 4.
- Rački, N., T. Dreo, I. Gutierrez-Aguirre, A. Blejec, and M. Ravnikar. 2014. Reverse transcriptase droplet digital PCR shows high resilience to PCR inhibitors from plant, soil and water samples. *Plant Methods* 10 (1): 1–10.

- Rahman, M.T., M.S. Uddin, R. Sultana, A. Moue, and M. Setu. 2013. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR): a short review. Anwer Khan Modern Medical College Journal 4 (1): 30–36.
- Rajesh, T., and M. Jaya. 2017. Next-generation sequencing methods. In Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 143–158. Elsevier.
- Rasmussen, O.F., and B.S. Wulff. 1991. Detection of Pseudomonas syringae pv. pisi using PCR. In Proceedings 4th International Working Group on Pseudomonas syringae Pathovars, 369–376. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Ren, C.H., C.Q. Hu, P. Luo, and Q.B. Wang. 2009. Sensitive and rapid identification of Vibrio vulnificus by loop-mediated isothermal amplification. *Microbiological Research* 164 (5): 514–521.
- Reymond, P. 2001. DNA microarrays and plant defence. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 39 (3-4): 313–321.
- Roberts, M.J. 2006. The Value of Plant Disease Early-Warning Systems: A Case Study of USDA's Soybean Rust Coordinated Framework (No. 18). USDA Economic Research Service.
- Roberts, P. D., J. B. Jones, C. K. Chandler, R. E. Stall, & R. D. Berger (1996). Survival of Xanthomonas fragariae on strawberry in summer nurseries in Florida detected by specific primers and nested polymerase chain reaction.
- Roe, A.D., A.V. Rice, S.E. Bromilow, J.E. Cooke, and F.A. Sperling. 2010. Multilocus species identification and fungal DNA barcoding: insights from blue stain fungal symbionts of the mountain pine beetle. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 10 (6): 946–959.
- Russo, G., C. Zegar, and A. Giordano. 2003. Advantages and limitations of microarray technology in human cancer. *Oncogene* 22 (42): 6497–6507.
- Samuitiene, M., and M. Navalinskiene. 2006. Molecular detection and characterization of phytoplasma infecting Celosia argentea L. plants in Lithuania. Agronomy Research 4: 345–348.
- Sato, T., A. Takayanagi, K. Nagao, N. Tomatsu, T. Fukui, M. Kawaguchi, et al. 2010. Simple PCR-based DNA microarray system to identify human pathogenic fungi in skin. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 48 (7): 2357–2364.
- Schaad, N.W., S.S. Cheong, S. Tamaki, E. Hatziloukas, and N.J. Panopoulos. 1995. A combined biological and enzymatic amplification (BIO-PCR) technique to detect Pseudomonas syringae pv. phaseolicola in bean seed extracts. *Phytopathology* 85 (2): 243–246.
- Schadt, E.E., S. Turner, and A. Kasarskis. 2010. A window into third-generation sequencing. *Human Molecular Genetics* 19 (R2): R227–R240.
- Schoch, C. L., Seifert, K. A., Huhndorf, S., Robert, V., Spouge, J. L., Levesque, C. A., et al. (2012). Nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region as a universal DNA barcode marker for Fungi. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(16), 6241-6246.
- Schoen, C.D., M. Szemes, P.J.M. Bonants, A.G.C.L. Speksnijder, M.M. Klerks, P.H.J.F. Van Den Boogert, et al. 2005. Novel molecular and biochemical techniques for quality control and monitoring in the agrofood production chain. In *Rapid Methods for Biological and Chemical Contaminants in Food and Feed*, 151–176.
- Selvaraj, V., Y. Maheshwari, S. Hajeri, J. Chen, T.G. McCollum, and R. Yokomi. 2018. Development of a duplex droplet digital PCR assay for absolute quantitative detection of "Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus". *PLoS One* 13 (5): e0197184.
- Sergentet-Thevenot, D., M.P. Montet, and C. Vernozy-Rozand. 2008. Challenges to developing nucleic acid sequence based amplification technology for the detection of microbial pathogens in food. *Revue de Médecine Vétérinaire* 159: 514–527.
- Sheridan, G.E.C., C.I. Masters, J.A. Shallcross, and B.M. Mackey. 1998. Detection of mRNA by reverse transcription-PCR as an indicator of viability in *Escherichia coli* cells. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 64 (4): 1313–1318.
- Sikdar, P., P. Okubara, M. Mazzola, and C.L. Xiao. 2014. Development of PCR assays for diagnosis and detection of the pathogens Phacidiopycnis washingtonensis and Sphaeropsis pyriputrescens in apple fruit. *Plant Disease* 98 (2): 241–246.
- Singh, A., and N. Kumar. 2013. A review on DNA microarray technology. International Journal of Current Research and Review 5 (22): 1.

- Soanes, D.M., A. Chakrabarti, K.H. Paszkiewicz, A.L. Dawe, and N.J. Talbot. 2012. Genome-wide transcriptional profiling of appressorium development by the rice blast fungus Magnaporthe oryzae. *PLoS Pathogens* 8 (2): e1002514.
- Somai, B.M., A.P. Keinath, and R.A. Dean. 2002. Development of PCR-ELISA for detection and differentiation of Didymella bryoniae from related Phoma species. *Plant Disease* 86 (7): 710–716.
- Spring, O., and M. Thines. 2010. Molecular techniques for classification and diagnosis of plant pathogenic Oomycota. In *Molecular Identification of Fungi*, 35–50. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Stehlíková, D., N. Luchi, C. Aglietti, A.L. Pepori, J.J. Diez, and A. Santini. 2020. Real-time loopmediated isothermal amplification assay for rapid detection of Fusarium circinatum. *BioTechniques* 69 (1): 11–17.
- Tambong, J.T., A.W.A.M. De Cock, N.A. Tinker, and C.A. Lévesque. 2006. Oligonucleotide array for identification and detection of Pythium species. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 72 (4): 2691–2706.
- Tanner, N.A., Y. Zhang, and T.C. Evans Jr. 2015. Visual detection of isothermal nucleic acid amplification using pH-sensitive dyes. *BioTechniques* 58 (2): 59–68.
- Taoufik, A., Nijhof, A., Hamidjaja, R., Jongejan, F., Pillay, V., Sonnevelt, M., & De Boer, M. Reverse line blot hybridisation in the detection of tick-borne diseases. *Biotech Magazine Online as Published in BTi September* (2004).
- Thalinger, B., Y. Pütz, and M. Traugott. 2021. Endpoint PCR coupled with capillary electrophoresis (celPCR) provides sensitive and quantitative measures of environmental DNA in singleplex and multiplex reactions. *PLoS One* 16 (7): e0254356.
- Tiberini, A., and M. Barba. 2012. Optimization and improvement of oligonucleotide microarraybased detection of tomato viruses and pospiviroids. *Journal of Virological Methods* 185 (1): 43–51.
- Torres-Calzada, C., R. Tapia-Tussell, A. Quijano-Ramayo, R. Martin-Mex, R. Rojas-Herrera, I. Higuera-Ciapara, and D. Perez-Brito. 2011. A species-specific polymerase chain reaction assay for rapid and sensitive detection of Colletotrichum capsici. *Molecular Biotechnology* 49 (1): 48–55. ISSN 1073-6085.
- Trilles, L., B. Wang, C. Firacative, M.D.S. Lazera, B. Wanke, and W. Meyer. 2014. Identification of the major molecular types of Cryptococcus neoformans and *C. gattii* by hyperbranched rolling circle amplification. *PLoS One* 9 (4): e94648.
- Trtkova, J., and V. Raclavsky. 2006. Molecular-genetic approaches to identification and typing of pathogenic Candida yeasts. *Biomedical Papers-Palacky University in Olomouc* 150 (1): 51.
- Tsai, H.L., L.C. Huang, P.J. Ann, and R.F. Liou. 2006. Detection of orchid phytophthora disease by nested PCR. *Botanical Studies* 47 (4).
- Tsui, C.K., J. Woodhall, W. Chen, C.A. Lévesque, A. Lau, C.D. Schoen, et al. 2011. Molecular techniques for pathogen identification and fungus detection in the environment. *IMA Fungus* 2 (2): 177–189.
- Uehara, T., A. Kushida, and Y. Momota. 1999. Rapid and sensitive identification of Pratylenchus spp. using reverse dot blot hybridization. *Nematology* 1 (5): 549–555.
- Ul Haq, I., and S. Ijaz. 2020. History and recent trends in plant disease control: an overview. Plant Disease Management Strategies for Sustainable Agriculture Through Traditional and Modern Approaches: 1–13.
- Ul Haq, I., S. Ijaz, and M.Z. Latif. 2019. Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) based genetic variation analysis of shisham dieback associated strains of Ceratocystis fimbriata sensu lato species complex in Pakistan. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research* 17 (5): 12573–12582.
- Úrbez-Torres, J.R., P. Haag, P. Bowen, T. Lowery, and D.T. O'Gorman. 2015. Development of a DNA macroarray for the detection and identification of fungal pathogens causing decline of young grapevines. *Phytopathology* 105 (10): 1373–1388.

- Van Doorn, R., M. Sławiak, M. Szemes, A.M. Dullemans, P. Bonants, G.A. Kowalchuk, and C.D. Schoen. 2009. Robust detection and identification of multiple oomycetes and fungi in environmental samples by using a novel cleavable padlock probe-based ligation detection assay. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 75 (12): 4185–4193.
- Varga, A., and D. James. 2006. Use of reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification for the detection of Plum pox virus. *Journal of Virological Methods* 138 (1–2): 184–190.
- Voegel, T.M., and L.M. Nelson. 2018. Quantification of Agrobacterium vitis from grapevine nursery stock and vineyard soil using droplet digital PCR. *Plant Disease* 102 (11): 2136–2141.
- Volpi, E.V., and J.M. Bridger. 2008. FISH glossary: an overview of the fluorescence in situ hybridization technique. *BioTechniques* 45 (4): 385–409.
- Wakelin, S.A., R.A. Warren, L. Kong, and P.R. Harvey. 2008. Management factors affecting size and structure of soil Fusarium communities under irrigated maize in Australia. *Applied Soil Ecology* 39 (2): 201–209.
- Waliullah, S., K.S. Ling, E.J. Cieniewicz, J.E. Oliver, P. Ji, and M.E. Ali. 2020. Development of loop-mediated isothermal amplification assay for rapid detection of Cucurbit leaf crumple virus. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21 (5): 1756.
- Wang, D., and Y. Peng. 2014. Assessing the impact of dominant sequencing-based gene expression profiling techniques (SGEPTs) on phytopathogenic fungi. *Chiang Mai Journal of Science* 41 (4): 922–944.
- Wang, Z., and B. Yang. 2009. MicroRNA expression detection methods. Springer.
- Wernecke, M., and C. Mullen. 2014. Molecular biologyl Molecular biology in microbiological analysis. In *Encyclopedia of Food Microbiology*, ed. C.A. Batt and M.L. Tortorello, 2nd ed., 808–814. Oxford, UK: Academic Press.
- Winton, L.M., and E.M. Hansen. 2001. Molecular diagnosis of Phytophthora lateralis in trees, water, and foliage baits using multiplex polymerase chain reaction. *Forest Pathology* 31 (5): 275–283.
- Withers, S., E. Gongora-Castillo, D. Gent, A. Thomas, P.S. Ojiambo, and L.M. Quesada-Ocampo. 2016. Using next-generation sequencing to develop molecular diagnostics for Pseudoperonospora cubensis, the cucurbit downy mildew pathogen. *Phytopathology* 106 (10): 1105–1116.
- Wittwer, C.T., M.G. Herrmann, A.A. Moss, and R.P. Rasmussen. 1997. Continuous fluorescence monitoring of rapid cycle DNA amplification. *BioTechniques* 22 (1): 130–138.
- Yang, F., J.D. Jensen, B. Svensson, H.J. Jørgensen, D.B. Collinge, and C. Finnie. 2010. Analysis of early events in the interaction between Fusarium graminearum and the susceptible barley (Hordeum vulgare) cultivar Scarlett. *Proteomics* 10 (21): 3748–3755.
- Yasin, O., I.U. Haq, S. Ijaz, A. Habib, and R.W.K. Qadri. 2022. The role of different intercrops in guava orchards for dieback disease development and inoculum buildup in Pakistan. Xi'an Shiyou Daxue Xuebao (Ziran Kexue Ban)/Journal of Xi'an Shiyou University, Natural Sciences Edition 65: 181–198.
- Yeo, S.F., and B. Wong. 2002. Current status of nonculture methods for diagnosis of invasive fungal infections. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 15 (3): 465–484.
- Yourno, J. 1992. A method for nested PCR with single closed reaction tubes. *Genome Research* 2 (1): 60–65.
- Zhang, N., D.M. Geiser, and C.D. Smart. 2007. Macroarray detection of solanaceous plant pathogens in the Fusarium solani species complex. *Plant Disease* 91 (12): 1612–1620.
- Zhang, N., M.L. McCarthy, and C.D. Smart. 2008. A macroarray system for the detection of fungal and oomycete pathogens of solanaceous crops. *Plant Disease* 92 (6): 953–960.
- Zhong, X., X.L. Liu, B.H. Lou, C.Y. Zhou, and X.F. Wang. 2018. Development of a sensitive and reliable droplet digital PCR assay for the detection of 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus'. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture* 17 (2): 483–487.



# Microarray Technology for Detection of Plant Diseases

Hafiz Muhammad Usman Aslam, Hasan Riaz, Nabil Killiny, Xin-Gen Zhou, Linda S. Thomashow, Nick T. Peters, and Ashok K. Chanda

#### Abstract

DNA microarrays are a powerful technology that has great implications in plant sciences, biomedical sciences, veterinary, and pharmacological research. It can deal with large numbers of samples for the detection of microbes, clinical diagnosis, gene expression analysis, host–pathogen interactions, food safety testing, and environmental monitoring. Detecting and quantifying the microbial populations in microbial ecology are difficult due to practical difficulties. Conventional procedures such as dilution plating and biochemical assays are ineffective in identifying bacteria and yeasts at the species level and in identifying multiple species simultaneously. These techniques are also imprecise, time-consuming, and unable to identify unculturable species. This chapter focuses on

H. M. U. Aslam (🖂) · H. Riaz

e-mail: usman.aslam@mnsuam.edu.pk

N. Killiny Department of Plant Pathology, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, USA

X.-G. Zhou Department of Plant Pathology and Microbiology, Texas A & M University, College Station, TX, USA

L. S. Thomashow USDA-ARS, Pullman, WA, USA

N. T. Peters Department of Plant Pathology and Microbiology, Iowa State University, Ames, IA, USA

A. K. Chanda Department of Plant Pathology and Northwest Research and Outreach Center, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, USA

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 I. Ul Haq, S. Ijaz (eds.), *Trends in Plant Disease Assessment*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5896-0\_11 203

Department of Plant Pathology, Institute of Plant Protection (IPP), MNS-University of Agriculture, Multan, Pakistan

the review of applications of DNA microarrays for identifying the plant pathogens, fungi, viruses, bacteria, mycoplasma-like organisms, and nematodes. In this chapter, we discuss the gene expression profiling of pathogens and their host plants, new virulent and resistance genes discovery, regulation of gene networks, and physiological pathways under biotic stresses. The supremacy of microarray technology has unraveled the unprecedented knowledge about plant pathogens and their interactions with the host plants, creating new research avenues in the field of molecular plant pathology.

#### **Keywords**

Genomics · cDNA · Microarray chip · Probes · Pathogen identification

# 11.1 Introduction

Plant diseases are one of the most significant constraints to global agricultural production. Detecting plant pathogens responsible for causing diseases early and keeping a close eye on plant health are critical to limiting disease development and dissemination and applying appropriate management measures successfully. While plant pathogens can be identified morphologically, use of serological and nucleic acid-based techniques can increase accuracy and specificity including the pathogens that lack visible morphological structures. Since the development of protein and nucleic acid-based diagnostics, pathogen identification has been revolutionized, and plant disease diagnosis has substantially been improved. DNA microarrays are a valuable tool for studying gene expression, which enables researchers to monitor great amounts of RNA produced in thousands of distinct cell types. This is accomplished using a reverse transcription process to produce complementary DNA copies of the RNA transcripts found in a tissue sample. These complementary DNA copies can then be spotted onto slides using one or more color-coding systems that correspond with patterns of gene expression algorithms.

Biologists have shown great interest in the potential applications of DNA microarrays since DNA microarrays were first introduced in 1995. Microarray technology is an important tool for genetic research because it can examine the expression of hundreds or thousands of genes simultaneously. Microbial research, drug discovery, clinical diagnostics, and genetics are examples of the fields where this technology has been being widely applied. DNA microarrays are expected to be used for the detection and identification of a wider range of plant diseases because of the explosion of knowledge gained by sequencing plant pathogens (Mitra 2021).

It has been 51 years since Watson and Crick first discovered the phenomenon of "DNA complementarity," which allows DNA molecules to be applied to solid surfaces. Gillespie and Spiegelman's 1965 method allows DNA to be immobilized on a membrane and to bind to cRNA or DNA through particular hybridization. Southern and Mitchell's (1971) technique is an obvious extension of the DNA array technique, in which DNA is put to an untreated cellulose surface and then hybridized

(Southern and Mitchell 1971; Southern 1975) while southern blotting is coined as a result of the latter method. According to Kafatos et al. (1979), dot blot hybridization can be utilized in various ways to determine the homology and concentration of nucleic acid sequences. These processes explain how to deploy the probes that have been identified by a signal, whether they are radioactive or fluorescent in nature. Massive parallel observation of hybridization processes is possible due to applying substantial quantities of DNA oligonucleotides to surfaces in two-dimensional arrays. Using microarrays for quantitative gene expression measurements was reported initially in 1995 by Stanford University researchers (Schena et al. 1995). Microarrays and other techniques like quantitative PCR and serial gene expression studies were presented as a high-throughput, parallel approach for measuring gene expression levels of multiple genes. More articles utilizing microarray technology have been published since 1995, with 600 articles in 2001 (Afshari 2002).

# 11.2 Principle and Types of Microarrays

DNA microarrays were developed on the principal that complementary base sequences can be hybridized to form base pairs. For a specific complementary DNA probe to be found on the array, the target's DNA must bind to a specific complementary DNA probe. Each of these probes contains hundreds of cDNA molecules or oligonucleotides specific to a particular gene, DNA sequence, or RNA sequence. Nucleic acid samples can be identified using base-pairing principles based on the DNA and RNA sequences. The DNA probe is deposited on a solid platform, and a few nanoliters are used to create each array. Using a robot for printing guarantees that the spotting can be done consistently (Missoum 2018). An array is referred to as a macroarray or microarray, depending on the number of sample places. Microarrays typically have sample spots of at least 300 nm in diameter. There are generally hundreds or thousands of dots on a microarray sample location that is less than 200 nm in diameter.

Microarrays with the density of 100 spots per cm<sup>2</sup> or less are sometimes referred to as "low-density." There are many commercial suppliers of the low-density arrays, as well as many labs producing their own microarrays. For the low-density arrays, glass is often used since nucleic acids cannot adhere to it without treatment. Ionic interactions are used to affix molecules to poly-L-lysine for this purpose. If the glass substrate has been pretreated with saline, then the probe DNA will be bound covalently to the saline and will not be removed during the hybridization and washing stages. A nylon membrane can cross-link DNA probes covalently to glass slides used to detect radioactively labeled nucleic acids. Plasmids, complementary DNA, PCR products, or synthesized oligonucleotides with amino or thiol groups on their 5' ends can all be used to apply DNA to the array's surface. Plasmids can range from 500 to 5000 bases (Hadidi et al. 2004).

A microarray is considered "high-density" if it has a density of 1000–10,000 spots per cm<sup>2</sup> or more. It is common to refer to the high-density arrays of DNA as "DNA chips." Chemically modified glass or silicon is commonly utilized as the

substrate for immobilizing high-density DNA arrays. When thousands of nucleotides can be applied to a surface in an ordered array, it becomes possible to interrogate thousands of different sequences simultaneously, and this is the reason why DNA microarray technology shows its superiority.

# 11.2.1 Types of Microarray

The simultaneous detection of the expression of numerous genes or proteins is made possible by the use of microarrays in various lab settings. In a short time, microarrays can examine a large volume of biological materials despite their small size and high complexity. Multiplexed parallel processing methods can boost throughput and generate more data in a single microarray experiment. All kinds of microarrays have identical methodologies and analysis techniques, but the goals and uses of each microarray type differ significantly.

## 11.2.2 DNA Microarrays

The DNA microarrays are the most commonly used type of microarray in scientific research. It is possible to diagnose diseases and inherited anomalies using DNA microarrays that are particular to the genome. An analyst uses a small glass plate to print hundreds of synthetically generated short single-strand DNA sequences to create these DNA microarrays. Supplementing the synthetic sequence with genetic material from a plant is done in the same manner. Using a synthetic DNA fragment, the analyst can detect and identify specific mutations in the plant's DNA. To better understand the role of gene mutations in diagnosing various diseases, practitioners typically employ DNA microarrays to research and identify multiple gene mutations (Marzancola et al. 2016).

#### 11.2.3 Protein Microarrays

Although DNA microarrays can be used to detect gene alterations, they cannot be used to measure gene expression in individual cells accurately. To address the shortcomings of DNA microarrays, protein microarrays were developed. As a result, protein microarrays concentrate on the protein–protein interactions rather than the mRNA–mRNA interactions. Many of the same analysis techniques used in DNA microarrays are used in protein microarrays to examine the interactions among proteins and establish their role at both the micro and macro levels (Popescu et al. 2009).

#### 11.2.4 Peptide Microarrays

Because of their parallelism, peptide and protein microarrays' techniques and uses are likely to be highly comparable. Similar to protein microarrays, peptide microarrays are used to study the protein–protein interactions. In contrast, peptide microarrays are also ideal for tracking antibody epitopes and revealing proteinbinding residues. These microarrays are used extensively in medicine, biology, and pharmacology and can contribute to the improvement of more accurate diagnostic tools and vaccinations (Lodha et al. 2013).

## 11.3 DNA Microarray Experiment Design and Implementation

A DNA microarray experiment necessitates a wide range of steps in the planning and execution process. These are the steps that you'll need to follow:

#### 11.3.1 Sequence-Specific DNA Probes

Probes can be oligonucleotides of any length, cDNAs, chromosomes, or even whole organisms. Standard techniques, including restriction enzyme digestion, cloning, and polymerase chain reaction (PCR), can be used to make the probes. Gene expression libraries can either be purchased or synthesized, depending on the needs of the experiment. There are thousands of these different cDNAs or oligonucleotides in a single probe, each targeting a different gene or piece of DNA/RNA. The baker's yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was used to create arrays comprising oligonucleotides representing the known genes. There were more than 65,000 DNA synthesizing features in the arrays. An oligonucleotide of 25-mers, each containing more than  $10^7$  copies, is used to synthesize each 50–50 µm feature. Oligonucleotides for each yeast's 6321 known genes have an average of 40 synthesis traits (Lipshutz et al. 1999; Mirmajlessi et al. 2015). Oligonucleotides specific to the 30,000 human genes have been created using an approach similar to this (http:// www.mwbiotech.com/html). However, it is possible to detect the role of novel unexplored and un-sequenced genes, including those in viral genomes, using cDNAs.

#### 11.3.2 Expansion and Application of DNA to Arrays

Contact-dip deposition printing, micro-contact printing, electrocapture, and microfluidics networks can all be utilized to immobilize DNA on the array's surface. Immobilization and in situ synthesis are two possible applications for piezoelectric printing and micro wet printing. The photolithographic method is the only way to perform in situ synthesis. A few nanoliters of highly purified DNA are deposited onto a solid support to construct a DNA array. Robotic printing uses a series of

identical patterns to create a finished object. As opposed to those used for microarrays, the supports for macroarrays can have up to 2–3 cm<sup>2</sup> and tens of thousands of genes per cm<sup>2</sup> (Bertucci et al. 2001). Oligo-chips, often called gene chips, were developed by Affymetrix as a technology (www.affymetrix.com). One of their first ideas was to chemically synthesize single-stranded DNA segments of 20–25 mers to generate polynucleotides directly on a rigid framework directly. Photolithography and solid-phase DNA production are required to make these arrays. It is necessary to have a light source for these two operations. Various bases are attached and joined to a glass substrate covered in synthetic linkers. Anywhere on the glass substrate can be used to generate DNA probes by using this method. By utilizing this technology, it is possible, for example, to build arrays containing hundreds or thousands of polynucleotides in a single cm<sup>2</sup> (and as much as one million in experimental prototypes) (Lipshutz et al. 1999).

# 11.3.3 Target Preparation

The first single-stranded cDNA is reverse transcribed using either purified poly (A+) RNA or the RNA in its entirety. The target dCTP tagged with Cy3 or Cy5 fluorescence is integrated into the cDNA when the cDNA is reverse transcribed on a glass support. An alternative to reverse transcription is to employ "post tagged" cDNA, which binds to the nucleotides that have been altered by Cy3- or Cy5-NHS ester reactive forms. Microarray hybridization with these cDNAs yields homogeneous and high signal intensities. Autoradiography or chemiluminescence can be used to detect the hybridization of cDNA to nylon membranes containing radiolabeled nucleotides such as a32 P-dCTP (Bertucci et al. 2001; Heller 2002). To label cDNA after hybridization, biotin-16-dUTP and digoxigenin-11-dUTP can be utilized; hybrids are detected by colorimetry using streptavidin-coated  $\beta$ -galactosidase or an alkaline-phosphatase conjugated anti-digoxigenin antibody (Chen et al. 1998). To prevent interference with the detection of the radioactive and fluorescent signals, RNA purity is required at this experiment stage.

## 11.3.4 Hybridization

The labeled target solution is made using a hot denaturation of the probe DNA. Nylon membranes require between 300 ng and 5 g of original total RNA for hybridization, while glass surfaces require up to 20 g of original total RNA. A single dye or radioactive labeling hybridization is sufficient if the array is hybridized to a single cDNA type. One can use either Cy3-dCTP or Cy5-dCTP to mark the control and experimental cDNA samples, depending on the objective of the array. Both cDNA and dye must be used in equal proportions to acquire accurate results. Hybridization occurs in a 65 °C humid environment over a long period. Finally, the slide or chip is sanitized to eliminate unbound nucleotides so that the detection stage can proceed (Singh and Kumar 2013).

# 11.3.5 Detection of Images

Scanners and direct imaging systems are both used for detection. A laser excitation source and a detector measure the light emitted by this excitation source in each place. This allows the identification of fluorescently labeled DNA. An image can be captured and preserved using direct imaging, in which a single excitation source illuminates the entire array simultaneously. It can be utilized with radioactive hybridization or colorimetry (Zhao et al. 2014). The resolution and sensitivity of direct imaging are surpassed by scanning. The detection findings build graphic computer files (such as TIFFs).

## 11.3.6 Data Analysis

The DNA array data must be presented in the most informative manner possible. Complex bioinformatics methods are needed for this, and it is necessary to use specialized software to determine the light intensity at each detected wavelength when dyes are used. The Cy3/Cy5 ratio is assessed by scanning the slide for fluorescence of Cy3 and Cy5 cDNAs that have been hybridized. When cDNA from different populations hybridizes together, the result is an artificial color overlay that looks red or green depending on how much of one group hybridizes with the other. Although each cDNA is represented by "red" and "green," the relative abundance for each gene is represented by the ratio of "red" to "green" (experimental vs. control). The expression levels of experimental and control samples are compared using these metrics. When looking for image analysis software, one can find a non-exhaustive list here: ArraySoft Image Analysis Software This (http://ihome,cuhk.edu;b400559/ArraySoftImage.html). includes а two-dimensional grid with changing hues of red, green, and yellow dots that correspond to the points in the array. Instead, a scatter plot can be generated to demonstrate the differences in gene expression levels. To make sense of large amounts of data, it is necessary to use technologies like GeneSpring and Spotfire (Amaratunga et al. 2014).

# 11.4 Application of Microarrays

Microarray technology is extremely useful in the field of genetic study. Research in biological, pharmaceutical, genomic, and diagnostic fields, as well as in diagnostics and food quality and safety, are all benefiting from its use. Microarrays are most commonly used for the following purposes:

# 11.4.1 Gene Expression Analysis

Multigene expression can be studied using microarrays, which have proven to be a highly effective tool for this task. For studying the simultaneous expression of up to 15,000 ESTs, it is preferable to use cDNA-based microarrays, especially if the ESTs have not yet been sequenced. EST sequencing is only done when the ESTs show distinctive gene expression patterns. Concerning specificity and sensitivity, oligonucleotide-based microarrays are superior to cDNA-based microarrays. *Drosophila, Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, and *Arabidopsis* have been extensively studied utilizing DNA microarrays for gene expression profiling (White et al. 1999; Beisson et al. 2003; Marzancola et al. 2016).

# 11.4.2 Applications in Agriculture

Plant genetics and gene functions are currently being studied by using microarray technology. Genetically engineered food can be tested by using the first commercially available DNA chip (Bawa and Anilakumar 2013). The chip can detect genetically modified organisms (GMOs) in raw materials, processed foods, and animal feed. As a consequence, it can identify viral DNA (CaMV) in addition to particular gene segments, such as the Nos-terminator gene (Bt, EPSPS).

# 11.4.3 Food Quality

Public health, economics, religion, and the law are all affected when tissues from animals of unknown species are found in food. It is now possible to distinguish between 33 different species of animals using an array of DNA chips, which comprises 80,000 oligonucleotide probes and is available from Affymetrix http://www.affymetrix.com/orporate/media/genechip\_essentials/foodexpert/Food-Expert\_ID\_Array.affx).

## 11.4.4 Food-Borne Pathogens

Microarray testing revealed several different bacterial pathogens that can be transmitted through food. In addition to *E. coli* O157:H7 and STEC, *Campylobacter, Salmonella typhimurium* DT 104, and *Listeria monocytogenes* (http://www.gov.on. ca/OMAFRA/english/research/specialresearch/2001/sr9087.htm) are just a handful of the pathogens that have been detected so far.

#### 11.4.5 Detection of Microorganisms

As many as a thousand microscopic organisms can be quickly and simultaneously identified using DNA microarray technology. The microarray can detect the microorganism infecting plants, humans, animals, and microbial populations in environmental samples.

# 11.5 Applications of Microarray Technology

#### 11.5.1 Microarray-Aided Microbial Diagnostics

Plant viruses, viroids, and phytoplasmas must be detected and identified for epidemiological and genetic investigations, pathogen comparisons, quarantine and certification, and as a follow-up to pathogen therapy (Hadidi et al. 2004; Ragozzino et al. 2004; Martinelli et al. 2015). Methods for detecting each infection listed above have been developed over the past few decades. There are four main types of these strategies. Herbaceous and woody indicators are common in conventional biological indices. To accurately identify pathogens, this approach has several shortcomings and is the most commonly used to detect one pathogen per experiment. An antibody and an antigen must interact to identify one pathogen at a time in a gel diffusion, an ELISA, or an immunoblotting assay. It is impossible to utilize these procedures on viroids since they are infectious naked RNAs without coat proteins; hence, they are unsuitable (Pallas et al. 2018). One pathogen can be identified with each experiment using cDNA and nucleic acid hybridization probes, and PCR and RT-PCR are also included in this group.

Most applications benefit significantly from the PCR's high level of selectivity while also delivering good sensitivity. The limitation is that only one organism can be addressed per response tube even with enhanced multiplexing. It's been more than a decade since researchers began working on various virus- and other pathogen-detection initiatives in plants (Nikitin et al. 2018; Pathak et al. 2020). Plant viruses and other plant pathogens can be detected by using DNA microarray technology. Additionally, studies have been initiated to find "bacteria" and *Fusarium* spp., many of which produces mycotoxin (Nicolaisen 2002), and *Aspergillus* spp., some of which produces aflatoxin (Scherm et al. 2002), and nematodes (Petralia et al. 2022), as well as other plant pathogens. Commercial DNA microarrays were produced by Agilent Technologies and North Carolina State University using DNA probes from the rice blast fungus *Pyricularia oryzae* and the rice plant itself. For the first time, researchers may analyze the interplay of diseases on plants by using microarrays with two genomes.

Plant viruses, viroids, phytoplasmas, and other diseases infect commercially important horticultural and field crops and ornamental plants. These pathogens are divided into 16 families and 65 genera, respectively. Current methods for screening a wide variety of viruses, viroids, and phytoplasmas can only detect a small number of potential pathogens, and one pathogen is usually the focus of each experiment, as previously mentioned. International efforts are underway to design and manufacture a DNA microarray chip based on these pathogen genomes' available nucleotide sequence data. This method may simultaneously identify viruses, viroids, virusoids, and phytoplasmas. Hybridization patterns can be used to identify diseases that are closely related. It is feasible to select microarray components derived from pathogen families, genera, or groupings to detect pathogens not expressly represented in the DNA microarray. Pathogens, particularly those engaged in plant diseases with an unknown etiology, can be discovered using this strategy. Because of versatility and capability of detecting a wide range of infections at once, DNA microarrays are an excellent tool for determining which pathogens have been found (Amiri et al. 2018). Plant virology research, certification, and quarantine programs can benefit from this technique. This technique may reduce sample preparation, the time required for assay and data analysis, and costs.

Most applications of microarrays have been far focused on detecting the diversity of soil pathogen populations. Black root rot disease-suppressing or conducive bacterial communities in soil (*Thielaviopsis basicola*) can be used as an example for illustration. Kyselkova et al. (2009a) created an array of microarrays with 1033 probes specifically tailored to target 19 different bacterial phyla, such as Proteobacteria and Firmicutes. Researchers could separate soils with suppressive or favorable black root rot using microarray data. No follow-up studies have been published, which uses the microarray developed by Lievens et al. (2005) to measure the levels of the vascular wilt pathogens *Verticillium albo-atrum* and *V. dahliae* in the soil. There has been much discussion regarding the challenges posed by base-pair mismatches and the fact that the signal intensity is dependent on the probe. Both of these problems can be fixed by using probes that can only ligate to targets that are an exact match for them (Kyselkova et al. 2009b). This approach does not allow for the quantification of individual bacteria inside a sample but allows comparisons between samples.

## 11.5.2 Plant–Pathogen Interactions

Genomic technologies enable the study of complete developmental or metabolic processes, gene networks, chromosomal locations of key genes, and their evolutionary history. For example, transcript profiling has provided insights into plant–pathogen interactions, such as the mechanisms of host/non-host resistance and biotrophy vs. necrotrophy, as well as the pathogenicity of vascular and non-vascular infections. With microarray technology, it is possible to find commonalities and differences in host–pathogen interactions on a wide scale (Wise et al. 2007).

## 11.6 Cellular Perspective in Biological Stress Pathways

Methyl jasmonate (MeJA), as a plant defense gene regulator, has been shown to provide long-lasting and highly targeted effects. Compared to other signaling molecules, MeJA has been examined more extensively. *Arabidopsis thaliana* and other systems have been used to study the molecular genetic pathways in which MeJA is engaged, including microarray analysis, knockout lines, and functional gene expression investigations (Pickett et al. 2007).

Transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants overexpressing the jasmonate carboxyl methyltransferase gene were subjected to gene expression analysis using GeneChip arrays (*AtJMT*). Genes associated with defense and oxidative stress tolerance were among 80 upregulated genes, whereas genes involved in photosynthesis and cold/ drought stress responses were among 88 genes with reduced expression. According to the findings of this study, MeJA is a key regulator of jasmonate-responsive gene expression in plants (Jung et al. 2007a).

Another study found that adventitious roots of *Bupleurum kaoi* are regulated by interactions between signaling pathways. Stress-resistant roots of *B. kaoi* were shown to have a higher concentration of MeJA-activated genes involved in the synthesis of saikosaponin, amino acids, phenylpropanoid, and jasmonate biosynthesis. An *Arabidopsis thaliana* jasmonate sensitive gene screen found that when applied externally to the rosette leaves of 5-week-old plants, 100 mM MeJA significantly affected the expression levels of 137 genes (Jung et al. 2007b). Cell wall alterations, defense, oxidative stress responses, and jasmonate production were all elevated in that study, whereas there was a downregulation of genes involved in chlorophyll production and photosynthesis. Abiotic stress responses, jasmonate, and abscisic acid signaling pathways were antagonistic.

The transcriptome of sugarcane was studied using cDNA microarrays containing 1545 sugarcane genes. One or more treatments showed differential expression in 179 investigated genes (Rocha et al. 2007). The results of ABA and MeJA tests also revealed that genes associated in signal transduction, transcription factors (TFs), hormone production, new genes, and genes relating to undiscovered proteins made up most of the arrayed elements.

Defense mechanisms against biotic stresses were identified by measuring the levels of jasmonic acid (JA) and salicylic acid (SA) after herbivore attacks on *Nicotiana attenuate* (Rayapuram and Baldwin 2007). As a result of SA treatment, the transcript level of *NaNPR1* increased, making plants more vulnerable to herbivore and disease attacks. An analysis of microarray data found increased regulation of genes involved in SA production in plants silenced by NPR-1, but decreased regulation of several JA-induced genes. It was found that *NPR1* negatively regulated SA production during herbivore attack, triggering JA-mediated defenses; as a result, the SA production of NPR1 silenced plants was enhanced, whereas the plants' protective mechanisms against herbivory were weakened.

Auxin, a vital plant hormone that regulates plant growth and development, may affect a plant's vulnerability to disease. According to the plant's genomic annotation, *A. thaliana* GH3 auxin-responsive gene family, GH3.5, has in vitro adenylation

activity for both IAA and SA (Zhang et al. 2007). In response to pathogen infection, GH3.5 functions as both a stimulator and an inhibitor of SA by increasing the expression of SA-responsive genes and defense components and decreasing the expression of auxin repressor genes.

## 11.6.1 Symbiosis and Fungi-Induced Infections

Pathogen invasion triggers a series of signaling pathways that induce systemic resistance in a distant tissue. *Arabidopsis brassicicola*-induced systemic defenses in *Arabidopsis* plants resulted in the upregulation of 25 genes and the downregulation of 10 genes in the distal plant tissue (Schenk et al. 2003). Distal tissue alterations in genes with putative functions in cellular housekeeping reveal that plants modify these processes to allow for a coordinated pathogen response. Signal transduction and cell wall formation/modification genes were transcriptionally upregulated. The study found that distal tissues of pathogen-challenged plants are well prepared for future attacks.

*Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *vasinfectum* (Fov)-infected cotton hypocotyl tissues express more defense-related genes than infected root tissues. More genes are inhibited than activated in infected roots, especially early on. An early study showed that pathogens suppress drought-responsive proteins in roots and hypocotyls, and this response leads to vascular wilt disorders. The gene expression study revealed that the phytohormones ET and auxin have a role in the progression of the disease (Dowd et al. 2004).

Microarray and qRT-PCR were used to identify genes expressed in cotton root and hypocotyl tissues during pathogenic Fov infection. There were 218 fungus clones representing 174 genes for Fov expressed in plants. Few Fov genes were known or linked to fungal growth and energy production. Eleven fungal genes were selectively expressed in plant tissue, including a suspected oxidoreductase gene with homology to *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*' AtsC (Mcfadden et al. 2006).

Resistance to SA, MeJA, ACC, *Ascochyta rabiei* was investigated in chickpea. It was shown that the three *Cicer arietinum* genotypes had different levels of Ascochyta blight resistance (Coram and Pang 2007). According to the study, the *A. rabiei*-resistant genotype had higher levels of defense-related gene activation, which identified differential expression in 425 transcripts. Chickpea defense mechanisms may be better understood, and disease-resistant cultivars may be developed due to these findings on the molecular control of cellular activities in chickpeas.

More than a quarter of *Arabidopsis* genes were altered by these 7000 ESTs, which were tested in various mutant backgrounds and infected with the oomycete pathogen *Peronospora parasitica* or treated with the chemical benzothiadiazole. *Arabidopsis* mutants Cim6, Cim7, and Cim11 all showed the same patterns of gene expression as BTH-expressing wild-type plants. There was a 2.5-fold difference in the expression patterns of 413 ESTs.

Maize gene chips have been used to study the Les9 maize mutant's differential gene expression, which includes the generation of defense-related proteins and better

resistance to *Bipolaris maydis* in maize (less than 9%) (Nadimpalli et al. 2000). Infection with *Cochliobolus carbonum* activated or repressed 117 genes on an Affymetrix Gene Chip encoding 1500 maize ESTs (Baldwin et al. 1999). One-thirds of the genes on this array were defense-related, based on their homology to known or suspected defense-related genes. A total of 69 genes, several previously linked to plant defense, had mRNA abundance changes of at least two-fold. Individual gene names remained a mystery except for Zm-hir3, which is thought to be involved in cell death via ion channel control.

#### 11.6.2 Rust Diseases

Microarray transcriptome profiling was performed for 3-week-old soybean plants infected with the Asian soybean rust pathogen (Panthee et al. 2007). The transcriptome profiling resulted in the defense and stress-related differential expression of 112 genes, including upregulation of 46 genes while six were downregulated. The plant's inadequate and non-targeted response to the virus may be accountable for its inability to develop resistance to soybean rust.

Many wheat diseases, including leaf rust, yellow rust, and others, are protected by the Lr34/Yr18 gene in wheat. In the absence of Lr34/Yr18 precise role, a microarraybased study was conducted on wheat near-isogenic lines for Lr34/Yr18, which were inoculated and mock-inoculated on the flag leaf, respectively (Lagudah et al. 2009). The mock inoculation of bacteria caused the upregulation of ABA deficiency-related genes in the leaf tips of the resistant lines, while no upregulation of PR proteins was observed in the mock-inoculated resistant lines. The upregulation of PR genes in the rust inoculated lines reflected the putative role of Lr34/Yr18 in imparting resistance.

## 11.6.3 Plant Virus–Host Interactions

Plant viruses have varied nucleotide sequences and induce diverse plant diseases. Microarray technology allows for specialized virus testing. Virus infection triggers many signaling pathways in host cells. A plant's resistance and vulnerability to viruses are reflected in the cellular response. Viral protein accumulation causes non-specific changes in gene expression although specific virus–host protein interactions also have an effect. Stress and defense-related genes are among those whose expression changes in response to viruses, while the viral RNA silencing suppressors modulate the gene regulation and hormone signaling leading to abnormal development of the host (Rahman et al. 2021).

Microarrays were used to measure *Nicotiana benthamiana's* gene expression changes after infection by enveloped viruses. In the case of *Impatiens necrotic spot virus* (INSV), 275, 2646, and 4165 genes were differentially expressed 2, 4, and 5 days post-inoculation, respectively, while 35, 665, and 1458 genes had varying expression after 5, 11, and 14 days when inoculated with *Sonchus yellow net virus* (Senthil et al. 2005).

Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV), tomato mottle virus (TMoV), potato virus X (PVX), turnip vein-clearing virus (TuVCV), and odontoglossum ringspot virus (ORSV) were all used to infect *Arabidopsis* plants. The microarray analyses showed the coordinated differential expression of genes in case of multiple virus infections. According to gene promoter investigations, the RNA viruses that infected susceptible host plants responded similarly through unknown signaling mechanisms (Whitham et al. 2006). The susceptible potato lines infected with tuber necrotic ringspot disease, caused by *Potato virus Y*, were subjected cDNA microarrays analyses. The analyses showed the expression of different genes, but notably Igor gene expression was most prominent at 14 dpi (Pompe-Novak et al. 2005).

Viruses in a variety of ways alter plants' molecular and morpho-physiological characteristics. Tomato ringspot nepovirus, Prunus necrotic ringspot ilarvirus, and plum pox potyvirus exhibit various symptoms. The comparative expression profiling was conducted to discover if there were any gene expression changes in *N. benthamiana* infected with three fruit tree viruses. Tomato ringspot virus (ToRSV), prunus necrotic ringspot virus (PNRSV), and plum pox virus (PPV) infection had been able to regulate expression of 1082, 744, and 89 genes. Moreover, the PPV- and ToRSV-infected leaves inhibited plastid-related genes. PPV enhanced cytosolic ribosomal gene expression while ToRSV reduced plastidic ribosomal gene expression (Dardick 2007).

#### 11.6.4 Maladies caused by Bacteria

*Arabidopsis* was one of the first plants studied for bacterial effects on gene expression. The cDNA microarray analysis showed an increase in defense-related transcripts in *Pseudomonas thivervalensis*-infected *Arabidopsis* shoots (Calvo et al. 2019).

Basal resistance to the bacterial infection in *Arabidopsis*, microarray expression profiling was done to ascertain the role of WRKY53 transcription factor and HSPRO2-like nematode resistance protein against *P. syringae* pv. *tomato*. The two tomato mutant lines, lacking *At4g23810* and *At2g40000* genes, responsible for coding WRKY53 transcription factor and HSPRO2-like nematode resistance protein, were proved more vulnerable to infection by *P. syringae*, demonstrating the positive role of these genes in incorporating resistance. These two genes interfered with the SA, JA, and ET signaling (Murray et al. 2007).

The genomic expression analyses of 7981 tomato and pepper varieties resistant to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *vesicatoria* (Xcv T3 bacteria) causing spot disease were carried out in Hawaii. The differentially expressed genes were classified, on a functional basis, into 20 functional groups, which also included stress and defensive responsive genes, apart from protein synthesis and signaling genes. The *AvrXv3* effector protein was found to directly regulate 77% of the XRE (Xanthomonas-regulated) genes studied in a comprehensive analysis. Following an incompatible interaction with an avirulent strain of *P. syringae* pv. *tomato*, 64% of the XRE genes were activated in tomato (Gibly et al. 2004).

Hypersensitive response (HR) was determined using cDNA from infected and non-inoculated cotton line Im216 leaves. PCR was used to amplify unique sequences and genes, which were then placed on glass slides. After 8–60 h post-inoculation, these microarrays were used to examine Im216 transcripts. Over 98% of the genes showed an increase in expression during one or more sample periods. The upregulated genes, a total of 63%, were involved in protein synthesis, disease or defense-related PR proteins, secondary metabolism, or retrotransposon-like protein (Da Silva and Yucel 2008).

#### 11.6.5 Nematode-Induced Changes in Host Plants

Genome-wide gene expression analyses of the soybean cyst nematode (SCN) and its host plant were conducted simultaneously. Of the 35,611 soybean genes on GeneChip arrays, many were up/downregulated in infected root tissues. Genes that encode enzymes involved in primary metabolism, lignin and flavonoid production and the stress and defense response system, alterations to the cell wall, cellular signal transduction, and transcriptional control were some of the genes discovered. Among 7431 SCN transcripts, more than 1850 were expressed differentially in different phases of worm parasitism and development (Ithal et al. 2007).

The root-knot nematode, a plant parasite known as *Meloidogyne javanica*, creates and maintains a long-term root inhibiting feeding site. Through the mutually beneficial interactions of Meloidogyne species, roots are transformed into multinucleate feeding cells for worms (also known as "giant cells"). The root-knot nematodeinfected tomato was subjected to gene expression analysis through a tomato-spotted microarray chip (Bar-Or et al. 2005). Researchers found that the steady-state transcript levels of various functional categories, such as PR genes, hormone-related transcripts, and development-relevant transcription factors (TFs), had been altered. Research on the plant response to root-knot nematodes was conducted using large cell-enriched root tissues from *Arabidopsis* (Jammes et al. 2005). A substantial difference in gene expression was found in 3373 of the 22,089 genes examined. The down regulation of specific genes may also be necessary for the appropriate formation of galls. Jammes et al. (2005) discovered that nematode feeding sites were formed due to the suppression of plant defenses.

## 11.7 Cataloguing Host Responses

Gene expression analysis in plants is only getting started with microarray technology (Heller 2002; Behzadi and Ranjbar 2019). Initial microarray-based experiments have paved the way for further functional studies which could unlock the critical mechanisms underlying plant defenses. Expressed sequence tags (ESTs) of 2375 *Arabidopsis* genes were recently analyzed to see if there were any transcriptional changes following inoculation with the incompatible fungal pathogen *Alternaria brassicicola* or the application of low molecular weight signals like methyl
jasmonate or ethylene. Seven hundred five mRNAs varied at least 2.5-fold in response to one or more treatments in this study. One hundred six genes were discovered with previously unknown functions, despite the majority of these genes being identified based on their similarity to previously known sequences (Schenk et al. 2000). It has been found that treatment with SA and marijuana (MJ) enhanced transcript levels in 192 genes and suppressed transcript levels in another 221 genes. There are genes involved in antimicrobial defense, cell wall remodeling, phytoalexin synthesis, and signal transduction. These stimuli may have induced secondary effects because just a one-time point was used in this investigation. *A. brassicicola* (incompatible pathogen) gene expression patterns were compared to those of tissue that had not been injected. The findings showed that 72 h after inoculation, 168 gene transcripts were specifically induced in infected leaves, whereas 70 gene transcripts were upregulated in the uninoculated leaves (Schenk et al. 2003).

The transcriptomes of plants studied by using microarrays have yielded valuable insights into the stress-responsive genes found in these organisms. Additional genomics, proteomics, and metabolomics research are required to shed light on plant stress tolerance processes at the cellular level and better understand how genes, proteins, and metabolites interact to make healthy plant cells.

## 11.8 Advantages and Disadvantages of Microarrays

There has been a steady rise in the applications of microarrays due to its ease, lack of dependence on large-scale DNA sequencing, and ability to evaluate thousands of genes from numerous samples simultaneously. DNA microarrays can also be used to evaluate large-scale DNA variants, rapidly investigate chromosomal structure, and locate protein-binding areas on DNA. The advantages of microarrays over Western and ELISA analyses include increased throughput, multiplex analysis, reduced reagent consumption, high sensitivity, and fewer samples needed.

High costs, many low-specificity probes, and a lack of control over the transcript pool are some of the significant microarray restrictions. The most frequently used microarray platforms can only employ one set of probes designed by the manufacturer (Everett et al. 2010).

## 11.9 Microarray Costs in Comparison

Microarrays have been criticized for being prohibitively expensive for frequent use. However, as sales volume and automation in manufacturing increase, costs of molecular equipment decrease. For example, the price of qPCR machines has dropped by 90% since their invention a decade ago. Clondiag (http://www. biochipnet.com/node/154) and other low-cost microarray systems use a reader technology that lowers expenses (Barrett et al. 2009). These microarray approaches have been compared to standard culturing and biochemical methods for bacterial identification and found to be superior and less labor-intensive. In contrast, qPCR is labor-intensive and expensive due to the high cost of reagents and the need for multiple runs to identify a wide variety of species reliably. It is still prohibitive for regular diagnostics to employ next-generation sequencing because of the high prices of next-generation sequencing, even as the technology improves. Selective gene regions that can be used for identification in these molecular diagnostic techniques are the most expensive (Arvanitis et al. 2014). The development of diagnostic oligonucleotides necessitates an international collaboration. The expenses will fall even further when gene and genome sequences are made publicly available.

#### 11.10 Future Perspectives

The current chapter has summarized the various aspects of microarray technology employment in the field of molecular plant pathology. The microarrays will directly impact the agriculture community once the cost and user-friendly device developments become within reach for use by the diagnosticians and farmingrelated services. Moreover, microarrays will continue to be utilized to explore the diversity of microbial communities, even as next-generation sequencing becomes more widely available. Microarrays allow for the relative quantification of differences among samples. As a result of their large capacity for multiplexing, microarrays still have many advantages over other diagnostic techniques. The difficulty and length of time needed in creating and testing genomic sections that identify one species from another are a key hurdle to the commercialization and future development of microarrays for organism identification. Other molecular identification methods, like as sequencing, are also hindered by a lack of discriminating information. If current trends continue, microarrays may become a common diagnostic tool for plants, humans, and animals. Microarrays may be replaced with smaller biosensors when a single pathogen or a few pathogens are stored on an electronic platform. Electromagnetically charged magnetic beads might be used to produce target-probe complexes, which may be monitored by ultrasensitive thin-film sensors with magnetic fields holding an electric charge. Detection of one pathogen DNA molecule should be possible in a short amount of time using the sensor.

A transistor network has recently been used to identify DNA point mutations electronically (Pouthas et al. 2004). An antibody tagged with a luminous dye could be used to detect markers associated with a specific disease. A fluorimeter can see fluorescence quenching due to proper antigen binding in this scenario. The deployment of these devices in the battle against bioterrorism would be enormously beneficial (Mattmann 2020; Zahavy et al. 2003). These kinds of sensors have been developed by a wide range of companies and research institutions. However, the cost of microarray technology will continue to diminish with innovations in easy-to-use platforms, which would directly impact plant disease mitigation through accurate pathogen diagnosis and understanding of the cellular mechanisms underlying disease development.

## References

- Afshari, C.A. 2002. Perspective: microarray technology, seeing more than spots. *Endocrinology* 143 (6): 1983–1989.
- Amaratunga, D., J. Cabrera, and Z. Shkedy. 2014. Exploration and Analysis of DNA Microarray and Other High-Dimensional Data. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Amiri, M., A. Bezaatpour, H. Jafari, R. Boukherroub, and S. Szunerits. 2018. Electrochemical methodologies for the detection of pathogens. ACS Sensors 3 (6): 1069–1086.
- Arvanitis, M., T. Anagnostou, B.B. Fuchs, A.M. Caliendo, and E. Mylonakis. 2014. Molecular and nonmolecular diagnostic methods for invasive fungal infections. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 27 (3): 490–526.
- Baldwin, D., V. Crane, and D. Rice. 1999. A comparison of gel-based, nylon filter and microarray techniques to detect differential RNA expression in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 2 (2): 96–103.
- Bar-Or, C., Y. Kapulnik, and H. Koltai. 2005. A broad characterization of the transcriptional profile of the compatible tomato response to the plant parasitic root knot nematode *Meloidogyne javanica*. European Journal of Plant Pathology 111 (2): 181–192.
- Barrett, B., I. Adams, R. Glover, and N. Boonham. 2009. The development of a Clondiag potato virus microarray for diagnostic use. Aspects of Applied Biology 94: 49–50.
- Bawa, A., and K. Anilakumar. 2013. Genetically modified foods: safety, risks and public concerns: a review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 50 (6): 1035–1046.
- Behzadi, P., and R. Ranjbar. 2019. DNA microarray technology and bioinformatic web services. Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica 66 (1): 19–30.
- Beisson, F., A.J. Koo, S. Ruuska, J.R. Schwender, M. Pollard, J.J. Thelen, T. Paddock, J.J. Salas, L. Savage, and A. Milcamps. 2003. *Arabidopsis* genes involved in acyl lipid metabolism. A 2003 census of the candidates, a study of the distribution of expressed sequence tags in organs, and a web-based database. *Plant Physiology* 132 (2): 681–697.
- Bertucci, F., B. Loriod, R. Tagett, S. Granjeaud, D. Birnbaum, C. Nguyen, and R. Houlgatte. 2001. DNA arrays: technological aspects and applications. *Bulletin du Cancer* 88 (3): 243–252.
- Calvo, P., S. Zebelo, D. Mcnear, J. Kloepper, and H. Fadamiro. 2019. Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria induce changes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* gene expression of nitrate and ammonium uptake genes. *Journal of Plant Interactions* 14 (1): 224–231.
- Chen, J.J., R. Wu, P.C. Yang, J.Y. Huang, Y.P. Sher, M.H. Han, W.C. Kao, P.J. Lee, T.F. Chiu, and F. Chang. 1998. Profiling expression patterns and isolating differentially expressed genes by cDNA microarray system with colorimetry detection. *Genomics* 51 (3): 313–324.
- Coram, T.E., and E.C. Pang. 2007. Transcriptional profiling of chickpea genes differentially regulated by salicylic acid, methyl jasmonate and aminocyclopropane carboxylic acid to reveal pathways of defence-related gene regulation. *Functional Plant Biology* 34 (1): 52–64.
- Da Silva, J.A.T., and M. Yucel. 2008. Revealing response of plants to biotic and abiotic stresses with microarray technology. *Genes Genomics* 2 (1): 14–48.
- Dardick, C. 2007. Comparative expression profiling of Nicotiana benthamiana leaves systemically infected with three fruit tree viruses. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 20 (8): 1004–1017.
- Dowd, C., I.W. Wilson, and H. Mcfadden. 2004. Gene expression profile changes in cotton root and hypocotyl tissues in response to infection with *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. vasinfectum. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 17 (6): 654–667.
- Everett, K., J. Rees-George, I. Pushparajah, B. Janssen, and Z. Luo. 2010. Advantages and disadvantages of microarrays to study microbial population dynamics a minireview. *New Zealand Plant Protection* 63: 1–6.
- Gibly, A., A. Bonshtien, V. Balaji, P. Debbie, G.B. Martin, and G. Sessa. 2004. Identification and expression profiling of tomato genes differentially regulated during a resistance response to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *vesicatoria. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 17 (11): 1212–1222.

- Hadidi, A., H. Czosnek, and M. Barba. 2004. DNA microarrays and their potential applications for the detection of plant viruses, viroids, and phytoplasmas. *Journal of Plant Pathology*: 97–104.
- Heller, M.J. 2002. DNA microarray technology: devices, systems, and applications. *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering* 4 (1): 129–153.
- Ithal, N., J. Recknor, D. Nettleton, L. Hearne, T. Maier, T.J. Baum, and M.G. Mitchum. 2007. Parallel genome-wide expression profiling of host and pathogen during soybean cyst nematode infection of soybean. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 20 (3): 293–305.
- Jammes, F., P. Lecomte, J. De Almeida-Engler, F. Bitton, M.L. Martin-Magniette, J.P. Renou, P. Abad, and B. Favery. 2005. Genome-wide expression profiling of the host response to rootknot nematode infection in *Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal* 44 (3): 447–458.
- Jung, C., S.H. Lyou, S. Yeu, M. Kim, S. Rhee, M. Kim, J.S. Lee, Y.D. Choi, and J.-J. Cheong. 2007a. Microarray-based screening of jasmonate-responsive genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell Reports* 26 (7): 1053–1063.
- Jung, C., S.Y. Yeu, Y.J. Koo, M. Kim, Y.D. Choi, and J.J. Cheong. 2007b. Transcript profile of transgenic Arabidopsis constitutively producing methyl jasmonate. *Journal of Plant Biology* 50 (1): 12–17.
- Kafatos, F.C., C.W. Jones, and A. Efstratiadis. 1979. Determination of nucleic acid sequence homologies and relative concentrations by a dot hybridization procedure. *Nucleic Acids Research* 7 (6): 1541–1552.
- Kyselkova, M., J. Kopecky, M. Frapolli, G. Defago, M. Sagova-Mareckova, G.L. Grundmann, and Y. Moenne-Loccoz. 2009a. Comparison of rhizobacterial community composition in soil suppressive or conducive to tobacco black root rot disease. *The ISME Journal* 3 (10): 1127–1138.
- Kyselkova, M., J. Kopecky, M. Sagova-Mareckova, G. Grundmann, and Y. Moenne-Loccoz. 2009b. Oligonucleotide microarray methodology for taxonomic and functional monitoring of microbial community composition. *Plant, Soil and Environment* 55 (9): 379–388.
- Lagudah, E.S., S.G. Krattinger, S. Herrera-Foessel, R.P. Singh, J. Huerta-Espino, W. Spielmeyer, G. Brown-Guedira, L.L. Selter, and B. Keller. 2009. Gene-specific markers for the wheat gene *Lr34/Yr18/Pm38* which confers resistance to multiple fungal pathogens. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 119 (5): 889–898.
- Lievens, B., M. Brouwer, A.C. Vanachter, C.A. Lévesque, B.P. Cammue, and B.P. Thomma. 2005. Quantitative assessment of phytopathogenic fungi in various substrates using a DNA macroarray. *Environmental Microbiology* 7 (11): 1698–1710.
- Lipshutz, R.J., S. Fodor, T.R. Gingeras, and D.J. Lockhart. 1999. High density synthetic oligonucleotide arrays. *Nature Genetics* 21 (1): 20–24.
- Lodha, T.D., P. Hembram, and J.B. Nitile Tep. 2013. Proteomics: a successful approach to understand the molecular mechanism of plant-pathogen interaction. *American Journal of Plant Sciences* 4 (6): 1212–1226.
- Martinelli, F., R. Scalenghe, S. Davino, S. Panno, G. Scuderi, P. Ruisi, P. Villa, D. Stroppiana, M. Boschetti, and L.R. Goulart. 2015. Advanced methods of plant disease detection. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development* 35 (1): 1–25.
- Marzancola, M.G., A. Sedighi, and P.C. Li. 2016. DNA microarray-based diagnostics. *Microarray Technology*: 161–178.
- Mattmann, O. 2020. Detection and identification technologies for CBRN agents. In 21st Century Prometheus. Springer.
- Mcfadden, H.G., I.W. Wilson, R.M. Chapple, and C. Dowd. 2006. Fusarium wilt (*Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. vasinfectum) genes expressed during infection of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*). Molecular Plant Pathology 7 (2): 87–101.
- Mirmajlessi, S.M., E. Loit, M. Maend, and S.M. Mansouripour. 2015. Real-time PCR applied to study on plant pathogens: potential applications in diagnosis: a review. *Plant Protection Science* 51 (4): 177–190.
- Missoum, A. 2018. DNA microarray and bioinformatics technologies: a mini-review. Proceedings of the Nature Research Society 2 (1): 02010.

- Mitra, D. 2021. Emerging plant diseases: research status and challenges. *Emerging Trends in Plant Pathology*: 1–17.
- Murray, S.L., R.A. Ingle, L.N. Petersen, and K.J. Denby. 2007. Basal resistance against *Pseudo-monas syringae* in *Arabidopsis* involves WRKY53 and a protein with homology to a nematode resistance protein. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 20 (11): 1431–1438.
- Nadimpalli, R., N. Yalpani, G.S. Johal, and C.R. Simmons. 2000. Prohibitins, stomatins, and plant disease response genes compose a protein superfamily that controls cell proliferation, ion channel regulation, and death. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275 (38): 29579–29586.
- Nicolaisen, M. 2002. DNA chip diagnostics: related work at Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences. In Paper Read at Abstracts Agricultural Biomarkers for Array Technology, Management Committee Meeting, Wadenswil.
- Nikitin, M., K. Deych, I. Grevtseva, N. Girsova, M. Kuznetsova, M. Pridannikov, V. Dzhavakhiya, N. Statsyuk, and A. Golikov. 2018. Preserved microarrays for simultaneous detection and identification of six fungal potato pathogens with the use of real-time PCR in matrix format. *Biosensors* 8 (4): 129.
- Pallas, V., J.A. Sanchez-Navarro, and D. James. 2018. Recent advances on the multiplex molecular detection of plant viruses and viroids. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 2087.
- Panthee, D., J. Yuan, D. Wright, J. Marois, D. Mailhot, and C. Stewart. 2007. Gene expression analysis in soybean in response to the causal agent of Asian soybean rust (*Phakopsora pachyrhizi* Sydow) in an early growth stage. *Functional and Integrative Genomics* 7 (4): 291–301.
- Pathak, R.K., M. Baunthiyal, D. Pandey, and A. Kumar. 2020. Computational analysis of microarray data of *Arabidopsis thaliana* challenged with *Alternaria brassicicola* for identification of key genes in Brassica. *Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology* 18 (1): 1–20.
- Petralia, L.M., A. Van Diepen, L.A. Lokker, D.L. Nguyen, E. Sartono, V. Khatri, R. Kalyanasundaram, C.H. Taron, J.M. Foster, and C.H. Hokke. 2022. Mass spectrometric and glycan microarray-based characterization of the filarial nematode *Brugia malayi glycome* reveals anionic and zwitterionic glycan antigens. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*: 100201.
- Pickett, J.A., M. Birkett, B. Moraes, T. Bruce, K. Chamberlain, R. Gordon-Weeks, M. Matthes, J. Napier, L. Smart, and L. Wadhams. 2007. cis-Jasmone as allelopathic agent in inducing plant defence. *Allelopathy Journal* 19 (1): 109–118.
- Pompe-Novak, M., K. Gruden, S. Baebler, H. Krecic-Stres, M. Kovac, M. Jongsma, and M. Ravnikar. 2005. Potato virus Y induced changes in the gene expression of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 67 (3–5): 237–247.
- Popescu, S.C., G.V. Popescu, S. Bachan, Z. Zhang, M. Gerstein, M. Snyder, and S.P. Dinesh-Kumar. 2009. MAPK target networks in *Arabidopsis thaliana* revealed using functional protein microarrays. *Genes & Development* 23 (1): 80–92.
- Pouthas, F., C. Gentil, D. Cote, and U. Bockelmann. 2004. DNA detection on transistor arrays following mutation-specific enzymatic amplification. *Applied Physics Letters* 84 (9): 1594–1596.
- Ragozzino, E., F. Faggioli, and M. Barba. 2004. Development of a one tube-one step RT-PCR protocol for the detection of seven viroids in four genera: Apscaviroid, Hostuviroid, Pelamoviroid and Pospiviroid. *Journal of Virological Methods* 121 (1): 25–29.
- Rahman, A., K.V. Sinha, S.K. Sopory, and N. Sanan-Mishra. 2021. Influence of virus-host interactions on plant response to abiotic stress. *Plant Cell Reports* 40 (11): 2225–2245.
- Rayapuram, C., and I.T. Baldwin. 2007. Increased SA in NPR1-silenced plants antagonizes JA and JA-dependent direct and indirect defenses in herbivore-attacked *Nicotiana attenuata* in nature. *The Plant Journal* 52 (4): 700–715.
- Rocha, F.R., F.S. Papini-Terzi, M.Y. Nishiyama, R.Z. Vencio, R. Vicentini, R.D. Duarte, V.E. De Rosa, F. Vinagre, C. Barsalobres, and A.H. Medeiros. 2007. Signal transduction-related responses to phytohormones and environmental challenges in sugarcane. *BMC Genomics* 8 (1): 1–22.

- Schena, M., D. Shalon, R.W. Davis, and P.O. Brown. 1995. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. *Science* 270 (5235): 467–470.
- Schenk, P.M., K. Kazan, I. Wilson, J.P. Anderson, T. Richmond, S.C. Somerville, and J.M. Manners. 2000. Coordinated plant defense responses in *Arabidopsis* revealed by microarray analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 97 (21): 11655–11660.
- Schenk, P.M., K. Kazan, J.M. Manners, J.P. Anderson, R.S. Simpson, I.W. Wilson, S.C. Somerville, and D.J. Maclean. 2003. Systemic gene expression in *Arabidopsis* during an incompatible interaction with Alternaria brassicicola. *Plant Physiology* 132 (2): 999–1010.
- Scherm, B., M. Palomba, V. Balmas, and Q. Migheli. 2002. Identification of aflotoxin-producing and non-producing isolates of *Aspergillus flavus* and *A. parasiticus* by reverse transcription polymerse chain reaction (RT-PCR). In: Paper read at Abstracts Agricultural Biomarkers for Array Technology, Management Committee Meeting, Wadenswil.
- Senthil, G., H. Liu, V. Puram, A. Clark, A. Stromberg, and M. Goodin. 2005. Specific and common changes in *Nicotiana benthamiana* gene expression in response to infection by enveloped viruses. *The Journal of General Virology* 86 (9): 2615–2625.
- Singh, A., and N. Kumar. 2013. A review on DNA microarray technology. International Journal of Current Research and Review. 5 (22): 1.
- Southern, E.M. 1975. Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 98 (3): 503–517.
- Southern, E., and A. Mitchell. 1971. Chromatography of nucleic acid digests on thin layers of cellulose impregnated with polyethyleneimine. *Biochemical Journal* 123 (4): 613.
- White, K.P., S.A. Rifkin, P. Hurban, and D.S. Hogness. 1999. Microarray analysis of *Drosophila* development during metamorphosis. *Science* 286 (5447): 2179–2184.
- Whitham, S.A., C. Yang, and M.M. Goodin. 2006. Global impact: elucidating plant responses to viral infection. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 19 (11): 1207–1215.
- Wise, R.P., M.J. Moscou, A.J. Bogdanove, and S.A. Whitham. 2007. Transcript profiling in hostpathogen interactions. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 45: 329–369.
- Zahavy, E., M. Fisher, A. Bromberg, and U. Olshevsky. 2003. Detection of frequency resonance energy transfer pair on double-labeled microsphere and *Bacillus anthracis* spores by flow cytometry. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69 (4): 2330–2339.
- Zhang, Z., Q. Li, Z. Li, P.E. Staswick, M. Wang, Y. Zhu, and Z. He. 2007. Dual regulation role of GH3. 5 in salicylic acid and auxin signaling during *Arabidopsis-Pseudomonas syringae* interaction. *Plant Physiology* 145 (2): 450–464.
- Zhao, W., X. He, K.A. Hoadley, J.S. Parker, D.N. Hayes, and C.M. Perou. 2014. Comparison of RNA-Seq by poly (A) capture, ribosomal RNA depletion, and DNA microarray for expression profiling. *BMC Genomics* 15 (1): 1–11.



12

225

# Predictive Models for Plant Disease Assessment

Imran Ul Haq, Nabeeha Aslam Khan, and Muhammad Kaleem Sarwar

#### Abstract

The world's increasing population demands more food commodities to fulfil the nutritional requirements. Increasing cultivation area and crop production and reducing yield losses will be required to meet food demand. Plants in gardens, forests, production fields, and landscapes are subjected to numerous health problems that cause yield reduction. Disease negativity in yield loss can be tackled by adopting appropriate management practices. Plant disease management requires diagnosis and severity assessment. Plant disease modeling is an important field for assessing the intensity or severity of the disease. It is a management system enabled to forecast the occurrence and any change in severity or intensity of plant diseases. Forecasting the occurrence of diseases under a specific area and time; however, appropriate preventive and control measures can be taken in advance to obtain potential yield. Applying management practices at the appropriate time reduces the wastage of crops and chemicals by forecasting disease and making it cost-effective. Basic components of plant disease are needed to investigate to make disease forecasting schemes. There are seven basic requirements for successful disease prediction. Intensity, incidence, and severity are primary disease measuring terms used to study disease forecasting. Modeling involves field observations, disease measurements, and weather conditions favoring disease spread, mathematical formulas, and computer use. The mathematical and analytical relationship gives information about interaction among the host, pathogen, and weather variables in mathematical equations presented as simple statements, tables, or graphs. Disease prediction can be made based on parameters involved, i.e., inoculum, weather variables, and comparative information. Computer simulation is beneficial for growers to

I. U. Haq (🖂) · N. A. Khan · M. K. Sarwar

Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan

I. Ul Haq, S. Ijaz (eds.), Trends in Plant Disease Assessment, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5896-0\_12

understand the effect of components and subcomponents of the epidemic on yield loss. Many prediction schemes have been published.

#### **Keywords**

Plant disease forecasting  $\cdot$  Elements of plant disease prediction  $\cdot$  Computer simulation  $\cdot$  Disease predictive models

### 12.1 Introduction

The tremendous increase in global population requires a large agriculture production to fulfil food demand (Kitzes et al. 2008; FAO 2009). Production, availability, nutritional status, and natural ecosystem protection can be ensured by using modern farming procedures (Kamilaris and Prenafeta 2018). Agricultural production must be two-fold by 2050 to meet the food demand of the increasing population pressure. Precision agriculture is the only way to improve productivity by using resources efficiently under different challenges of farming, such as agricultural land degradation, drastic climate change, urbanization, high input costs, and yield losses due to diseases. The health challenges of plants can be addressed by adopting smart farming (Tyagi 2016), including sensing technologies that indicate the growth and health of crops and ensure food security and sustainability (Gebbers and Adamchuk 2010; Narvaez et al. 2017). Climate change creates favorable circumstances for plant diseases. Crop diseases exhibit a promising role in reducing agricultural productivity by causing 20–40% losses and increasing the risk of food insecurity (FAO 2017). Proper and timely applied disease management strategies will help meet the food demand of the population by 2050 (FAO 2011). Several scientists have researched how weather and environmental conditions affect plant disease development (Rong et al. 2015; Das et al. 2016; Newberry et al. 2016; Donatelli et al. 2017; Raza et al. 2019; Fenu and Malloci 2020). Continuous monitoring, measuring, and analysis of various physical aspects and phenomena require to understanding complex and unpredictable ecosystem of agriculture through the application of information and communication technologies (Internet of Things) (Boursianis et al. 2020), remote sensing (Weiss et al. 2020), and cloud computing (Mekala and Viswanathan 2017). These technologies contribute to managing special and temporal changes for improving crop production and environmental quality (Pierce and Nowak 1999), producing massive agricultural big data. Agriculture big data is helpful in yield prediction (Chlingaryan et al. 2018), crop and food detection (Fu et al. 2018), weed detection, pest/disease detection (Milioto et al. 2018), food safety (Cheema and Khan 2019), risk management and equipment management, and also plant and disease prediction (Fenu and Malloci 2019, 2020, 2021). The recent advancement in the analysis of agricultural big data is through machine learning (ML) (Liakos et al. 2018), artificial intelligence (Fenu and Malloci 2020), and deep learning (Kamilaris and Prenafeta 2018). Crop disease management using advanced strategies is a need of the hour to secure the wastage of agricultural production.

Plant–pathogen interaction under conducive conditions, sometimes disease may occur in epidemic form. Most epidemics cause minor losses as controlled naturally, and occasionally, severe epidemics become out of control and can cause massive yield losses, ultimately damaging the economy (Ul Haq and Ijaz 2020).

Diseases are being controlled by several methods: cultural (crop rotation, sanitation, etc.), biological control, and chemical control (chemicals may use for foliar spray, soil sterilization, seed treatments, and soil amendments). Chemicals are important for the immediate control of plant pathogens. Due to the more effectiveness of chemicals over other control methods, grower reliance has increased. But hazardous effects of pesticides by judicial use on the environment and consumer's health must restrict their too much application. Reduction in use of chemicals can be achieved by the forecast when the crop is to be at economic threshold level and under which environmental conditions application of pesticide is practical to avoid wastage.

The foremost reasons for disease forecasting are economic, health, and environmental safety and appropriate use. The timely application of pesticides reduces waste as applied only when required, making it economically effective. Some countries have a target to reduce the use of pesticides (Jorgenson and Secher 1996). Consumer demand for pesticide-free crops can be fulfilled and justified using forecasting schemes. Plant disease forecasting is the main part of applied epidemiology and is also pivotal to management practices.

This chapter covers the promising aspects of plant disease forecasting, including the introduction, fundamental elements of plant disease prediction (host, pathogen, environmental conditions), requirements of prediction, measurement of disease, data for prediction, modeling of disease, challenges, methods for disease prediction, computer simulation, and prediction scheme and models.

# 12.2 Plant Disease Forecasting

Prediction of plant diseases means forecasting the occurrence of diseases under a specific area and time; however, appropriate preventive and control measures can be taken in advance to obtain potential yield. It is a management system enabled to forecast the occurrence and any change in severity or intensity of plant diseases. Predictions of probable disease outbreak and increase in disease severity involve an organized working team and expenditure of energy, money, and time. It is used as an aid to the timely implication of management practices. Prediction forecasts the conditions for establishing the pathogen when the susceptible host is available. The disease predicting scheme requires a complete understanding of the epidemiology and etiology of the pathogens and diseases. It is a cost-effective method of management by providing information about when and where disease management practices must be required and enabling the person to avoid unnecessary operations. It helps evaluate the input costs and benefits. The use of chemicals can also be reduced by an effective warning system based on the accuracy of the prediction model (Sigvald 2010). Forecasting the disease outbreak increases profitability and lessens the negative impact of diseases on fauna and flora, as disease prediction

indicates when the particular disease becomes epidemic form or remains with less intensity and whether chemicals would be applied or not. Forecasting is highly valuable in making wise economic decisions (disease forecasting chapter).

## 12.3 Fundamental Elements of Plant Disease Prediction

The occurrence of plant disease is highly dependent upon weather fluctuations. The disease will occur if a susceptible host, virulent pathogen, and suitable environment are present simultaneously (Fig. 12.1). The disease triangle is considered a fundamental principle of the components involved in plant disease causation. Three components of the disease triangle (Fig. 12.2) are host, plant, and environment,



and the disease triangle drawing was first time published by (Stevens 1960). Afterward, more parameters were added to the basic concept of disease development, i.e., time and human activity (Francl 2001; Agrios 1988; Zadoks et al. 1974).

#### 12.3.1 Host

Many external and internal factors of the host plant affect the development of plant disease epidemics. Host resistance and susceptibility determine the speed of disease development. Host plants have two main types of resistance, i.e., horizontal and vertical. The pathogen cannot be established in plants carrying vertical resistance while plants become infected in case of plants have genes for horizontal resistance. Resistance genes are absent in a susceptible host, which is ideal for establishing new infection by a pathogen. The interaction of pathogen and host and disease development may be considerably affected by the age of the host plant. Resistance changes with the age of the host plant and growth stages, such as the host plant of peach leaf curl, bacterial blights, and systemic smuts; rusts are susceptible during the growth period and resistant at the adult stage. Epidemics develop more rapidly in annual crops (vegetables, corn, rice, cotton, and fruit diseases of trees and vines) than in perennial crops (pear decline, Dutch elm disease, and chestnut blight take many years to develop).

#### 12.3.2 Pathogen/Inoculum

Highly virulent pathogens can infect the plant more rapidly and are responsible for large amounts of primery or secondary inoculum. Suppose if a large inoculum is present near the host plants; there will be more chances of epidemics. All the pathogens are categorized based on their life cycle as monocyclic or polycyclic. Most of the plant pathogens can produce many offsprings with a short reproduction cycle known as polycyclic (has many generations in a single growing season). While some pathogens produce less offsprings (inoculum) by completing one reproduction cycle in a single growing season are monocyclic. The mode of dispersal (air, soil, rain splashes, water) of the pathogen/inoculum significantly affects the disease and epidemic development (Agrios 2005). Polycyclic pathogens (fungi causing rusts, mildews, and leaf spots) produce more inoculum, so dispersal will also be high and cause widespread epidemics due to the causation of a series of infections as compared to monocyclic pathogens (cedar-apple rust-2 years, dwarf mistletoe-5–6 years) as lesser the inoculum production limits the dispersal and fewer chances of disease spread.

#### 12.3.3 Environment

The environment is considered one of the driving forces for plant disease development. Major climatic components include temperature, humidity, rainfall, leaf moisture, and solarization. Environment affects the host plant's growth stage, succulence, susceptibility, and availability. The environment may also hugely affect almost all activities pathogen such as survival, multiplication, germination, sporulation, dispersal, and penetration. The number and activity of pathogen vectors may be driven by temperature. Environment plays a pivotal role in epidemiology and forecasting a particular disease. The duration of environmental events primarily affects epidemiology. Accurate meteorological data is required for disease prediction models (Agrios 2005).

## 12.4 Requirements for Disease Prediction

The basic requirements for successful disease prediction are:

- The disease must cause economically considerable loss in yield and quality. Damage assessment is necessary for the development of management strategies.
- 2. The disease progression rate varies from initial infection to later stages. If it is not, there will be no need for disease forecasting.
- 3. Management measures must be readily available at an economically affordable cost.
- 4. The prediction criteria must be based on investigational research carried out in the series (in vitro, in vivo) to establish its applicability.
- 5. Growers must have the equipment and enough human resources for application management measures at the time of disease warning.
- 6. Weather information concerning disease must know.
- 7. Warnings should be long term instead of short term.

# 12.5 Assessment/Measurement of Disease for Forecasting

There are different methods to measure plant diseases to estimate incidence, intensity, severity, and prevalence (Bock et al. 2010). The important terms in disease measurement and their interpretation are redefined according to the advances in this field (Madden et al. 2007). Disease incidence is a comparatively easy and quick method to estimate disease measurement and yield loss; it is commonly used in epidemiological and disease forecasting studies. In fruit diseases, disease incidence directly relates to yield loss.

Some basic measurement terms are as follows:

#### 12.5.1 Disease Intensity

It is generally used to express the amount of disease in a particular population (Nutter et al. 1991).

#### 12.5.2 Disease Incidence

Disease incidence is the percentage of diseased plants out of total plants observed (Nutter et al. 1991; Madden et al. 2007).

#### 12.5.3 Disease Severity

The sampling unit's relative area exhibits disease symptoms (Nutter et al. 1991).

#### 12.5.4 Disease Prevalence

Disease prevalence is the percentage or proportion of fields and counties in which the disease reveals the disease at a larger scale than incidence (Nutter et al. 1991).

## 12.6 Data for Plant Disease Prediction

Data for plant disease prediction can be obtained from many heterogeneous sources such as field surveys, field sensors, remote sensing (Duarte-Carvajalino et al. 2018), weather stations (Fenu and Malloci 2019), and pictures originating from hyperspectral cameras and web services (Sannakki et al. 2013).

#### 12.7 Modeling of Plant Disease

Epidemic starts from a few plants, and its spread depends upon many factors such as type, magnitude, and prevailing duration of specific environmental factors. These factors drive the severity and spread of disease over a larger area. Epidemics come to a stop when all the host plants become dead, or weather conditions become unfavorable. The interaction of host, pathogen, and environmental conditions is required to understand the epidemics. A study about the interrelation of factors involved in epidemics helps make disease prediction models. Field observations, disease measurements, weather conditions favoring disease spread, mathematical formulas, and computer use are needed for prediction models. More of the variables involved in prediction models will be the accuracy rate. Validation of the prediction model is a significant research area in successful disease forecasting practices and adopting management measures. Model validation needs a series of experiments to determine

the difference between actual and predicted situations. Database (including information about the crop, pathogen, disease, sensors, and weather station location) is developed for constructing the disease prediction model. The mathematical and analytical relationship gives information about interaction among the host, pathogen, and weather variables in the form of mathematical equations presented as simple statements, tables, or graphs.

## 12.8 Challenges

Some crucial challenges have been articulated for advancing models by Newberry et al. (2016):

- 1. Flexibility and accuracy of a particular model.
- 2. Assumptions about contact and interaction and their statistical representation.
- 3. How to define critical or economic threshold under several infection recognition.
- 4. How to model the disease parameters that depend upon long-distance interaction.
- 5. Identify the operational resolution as a natural scale for modeling and interaction.

## 12.9 Methods for Disease Prediction

Plant disease forecasting models can be grouped into three classes based on input parameters.

- · Disease prediction based on inoculum.
- · Disease prediction based on weather conditions.
- Disease prediction based on comparative information.

## 12.9.1 Disease Prediction Based on Inoculum

Field history regarding the crop cultivated and the presence of the primary and secondary inoculum, its quantity, and viability are being determined to predict the particular plant disease's prevalence, intensity, and duration. The aforementioned pathogen characteristics impact the disease epidemic and are important for plant disease prediction models. If a large inoculum is present in or near the field, there will be more chances of disease spreading, so a management plan should be prepared before time. The timely application of control measures can prevent yield losses and increase output. Different methods are available to determine the inoculum's presence, quantity, and viability. Inoculum present in soil can be assessed by the monoculture method. Air trapping devices capture airborne spores and seed testing methods to determine inoculum in seeds (ergot of pearl-millet, loose smut of wheat, and viral diseases).

*Erwinia stewartii* causes Stewart's wilt in corn to survive in the body of the corn flea beetle (vector) during winter; if the number of vectors is more in the previous season, there will be a considerable quantity of inoculum present, and the chances of infection will be increased.

Fire blight disease of pear and apple caused by *Erwinia amylovora*, rate of pathogen multiplication reduces at below 15 °C temperature compared to temperature more than 17 °C. Inoculum quantity will be increased whenever the temperature exceeds the prediction line. There will be a need to apply bactericide to prevent an epidemic.

#### 12.9.2 Disease Prediction Based on Weather Conditions

Weather is a driving force in plant disease epidemics; therefore pivotal role in disease forecasting, so that record of weather conditions is necessary. It includes temperature, rainfall, relative humidity, wind speed, cloudiness, and light duration and intensity to be recorded. Traditionally, mechanical equipment was used to measure all weather variables, and data record was maintained manually on chart papers as ink traces. But now, various electronic sensors are present and quickly produce electrical records. Computerized sensors are also available to improve measuring weather conditions for facilitating disease prediction. In some countries, battery operating electrical instruments measure environmental components. Thermometers, thermocouples, hygrothermographs, and thermistors (semiconductors-electrical resistance changes with temperature) are temperature measuring instruments, hygrothermograph for relative humidity, and string-type sensors for leaf wetness (slacken on dry and constrict when moistened). Electrical sensors can be placed on the leaf surface or among the leaves to detect the rain's moisture, dew, and duration. Wind, cloudiness, and rain are still detected or measured using conventional instruments, i.e., rain funnels, cup anemometers for wind speed, and wind direction by vanes.

In modern monitoring systems of weather factors, electrical sensors are connected to data devices to read on the digital display and transmit to cassette and printer. Cassette recorded data may be transformed to microcomputers, viewed, processed in computer languages, arranged by separating each variable, and plotted and analyzed. Accurate information about weather factors leads to an effective disease predictive model that provides the basis for sporulation and establishment of the pathogen; therefore, timely management practices can be adopted.

Various crop or plant diseases occur due to prevailing weather conditions (Fenu and Malloci 2019). Some researchers provide a solution for disease control based on analytical models (Berger 1989). Disease processes' complexity and dependence on various factors limit forecasting effectiveness (Bhagawati et al. 2015). Predictive models for growing rice and potato have been widely explained in literature (Katsantonis et al. 2017; Fenu and Malloci 2019). The online database (PestCast) from the University of California provides information for model development. Information and communication technologies (artificial intelligence techniques and machine learning) are widely used in agriculture to discover and evaluate models to define complex mathematical relationships. Meteorological parameters-based forecasting may include advanced strategies, artificial neural networks, long shortterm memory, support vector machines, random forest, extreme learning machines, deep learning machines, and multilayer perception to measure environmental variables (temperature, rainfall, humidity, wind speed, brightness) (Malicdem and Fernandez 2015), evaporation (Malicdem and Fernandez 2015; Xiao et al. 2018), and sunshine hours (Kim et al. 2018). It is preferred to process the weather data hourly rather than daily to make prediction models precise. Scientists investigated the environmental factors by collecting data on an hourly basis using the machine learning approach in Sardinia to predict the late blight of potato Fenu and Malloci. Data of temperature, speed, humidity, rainfall, and solar radiation were collected from various locations for four years and analyzed (Fenu and Malloci 2019). Support vector machine and feed-forward neural network were validated using a stratified cross algorithm (Fenu and Malloci 2020). The results revealed that temperature, wind speed, and humidity exhibited the primary role of the late-bight prediction model. Then decision support system used these models to help in decision-making.

Support vector machine and artificial neural network algorithms were used to predict rice blast disease. The incidence and severity of rice blast changes in a specific growth stage depend upon weather parameters during the same year. Results indicated that rainfall significantly impacts 48% of disease onset (Malicdem and Fernandez 2015). Region-specific prediction models were prepared for seventeen cultivars of potato. Temporal patterns of the environmental variables were considered during the modeling of the disease. Long short-term memory network was applied to past data (Kim et al. 2018). Nettleton et al. (2019) compared four different predicting models for modeling the rice blast disease. Modeling cotton diseases and pests have been done using modern techniques (Xiao et al. 2018). A combination of weather prediction and regression models was used for modeling the powdery mildew disease of grapes (weather variables mainly based on temperature and humidity) (Sannakki et al. 2013).

Artificial neural network was used as an analysis technique to classify and discriminate fungal infections of oil palm at early stages; results revealed that artificial neural network could recognize the relationships between environmental variables using spectral data and classify accurately (Ahmadi et al. 2017).

Warning models have been investigated for predicting potato late blight using unmanned aerial vehicles and captured 126 multi spectral images, deep learning, and machine learning algorithms (Duarte-Carvajalino et al. 2018). Remote sensing information is used as the data source for the powdery mildew prediction model (Zhang et al. 2014). The scientist identified the vegetative growth stages sensitive to powdery mildew to establish a predictive model based on regression analysis. Nine input variables were included in this model (Zhang et al. 2014). Pre-symptomatic identification has been demonstrated in the case of foliar disease of sugar beet; it is helpful to identify the diseased leaves from non-diseased leaves, differentiate and identify the conditions before, i.e., powdery mildew, leaf rust, and Cercospora leaf spot (Rumpf et al. 2010). Pre-symptomatic identification of tobacco diseases has been investigated using hyperspectral imaging combined with back-propagation neural network, support vector machine, and extreme learning machine (Zhu et al. 2017).

#### 12.9.3 Disease Prediction based on Comparative Information

Prediction about disease development and epidemics, criteria developed from various comparisons of disease observations with standard environmental data being provided for diseases. Meteorological data of past years are collected from different sources and correlated with the intensity of the plant diseases. Then, the data is compared and forecasted the plant diseases.

#### 12.10 Computer Simulation

Computer simulation is beneficial for growers to understand the effect of components and subcomponents of an epidemic on yield loss. It is helpful in the actual situation of the disease. Computer simulations help evaluate the importance or role of each epidemic subcomponent at a specific duration in terms of yield loss. Computer simulations provide attention to effective control measures against specific subcomponents of an epidemic by highlighting the subcomponents of an epidemic. Computer simulations effectively evaluate the disease status (Table 12.1) and the efficiency of applied control measures. Computer simulations have various benefits as they provide information about disease spread and severity with time and also about economic losses.

Several computer simulation programs are readily available. EPIDEM is the first written computer simulation program designed for the early blight of potato and tomato disease caused by Alternaria solani. It was written in 1969 and obtained from modeling of the life cycle of Alternaria solani.

| Sr. No. | Computer simulators   | Pathogen/disease                         |
|---------|-----------------------|--|
| 1       | EDIDEM                | Forder blight of notate and terrate      |
| 1       | EPIDEM                | Early blight of polato and tomato        |
| 2       | CERCOS                | Cercospora blight of celery              |
| 3       | MYCOS                 | Mycosphaerella Blight of Chrysanthemums  |
| 4       | EPICORN               | Cochliobolus maydis                      |
| 5       | EPIVEN                | Apple scab caused by Venturia inaequalis |
| 6       | EPIDEMIC <sup>a</sup> | Stripe rust of wheat                     |

 Table 12.1
 Important computer simulators along with pathogens/diseases

<sup>a</sup>EPIDEMIC-it is highly flexible and general (modification can be done quickly)

## 12.11 Prediction Scheme and Models

The models interpret or represent the conditions that affect the pathogen's development, dispersal, survival, and infection capability. There is an unlimited variety of various combinations. Advance computers can solve different technical constraints. Biological processes involve changes such as new strains evolve; therefore, aggressiveness and adaptation of temperatures fluctuate may be covered by most of the models.

Several scientists have published forecasting schemes globally on various pathogens and crops. Potato is an important crop sprayed many times against late blight disease (Garthwaite et al. 2002). The forecasting scheme for late blight disease greatly depends upon computer processing and modeling. The disease progress curve is a fundamental component of forecasting the disease. Disease to yield loss relationships can be assessed by the disease progress curve (Large 1952). Potato late blight disease is one of the destructive diseases as it causes losses in yield and store conditions. Potato growers applied up to fifteen sprays in a growing season (Hardwick and Turner 1996). Due to the importance of the potato crop, many forecasting schemes have been constructed. The interval between spray applications becomes reduced as the season progresses, indicating blight is controlled by protectants rather than eradicants. Disease modeling help to know about the application of spray at the right time (Large 1959). Pathogen eradication is possible with the development of phenylamide-based fungicides (Urech et al. 1977). Phenylamide-based fungicides act as eradicant and are systemic. Its efficiency becomes cease with the resistance development in pathogen (Cooke 1992). Later developed fungicides application in the absence of late blight disease negatively affects yield (Taylor et al. 2000).

## References

- Agrios, G.N. 1988. Introduction to plant pathology. In *Plant Pathology*, 3rd ed., 3–40. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- ——. 2005. Introduction to plant pathology. In *Plant Pathology*, 3rd ed., 266–291. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Ahmadi, P., F.M. Muharam, K. Ahmad, S. Mansor, and I. Abu Seman. 2017. Early detection of Ganoderma basal stem rot of oil palms using artificial neural network spectral analysis. *Plant Disease* 101 (6): 1009–1016.
- Berger, R. 1989. Description and application of some general models for plant disease epidemics. *Plant Disease Epidemiology* 2: 125–149.
- Bhagawati, R., K. Bhagawati, A. Singh, R. Nongthombam, R. Sarmah, and G. Bhagawati. 2015. Artificial neural network assisted weather based plant disease forecasting system. *International Journal on Recent and Innovation Trends in Computing and Communication* 3: 4168–4173.
- Bock, C.H., G.H. Poole, P.E. Parker, and T.R. Gottwald. 2010. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29: 59–107.
- Boursianis, A.D., M.S. Papadopoulou, P. Diamantoulakis, A. Liopa-Tsakalidi, P. Barouchas, G. Salahas, G. Karagiannidis, S. Wan, and S.K. Goudos. 2020. Internet of Things (IoT) and

agricultural Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVs) in smart farming: a comprehensive review. *Internet Things* 18: 100–187.

- Cheema, M.J.M., and M.A. Khan. 2019. Information technology for sustainable agriculture. In Innovations in Sustainable Agriculture, 585–597. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer.
- Chlingaryan, A., S. Sukkarieh, and B. Whelan. 2018. Machine learning approaches for crop yield prediction and nitrogen status estimation in precision agriculture: a review. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 151: 61–69.
- Cooke, L.R. 1992. The future of potato blight control: a more aggressive pathogen and fewer weapons? In *Disease Management in Relation to Changing Agricultural Practice 1992*, ed. A.R. McCraken and P.C. Mercer, 65–73. Belfast: SIPP/BSPP.
- Das, T., M.H.D. Majumdar, R.T. Devi, and T. Rajesh. 2016. Climate change impacts on plant diseases. SAARC Journal of Agriculture 14: 200–209.
- Donatelli, M., R.D. Magarey, S. Bregaglio, L. Willocquet, J.P. Whish, and S. Savary. 2017. Modelling the impacts of pests and diseases on agricultural systems. *Agricultural Systems* 155: 213–224.
- Duarte-Carvajalino, J.M., D.F. Alzate, A.A. Ramirez, J.D. Santa-Sepulveda, A.E. Fajardo-Rojas, and M. Soto-Suárez. 2018. Evaluating late blight severity in potato crops using unmanned aerial vehicles and machine learning algorithms. *Remote Sensing* 10: 1513.
- FAO. 2009. *How to Feed the World in 2050*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Fenu, G., and F.M. Malloci. 2019. An application of machine learning technique in forecasting crop disease. In Proceedings of the 2019 3rd International Conference on Big Data Research, Paris, France, 20–22 November 2019, 76–82.
- 2020. Artificial intelligence technique in crop disease forecasting: a case study on Potato Late Blight Prediction. In *International Conference on Intelligent Decision Technologies (IDT)*, vol. 193, 79–89. Singapore: Springer.
- ——. 2021. Forecasting plant and crop disease: An explorative study on current algorithms. Big Data and Cognitive Computing 5 (1): 2.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2011. The State of the World's Land and Water Resources for Food and Agriculture: Managing Systems at Risk. London, UK: Earthscan.
- ——. 2017. *Plant Health and Food Security*. International Plant Protection Convention, Roma, Itay.
- Francl, L. 2001. The disease triangle: a plant pathological paradigm revisited. *The Plant Health Instructor* 10.
- Fu, L., Y. Feng, Y. Majeed, X. Zhang, J. Zhang, M. Karkee, and Q. Zhang. 2018. Kiwifruit detection in field images using Faster R-CNN with ZFNet. *IFAC-PapersOnLine* 51: 45–50.
- Garthwaite, D. G., M. R. Thomas, A. Dawson and H. Stoddart (2002) *Arable Farm Crops in Great Britain.*
- Gebbers, R., and V.I. Adamchuk. 2010. Precision agriculture and food security. Science 327 (5967): 828–831.
- Hardwick, N.V., and J.A. Turner. 1996. A survey of potato diseases in England and Wales, 1993–1996. In Abstracts 13th Triennial Conference, European Association of Potato Research 1996, 631–632. Veldhoven: EAPR.
- Jørgenson, L.N., and B.J.M. Secher. 1996. The Danish action plan—ways of reducing inputs. *Proceedings of the Crop Protection in Northern Britain* 1996: 63–70.
- Kamilaris, A., and F.X. Prenafeta Boldú. 2018. Deep learning in agriculture: a survey. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 147: 70–90.
- Katsantonis, D., K. Kadoglidou, C. Dramalis, and P. Puigdollers. 2017. Rice blast forecasting models and their practical value: a review. *Phytopathologia Mediterranea* 56: 187–216.
- Kim, Y., J.H. Roh, and H.Y. Kim. 2018. Early forecasting of Rice blast disease using long shortterm memory recurrent neural networks. *Sustainability* 10: 34.

- Kitzes, J., M. Wackernagel, J. Loh, A. Peller, S. Goldfinger, D. Cheng, and K. Tea. 2008. Shrink and share: humanity's present and future Ecological Footprint. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences* 363 (1491): 467–475.
- Large, E.C. 1952. The interpretation of progress curves for potato blight and other plant diseases. *Plant Pathology* 1: 109–117.
  - . 1959. The battle against blight. Agriculture 65: 603–608.
- Liakos, K.G., P. Busato, D. Moshou, S. Pearson, and D. Bochtis. 2018. Machine learning in agriculture: a review. *Sensors* 18: 26–74.
- Madden, L.V., G. Hughes, and F. Van Den Bosch. 2007. *The Study of Plant Disease Epidemics*. Saint Paul, MN: The American Phytopathological Society.
- Malicdem, A.R., and P.L. Fernandez. 2015. Rice blast disease forecasting for northern Philippines. WSEAS Transactions on Information Science and Applications 12: 120–129.
- Mekala, M. S., and P. A. Viswanathan 2017. Survey: Smart agriculture IoT with cloud computing. In Proceedings of the 2017 International Conference on Microelectronic Devices, Circuits and Systems (ICMDCS), Vellore, India, 10–12 August 2017. pp. 1–7.
- Milioto, A., P. Lottes, and C. Stachniss 2018. Real-time semantic segmentation of crop and weed for precision agriculture robots leveraging background knowledge in CNNs. In *Proceedings of* the 2018 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), Brisbane, QLD, Australia, 21–25 May 2018. pp. 2229–2235.
- Narvaez, F.Y., G. Reina, M. Torres-Torriti, G. Kantor, and F.A. Cheein. 2017. A survey of ranging and imaging techniques for precision agriculture phenotyping. *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics* 22: 2428–2439.
- Nettleton, D.F., D. Katsantonis, A. Kalaitzidis, N. Sarafijanovic-Djukic, P. Puigdollers, and R. Confalonieri. 2019. Predicting rice blast disease: machine learning versus process-based models. *BMC Bioinformatics*: 20.
- Newberry, F., A. Qi, and B.D.L. Fitt. 2016. Modelling impacts of climate change on arable crop diseases: progress, challenges and applications. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 32: 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2016.07.002.
- Nutter, F., Jr., P. Teng, and F. Shokes. 1991. Disease assessment terms and concepts. *Plant Disease* 75: 1187–1188.
- Pierce, F.J., and P. Nowak. 1999. Aspects of precision agriculture. In Advances in Agronomy, vol. 67, 1–85. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier.
- Raza, A., A. Razzaq, S.S. Mehmood, X. Zou, X. Zhang, Y. Lv, and J. Xu. 2019. Impact of climate change on crops adaptation and strategies to tackle its outcome: a review. *Plants* 8: 34.
- Rong, L., D. Liu, E.F. Pedersen, and G. Zhang. 2015. The effect of wind speed and direction and surrounding maize on hybrid ventilation in a dairy cow building in Denmark. *Energy and Buildings* 86: 25–34.
- Rumpf, T., A.K. Mahlein, U. Steiner, E.C. Oerke, H.W. Dehne, and L. Plümer. 2010. Early detection and classification of plant diseases with Support Vector Machines based on hyperspectral reflectance. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 74: 91–99.
- Sannakki, S., Rajpurohit, V., Sumira, F., Venkatesh, H. A neural network approach for disease forecasting in grapes using weather parameters. In *Proceedings of the 2013 Fourth International Conference on Computing, Communications and Networking Technologies (ICCCNT), Tiruchengode, India, 4–6 July 2013.* 2013 pp. 1–5.
- Sigvald, R. Risk assessment for pests and diseases of field crops, especially forecasting and warning systems. In *Reducing the Risks Associated with the Use of Plant Protection Products*, 2010, p. 186.
- Stevens, R. 1960. An advanced treatise. Plant Pathology 3: 357-429.
- Taylor, M.C., N.V. Hardwick, N.J. Bradshaw, and A.M. Hall. 2000. Are excessive blight sprays detrimental to potato yield? In *Proceedings BCPC Conference, Pests & Diseases, 2000*, 553–858. Brighton, UK: BCPC.
- Tyagi, A.C. 2016. Towards a second green revolution. Irrigation and Drainage 65 (4): 388-389.

- Ul Haq, I., S. Ijaz, and (eds). 2020. Plant Disease Management Strategies for Sustainable Agriculture through Traditional and Modern Approaches. Vol. 13, 1–339. ISBN: 978-3-030-35954-6. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35955-3.
- Urech, P.A., F. Schwinn, and F. Staub. 1977. CGA-48988, a novel fungicide for the control of late blight, downy mildews and related soil borne diseases. In *Proceedings Brighton Crop Protection Conference—Pest and Disease*, 671–678. Brighton: BCPC.
- Weiss, M., F. Jacob, and G. Duveiller. 2020. Remote sensing for agricultural applications: a metareview. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 236: 111–402.
- Xiao, Q., W. Li, P. Chen, and B. Wang. 2018. Prediction of crop pests and diseases in cotton by long short term memory network. In *International Conference on Intelligent Computing*, 11–16. Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany: Springer.
- Zadoks, J.C., T.T. Chang, and C.F. Konzak. 1974. A decimal code for the growth stage of cereals. *Weed Research* 14: 415–421.
- Zhang, J., L. Yuan, C. Nie, L. Wei, and G. Yang Forecasting of powdery mildew disease with multi-sources of remote sensing information. In *Proceedings of the 2014 The Third International Conference on Agro-Geoinformatics, Beijing, China, 11–14 August 2014*, pp. 1–5.
- Zhu, H., B. Chu, C. Zhang, F. Liu, L. Jiang, and Y. He. 2017. Hyperspectral imaging for presymptomatic detection of tobacco disease with successive projections algorithm and machine-learning classifiers. *Scientific Reports* 7.



# **Extension Plant Pathology**

Muhammad Atig and Nasir Ahmed Rajput

#### Abstract

Phyto health care is a holistic approach and the most pressing need to serve the poverty-stricken farmers by extension services, especially in developing countries. Extension programs can prove fruitful tools to minimize plant disease losses by assisting and educating farmers in developing countries in order to increase their productivity, food security, and livelihoods. Phyto health clinics are accountable and responsive. Previous studies have revealed significant lessons about the most effective ways to set up phyto healthcare clinics, educate phyto doctors to provide a trustworthy service to farmers, and lay the groundwork for developing plant health systems that integrate efforts and resources for increased impact on farmers' economic status. The participatory action research approach has made it possible for us to pinpoint research priorities precisely and has given us a better understanding of the constraints faced by farmers. The main aim of this effort is to throw light on the significance of phytopathology extension, the role of plant pathologists in phyto healthcare, and an overview of phyto healthcare in the developed and developing world.

#### Keywords

Plant health  $\cdot$  Pathological issues  $\cdot$  Plant health diagnostic network  $\cdot$  Phyto clinic  $\cdot$  Global biosecurity

M. Atiq ( $\boxtimes$ ) · N. A. Rajput Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

I. Ul Haq, S. Ijaz (eds.), *Trends in Plant Disease Assessment*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5896-0\_13

## 13.1 Phyto Healthcare for Poverty-Stricken Farmers Across the Globe: A Pressing Need Extension Plant Pathology

Extension plant pathology aims to build educational programs that offer guidance on prompt detection and management of plant disease to increase farmers' productivity, food security, and means of subsistence.

Programs for extension are required to help increase farm income and production and decrease food insecurity and poverty. Extension programs involve teaching techniques and skills to improve farmers' productivity, food security, and means of subsistence. In agricultural-dependent economies, extension programs have been the primary means of disseminating knowledge on-farm technology, promoting adult learning in rural areas, and helping farmers to improve their managerial and technical farm skills. With a focus on the agricultural extension services offered by the ACDEP, the impact of extension services on-farm production and income has been investigated (Danso-Abbeam et al. 2018).

Since the Smith-Lever Act of 1914, which established extension, it has significantly changed (Sherf 1973). It deals with extension programs designed to minimize plant disease losses by assisting and educating county extension agents and producers through the county delivery system. Early outreach, a hallmark of extension plant pathology, is described as a one-way process in which the institution communicates its knowledge to crucial elements (Spanier et al. 2001). Over the past century, changes have also been made in the diversity of the network that shares plant pathology knowledge. Growers rely on the diagnostic services and adaptive research carried out by extension plant pathologists and information from non-profit organizations, for-profit companies, and paid consultants. Companies, associations, or consultancies rarely do independent research. The Rodale Institute and the agricultural chemical sector stand out. However, most of these sources of information have a narrow scope because they concentrate on a specific set of issues or strategies. For instance, non-profit organic organizations can't even teach growers how to use a genetically engineered disease-resistant cultivar, even if doing so is economically and environmentally advantageous. Agrichemical suppliers who sell specialized chemicals frequently offer advisory services to growers (Everts et al. 2012; Ul Haq et al. 2020).

#### 13.1.1 Extension Plant Pathologists

Plant pathologists who work in extension programs recognize plant diseases, offer guidance, and conduct research on regional and local phytopathological problems. Although the job of an extension plant pathologist has evolved through time, the need to be knowledgeable about every facet of our profession and be able to apply and successfully communicate that information to a broad audience does not appear to have altered. The purpose of extension has always been to act as a "translator" between the university and its customers, including nurserymen, agribusiness owners, farmers, homeowners, consultants, and a wide range of other people. The

first officially hired extension plant pathologists were M. F. Barrus of Cornell and R. E. Vaughan of Wisconsin in 1915. Extension plant pathologists planned and conducted short courses, farmer institutes, and local grower meetings during this time. Plant pathologists have already begun working on extension publications and demonstration initiatives. Extension plant pathologists eventually coordinated their work through county agents as the county agent system grew more established. County agents were responsible for communicating the local community's requirements to state-based extension specialists (Jacobsen and Paulus 1990).

#### 13.1.2 Need for Extension Phytopathology

If not addressed, there would be a delay in responding to developing diseases, lower crop yields, more significant economic losses, and a disadvantage for US agriculture on the global stage due to the increasing demand for reliable information and continual budget cuts at the local, state, and federal levels (Everts et al. 2012). Over the past 20 years, numerous extension plant pathologists have worked at regional or extended research centers. However, the APS extension committee met for the first time in 1931.

#### 13.1.3 Scope of Extension Phytopathology

Extension phytopathology is bringing scientific investigations to the public. Extension plant pathologists are still an essential part of the APS, accounting for 9% of the organization's membership in the United States (Jacobsen and Paulus 1990). Extension plant pathology programs have changed throughout the past century to account for changes in program funding and the US population's demographics. In response to a highly educated customer, extension programs are becoming more collaborative and specialized (Everts et al. 2012).

## 13.1.4 An Overview of Plant Healthcare in Developed and Developing Countries

Despite a recent concern for extension, a dearth of innovation in advising approaches has resulted from historical neglect. However, in developing countries, extension programs perform a terrible job of aiding farmers. Although governments employ a substantial number of extension specialists, they have a limited understanding of farmers' needs, and farming communities are scattered (Anderson 2007). Because farmers have few steady and trustworthy channels for communicating their requirements, even the most excellent extension workers cannot meet the demands of all their assigned customers. It is time to reevaluate how to best address the requirements of farmers, especially in developing nations where agriculture serves as the primary source of earnings for millions of people.

Phyto health clinics are not a novel concept in the USA and other developed regions of the world with successful phyto health systems that help farmers and have been doing so for a long time (Campbell et al. 1999). However, in the case of the developing world, phyto clinics present a new strategy for the farming community. The most pressing need is to serve the farmers by extension services, especially in developing countries. Extension programs can prove fruitful tools to minimize plant disease losses by assisting and educating farmers in developing countries to increase their productivity, food security, and livelihood.

## 13.2 An Insight into Participatory Approaches and Phytopathological Problems of Developing Countries

The use of pesticides imposed concerns on growers, agricultural workers, and users, and the centralized strategy came under increasing criticism. A new paradigm was needed to feed the world through sustainable food production (Schillhorn van Veen 2003). The centralized system (including state-managed input procurement) came under increasing criticism since the usage of pesticides posed risks to farmers, agricultural workers, and consumers. A new paradigm was needed to feed the world through sustainable food production (Schillhorn van Veen 2003). Farmers today must compete in markets where consumers expect low-cost and high-quality products. Pests (such as diseases and weeds) are becoming more capable of adapting to cutting-edge single technology-style crop protection and contributing to the problem. There is a need for holistic approaches to generating and sharing knowl-edge (Vos et al. 2010). Participatory methods are currently utilized more frequently, and several words and acronyms refer to various uses. The shared denominators include the emphasis on the target/end-user groups' active involvement in the discovery of innovative knowledge and the facilitatory contribution of trainers.

## 13.3 Emerging Plant Diseases in Developing Countries

Plant diseases significantly lower crop yield in tropical ecosystems and developing countries. These countries are especially vulnerable to spreading diseases because they lack the resources to control them. Major epidemics can substantially harm economies that depend heavily on agriculture, jeopardize national food security, and evict populations. According to current forecasts, cropping practices and international trade will lead to an increase in disease pressure. A detrimental factor might also be climate change. Ideal strategies for containing outbreaks should include prompt intervention, precise detection, and reliable monitoring. This is especially true for new diseases, which frequently need rapid development and innovative responses. Emerging infectious diseases spread by plant pathogens have the potential to develop into sudden and severe epidemics due to the interaction of various pathogen, host, and environmental variables. In the past, Europe endured

catastrophic epidemics with adverse societal effects due to the continent's rapid urbanization and the fact that many other EIDs still regularly occur in the developing world.

At the start of the twenty-first century, Xanthomonas Wilt of Banana, which threatened the food security of nearly 70 million people in Uganda, caused yield losses of about 50%. (Vurro et al. 2010). The damaged area is expected to grow at an annual pace of 8% if the disease is not controlled (Kayobyo et al. 2005). According to predictions, the condition will cost at least \$8 billion in damages over the next ten years or \$2 billion yearly. Current research indicates that Uganda's banana crop will endure output reductions of about 53% during the next ten years. Cassava Mosaic Virus (CMV) is the most severe disease in Sri Lanka, Southern India, and Africa (Otim-Nape and Thresh 2006). CMD is a disease that can eradicate cassava farming in many parts of East Africa and lower yield by 80–90%. In Sub-Saharan Africa, a parasitic weed called *Striga hermonthica* destroys grain crops on about five million hectares (Vurro et al. 2010). Infestation rates in maize fields ranged from 20 to 30 percent of the total in Togo, Mali, and Nigeria, and Benin exceeded 65 percent in a review on the spread of *S. hermonthica* in 25 African countries (De Groote et al. 2008).

Due to the *Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *tritici* race Ug99 rust fungus, which adversely affects wheat in Uganda, most nations that farm wheat are in danger. A race known as Ug99, named after its discovery in Uganda in 1999, has recently produced severe outbreaks in several countries in East Africa and the region surrounding the Horn of Africa (Ethiopia, Kenya, Sudan, Uganda). Oman, Iran, Eritrea, Afghanistan, and Pakistan (FAO 2008b) were on the list of nations with an immediate risk of infection.

#### 13.4 Participatory Methods

There are many applications for participatory approaches and numerous terms and acronyms to identify them.

#### 13.4.1 Adopting Participatory Training

It is advantageous when information is available, whether at the researcher or farming community level. Such information is disseminated through problemsolving instruction that promotes the discovery learning process, which entails diagnosing or identifying the problem, researching the ecology and biology of pests, and then trying out various management techniques. During participative training, conventional teaching techniques must be abandoned. We refer to them as participants rather than trainees or students. In the past, farmers could observe tomato plants suffering from wilting in their fields but did not execute rouging because they were unaware that infected plants could spread disease to other plants. Farmers engaged in a field exercise where they performed the customary task of harvesting infected plants at the base of the stem and placed a portion of the infected stem into a glass containing water to detect the bacterial ooze (Vos et al. 2010).

#### 13.4.2 Participatory Research

Participatory research may be helpful when conventional wisdom and scientific counsel clash or when there are no effective solutions to farmers' concerns. There are several definitions, but broadly speaking, the farming community designs agenda, analyses, and develops technologies following personal needs with the help of enablers and resource people.

There are various definitions, but generally speaking, with the help of facilitators and resource people, farmers determine the agenda, conduct assessments, and develop technologies according to their needs. Farmers must take the initiative and participate more actively in the field activities because the results are unknown, even if there are few procedural distinctions between participatory training and participatory research (Vos et al. 2010). Although direct empowerment is frequently restricted to small farmers when conducted by research groups, participatory research can also lead to farmer empowerment (Hellin et al. 2008). On organic smallholdings, a collaborative assessment of biological and cultural management looked at seven biological treatments utilizing a variety of *Clonostachys* and *Trichoderma* species and weekly and monthly phytosanitation. For the best results, farmers choose a mix of cultural and biological control. Because there was no alternative method for biocontrol at the time, weekly phytosanitation was still necessary. However, with appropriate biocontrol, pod sporulation can be avoided, and the phytosanitary process is becoming less labor-intensive (Vos et al. 2010).

## 13.5 Impact Assessment

A collaborative effort between scientists and farmers can also be used for impact assessment. Farmers should be urged to maintain their records in order to aid this process. Farmers will express interest in continuing the activity in their worksheets once they see how important keeping notes is. The breadth of FPR's coverage has drawn criticism (Farrington 1998). The recommendation domain is used to identify the population sample and to create a plan for maximizing the advantages of farmer involvement in events (Conroy and Sutherland 2004).

Adopting participatory approaches requires adopting prescribed practices and methods, making their successful implementation a difficult task. At present, extension workers must interact with numerous sectors, each with its own institutional and personal history, conventions, values, and interests. Farmers will come to know about plant diseases and management strategies. It will prove a beneficial step for effective learning of farmers.

## 13.6 Technology Espousal: Farmers' Participation and Training in Pakistan

Pakistan is an agriculture-based country. Most Pakistani citizens, whether directly or indirectly, depend on agriculture for their daily needs. The Pakistani government has begun several initiatives to educate farmers (Iqbal et al. 2016) and to provide food supply, combat poverty, and access services such as education and healthcare. Smallholders must be able to generate sustainable income. Sustainable productivity lessens the negative impacts on the environment and natural resources. The delayed adoption of modern technology in Pakistan is the most significant barrier to better smallholder yields.

## 13.6.1 The Cotton Industry in Pakistan and Constraints Faced by Farmers

The country's backbone is cotton. Over 1.5 million farming families are employed, while millions of workers in cities and towns depend on it for their livelihood. Up to 40% of the financial income of rural households in cotton-growing regions comes from selling cotton-related products. In addition, it generates around 85% of our domestic oil production and 60% of our export revenue. The province of Baluchistan has become a significant region for cotton production in addition to the central cotton-growing areas of the Punjab and Sindh provinces (Baluch 2007). Boll rots, root rot, and wilts are the three main fungal diseases. Bacterial blight, caused by Xanthomonas campestris pv. malvacearum are the most ravaging phytopathological issue. Bacterial blight is the most harmful disease that significantly reduces cotton yield during the rainy season (Delannoy et al. 2005). The United States' state of Alabama was where it was initially documented in 1891 (Atkinson 1891). The most notable factor limiting cotton output in Pakistan is CLCuD (Sattar et al. 2017). A new challenge to cotton growers is cotton boll rot and bacterial seed with 10-15% yield loss (Hudson 2000). Many fungal species cause cotton seed rots and seedling infections. Pythium (Devay et al. 1982), Rhizoctonia (Brown and McCarter 1976), Fusarium (Klich 1986), and Thielaviopsis are the main fungal genera linked to seed degradation (King and Barker 1934). These infections infiltrate the vulnerable cotton plants and cause damping-off disease. Farmers' poor technical proficiency and the lack of a productive extension agency, which limits access to and dissemination of new information and technology, make these problems much worse (Guest et al. 2007).

#### 13.7 Participatory Action Research

Farmers are both participants and researchers in participatory action research. The primary goal of PAR was to draw attention to troublesome situations or concerns that participants believed required more research to make effective practice

improvements (Cornwell 1999). The program aimed to provide farmers with efficient disease management solutions. The idea that PAR provides various valuable and affordable solutions is one of its advantages.

The results of the several research that examined the effects of Bt cotton in developing countries are generally restricted to comparing the average outcomes for adopters and non-adopters. The findings of the several studies that looked at how Bt cotton affected developing economies were usually limited to a study of the average results for consumers and non-consumers. Concerns and questions have been raised about the commercial use of Bt cotton in Pakistan due to a lack of thorough research on the economic growth of the readily accessible Bt varieties relative to traditional types and a variety of pest risks in the country (specifically losses brought on by the CLCuV, which is dispersed through the white fly). To assess the financial impacts of the adoption of unapproved Bt varieties on costs of production and yields, the "Bt Cotton Survey 2009" (IDS 2009), a questionnairebased survey, was conducted in 2009 in two cotton-growing districts of Pakistan: Mirpur Khas in Sindh and Bahawalpur in Punjab (Becker and Ichino 2002). Between 2006 and 2008, Bt cotton adoption grew quickly in these two districts, following the general trend. Bahawalpur had a higher adoption rate (36%) than Mirpur Khas in 2006 (32%). Bt cotton was grown by slightly more than 87% of farmers in Mirpur Khas in 2008, compared to 74% in Bahawalpur (Nazli 2011).

#### 13.7.1 Significant Management Options for CLCuV

A variety of several minimal, moderate, and high-input IPDM solutions were introduced in response to the realization that management approaches needed to change. These alternatives served as the basis for contemporary, grower-focused methods of disseminating cutting-edge knowledge and methods (Konam et al. 2008). The objective was to increase cotton production and increase farmer incomes. By adjusting optimum crop techniques, the disease could also be controlled. The severity of the disease would be minimized by planting cotton between May 15 and June 15. CLCuV infection is reduced by about 20–30% by applying potassium fertilizer at 100 kg K2O and 150 kg N per hectare. In the cotton belt of Punjab province, disease prevalence varies substantially naturally depending on location (Baluch 2007). The participatory action research approach has made it possible for us to precisely pinpoint research priorities and better understand the challenges faced by farmers and what is and is not working. Because they were immediately involved in implementing the improved management and spreading it among their neighbors, it gave farmers more responsibility by demonstrating the immediate consequences of technology.

#### 13.8 SoTL Projects in Phytopathology

Teaching efforts valued on par with scholarly activity, such as research in our professions is the aim of those who promote scholarship learning and teaching. When a teacher faces a severe issue, it is typically considered a negative situation that must be addressed with caution (Bass 1999). A founding member of the movement for the scholarship for learning and teaching claimed that it is appropriate for a scientist to teach, trying to provide the fairest and most realistic description of the latest information to those who would like to secure knowledge, in addition to discovering the truth and sharing it with his colleagues. To become a scholarly teacher, one must reflect on their teaching and have a keen interest in learning more about the research behind effective teaching techniques. Such a method frequently entails articulating a problem, finding its solution, and performing a formative assessment to gauge its effectiveness (Bass 1999). A topic in education must be thoroughly investigated for SoTL (study of teaching and learning), and the results must be shared with people through presentations or publications. This knowledge might then be used to develop a framework for other teachers (Hutchings and Shulman 1999).

#### 13.8.1 Scholarship of SoTL Projects in Our Classroom

As academic educators, we want to know if the materials we offer and the teaching strategies contribute to improving student learning (Eastburn and D'Arcy 2010). This inclusive classrooms phytopathology course provides an introduction; we shall present three SoTL investigations. Students of phytopathology learn about the main crop plants and the most significant diseases that affect them. Students are also addressed to agricultural issues such as mycotoxins, pesticides, genetic engineering, food safety, environmental quality, monoculture, and food production through the use of these plant diseases.

## 13.8.2 First Example: Productiveness of Various Media and Instructional Methods

We deliver material in a variety of instructional formats and media, including videos, small group activities, traditional lectures, books, websites, podcasts, response devices for students' in-class and out-of-class writing assignments, to accommodate variation and diversity of our students' majors, backgrounds, genders including learning styles (D'Arcy et al. 2007). Therefore, these media might be beneficial for a variety of student groups. Students from various majors, learning styles, and genders judged a range of teaching strategies and media as helpful in this study. Eight teaching techniques, such as PowerPoint slides, review grids, online quizzes,

lectures, overheads, PowerPoint notes, and blackboard notes, were evaluated as successful over the course of two or more semesters through each of the four learning style groups (scientific and non-science majors group and both genders group). Practically speaking, it is good that different student groups found these strategies helpful, and it supports the notion that various teaching strategies and media benefit all students (Eastburn and D'Arcy 2010).

### 13.8.3 Second Example: Effectiveness of Web-Based Assignments

A second study was carried out to determine the effect of a supplementary course website on student learning. Data from the student survey were analyzed, and seven key themes about student site usage emerged. More student control over information access, more learner speed control, and a wealth of knowledge resources are all provided via the internet. Practical learning of students is possible by writing, and they can explore the field through interactive components such as available online laboratories, including dynamic simulations, while the internet allows for in-depth research and phenomenon investigation (Bruce et al. 2005). We lacked any complex data showing that utilizing the site had enhanced student learning, even though input from students suggested they enjoyed using it and thought it aided their in-class learning. We were able to determine the impact of the productive activity on the learning of students through a comparison of results of comprehending and applying the scientific method pre-test questions to those on questions with a similar phrasing on the post-test. As a result, the potential of students to explain the scientific process's main ideas and apply what they learned to particular circumstances significantly improved.

## 13.8.4 Third Example: Significance of Course Information to Daily Lives of Students

As educators, our goal is for our students to understand the significance of what they learn in school and use it in their everyday lives. In the Plants, Pathogens, and People course, we undertook third research to learn more about how students adapt what they learn in the classroom to their non-academic lives. According to the entries in the student journals, students most frequently referred to information directly related to their everyday lives in non-academic contexts, usually information about food or addressing current events in the news. It was clear how writing to learn, and outside-of-class writing assignments impacted the transfer of knowledge. The findings of this investigation support utilization of news articles, writing prompts including narrative training to achieve this goal and our emphasis on the personal significance of each student's choice of topic.

## 13.8.5 Need for Scholarship of Teaching and Learning

A similar argument is that psychologists and educators should be enlisted to carry out these investigations since we lack the expertise necessary to carry out significant research in teaching and learning. Faculty members should conduct SoTL research to increase their effectiveness as teachers. The second component that flows from the first is the enhancement of student learning inside and outside the classroom. The advancement of education for individuals working in the field of phytopathology, if not the entire academic community, is a third reason why plant pathologists engage in SoTL research. Although education researchers and scholars have generated a large amount of data that is essential to our schools and could be used to improve our effectiveness as teachers, these individuals lack the time and motivation to adapt their data for learning to all of the fields of study in which it may be useful. Another benefit of including experts in phytopathology in SoTL research is the more prolonged exposure to phytopathology. Because we conducted research in our classes and then presented our findings at teaching seminars and workshops on campus or as presentations and posters at teaching-related professional meetings, many more people are now aware of the field of phytopathology. They are at least somewhat familiar that plant diseases affect their daily lives. We believe it is essential to do SoTL research in plant pathology, despite the many difficulties and perhaps unsatisfactory results.

# 13.9 A Glimpse into Experience of Technology Transfer in Extension

## 13.9.1 Technology Transfer in Extension

Technology transfer (TT) is an important step in the extension process, which involves sharing technical knowledge and innovation with the farming community (Koutsouris 2018).

## 13.9.1.1 Role of Internet

In its simplest form, the internet can be considered a vast network of computer networks. Text, graphics, photos, sound, and video are just a few of the several media types used to deliver information online. Staying updated is now possible in ways that were never before practicable. In 1997, the Van Buren County Extension Horticulture website included weekly updates on disease situations, including a fire blight pandemic. The Clarksville Horticultural Experiment Station regularly updates important data on the occurrence and prognosis of apple scab (Biggs and Grove 1998). In 2004, *Phakopsora pachyrhizi*, responsible for Asian soybean rust, probably invaded the country via the winds from Hurricane Ivan. With the introduction of the internet, extension advisories, publications, and diagnosis tools have continued to be available to people and other interested individuals.

With just a few clicks, growers may quickly access various educational resources, such as books, digital pictures, downloadable PowerPoint presentations with narration, and instructional video clips. Remote PowerPoint presentation access via personal computers is becoming more common in America (Vincelli 2010). Since some consumers find it difficult to distinguish between these disparities, recent efforts have been made to build websites that offer quality-controlled information about agricultural research. IPM Images is one example of an image database that is easy to use and access. One of the many searchable and user-friendly image databases accessible online is IPM Images. Fact sheets for several websites and a collection of diagnostic images for the NPDN are more examples (Vegetable MD Online). These websites are all consistently updated (Jacobson et al. 2008). Universities and some business interests have created web-based techniques that diagnose plant diseases without actual plant specimens and instead rely on digital pictures. The initial concept depends on the accurate GPS location of the seed tablet (Griepentrog et al. 2006). Real-time kinematic approaches (RTK) must be ordered from nearby vendors, and an extremely precise GPS signal is needed for positionbased systems. The widespread use of smartphones and recent advancements in computer vision made feasible by deep learning have made smartphone-assisted disease detection conceivable. Smartphones, in particular, provide highly specialized methods to help with disease detection due to their computer power, high-resolution displays, and extensive built-in accessory sets, such as full HD cameras (Mohanty et al. 2016).

## 13.9.2 Alterations in the Role of Extension Specialist and Information Flow

Farmers can now find information from various sources, including seed distributors, fungicide manufacturers, advisors, fertilizers suppliers, information from other countries' extension programs, and peer-reviewed journal publications. Specialists should safeguard their standing as objective, science-based authorities by ensuring they uphold that standard in all they do if they want to ensure that extension remains applicable in this present era. Extension professionals have a unique position in that they may provide helpful research and recommendations that are typically viewed as objective and the most cutting-edge diagnostics, despite the fact that producers acquire information from several sources (Vincelli 2010). A rising number of programs in applied phytopathology use molecular tools to identify the pathogen. When *Phytophthora ramorum* causes rapid oak death, identification using nucleic acid-based methods is necessary to complete the diagnosis. Innovative technologies are helpful, but it's crucial to remember that to utilize them successfully, one must be aware of both their disadvantages and benefits. A recent review article on pathogen detection based on nucleic acid addressed these issues (Vincelli and Tisserat 2008).

#### 13.9.3 Extension Programs in the USA

Extension programs have been implemented globally to enhance human capital by educating farmers on production techniques, the best input usage, and management techniques (Dinar et al. 2007). Most of the almost one million extension workers who provide daily advice to farmers worldwide are situated in low- and middle-income countries, particularly in Asia, where they make up 70% of the total (Bahal 2004). The West Africa Agricultural Productivity Program (WAAPP) is a significant extension initiative. The program was started in 2007 and operated in 13 countries in West Africa. It develops and disseminates climate-smart farming techniques to increase long-term agricultural productivity (Caiafa and Wrabel 2019). Plant pathology is involved in some of these areas, while it has little technical significance in many others. Despite numerous successes, critics claim that extension systems fall short due to low staff morale, financial strain, poor interactions with agricultural research, the improper use of extension officials for political ends, or the failure to maintain farmers' interest in training over the long term (Jones and Kondylis 2018).

## 13.9.4 Privatization of Extension Services in USA

It is crucial to remember that it is acceptable to question if a for-profit or a private company would be more appropriate to execute the services plant pathologists do as an extension in a capitalist society. However, extension specialists offer crucial services to community, including unbiased disease control advice, objectively applied research, and cutting-edge diagnostics for our forests, fields, and landscapes. Fortunately, at least among state and federal legislators, society appears to recognize this. There have been no significant proposals in the USA on privatizing extension services. This approach would damage both by severing ties between the extension and the land-grant university (Vincelli 2010).

## 13.10 Diagnostic Networks: A fruitful Tool for Plant Biosecurity

#### 13.10.1 Significance of Plant Health

Most species, including humans, depend on plant systems for various ecological services. Systems for producing food and maintaining public health are founded on plant systems. It is exceptionally challenging to guarantee sustainable food security because of the complex networks involved in making food and transportation, reliance on availability and energy cost, and their vulnerability to political unrest (Anon 2008). Many medications are prescribed for cognitive and psychosocial issues and used to treat diseases obtained from plants. For the foreseeable future, plants will be essential in preventing rises in atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations. If harnessing plant-based energy is a practical solution for reducing the negative consequences of climate change without jeopardizing food security,

healthy plant systems are required. People have prized plants for their aesthetic value throughout history and worldwide. The multibillion-dollar (US) sector of international trading in ornamental and landscape plants boosts many countries' local and global economies (Stack 2010).

## 13.10.2 Constraints to Sustainable Phytohealth

One of the many factors that can influence phytohealth is the obstacles created by biological weapons, bio crime, climate change, the increasingly globalized populace, and foreign trade (Stack 2008). Technology and research development will require financing to address these issues and safeguard the plant systems that sustain life and ecosystem preservation. One of the most pressing challenges is global plant and product commerce, combined with population growth and development. The relative significance of purposefully introducing plant diseases is difficult to assess, and there has been much debate on the subject (Young et al. 2008).

## 13.10.3 NPDN (The National Plant Diagnostic Network)

The Cooperative States Research, Education and Extension Service of the USA, in collaboration with the land-grant university system, established NPDN in 2002 to aid in protecting plants from the intentional, unintentional, and natural introduction of phytopathogens and pests (Stack et al. 2006). The primary goal of the NPDN's establishment was to identify disease outbreaks and the agents responsible for them quickly. Common diseases are most frequently identified based on the typical symptoms and objective evidence of diseases detected during diagnosis. The likelihood of misdiagnosis in the field depends on the expertise of the field specialist and the disease's local epidemiology. Getting laboratory confirmation of a diagnosis is essential for any disease with a significant risk of adverse consequences. As the diversity of the sample and the significance of the diagnosis increase, a diagnostic laboratory employs increasingly cutting-edge technologies. To identify regulated infections, extremely comprehensive molecular diagnostic approaches are typically needed (Stack 2010).

A thorough evaluation of the capacity and competency of each plant diagnostic laboratory was necessary due to the discrepancy in core competencies and diagnostic infrastructure among laboratories across the country. The idea behind triage is to differentiate between positives and negatives. The triage procedure, in concept, starts when the evaluation of the type of issue is made in the field at the epidemic site. This facilitates the quickest response possible by accelerating the diagnostic procedure.

Web-enabled microscopy and video conferencing are available at many NPDN laboratories. As a result, a diagnosis in a lab can send a picture of the material being examined under a microscope to a mini server, laying the groundwork for a functional telemedicine system. The URL to a webpage on the microscope server

is then communicated to an authority on that pathogen or host, for example, by email or phone.

A speedy and precise determination is one of NPDN's key objectives. In plant clinics, without widespread access to contemporary technologies, the physical and cultural characteristics of the pathogen are used for traditional diagnosis. This presents a few potential challenges for different infections. A diagnosis based on physical and cultural traits can take much time to improve the effectiveness and accuracy of diagnosing a plant disease. Through NPDN funding, grant funding, and assistance from host universities, the technologies necessary for current nucleic acid-based assays, like PCR and real-time PCR, were made available to NPDN laboratories. Thermocyclers, real-time thermocyclers, ELISA plate readers, gel documentation systems, and other variants of this equipment are available (Stack et al. 2006). For this laboratory network and screening system to be most effective, the results generated by each laboratory must be of specified quality to inspire confidence in the results and to permit the interpretation of shared information.

A national system for laboratory accreditation (LAS) is being created to fulfill this goal. Under this program, all NPDN labs would get the equipment and instruction required to meet the accreditation requirements for an NPDN diagnostic laboratory. Purdue University established a nationwide database for diagnoses from all NPDN labs. This data source presents insight into the regional prevalence rate of pathogens. Additionally provided is a database for epidemiological evaluations of the dynamics and trends of the disease. In the event of an intentional introduction, the data repository will give background data for forensic analysis (Fletcher 2008).

Using NPDN laboratories in a ring testing technique, USDA research facilities have enhanced the validation of novel diagnostic tools (Lamour et al. 2006). Providing the diagnosticians with extra training in the protocol before it was put into place as a standard operating procedure has improved the protocol validation. Additionally, the NPDN diagnosing labs have been requested to provide funding for studies comparing various diagnostic technologies in scenarios where an epidemic is present as part of research projects linked to disease outbreak response operations (Bullock et al. 2006).

#### 13.10.4 Communications Infrastructure and Operations By NPDN

To enable information sharing amongst diagnosticians and regulatory agencies, NPDN created a secure communications infrastructure. The NPDN provides a web portal that acts as a public information resource and a gateway to each regional network's website. The communication system was designed to prevent unwanted physical or electronic access to network data and guarantee data accessibility and integrity against various human and environmental threats, such as vandalism and extreme weather conditions (Stack and Baldwin 2008).
# 13.10.5 Training and Education Program Developed By NPDN

An education and training program for first detectors was developed and implemented by NPDN. First responders are educated to recognize disease symptoms and indicators, as well as pathogen and insect damage that may have detrimental effects. NPDN training programs are presented in person, either in a classroom setting or in the field. There is also a functioning online system for first detector training that enables asynchronous program distribution.

To ensure the rapid and precise diagnosis of diseases and pests, Phyto diagnosticians must be instructed in using cutting-edge diagnostic technology and the most recent SOPs. The correct notification procedures, as well as the rules and laws governing the handling, storing, and transportation of specific agents, sample processing, and sample destruction, must all be understood by NPDN diagnosticians. The topics covered in the regional hands-on workshops provided by NPDN include insects (such as *Maconellicoccus hirsutus*), infections (such as Wheat Streak Mosaic Virus), diagnostic tools (such as PCR), and vectors (such as *Aceria tosichella*).

A method to help states prepare for an outbreak of a plant disease was developed and implemented by NPDN. Each exercise is based on a well-constructed issue that describes the protocols needed for a successful response to and resolution of an outbreak of insect pest or disease. Asian soybean rust, *Agrilus planipennis, Agrilus marcopoli*, including other epidemics, have been modeled in scenarios. A computer software program is used to manage each exercise, giving all the data required for detailed post-exercise evaluations.

# 13.11 An Overview of International Cooperation for Global Plant Biosecurity

Plant diseases seriously threaten world food security (Strange and Scott 2005). Because of the rising hazards associated with the widespread movement of plant products and plants across the world, international collaboration is essential for ensuring plant biosecurity (Stack and Fletcher 2007). The plant diagnostic facilities of business partners, bordering countries, and those situated along natural trade routes in North America should be connected to international networks (Main et al. 2001). The European Union created the Crop Biosecurity Program to introduce a research network focusing on harmful diseases of plants under the direction of the University of Torino (Gullino et al. 2008). This network aims to include more European and Mediterranean countries and secure communications technologies to enable coordinated diagnosis (Stack and Baldwin 2008). Regional labs have been introduced in Africa, the Caribbean, Central USA, and Southeast Asia through the NPDN paradigm. For regional plant diagnostic clinics, many nations have created and made diagnostic training programs available. In countries with limited resources, IPDN will substantially impact ongoing investment.

#### 13.11.1 Plant Health Clinics and Plant Pathology Training

The agricultural industry plays a significant role in increasing nutrient-dense food, guaranteeing food security, and reducing poverty worldwide (Jones and Ejeta 2016). Despite the significance of agricultural crop production, insect and disease infestation generate problems along the value chain of crop production. Plant pests and diseases that are economically significant cause about 40% of agricultural output losses (Oerke 2006). Plant health difficulties can be treated by correctly diagnosing and identifying pests affecting agricultural plants (Ausher et al. 1996). Farmers can obtain advice on plant pest problems affecting crops through plant health clinics and management strategies for pest control (Alokit et al. 2014).

#### 13.11.2 Training in Crop Protection at UCL

The main training objective has been to provide specialized training in plant protection without compromising the need for multidisciplinary skills and adapting to changes in agriculture and the job market ever since the Integrated Crop Protection opportunity was set up at our faculty in 1967 and throughout the numerous program revisions since then. The compulsory disciplinary training in crop protection includes lectures on organisms that affect plant development, such as viruses, bacteria, fungus, nematodes, arthropods, and weeds. Additionally, it discussed the interactions between pathogens and plants in epidemiology, case studies of harmful pathogen or pest interactions with plants in phytopathology and applied for entomology courses, and crop protection techniques in crop improvement, phyto pharmacy, biological, and integrative courses (Maraite et al. 2010). The phyto clinic course has been the basis of our plant protection curriculum at UCL since its inauguration in 1976. This course was created due to interactions with the plant clinic connected to the department of botany and phyto pathology at Purdue University in Indiana, USA, during the author's postdoctoral stay there in 1972. Applying the phyto clinic concept, as employed in an American land grant university, did not appear practical to the UCL scenario because developing a phyto clinic service was not UCL's top priority. The author defines a plant disease clinic as employing actual field samples of diseased plants, integrating scientific knowledge to understand, prevent, or treat the observed disease, and training plant doctors (Evans-Ruhl 1982).

The phyto clinic course begins in the fall with one or two outdoor sessions designed to teach students how to identify disease or pest injury symptoms, examine the distribution of the symptoms, gauge the prevalence and severity of the disease, and assess the likelihood of further development of disease. The following 10 to 15 weeks are spent instructing the students to diagnose illnesses in the lab more quickly and accurately. A Leica M3/M5 stereomicroscope, a Zeiss Axiomat light microscope with phase contrast and dark field, a box with tools and chemicals for slide preparations, and isolations of pathogenic fungi and bacteria are all present in the lab for the plant clinic course, which has 15 student workstations.

It is let out to identify particular cultures using PCR or electron microscopy in collaboration with a mycological lab. Small groups of students are also instructed on the practical use of ELISA tests and PCR testing for mycotoxin and fungus detection in addition to conventional procedures.

# 13.11.3 The Plant Clinic Service: A bridge that connects the University and Farmers

Under the auspices of CORDER, the plant clinic service has been created since 1985. Employees were initially compensated through a regional program to lower unemployment, supporting public interest initiatives. Due to service agreements with individuals and organizations, client fees, and occasionally a reimbursement from the Walloon Area for the social service provided, the budget has expanded to approximately €350,000 per annum. In compliance with CORDER, space may be rented from the UCL Lab of Phytopathology, major equipment may be shared, and the library and L3 Biosafety Laboratory may be used for work involving quarantine pathogens. As a result, the phyto clinic service acts as a conduit between farmers and the university.

# 13.11.4 The Linkage Between the Phyto Clinic Course and Phyto Clinic Service

The university's phyto clinic course and the non-profit plant clinic service work well together. On occasion, the course will incorporate additional analysis of intriguing samples sent to and evaluated by the service. Through their interactions with the service, the students learn about the purposes and specifications of a phyto clinic service. Both the course and the service share the paperwork for the phyto clinic. Around the time of their training's conclusion, which usually occurs in May, the most experienced students are allowed to participate in the analysis of specific samples delivered to the phyto clinic service. After the analysis, they provide the service bioengineer with their diagnostic and recommendations. These samples can be added to the herbarium for their Plant Clinic course. Many students make use of the plant clinic program. Furthermore, plans have been established for specialized instruction in the strategies employed by the plant clinic service (Maraite et al. 2010).

Specifically, in terms of phytopathology and the study of plant health, the plant clinic course helped increase one's awareness of adequate crop protection. The sharpest students may grow frustrated if there is a significant disparity in the group's pre-course training levels, even though they view the integration of knowledge through group discussion as a plus. Phytopathology training and plant clinics cannot be linked individually. Each university must choose the best strategy based on its resources, environment, and goals.

# 13.12 Technology Exchange Between China and Italy for Sustainable Crop and Environment Protection

Both highly developed and developing countries currently face new issues in agriculture. In developing countries like China, where 60% of the population still lives in rural areas, in poor conditions, and depends on agriculture as their primary source of earning, a shift toward sustainable agricultural systems which are more diverse (OECD 2005). A key component of sustainable agriculture is plant protection. Discussion is had regarding the results of an eight-year partnership between Italy and China in sustainable plant protection.

# 13.12.1 Significance of Agriculture and Agricultural Research in China

China is a major agriculture-based country. Considering the size and significance, China's agricultural economy is receiving much attention and becoming increasingly important to global trade. Nearly 15% of the GDP and more than 40% of jobs are accounted for by agriculture. Around 200 million farms, with an average land area per household of 0.65 hectares, are engaged in small-scale farming, dominating agricultural production structures (OECD-FAO 2008). China's agricultural performance would have a huge impact on the global food and agricultural markets and the fight against poverty worldwide (Dong et al. 2006). Plant protection has become a vital academic and professional area in China. Most agricultural colleges and universities offer this particular area of study, and most townships have technicians trained in plant preservation. Most agricultural science academies above the county level have established research facilities, crop protection, and quarantine.

From 1998 to 2006, the state allotted 2.58 billion yuan for constructing fundamental infrastructure for plant pest emergency control, monitoring, and early warning. The government budget provided 272 million yuan in 2006 to monitor yellow rust (*Puccinia striiformis*), snout moth larvae, and plagues of migratory locusts (*Locusta migratoria manilensis*) (*Crambus agitatellus*). Environmentally friendly pesticides increased from 3.1% to 18.1% in 2006, whereas highly toxic and lethal pesticides dropped from 21.8% to 11.8%. Through a combination of law and technical transfer, advancements in the safe use of pesticides are still being made. These efforts significantly enhanced plant protection methods, better working conditions, and improved protective capacity (Gullino et al. 2010).

# 13.12.2 Technology Exchange Between China and Italy in the Discipline of Sustainable Crop Protection

The Sino-Italian Cooperation Program for Environmental Protection was introduced in 2000 by the Italian Ministry for Environment, Land and Sea and the China State Environmental Protection Administration. Since then, this framework program has carried out several projects in sustainable plant protection (Clini et al. 2008). Every project has as its primary goal the reduction of dependence of China on the use of chemicals, which poses serious concerns to both the environment and food safety. Finding alternatives to methyl bromide, a toxic fumigant used in the horticulture industry for pre-plant soil sterilization and banned by the Montreal Protocol because of its role in the depletion of the ozone layer, has cost much money since the inception of the Sino-Italian Cooperation Program (Gullino et al. 2003). Italy, which in the 1990s ranked second in the world for methyl bromide consumption and first in Europe for the production of horticulture products, developed significant expertise in the creation of workable and practical methyl bromide substitutes and made investments in the transfer of those technologies to other nations, particularly China (Gullino et al. 2003). Soil solarization, grafting onto resistant rootstocks, and the application of less harmful chemicals at reduced dosages via drip irrigation, tested on tomatoes and strawberries, were more well-liked by farmers despite providing levels of effectiveness comparable to methyl bromide. This is because they required less financial outlay and fewer adjustments to fit the traditional cultural practices (Dong et al. 2007).

Field tests under the Sino-Italian Cooperation Programme were conducted in Shouguang County, Shandong Province, east China, in 2006 and 2007. Three tomato rootstocks—Beaufort F1, Energy F1, and He-Man F1—were tested in one experiment to see how well they suppressed the root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne incognita*) in a greenhouse environment. The results showed that the three rootstocks increased yields by 16–20% while reducing the occurrence of root knots by nearly 90% compared to a susceptible control (FA189 2008; Cao et al. 2008). Chemicals like flusilazole, carbendazim, metalaxyl, fenvalerate, and triadimefon are only a few examples that are no longer permitted in Europe and have been replaced with more natural and biological alternatives. The usage of pesticides on pears, for instance, was decreased by 29% and 69%, respectively, in comparison to traditional use, even though productivity was unaffected. In 2007, waxy maize pesticide use was reduced by 67% and 100%, while yields increased by 6% and 15%. Tomatoes and watermelons were cultivated in 2007 without the use of any chemical pesticides (Gullino et al. 2010)

# 13.12.3 Main Aim of Projects

The projects made an effort to adapt their objectives and methods of implementation to the particular locations they were focused on to adequately address those areas' unique social and economic needs, even though their primary purpose was to help China fulfill its obligations under the MEAMG. To discover, create, and carry out research and extension activities appropriately matched to local and global contexts, higher education institutions in China must develop the essential competencies. The inability to handle novel cropping systems and the lack of technical and scientific understanding have been two main obstacles to applying innovative techniques. Orienting scientific and technological expertise to meet market and industry demands is a difficulty. Due to environmental and financial considerations, which served as a steady frame of reference for all projects, fruit and vegetable crops were selected as the target crops. Although grains are still China's main crop, their proportion of total crop yields and planted area both fell significantly from 1990 to 2003 as other crops, like fruits and vegetables, became more lucrative and the government relaxed most of the policy requirements that had previously pushed growers to grow grains (OECD 2005).

#### References

- Alokit, C., B. Tukahirwa, D. Oruka, M. Okotel, C. Bukenya, and J. Mulema. 2014. Reaching out to farmers with plant health clinics in Uganda. *Uganda Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 15 (1): 15–26.
- Anderson, J.R. 2007. Agricultural Advisory Services. A background paper for Innovating through science and technology. In *Chapter 7 of the World Development Report 2008*. World Bank.
- Anonymous. 2008. *The Millennium Development Goals Report 2008*, 56. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs.
- Atkinson, G.F. 1891. Black rust of cotton: a preliminary note. Botanical Gazette 16: 61-65.
- Ausher, R., I.S. Ben-Ze'ev, and R. Black. 1996. The role of plant clinics in plant disease diagnosis and education in developing countries. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 34 (1): 51–66.
- Bahal, R. 2004. Agricultural Research and Extension Systems: Worldwide Study of Human and Financial Resources. Concept Publishing Company.
- Baluch, Z.A. 2007, September. Recent research advances to combat cotton leaf curl virus (CLCUV) disease in Pakistan. In Proceedings of the World Cotton Research Conference-4, Lubbock, TX.
- Bass, R. 1999. The scholarship of teaching: what's the problem? *Inventio* 1: 1. http://www.doiiit. gmu.edu/Archives/feb98/randybass.htm.
- Becker, S.O., and A. Ichino. 2002. Estimation of average treatment effects based on propensity scores. *The Stata Journal* 2 (4): 358–377.
- Biggs, A.R., and G.G. Grove. 1998. Role of the world wide web in extension plant pathology: case stutdies in tree fruits and grapes. *Plant Disease* 82 (5): 452–464.
- Brown, E.A., and S.M. McCarter. 1976. Effect of a seedlingdisease caused by Rhizoctonia solani on subsequentgrowth and yield of cotton. *Phytopathology* 66: 111–115.
- Bruce, B.C., H. Dowd, D.M. Eastburn, and C.J. D'Arcy. 2005. Plants, pathogens, and people: extending the classroom to the web. *Teachers College Record* 107: 1730–1753.
- Bullock, R., P. Shiel, P. Berger, D. Kaplan, G. Parra, W. Li, L. Levy, J. Keller, M. Reddy, N. Sharma, M. Dennis, J. Stack, J. Pierzynski, J. O'Mara, C. Webb, J. McKemy, and M. Palm. 2006. Evaluation of detection techniques to determine presence of *Phytophthora ramorum* in a nursery. *Plant Health Progress*. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHP-2006-1016-01-RS.
- Caiafa, K., and M. Wrabel 2019. National Policies and Programs for Food Security and Sustainability.
- Campbell, C.L., P.D. Peterson, and C.S. Griffith. 1999. *The Formative Years of Plant Pathology in the United States*. St. Paul, MN: The American Phytopathological Society.
- Cao, Z., D. Dong, X. Wang, L. Han, and M.L. Gullino. 2008. The reaction of three tomato rootstocks to *Meloidogyne incognita* in China. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 90 (S2): 340.
- Clini, C., I. Musu, and M.L. Gullino, eds. 2008. Sustainable Development and Environmental Management, 487. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Conroy, C and A. Sutherland .2004. Participatory technology development with resource-poor farmers: maximizing impact through the use of recommendation domains. ODI AgREN Network Paper no. 133.

- Cornwell, S. 1999. An interview with Anne Burns and Graham Crookes. *Language Teaching* 23: 7–9.
- D'Arcy, C.J., D.M. Eastburn, and K. Mullally. 2007. Effective use of a personal response system in a general education plant pathology class. *Plant Health Instructor*. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHI-T-2007-0315-07.
- Danso-Abbeam, G., D.S. Ehiakpor, and R. Aidoo. 2018. Agricultural extension and its effects on farm productivity and income: insight from Northern Ghana. *Agriculture & Food Security* 7 (1): 1–10.
- De Groote, H., L. Wangare, F.K. Kanampiu, M. Odendo, A. Diallo, H. Karaya, and D. Friesen. 2008. The potential of a herbicide resistant maize technology for Striga control in Africa. *Agricultural Systems* 97: 83–94.
- Delannoy, E., B.R. Lyon, P. Marmey, A. Jalloul, J.F. Daniel, J.L. Montillet, M. Essenberg, and M. Nicole. 2005. Resistance of cotton towards Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. Malvacearum. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 43: 63–82.
- Devay, J.E., R.H. Garber, and D. Matherson. 1982. Role of Pythium species in the seedling disease complex of cotton in California. *Plant Disease* 66: 151–154.
- Dinar, A., G. Karagiannis, and V. Tzouvelekas. 2007. Evaluating the impact of agricultural extension on farms' performance in Crete: a nonneutral stochastic frontier approach. Agricultural Economics 36: 135–146.
- Dong, X., S. Song, and X. Zhang. 2006. China's China's Agricultural Development: Challenges and Prospects, 311. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Dong, D., Z. Cao, X. Wang, J. Hu, and M.L. Gullino. 2007. Effect of nematode resistant rootstock on growth characteristics and yields of tomato. *Acta Horticulturae Sinica* 34: 1305–1308.
- Eastburn, D.M., and C.J. D'Arcy. 2010. Scholarship of teaching and learning (SoTL) projects in plant pathology. In *Knowledge and Technology Transfer for Plant Pathology*, 45–53. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Evans-Ruhl, G. 1982. Plant disease clinics past, present, and future. Plant Disease 66: 80-86.
- Everts, K.L., L. Osborne, A.J. Gevens, S.J. Vasquez, B.K. Gugino, K. Ivors, and C. Harmon. 2012. Extension plant pathology: Strengthening resources to continue serving the public interest. *Phytopathology* 102 (7): 652–655.
- FAO (2008) Wheat rust disease global programme. Resource Document. ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/ fao/011/i0378e/i0378e.pdf. Accessed January 18 2010
- Farrington, J. 1998. Organizational Roles in Farmer Participatory Research and Extension: Lessons from the Last Decade. London: Overseas Development Institute. Natural Resource Perspectives, No. 27.
- Fletcher, J. 2008. The need for forensic tools in a balanced national agricultural security programme. In *Crop Biosecurity: Assuring Our Global Food Supply*, ed. M.L. Gullino, J. Fletcher, A. Gamliel, and J.P. Stack, 91–99. The Netherlands: Springer.
- Griepentrog, H.W., M. Norremark, and J. Nielsen. 2006. Autonomous intra-row rotor weeding based on GPS. In Proceedings: CIGR World Congress Agricultural Engineering for a Better World, Bonn, Germany.
- Guest, D. 2007. Black pod: diverse pathogens with a global impact on cocoa yield. *Phytopathology* 97: 1650–1653.
- Gullino, M.L., A. Camponogara, G. Gasparrini, V. Rizzo, C. Clini, and A. Garibaldi. 2003. Replacing methyl bromide for soil disinfestation. The Italian experience and implication for other countries. *Plant Disease* 87: 1012–1021.
- Gullino, M.L., J. Fletcher, A. Gamliel, and J. Stack. 2008. Crop Biosecurity: Assuring Our Global Food Supply. The Netherlands: Springer. 148 pp.
- Gullino, M.L., M. Pugliese, N. Capodagli, and A. Garibaldi. 2010. Sustainable crop protection and environment protection: eight years of technology transfer between China and Italy. In *Knowl*edge and Technology Transfer for Plant Pathology, 101–118. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Hellin, J., M.R. Bellon, L. Badstue, J. Dixon, and R. La Rovere. 2008. Increasing the impacts of participatory research. *Experimental Agriculture* 44 (1): 81–95. http://www.aplu.org/ NetCommunity/Document.Doc?id=187.

- Hudson, J. 2000. Seed Rot Hits South Carolina Cotton. Southeast Farm Press. Available via http:// southeastfarmpress.com/mag/farming\_seed\_rot\_hits/. Accessed June 2018
- Hutchings, P., and L. Shulman. 1999. The scholarship of teaching new elaborations, new developments. *Change* 31 (5): 11–15.
- IDS (Innovative Development Strategies). 2009. Bt Cotton Survey 2009. Islamabad: Innovative Development Strategy (Pvt.) Ltd.
- Iqbal, M., M.F. Imam, R. Amir, N.A. Khan, M. Qayyum, and M. Malik. 2016. Assessing training needs of farmers in Pakistan: a case of farmer field schools (fruit and vegetable project) in Tehsil Rawalpindi. *Journal of Global Innovation in Agriculture and Social Sciences* 4 (4): 204–206.
- Jacobsen, B.J., and A.O. Paulus. 1990. The changing role of extension plant pathologist. Annual Review of Phytopathology 28: 271–294.
- Jacobson, B.J., M.E. Burrows, and K.L. Ong. 2008. Extension plant pathology: bringing our science to the public, a century of service. APSnet Feature. https://doi.org/10.1094/ APSnetFeature-2008-0508.
- Jones, A.D., and G. Ejeta. 2016. A new global agenda for nutrition and health: the importance of agriculture and food systems. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 94 (3): 228.
- Jones, M., and F. Kondylis. 2018. Does feedback matter? Evidence from agricultural services. Journal of Development Economics 131: 28–41.
- Kayobyo G, Aliguma L, Omiat G, Mugisha J and Benin S. 2005. Impact of BXW on household livelihoods in Uganda. In Proceedings Workshop: Assessing the Impact of the Banana Bacterial Wilt (Xanthomonas campestris pv. musacearum) on Household Livelihoods in East Africa December 20 2005. Kampala, Uganda.
- King, C.J., and H.D. Barker. 1934. An interval collar rot on cotton. *Journal of Research (Science)* 15 (2): 191–197.
- Klich, M.A. 1986. Mycoflora of cotton seeds from southern USA. A three-year study of distribution and frequency. *Mycologia* 78: 706–712.
- Konam, J., Y. Namaliu, R. Daniel, and D. Guest. 2008. Integrated pest and disease management for sustainable cocoa production: a training manual for farmers and extension workers. ACIAR Monograph No. 131.
- Koutsouris, A. 2018. Role of extension in agricultural technology transfer: a critical review. *From Agriscience to Agribusiness*: 337–359.
- Lamour, K.H., L.F. Habera, K.L. Snover-Clift, J.P. Stack, J. Pierzynski, R. Hammerschmidt, J.L. Jacobs, J.M. Byrne, P.F. Harmon, A.M. Vitoreli, G.C. Wisler, C.L. Harmon, L.E. Levy, K.A. Zeller, C.L. Stone, D.G. Luster, and R.D. Frederick. 2006. Early detection of Asian soybean rust using PCR. *Plant Health Progress* 7 (1): 20. http://www. plantmanagementnetwork.org/sub/php/research/2006/pcr/. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHP-2006-0524-01-RS.
- Main CE, Keever T, Holmes GJ, Davis J (2001) Forecasting long-range transport of downy mildew spores and plant disease epidemics. APSnet Feature Story, May 22 2001. http://www.apsnet. org/online/feature/forecast/.
- Maraite, H., C. Bragard, and A. Legrève. 2010. Plant clinics and phytopathology training. In Knowledge and Technology Transfer for Plant Pathology, 75–90. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Mohanty, S.P., D.P. Hughes, and M. Salathé. 2016. Using deep learning for image-based plant disease detection. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7: 1419.
- Nazli, Hina. 2011. Impact of Bt Cotton Adoption on Farmers' Wellbeing in Pakistan. In *Food Agricultural and Resource Economics*, Unpublished PhD Dissertation. Guelph, ON: University of Guelph.
- OECD. 2005. OECD Review for Agricultural Policies—China. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- OECD-FAO. 2008. Agricultural Outlook 2008–2017. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Oerke, E.C. 2006. Crop losses to pests. The Journal of Agricultural Science. 144 (1): 31-43.
- Otim-Nape, G.W., and J.M. Thresh. 2006. The recent epidemic of cassava mosaic virus disease in Uganda. In *The Epidemiology of Plant Diseases*, ed. B.M. Cooke, D. Gareth Jones, and B. Kaye, 2nd ed., 521–549. Dordrecht: Springer.

- Sattar, M.N., Z. Iqbal, M.N. Tahir, and S. Ullah. 2017. The prediction of a new CLCuD epidemic in the Old World. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 8: 631.
- Schillhorn van Veen, T.W. 2003. The World Bank and pest management. In Integrated Pest Management in the Global Arena, ed. K.M. Maredia, D. Dakouo, and D. Mota-Sanchez, 435–440. Wallingford, UK: CABI.
- Sherf, A.F. 1973. The development and future of extension plant pathology in the United States. Annual Review of Phytopathology 11: 4875–4512.
- Spanier, G., D.R. Spikes, J.V. Byrne, C.P. Magrath, J.F. Barker, D.O. Bernstine, R.M. Bowen, L.F. Coor, P.S. Hoff, M.C. Jischke, W.E. Kirwan, F.L. Lawrence, J. McDonald, M.P. McPherson, J. Moeser, G.M.S.L. O'Brien, B.F. Payton, J.A. Ramaley, W.A. Reynolds, P. Risser, S.H. Smith, J.J. Stukel, L. Vanderhoef, D. Ward, C.E. Young, and M. Yudof. 2001. *Returning to Our Roots: Executive Summaries of the Reports of the Kellogg Commission on the Future of State and Land-Grant Universities*. Washington, DC: National Association of State Universities and Land-Gran. Retrieved April 27, 2011.
- Stack, J.P. 2008. Challenges to crop biosecurity. In Crop Biosecurity: Assuring Our Global Food Supply, ed. M.L. Gullino, J. Fletcher, A. Gamliel, and J.P. Stack, 15–23. The Netherlands: Springer.

— 2010. Diagnostic networks for plant biosecurity. In *Knowledge and technology transfer for plant pathology*, 59–74. Dordrecht: Springer.

- Stack, J.P., and W. Baldwin. 2008. The need for secure communications networks and global connectivity. In *Crop Biosecurity: Assuring Our Global FOOD Supply*, ed. M.L. Gullino, J. Fletcher, A. Gamliel, and J.P. Stack, 103–109. The Netherlands: Springer.
- Stack, J.P., and J. Fletcher. 2007. Plant biosecurity infrastructure for disease surveillance and diagnostics. In *Global Infectious Disease Surveillance and Detection: Assessing the Challenges—Finding the Solutions*, ed. Institute of Medicine, 95–106. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Stack, J., K. Cardwell, R. Hammerschmidt, J. Byrne, R. Loria, K. Snover-Clift, W. Baldwin, G. Wisler, H. Beck, R. Bostock, C. Thomas, and E. Luke. 2006. The national plant diagnostic network. *Plant Disease* 90: 128–136.
- Strange, R., and P. Scott. 2005. Plant disease: a threat to global food security. Annual Review of Phytopathology 43: 83–116.
- Ul Haq, I., S. Ijaz, and (eds). 2020. Plant Disease Management Strategies for Sustainable Agriculture Through Traditional and Modern Approaches. Vol. 13, 1–339. ISBN: 978-3-030-35954-6. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35955-3.
- Vincelli, P. 2010. Technology transfer in extension: experience in the United States of America. In Knowledge and Technology Transfer for Plant Pathology, 55–58. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Vincelli, P., and N. Tisserat. 2008. Nucleic acid-based pathogen detection in applied plant pathology. *Plant Disease* 92: 660–669.
- Vos, J.G.M., S.L.J. Page, and U. Krauss. 2010. Participatory approaches and plant diseases in less developed countries. In *Knowledge and Technology Transfer for Plant Pathology*, 17–31. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Vurro, M., B. Bonciani, and G. Vannacci. 2010. Emerging infectious diseases of crop plants in developing countries: impact on agriculture and socio-economic consequences. *Food Security* 2: 113–132.
- Young, J.M., C. Allen, T. Coutinho, T. Denny, J. Elphinstone, M. Fegan, M. Gillings, T.R. Gottwald, J.H. Graham, N.S. Iacobellis, J.D. Janse, M.A. Jacques, M.M. Lopez, C.E. Morris, N. Parkinson, P. Prior, O. Pruvost, N.J. Rodrigues, M. Scortichini, Y. Takikawa, and C.D. Upper. 2008. Plant-pathogenic bacteria as biological weapons—real threats? *Phytopathology* 98 (10): 1060–1065.

# Index

A Amplicon, 147, 151, 152, 173, 174, 177, 178, 185, 186 Annotation, 187, 213 Antibody-antigen, 134 Aspergillus, 179, 183, 187, 211

#### B

Bio-element, 130 Bioengineer, 258 Biofumigation, 178 Bioinformatics, 209 Bio-PCR, 172 Biosensor, 15, 128–139, 219 Biotechnological, 2 Bioterrorism, 219

#### С

Capillary, 149 Centrifugation, 156 Chloroplast, 99 Chlorotic, 51 Chrysanthemum, 235 Cladosporium, 24, 168, 179, 183 Cloned, 178, 214 *Cryptococcus*, 181, 184 *Curvularia*, 171 Cytoplasm, 74 Cytoplasmic, 74

#### D

Dactylis, 25 Damping-off, 110, 168, 247 De Miccolis Angelini, R.M., 188
de Sousa, M.M., 117
Dimer, 175, 179
DNA, 59, 137, 146–152, 154–156, 169–189, 204–212, 218, 219
DNA-based, 103, 136, 137, 147, 170
Dnase, 152

#### Е

Ecofriendly, 89 Effector, 71, 73, 216 Electrochemistry, 129 Electrode, 130, 136, 137 Electromagnetic, 9, 10, 84, 86, 104, 111 Electron, 52, 53, 148, 258 Enzymes, 31, 51, 70, 72-74, 130, 134, 147, 170, 175, 176, 179, 184-186, 207, 217 EPIDEM, 235 Epidemiology, 3, 20, 84, 112, 137, 169, 227, 230, 254, 257 Epitomes, 148 Epitope, 71, 147, 148, 207 Esterases, 72 Etiology, 212, 227 Evaporation, 234

#### F

Fluorogenic, 179 Foliage, 82, 83, 101, 102 Foliar, 26, 52, 101, 102, 111, 116, 117, 155, 227, 234 Forecast, 6, 22, 88, 227 Forensics, 255

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 I. Ul Haq, S. Ijaz (eds.), *Trends in Plant Disease Assessment*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5896-0

# G

Generic, 172

- Genes, 59, 72, 73, 101, 156, 175, 176, 178–180, 182–185, 187, 188, 204–210, 212–219, 229 Genetics, 2, 3, 20, 98, 129, 151, 153, 177, 178,
- 189, 204, 206, 209–211, 213, 249 Genomic, 85, 98, 152, 154, 170, 179, 209, 212, 213, 216, 218, 219
- Genotype, 5, 10, 13, 14, 58–60, 102, 214
- Germplasm, 3, 20, 22, 85

#### H

Habitat, 56-57, 76 Hemibiotrophic, 74 Hemibiotrophs, 11 Hemicellulose, 73 Herbaceous, 211 Herbarium, 258 Heterogeneity, 14, 15, 112 Heterogeneous, 231 Heterogenic, 50 Histochemistry, 181 Histogram, 50, 100 Histone, 189 Histoplasma, 181 Homogeneous, 208 Homologies, 181, 187, 205, 214, 215 Hybridizations, 13, 138, 149, 150, 152, 156, 169, 174-177, 179-182, 185, 186, 204, 205, 208, 209, 211, 212 Hybrids, 186, 188, 208 Hydrolysis, 186 Hydrolytic, 74 Hydrophobicity, 71 Hyphae, 51, 74, 111 Hypothesis, 22, 31, 35

#### I

Immobilization, 207 Immunity, 71 Immunoenzymatic, 147, 148 Immunology, 129, 153, 177 Immunosensors, 134, 135 Immunotechnology, 145–157 Incidence, 3, 23, 54, 73, 84–86, 230, 231, 234 Inducer, 75 Infectious, 128, 129, 136, 147, 168, 179, 211, 244 Inflorescence, 50, 119 Infra-red, 9, 10, 12, 15, 21, 48, 49, 51–53, 56, 60, 61, 82–84, 87, 88, 99, 109–121 Inoculum, 76, 118, 138, 153, 229, 232–233 Insect-resistant, 101 Intergenic, 172 Interventions, 76, 244 Isolations, 103, 129, 149, 152, 169–171, 182, 187, 257 Isothermal, 130, 148, 169, 184–187 Isotopes, 181

#### J

Jasmonate, 213, 218 Juvenile, 153

#### K

Keinath, A.P., 147, 177 Keiser, J.F., 172 Keizer, L.P., 89 Keller, B., 215 Keller, J., 155, 255 Kelley, S.E., 102 Kelly, C.P., 148 Kema, G.H.J., 186 Kempton, R.J., 24 Kent, L., 147 Kenya, 245 Kerguelen, V., 34 Kernel, 89 Kernel-based, 100 Knots, 217, 260 Koga, L.J., 25 Kokoskova, B., 147 Kõljalg, U., 169 Kollerova, E., 147

#### L

Lab, 32, 137, 146, 148, 205, 206, 254-258 Label, 135, 208 Label-free, 137 Lab-On-A-Chip, 149 Labor, 169, 170 Laboratory, 6, 12, 76, 90, 129, 148, 155, 157, 170, 173, 175, 250, 254, 255, 258 Labor-intensive, 218, 219, 246 Laborious, 21, 171, 177 Lachrymans, 137 Laflamme, B., 34 Lagudah, E.S., 215 Lai, H.E., 135 Laitinen, R., 147 Lamb, D.W., 48, 52 Lamber, H., 112 Lamella, 73 Lamour, K., 155

Lamour, K.H., 255 Landgraf, A., 177 Land-grant, 253, 254, 257 Landi, L., 188 Landis, D.A., 34 Landsat, 57 Lane, C.R., 147, 156 Lan, Y., 90 Large-scale, 14, 62, 102, 173, 218 Larvae, 57, 259 Laser-induced, 4, 102 Late-bight, 234 Latent, 113, 153, 173, 174, 189 Lateral, 130, 148 Laudien, R., 112 Launched, 22, 49 Laurel, 88 Lauri, A., 154, 156, 186 Lavish, 128 Law, 29, 210, 256, 259 Lawrence, F.L., 242 Lawson, T., 135 Layer, 14, 71, 137, 260 Laying, 254 Leaflets, 26 Leaf roll, 173 Leaf spot, 52, 111, 117, 119, 168, 171, 229 Leather, 173 Leaves, 7, 8, 14, 23, 25, 28, 32, 36, 50, 51, 53, 56, 61, 72-74, 82, 90, 99, 100, 102, 110-112, 117, 118, 120, 177, 179, 213, 216-218, 233, 234 LED. 53 Legislators, 253 Legitimately, 33 Leica, 257 Leland, 130 Lenk, S., 100 Lens, 6, 24, 87 Lenthe, J.H., 116 Lesion, 7, 11, 25, 26, 28, 32, 51, 52, 77, 110, 118, 120 LidDAR, 48 Lies, 71, 82 Ligand, 134, 136 Ligase, 175, 184 Ligate, 175, 212 Ligation, 175, 187, 188 Light, 5-7, 9, 10, 14, 21, 24, 48, 50, 51, 53, 54, 58, 61, 83, 84, 86–88, 98, 99, 101, 103, 111, 113-115, 131, 134, 136, 150, 177, 179, 209, 218, 233, 257 Light-absorbing, 82 Light-adapted, 56 Light detection and ranging (LIDAR), 48, 83

Light-sensitive, 6 Lightweight, 9 Lignin, 51, 59, 73, 74, 217 Lin, C.H., 149 Linda, S., 203-219 Lindenthal, M., 113 Linderman, R.G., 155 Lindner, J.L., 152 Lindow, S., 6 Lindow, S.E., 33, 34 Lineages, 189 Linearity, 133 Linearization, 175 Linguistic, 118 Lin, H., 184 Lin, M., 77 Lionetti, V., 72 Liopa-Tsakalidi, A., 226 Liou, R.F., 173 Lipid, 71 Lipopolysaccharides, 70 Liriodendra, 182 Listeria, 210 Litwiller, D., 31 Livelihood, 244, 247 Lloyd, R.V., 181 Localized, 70, 117, 139 Location, 5, 6, 14, 28, 54, 55, 205, 212, 232, 234, 248, 252, 260 Lockhart, D.J., 207, 208 Lock-in, 115-116 Locus-specific, 181 Locusts, 259 Loehnertz, B.B., 118, 119 Logarithm, 28 Logical, 87 Logistical, 32, 148 Long-distance, 232 Longisporum, 179 Long-lasting, 213 Long-wave, 114 Loop, 182 Loop backward (LB), 185 Loop-mediated, 130, 169, 184-186 Lopez, M.M., 149, 150, 152, 168, 170, 174 Loriod, B., 208 Lost, 128, 146 Lottes, P., 226 Louws, F.J., 149, 152 Lovat, L., 111 Low-cost, 33, 58, 74, 111, 129, 146, 218, 244 Low-density, 205 Low-selectivity, 132 Low-specificity, 218 Lucieer, A., 49

Lucrative, 261 Luminous, 219 Lupine, 172 Luria, N., 187 Luster, D., 128 Lycopersicum, 149 Lyons, C., 130 Lysandrou, M., 33

#### M

Macadamia, 171 Macario, A.J.L., 146 MacConnell, P., 177 MacCurdy, R.B., 98 Macedo-Cruz, A., 36 Macerate, 74 Maceration, 74 Machado, L.F., 135 Machine-learning (ML), 12-13, 15, 50, 82-84, 88, 101, 226, 234 Machinist, 36 Mach, K.E., 138 Mackey, B.M., 176 Maclean, D.J., 218 Macroarray, 169, 182-183, 205, 208 Macrophomina, 174 Macroscopic, 82, 113 Maculosum, 171 Madden, 3, 5, 20, 22, 23, 26-28, 84-86, 169, 230, 231Maejima, S., 185 Maend, M., 207 Magalhães, 34 Magarey, R.D., 226 Magnaporthe, 188 Magnaporthe grisea, 72, 180 Magnesium, 151 Magnetic, 4, 86, 134, 137, 175, 176, 219 Magnetic-capture, 176–177 Magnetic capture hybridization PCR (MCH-PCR), 176-177 Magnitude, v, 27, 28, 50, 82, 154, 231 Magrath, C.P., 242 Maheshwari, Y., 180 Mahlein, A.-K., 6, 9, 10, 13, 21, 48, 51-55, 82-85, 99, 104, 111, 113 Maier, N., 148 Maier, T., 217 Mailhot, D., 215 Maize, 52, 168, 176, 214, 215, 245, 260 Makarewicz, A.J., 180 Maladies, 21, 216-217

Malapi-Wight, M., 188 Malinen, E., 147 Malinowski, T., 136 Mallet, 174, 179 Malloci, 226, 231, 233, 234 Maloy, O.C., 113 Malt, 172 Malvacearum, 247 Manceau, C., 58, 151, 152 Mancini, 128, 170, 172 Mangane, R.L., 90 Mango, 72 Manifestation, 101, 118 Manprobe, 178 Manzano, M., 138 Manzer, 33 Map, 88, 188 Mapper, 101 Maraite, H., 257, 258 Marcial-Quino, J., 189 Marcinkowska, J.Z., 172 Marco-Noales, E., 149, 150, 152, 174 Marginal, 59 Markell, T.R., 179 Markley, J., 52 Marneffei, 185 Marois, J., 215 Marquette, C.A., 137 Marsh, R.W., 27 Martin, D.P., 26, 33-36 Martinelli, F., 103, 150, 211 Martin, F.N., 157 Martin, G.B., 216 Martin-Mex, R., 171 Martin, M.M., 153 Martin, M.P., 174 Martin, R.R., 156 Martins, R.B., 32 Martos, 174 Maruthachalam, K., 188 Marzancola, M.G., 206, 210 Masanga, J.O., 187 Mascher, F., 82 Mascini, M., 135 Masini, N., 87 Mason, D., 84 Masquelier, D.A., 180 Masri, A.A., 83 Massive, 12, 15, 205, 226, 227 Massot, F., 176 Masubuchi, H., 185 Mathioni, S.M., 188 Matrix, 74, 88, 138, 170

Matros, A., 13 Matthes, M., 213 Mattoon, E.R., 111 Mavrodieva, V., 154, 156 Maydis, 215, 235 Mazurek, W., 12 Mazzola, M., 171 McCallum, B., 187 McCarter, S.M., 247 McCarthy, M.L., 182 Mccartney, A., 52, 58, 61, 101, 147, 156 Mccartney, H.A., 51, 57, 103, 154, 168, 170, 179, 180 McCauley, J.W., 130 Mccloskey, C., 148 Mccloskey, P., 35 McCollum, T.G., 180 McCouch, S., 57 McCouch, S.R., 98 McCue, K., 188 McCulloch, C.E., 29 Mchugh, T.D., 147 McIntosh, M.T., 185 McKemy, J., 155 McKinney, 29 McLaren, D.L., 29 Mcnear, D., 216 McNeil, S.E., 102 McNicol, J.W., 112 McPherson, M.P., 242 MEAMG, 260 Medeiros, A.H., 213 Mediated, 72, 111 Medicago, 171 Mediterranean, 256 Medium-infrared, 114 Medium-wave, 114 Medrano, J.F., 147 Meggio, F., 111 Meghvansi, M.K., 171 Meijer, H.J.G., 186 MeJA-activated, 213 Mekala, M.S., 226 Meloidogyne, 153, 217, 260 Membranes, 71, 73, 102, 103, 111, 173, 182, 204, 205, 208 Mendes, O., 186 Mendgen, K., 111 Menkissoglou-Spiroudi, U., 178 Menzel, M.I., 98 Meola, C., 115 Merdinoglu, D., 34-36 Merga, W., 4, 7

Merighi, M., 147 Meristem, 28 Merkoçi, A., 135, 137 Meroni, M., 102 Merzlyak, M.N., 10 Mesophyll, 87, 111 Messenger, 176 Messenger RNA (mRNA), 152, 156, 176, 181, 183, 184, 186, 188, 215, 218 Messens, E., 112 Metabolic, 73, 112, 212 Metabolically, 73 Metabolism, 90, 98, 102, 113, 217 Metabolites, 59, 74, 218 Metabolomics, 218 Metalaxyl, 260 Metal-oxide, 10 Meteorological, 230, 234, 235 Meteorology, 57 Methyl, 213, 217, 260 Methyl transferase, 213 Metron, 2, 23, 168 Mewes, T., 51 Meyerhoff, M.E., 130 Meyer, W., 184 Michailides, T.J., 154 Michalczuk, L., 136 Michels, G.J., 34 Michiganensis, 186 Microarray, 137, 152, 155, 169, 175, 183, 203-219 Microbalance, 130 Microbe, 70, 113, 130, 131, 135, 153-155, 178 Microbe-associated molecular pattern (MAMP), 70, 71 Microbial, 70, 147, 153, 155, 156, 177, 178, 204, 211-212, 219 Microchips, 149 Microclimate, 52, 116 Microfibrils, 73 Microfluidic, 136, 137, 207 Microheterogeneity, 178 Microliter, 155 Micromolar, 131 Microorganism, 70, 71, 112, 136, 175, 211 Microphenomic, 59 Microplates, 177 Microscopic, 6, 33, 51, 59, 117, 139, 169, 183, 211 Microspheres, 137 Microwave, 4, 54 Middelkoop, K., 153 Middleton, M., 34

Migheli, Q, 211 Migratoria, 259 Mikaberidze, A., 36, 82, 85 Milcamps, A., 210 Mild. 5. 85 Mildew, 7, 8, 12, 13, 51-55, 57, 59, 60, 62, 75, 83, 110, 111, 113, 117–120, 168, 171, 174, 188, 229, 234 Milioto, 226 Miller, J.R., 48 Milner, H., 182 Mimic, 86 Mingde, 109-121, 145-157 Mini-satellites, 151 Minsavage, G.V., 149 Minunni, M., 135 Misdiagnosis, 254 Missoum, A., 205 Mistletoe, 229 Mitchell, D.J., 147, 177, 204, 205 Mitchum, M.G., 217 Mitigation, 219 Mitochondrial, 181 Mittman, H., 130 Mixture tuned matched filtering (MTMF), 62, 90 Miyake, N., 185 Miyasaka, S.C., 29 Mobasheri, M.R., 88 Mock-inoculated, 215 Model-based, 100, 234 MODIS-LST, 57 Modulate, 215 Modules, 50 Modus, 56 Moeser, J., 242 Moher, D., 171 Moiety, 175 Mold, 24, 111, 118, 119 Momota, Y., 182 Monilinia, 188 Monoazide, 156 Monochromatic, 6, 114 Monomers, 72 Montano, J., 184 Montet, M.P, 186 Montgomery, S.B., 188 Montreal, 260 Morales, F., 113 Morales-Narváez, E., 135 Moreira, E.N., 32 Moreira, R.R., 31, 86 Morel, J., 12

Moreno, A., 173 Moreno, J., 102 Morente, C., 174 Morita, M., 137 Moritz, C., 153 Morphological, 2, 119, 153, 169, 189, 204 Morpho-physiological, 216 Morrison, D.W., 134 Mortazavi, A., 188 Mosaic-, 12, 28, 35, 61, 86, 103, 111, 117, 173, 174, 216, 245, 256 Moscou, M.J., 212 Moser, M.J., 185 Moshou, D., 57, 61, 101, 104, 117, 226 Moter, A., 181, 182 Mottle, 137, 216 Moya, I., 113 Mroczynski, R.P., 33 Mugisha, J., 245 Mulema, J., 257 Mulenga, H., 153 Multifaceted, 75 Multigene, 210 Multiplex PCR (M-PCR), 149-151, 174-175 Multi-spectral, 234 Multi-temporal, 62 Multivariate, 83, 101 Mumford, R., 149, 150, 153 Munk, L., 26 Murch, R., 128 Murolo, S., 172, 179 Murray, S.L., 216 Murray, T.D., 174 Mushrooms, 111 Musser, R.O., 183 Mutant, 75, 112, 214, 216 Mutate, 13 Mutation, 102, 179, 182, 187, 206, 219 Mycobacterium, 147, 182 Mycological, 129, 258 Mycorrhizae, 153 MYCOS, 235 Mycosphaerella, 171, 176, 235 Mycotoxigenic, 187 Mycotoxin, 211, 249, 258 Mylonakis, E., 219 Myriad, 2 Myrothecium, 175 Mystery, 215

#### N

Nagel, U., 58, 98

Najafzadeh, T.A., 184 Nakayashiki, T., 187 Nanobiosensors, 137 Nanobipyramids, 137 Nano-fabricated, 15 Nanoliters, 205, 207 Nanoliter-sized, 180 Nanomaterial-based, 136 Nanometers, 86 Nanoscience, 135 Nanotechnology, 135, 137 Nanowire, 136 Nanpr1, 213 Napier, J., 213 Narayanasamy, P., 128, 146, 156 Narrate, 22, 23 Narration, 252 Narrative, 250 Narrow, 70, 242 Narrowband, 60 Narvaez, F.-Y., 226 NASBA-beacon, 186 Nascent, 6 Navalinskiene, M., 173 Nayyar, H., 128 **NDWI**, 57 Nearest percent estimates (NPEs), 27, 28 Near-infrared (NIR), 9, 10, 12, 21, 48, 51, 53, 55, 60, 61, 82, 84, 87, 88, 114 Near-isogenic, 215 Neblette, C.B., 33 Necrosis, 70, 118, 120 Necrotic, 28, 51, 215, 216 Necrotrophic, 73, 74 Necrotrophs, 11 Nectria, 176 Neisseria, 147 Nematode-induced, 217 Nematode-infected, 217 Neofabraea, 184 Neoformans, 181, 184 Neologism, 2 Neolycopersici, 176 Neonectria, 182 Neopestalotiopsis, 171, 179 Nepovirus, 216 Nesi, C.N., 31, 86 Nested, 150, 151, 172-174 Nested PCR (N-PCR), 149, 172-173, 175-177 Nettleton, D.F., 234 Neumann, M., 50 Neurons, 88 Nevruz, B.C., 132

Newberry, F., 226, 232 Newell, L.C., 27 Newman, M.-A., 71 Newport, L.E., 147 Newton, A.C., 22, 25, 103 Next-generation, 169, 187-189, 219 Next-generation sequencing (NGS), 169, 187-189.219 NGA, 188 Ngugi, H.K., 25, 28, 31 Nguyen, H.H., 134 Niblett, C.L., 147, 148, 177 Nichols, M., 180 Nicolai, B., 9 Nicolaisen, M., 211 Nicolotti, G., 174 Nicotiana, 213, 215 Nicotianae, 174, 175 Niculescu, M., 131 Niessen, L., 185 Nigeria, 245 Nijman, I.J., 137 Nishiwaki, K., 82 Nishiyama, M.Y., 213 Nitile Tep, J.B., 207 Nitrocellulose, 173, 182 Nitrogen, 14 Nobel, 170 Noga, G., 55, 102 Nolasco, G., 148 Nolin, M.C., 48 Nominal, 5, 27, 85 Non-adopters, 248 Non-catalytic, 131, 134 Non-coding, 185 Non-cracked, 116 Non-culturable, 170 Non-destructive, 49, 53, 89, 90, 113, 114 Non-disruptive, 119 Non-dividing, 181 Non-exhaustive, 209 Non-experts, 138 Nongthombam, R., 233 Non-host, 70, 212 Non-hyperspectral, 86 Non-imaging, 9, 50, 51, 53-54, 60 Non-infected, 117, 120 Non-infectious, 129 Non-inoculated, 217 Non-invasive, 9, 14, 49, 52, 57, 62, 85 Non-irrigated, 118 Non-linear, 50, 86 Non-living, 156

Non-NA-based, 154 Non-parametric, 86 Nonpathogenic, 153 Non-photochemical, 55, 99 Non-photochemical quenching (NPQ), 56, 99 Nonprofessionals, 31 Non-protein, 75 Non-regulated, 102 Non-science, 250 Non-specific, 138, 152, 153, 177, 179, 185, 215 Non-target, 11, 132, 138, 172, 177, 215 Non-vascular, 212 Normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), 62, 87 Normative, 85 Norremark, M., 252 Nos-terminator, 210 Notomi, T., 185 Novel, 13, 137, 138, 178, 180, 184, 188, 207, 244, 255, 260 Nowak, P., 226 Nowrouzian, F.L., 147 NPR-1, 213 Nucleation, 112 Nucleic, 89, 121, 130, 131, 134, 135, 138, 146, 147, 149-157, 169, 170, 179, 184, 186-187, 204, 205, 211, 252, 255 Nucleic acid sequence-based amplification (NASBA), 149, 152, 169, 186-187 Nucleotide-based, 188 Nucleotides, 149-151, 170, 171, 174, 184, 206, 208, 212, 215 Nucleus, 74 Nuez, F., 90 Nursery, 155, 180 Nuske, S., 82 Nutman, T.B., 147 Nutrient-dense, 90, 257 Nutter, F.W. Jr., 2, 5, 6, 8, 20-27, 29, 31-33, 86, 103, 110, 168, 231 Nylon, 182, 183, 205, 208

#### 0

Oak, 153, 155, 252 Oat, 117, 176 Obligate, 3, 150 Obligatory, 153 Obscured, 7 Observable, 13, 103 Ochroconis, 185 Odontoglossum, 216 Odontoglossum ringspot virus (ORSV), 216 OECD, 259, 261 OECD-FAO, 259 Oerke, E.-C., 3, 20, 48, 51, 54, 61, 111–113, 116-118, 120, 257 Offspring, 229 Off-target, 187 Oidium, 176 Oilseed, 12 Oligo, 152, 188 Oligo-chips, 208 Oligomers, 176 Oligonucleotide-based, 175, 210 Oligonucleotides, 9, 149, 170, 175, 176, 181, 182, 184, 185, 187, 205, 207, 210, 219 Olive, 174 Olmstead, 34 OLV-1, 174 OLV-2, 174 OMAFRA, 210 Omirou, M., 178 Omran, E.S., 120 Oomycete, 48, 73, 155, 168, 175, 214 Oospores, 156 Oozing, 155 Ophiostoma, 185 Orchards, 89, 90, 149 Orchid, 173 Ordinal, 4, 5, 20, 25, 27–30, 85, 86 Otim-Nape, 245 Oxidase, 130, 131, 156 Oxidative, 213 Oxide, 10, 135 Oxysporum, 54, 174, 175, 184

#### Р

Pachyrhizi, 251 Paddle, B.M., 131 Pallas, V., 211 Pallett, K.E., 102 Palm, 120, 234 Palmivora, 173 Paloma, A.M.P., 76 Palomba, M., 211 Palustre, 189 Palva, A., 147 PAMP-induced, 75 Pandemic, 251 Pandey, D., 211 Pang, E.C., 214 Panwar, V., 187 Papadimos, A., 111 Papadopoulou, K.K., 178 Papadopoulou, M.S., 226 Papillae, 73-75 Papini-Terzi, F.S., 213 Paracoccidioides, 185 Paradigm, 244, 256 Parameters-based, 234 Parametric, 31, 86 Paramount, 181 Parasites, 51, 153, 168, 217 Parasitic, 245 Parasitica, 173, 179, 214 Parasitism, 217 Parkinson, N., 254 Parnell, S., 3 Parra, G., 155 Participative, 245 Participatory, 244–248 Particles, 73, 74, 147 PASCAL, 77 Pascual, J.A., 180 Passive-mode, 54, 89, 115 Pastrana, A.M., 169, 173, 176, 178 Paszkiewicz, K.H., 188 Pathogen, 2, 3, 11, 13, 33, 48, 51-54, 56, 59, 70-76, 81, 103, 110-113, 116-118, 120, 128-130, 137, 146-157, 168-176, 179-189, 204, 210-212, 214, 219, 227-233, 235, 236, 250, 252, 255-257 Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 70, 75 Pathogenesis, 10-13, 15, 82 Pathogen-host, 1 Pathogenicity, 71, 72, 146, 150, 176, 212 Pathogen-induced, 168 Pathogen-infected, 180 Pathogen-plant, 112 Pathogen-related, 51 Pathogens-detection, 103, 128, 149, 169, 180, 181 Pathogen-triggered, 71 Pathometry, 4, 168 Pathometry-assessment, 52 Patho-phytometry, 84 Pathos, 2, 23, 168 Pathosystems, 6, 24, 25, 31, 32 Pathways, 204, 213-215 Pattern-recognition, 71 Pattern-triggered, 71 Pattey, E., 48 Pattyn, S., 186 Pauciseptata, 182 Payton, B.F., 242 PCR-based, 147-150, 152, 156, 169, 171, 172 PCR-DGGE, 177, 178 PCR-ELISA, 147, 177

PCR-fingerprinting, 149, 151 P-dCTP, 208 Pea, 170 Peach, 229 Peaks, 55 Peanuts, 119, 120 Pear, 176, 229, 233 Pearce, 156 Pearl-millet, 232 Pectin, 73 Pedersen, E.F., 226 Pederson, V., 6 Pelargonium, 174 Peng, Y., 12 Penicillium, 183, 185 Pepino, 103 Pepori, A.L., 186 Pepper, 90, 216 Peptide, 70, 71, 207 Peptidoglycans, 70 Perceive, 5, 23, 72, 116 Perception, 9, 12, 29, 36, 84, 234 Perceptron, 88 Perennans, 184 Perennials, 152, 229 Perez-Artes, E., 147 Perez-Brito, D., 171 Perez-Bueno, 101, 102 Periphery, 70 Peronospora, 214 Perou, C.M., 209 Perquisites, 184 Perry, K.L., 182 Persistent, 76, 157 Perspective, 2, 23, 76, 213 Pest, 54, 57, 62, 87, 101, 112, 146, 226, 248, 256, 257 PestCast, 233 Pesticide, 3, 20, 21, 49, 62, 76, 129, 227, 244, 249, 259, 260 Pethybridge, S.J., 7, 34, 36, 50 p-ethylguaiacol, 15 p-ethylphenol, 15 Petralia, L.M., 211 Petrovic, T., 13 Petticrew, M., 171 Phacidiopycnis, 171 Phaeomoniella, 174, 182 Phakopsora, 251 Phenodays, 98 Phenol-chloroform, 170 Phenolic, 74, 149 Phenylamide-based, 236 Phenylpropanoid, 213 Philpot, 88

Photo-assimilation, 99 Photobleaching, 182 Photochemistry, 56 Photogrammetry, 48 Photograph, 6, 7, 33, 49, 50, 110, 111 Photolithographic, 207 Photolithography, 208 Photolithography-based, 136 Photometric, 147 Photoreceptor, 24 Photosensitive, 6 Photosynthesis, 53, 83, 101, 102, 117, 119, 213 Photosystem, 56 Phytopathogens, 27, 73, 139, 146, 152, 154, 168-172, 174-176, 178, 181, 183, 185-189.254 Phytopathology, 2, 24, 129, 168, 243, 249, 251, 252, 257, 258 Phytopathometry, v, 1-15, 23, 24, 81-91, 167-189 Phytophthora, 15, 52, 103, 153, 168, 173-175, 177, 178, 252 Phytoplasma, 128, 150, 168, 170, 173, 174, 211, 212 Pickett, J.A., 213 Piepenburg, O., 148 Piepho, H.-P., 27, 28, 86 Pierce, F.J., 226 Pierzynski, J., 155, 255 Pietrzykowski, E., 100 Piezoelectric, 207 Piezoelectrical, 131 Pigment, 10, 12, 51, 53, 54, 57, 82, 101, 102 Pillay, F., 182 Pine, 186 Pineda, M., 111, 112 Pingguan, B., 130 Pingguan-Murphyand, B., 130 Pingoud, A., 177 Pinkard, E., 100 Pinpoint, 248 Pinter, P., 6 Plan, 112, 232, 246, 258 Planck's, 115 Planipennis, 256 Plantain, 171 Plant microbe, 70 Plant-virus, 117, 150, 173, 185, 186, 211, 215 - 216Plasma, 71 Plasmid, 205 Plasmons, 130, 136 Plasmopara, 56, 118 Plum, 136, 173, 185, 216 Poly-L-lysine, 205

Polymerase, 89, 137, 147, 149, 152, 170-171, 177, 179, 184-187, 207 Polymerase chain reaction-enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (PCR-ELISA), 147.177 Polynucleotides, 208 Polyphenols, 82 Pompe-Novak, M., 216 Pool, 218 Populace, 23, 254 Post-amplification, 169, 182-183 Post-cultivation, 168 Post-inoculation, 215 Potentiometric, 134 Potgieter, J., 21 Pounds, S., 181 Pouthas, F., 219 Powdery mildew, 7, 8, 13, 51, 52, 57, 59, 60, 62, 83, 110, 111, 117–119, 168, 171, 174, 234 Pox, 136, 173, 185, 216 Practicable, 251 Prats-Montalbán, J.M., 36, 85 Precious, 22 Precipitation, 170 Precision, 3, 4, 7–10, 15, 21–23, 31, 32, 35, 36, 56-58, 83, 85, 103, 112-114, 120, 121, 133, 179, 180, 182, 226 Pressing, 242-244, 254 Pressure, 87, 113, 118, 128, 226, 244 Presumably, 31 Pre-symptomatic, 12, 55, 56, 101, 120, 234 Prevalence, 21, 23, 76, 116, 147, 150, 230-232, 248, 255, 257 Prevent, 101, 146-149, 179, 208, 232, 233, 255.257 Preventative, 101, 128 Pridannikov, M., 183, 211 Pridmore, T., 83 Primarily, 73, 99, 131, 170, 185, 230 Primer, 149-152, 154, 156, 169-179, 182-186, 188 PROCOSINE, 12 Proficiency, 54, 247 Prognosis, 6, 251 Proliferate, 14, 135 Propagation, 147 Propensities, 22, 25 Protectants, 236 Protected, 14, 215 Protein, 59, 70, 71, 73, 146, 184, 186, 204, 206, 207, 211, 213-218 Protein-based, 169 Protein-binding, 207, 218 Protein-protein, 206, 207

Proteobacteria, 212 Proteomics, 218 Prototype, 58, 208 Protozoa, 135 Provocative, 36 Pseudomonas, 71, 75, 137, 170, 173, 216 Pseudoperonospora, 53, 113, 120, 188 Psychologists, 251 Puccinia, 58, 60, 61, 72, 88, 102, 168, 181, 188, 245. 259 Puckett, J., 185 Pugliese, M., 260 Pupil, 24 Purification, 135, 169, 170, 176, 182 Push-broom, 10, 87 Pushed, 261 Pushparajah, I., 218 Pustules, 54 Putative, 214, 215 Puyam, A., 20-37 Pyri, 174 Pvricularia, 211 Pyriputrescens, 171 Pyrosequencing, 187 Pythium, 53, 117, 168, 175, 177, 185, 247

#### Q

QTLs, 102 Quantitative PCR (qPCR), 171, 178, 179, 218 Quantum, 56, 102, 137 Quarantine, 3, 103, 153, 211, 212, 258, 259 Quencher, 10 Quenching, 55, 99, 179, 219 QuickBird, 62

#### R

Rabiei, 185, 214 Rabiei-resistant, 214 Race, 73, 154, 186, 245 Raclavsky, 173 Radar, 4, 48 Radiated, 113, 115, 116 Radiation, 4, 9, 11, 14, 15, 48, 52, 54, 82, 99, 113-116, 149, 234 Radiative, 12 Radicina, 172 Radioactive, 180-182, 205, 208, 209 Radioactively, 180, 205 Radiodiagnosis, 54 Radiolabeled, 181, 208 Radiometer, 6 Ralstonia, 103, 173, 186 Ramularia, 179

Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), 151 Ravaging, 247 Ray, 24, 111, 114 Rayapuram, C., 214 Raza, H.Y., 48-62 rDNA, 172, 179, 183 Reaction-enzyme, 177 Real-time PCR (RT-PCR), 149-151, 156, 174-176, 180, 181, 183, 186, 211 Re-amplified, 178 Recapitulated, 2 Recognition, 50, 52, 69-78, 97-104, 113, 130, 134, 135, 139, 232 Recombinase, 137 Red-edge, 55, 88, 90 Red, green and blue (RGB), 7-9, 34, 47, 49, 50, 59, 60, 82, 89, 98, 100, 111 Reevaluate, 243 Reflectance, 9-11, 49-52, 55, 58, 61, 82-84, 117 Reflectance-based, 82 Refolding, 135 Regiart, M., 136 Region-specific, 234 Registration, 60 Reich, M., 129 Reimbursement, 258 Relies, 70, 133 Religion, 210 Remodeling, 218 Remote sensing, v, 2, 4-6, 11, 12, 14, 21, 22, 24, 47-62, 82, 84, 85, 89-91, 98, 101, 121, 231, 234 Residues, 71, 207 Resistance, 2, 3, 5, 13, 14, 20, 58-59, 70, 71, 74-76, 85, 98, 128, 154, 169, 204, 212, 214-216, 229, 233, 236 Resistant, 3, 13, 61, 71, 73, 74, 101, 102, 128, 146, 154, 180, 213–216, 229, 242, 260 Resolution, 9-11, 35, 49-51, 57, 59, 77, 89, 112, 117, 181, 209, 232, 252, 256 Resonance, 4, 136 Respiration, 101 Restated, 168 Restrain, 59 Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), 151 Revolution, 77, 170 Revolutionized, 103, 169, 171, 189, 204 Reymond, P., 183 RGB-imaging, 49-50 RGD. 9 Rhizoctonia, 52, 53, 73, 117, 183, 247 Riangrungroj, P., 135

Ribosomal, 151, 181, 216 Ribosome, 182 Rice, 56, 57, 60, 72, 168, 181, 211, 229, 233, 234 Right, 48, 236 RNA, 137, 149, 150, 169-171, 173, 176, 178, 180-182, 184-189, 204, 205, 207, 208, 215.216 Robot, 10, 58, 83, 205 Robotics, 2, 4, 98, 207 Robust, 7, 184 Robustness, 7, 11, 102 Rodale, 242 Rodriguez-Hernandez, C.J., 135 Rodriguez-Làzaro, D., 152 Rodriguez-Moreno, L., 179 Roe, A.D., 189 Roger, C., 110 Rohrman, B.A., 148 Rolfsii, 171, 182 Ron, E.Z., 135 Rong, L., 226 Ronkainen, N.J., 136 Root, 28, 50, 53, 70, 86, 98, 99, 117, 119, 155, 183, 212-214, 217 Root-knot, 217, 260 Rootstocks, 260 Rosa. 118 Rosette, 98, 213 Rot, 15, 35, 52, 73, 110, 120, 168, 171, 173, 184, 188, 189, 212, 247 Rouging, 245 Rousseau, D., 58 **RT-LAMP**, 185 RT-nested-PCR, 176 Rubio, L., 154 Rudolph, K., 151 Rules, 256 Rumpf, T., 52, 101, 234 Russo, G., 183 Rust, 5, 7, 49, 52, 54, 55, 58, 60-62, 72, 77, 88, 117, 119, 168, 185, 188, 215, 229, 234, 235, 245, 251, 256, 258, 259

# S

Samson, F., 113 Samsun, 61 San, 65 Sanan-Mishra, N., 215 Sauer, K.M., 153 Savage, L., 210 Sławiak, M., 175 Scab, 53, 54, 61, 117, 118, 168, 235, 251 Schemes, 146, 227, 236 Schena, M., 205 Schencki, 181 Schenk, P.M., 214, 218 Scherm, B., 211 Schubert, T.S., 89 Schultz, H.R., 15 Schultz, P.M., 31, 32 Schumacher, U., 182 Scion, 34, 50 Sclerotinia, 189 Sclerotium, 171, 182 Scorecard, 76 Scores, 29, 86, 118 Scorpion, 151 Scortichini, M., 151 Scuderi, G., 152 Scutelleridae, 87 Secher, B.J.M., 227 Second-generation, 188 Secrete, 74 Seed-borne, 153, 172 Seedlings, 74, 102, 168, 247 Seeds, 99, 100, 128, 136, 152, 172, 176, 179, 227, 232, 247, 252 Seelan, S.K., 57 Seelig, H.D., 10 Seepiban, C., 137 Segmentation, 4, 13, 34, 36, 77, 82, 99, 100 Seifert, K.A., 187, 189 Seiffert, U., 33 Seifrizii, 171 Self-radiation, 82 Self-taught, 13 Selvaraj, V., 180 Sendra, S., 34 Senescence, 117 Sensors, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10, 14, 21, 34, 48–60, 82–91, 104, 110–112, 114, 116, 117, 121, 130, 131, 134, 136–138, 219, 231–233 Senthil, G., 215 Sequencers, 152 Sequences, 51, 137, 147, 149-152, 154, 169-189, 205, 206, 212, 215, 217-219 Sequence-specific, 170, 207 Sequential, 103, 116, 172 Serological, 103, 121, 129, 146-149, 204 Serologically, 148 Serologically specific electron microscopy (SSEM), 148 Sessile, 70 Severity, 2-8, 12, 21-35, 37, 50, 51, 54, 56, 73-74, 76, 77, 83-86, 88, 101, 112, 117, 119, 120, 147, 168, 227, 230, 231, 234, 235, 248, 257 Shandong, 260

Shaw, J., 156 Shaw, M.W., 22 Shedayi, A.A., 169 Sheridan, G.E.C., 176 Shindo, M., 147 Shirato, H., 137 Shisham, 178 Shishkoff, N., 110 Shivashankar, K.S., 98 Shkedy, Z., 209 Signaling, 70, 71, 75, 213-216 Signals, 6, 10, 11, 21, 48, 55, 56, 72, 84, 88, 99, 114, 130-133, 135, 136, 177-180, 184, 185, 205, 208, 212–214, 217, 218, 252 Signal-to-noise, 89 Significance, 22, 23, 153, 250, 253, 254, 257, 259 Silenced, 213 Silencing, 187, 215 Simko, I., 10, 21 Simmonds, P., 150 Simpson, R.S., 218 Single strand (ss), 135, 181, 184, 206, 208 Single-stranded DNA (ssDNA), 136, 137, 149, 176, 180, 184, 206, 208 Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA), 149, 180, 181, 186 Site-specific, 9, 112 Small interfering RNA (siRNA), 187 Smut, 229, 232 Soil-borne, 15, 51, 52, 73, 182 Soils, 49, 56, 114, 152, 155, 178, 212, 227, 229, 232, 260 Solani, 52, 53, 73, 117, 175, 179, 183, 235 Solanum, 149 Somai, B.M., 147, 177 Sonication, 149 Soviet, 49 Special, 50, 73, 226 Spectral-based, 101 Spectral-related, 55 Spectral signatures, 82, 84 Spectrographs, 89 Spectrometers, 6, 54, 61, 87 Spectrophotometry, 129 Spectroradiometer, 82, 83, 87 Sperling, F.A., 189 SPFMV, 119 Squares, 9, 83, 90, 101 Squashed, 173 Squillace, A., 115 Sreak, 256 sr9087.htm, 210

Srivastava, P., 173 ST. 61 Stability, 133, 170, 189 Stable, 131, 134, 135 Stachniss, C., 226 Stachybotrys, 179 Stack, J., 254, 255 Stack, J.P., 254-256 Stadhouders, R., 154 Staff, 253 Stafford, J.V., 120 Stages, 2, 5, 11, 28, 36, 49-51, 54, 57, 74, 82, 98, 101, 110, 111, 119, 129, 146, 152, 168, 181, 185, 205, 208, 229, 230, 234, 243 Stagonospora, 25, 26 Stained, 170 Staining, 150 Stalks, 119 Stall, R.E., 149, 172 Standard Difference Indices (SDI), 60 Stem, 14, 23, 49, 120, 155, 172, 175, 177, 179, 186, 189, 246 Stemple, D.L., 148 Stender, H., 181 Steps, 4, 57, 70, 88, 129, 138, 170, 172, 176, 177, 185, 207, 246, 251 Stereo, 98 Stereomicroscope, 257 Sterilization, 227, 260 Sterkers, Y., 156 Stevenson, W.R., 154 Stevens, R., 229 Stevens, S.S., 27 Stewart, E.L., 34-36, 85, 233 Stewartii, 233 Stiff, 74 Stiffness, 73 Strain-specific, 154 Strain-TMV-U1, 117 Strand, 185 Strange, R., 146 Strange, R.N., 20, 54, 84, 256 Strawberry, 8, 15, 26, 173 Strayer-Scherer, A., 29 Stress, 9, 14, 15, 21, 49, 50, 53, 54, 62, 71, 75, 78, 82-84, 87, 98, 99, 101, 104, 111, 112, 168, 213-218 Stress-inducing, 102 Stress-related, 215 Stress-resistant, 213 Stress-responsive, 218 Striga, 245

Striiformis, 58, 60-61, 188, 259 String-type, 233 Stripe, 119, 235 Strips, 148 Strive, 113 Stromberg, A., 215 Strzelecki, M., 100 Subjective, 5, 28 Sub-Saharan, 245 Subsequent, v, 31, 61, 62, 147, 187, 188 Subservient, 3 Subset, 88 Subsistence, 242 Subspecies (subsp.), 58 Substances, 53, 54, 114, 115, 131, 149, 152, 155.156 Substantial, 26, 57, 90, 98, 102, 110, 112, 118, 153, 205, 217, 243 Substantially, 61, 150, 204, 244, 248, 256 Substitute, 56, 184, 260 Substituted, 111 Substrate, 147, 149, 205, 206, 208 Sub-surface, 115 Subterranea, 183 Subtle, 11, 55 Sub-tropical, 89 Succulence, 230 Sudan, 245 Sugar beet, 52, 58, 82, 101, 102, 111, 117, 185, 234 Sugarcane, 52, 213 Suggested, 29, 35, 54, 56, 57, 60, 137, 147, 250 Sugiyama, Y., 137 Suitability, 56, 131, 148 Sultana, R., 173 Sunflower, 174, 179 Sun-induced, 53 Sunlight, 10, 11, 52, 116 Supersede, 70 Supervised, 12, 100 Suppliers, 205, 242, 252 Supply, 59, 89, 112, 247 Supplying, 138 Supported, 14 Supporting, 258 Szemes, M., 152, 175, 186 Szunerits, S., 212

#### Т

Tanner, N.A., 186 Taoufik, A., 182 Target-probe, 219 Taxa, 148 Taxonomy, 149, 169 Taxons, 169, 174 Technology-based, 21, 171 Technology-style, 244 Technology transfer (TT), 251 TEF-1a, 183, 184, 186 Teitelbaum, D., 147 Telemedicine, 254 Temperature, 6, 15, 52, 53, 56, 57, 61, 83, 104, 110-121, 130, 133, 148, 152, 170, 174, 178, 184, 185, 230, 233, 234, 236 Template, 155, 156, 172, 180 Temporal, 11, 14, 52, 82, 101, 112, 116, 226, 234 Terentev, A., 89, 90 Tezpurensis, 171 Thelen, J.J., 210 Thelwell, N., 150 The National Plant Diagnostic Network (NPDN), 252, 254-256 Theoretically, 21 Thermistors, 233 Thermocouples, 233 Thermograms, 81, 112 Thermograph, 4, 15, 116 Thermographic, 15, 52, 61, 114, 116, 120 Thermography, 15, 52, 61, 83, 98, 109–121 Thermometers, 233 Thermoscyclers, 255 Thermostable, 170 Thielaviopsis, 212, 247 Thomashow, L.S., 203-219 Thomma, B.P., 183 Thompson, C.M., 149 Thompson, D.A., 188 Thornton, C.R., 147 Tisserat, N., 147, 155-157, 252 Tisserat, N.A., 153 Tissue, 9, 11, 14, 21, 22, 24, 33, 51, 59, 75, 77, 84, 101, 104, 112, 113, 116-118, 120, 130, 131, 134, 139, 147, 153, 155, 156, 169, 176, 177, 180, 181, 204, 210, 214, 217, 218 Tomato yellow leaf curl disease (TYLCD), 150 Track, 56, 101, 116, 153 Tracking, 55, 207 Tractors, 10 Trade, 128, 244, 254, 256, 259 Trading, 254 Traditional, 15, 34, 55, 76, 100, 128, 129, 137, 139, 146, 147, 151, 169, 170, 172, 173, 176, 178–181, 185, 233, 248, 249, 255, 260 Traits, 15, 55, 56, 98-101, 207, 255 Transcription, 186, 188, 204, 208, 216

Transcriptional, 186, 217

Transcription-PCR, 176 Transcriptome, 152, 188, 213, 215, 218 Transcriptomic, 138 Transcripts, 183, 188, 204, 212-214, 216-218 Transdisciplinary, 1-15 Transducer, 130-136 Transduction, 130, 132, 135, 213, 214, 217, 218 Transfer, 11-13, 71, 77, 115, 250-253, 259, 260 Transferred, 172, 180 Transform, 130, 131, 138 Transformation, 55, 56, 59, 83, 99, 100 Transformed, 114, 117, 131, 217, 233 Transforming, 130 Transgenic, 213 Transient, 31, 102 Transistor, 219 Translate, 132 Translated, 100, 132 Translation, 24 Translator, 242 Translucent, 114 Transmembrane, 71 Transmission, 10, 51, 58, 114, 136 Transmit, 24, 233 Transmittance, 10 Transmitted, 6, 10, 89 Transmitting, 87 Transpiration, 9, 52, 53, 57, 104, 111, 116, 117, 120, 130 Transport, 53, 72 Transportation, 73, 148, 253, 256 Transporting, 73, 129 Trapped, 147 Trapping, 232 Traugott, M., 171 Trau, M., 137 Trauma, 102 Treat, 149, 253, 257 Treated, 214, 257 Treatment, 22, 33, 75, 85, 113, 118, 119, 128, 152, 170, 205, 213, 218, 227, 246 Tredway, L.P., 154 Tree, 53, 57, 88-90, 120, 174, 176, 179, 216, 229 Tremblay, N., 113 Tremendous, 7, 226 Trend, 25, 103, 115, 219, 248, 255 Trendline, 120 Triage, 254 Trials, 2, 168, 175 Triangle, 228, 229

Trichoderma, 246 Trichomes, 75 Tricinctum, 184 Trifolium, 171, 189 Trigger, 10, 214, 215 Triggered, 10, 75 Triggering, 213 Trilles, L., 184 Trinity, 188 Triphosphate, 170, 184 Trips, 32, 148 Tristeza, 137, 173 Tritici, 72, 245 Triticina, 88, 102, 168 Tropical, 89, 186, 244 Trothing, 7 Troublesome, 247 Trtkova, J., 173 True, 22, 27, 85, 244 True-color, 32 Truncating, 75 Trunks, 100 Trustworthiness, 37 Trustworthy, 243 Truth, 22, 249 Tsui, C.K., 182, 184, 185 Tsuji, T., 185 t-tests, 57 TUB2, 182, 183 Tube, 150, 151, 156, 170, 172, 173, 185, 211 Tuber, 216 Tuberculata, 171 Tuberculosis, 147 Tubulin, 189 Tucker, C.C., 50 Tu, K., 101 Tukahirwa, B., 257 Tulip, 58 Tumefaciens, 214 Tune, 151 Tuned, 62, 151 Turhan, H., 87 Turkey, 47, 67 Turkington, T.K., 29 Turned, 37, 136 Turner, A.N., 171 Turner, J.A., 236 Turner, R.H., 33 Turner, S., 189 Turnip, 216 Turnip vein-clearing virus (TuVCV), 216 TVI, 57 Twentieth, 6

Two-dimensional, 10, 205, 209 Two-fold, 215, 226 Twomey, M.C., 31 Tworney, M.C., 86 Tyagi, A.C., 226 *Typhimurium*, 210 Typical, 25, 52, 61, 100, 132, 254, 514 Tzouvelekas, V., 253

#### U

Ultrasensitive, 219 Ultraviolet (UV), 9, 53, 54, 59, 61, 86, 87, 99, 150.182 Umasankar, Y., 136 Uncover, 12 Undergone, 3, 103 Underlying, 13, 217, 219 Underpinned, 4 Underpins, 2 Unfocused, 13 Unforeseen, 88 Unhealthy, 21, 50, 100 Uniform, 3, 50 Uniformity, 7, 56 Uniformly, 25 Uninfected, 71, 75, 119, 120, 155 Uninoculated, 218 Unintentional, 254 Union, 256 Unique, 52, 53, 70, 88, 134, 138, 175, 185, 217, 252, 260 Units, 10, 23, 26, 34, 84, 115, 132 Universal, 32, 151, 171 Unpredictable, 226 Unraveled, 204 Unreliable, 152 Unrest, 253 Unsatisfactory, 251 Un-sequenced, 207 Unshiu, 90 Unsuitable, 211 Unsupervised, 12, 13 Unwanted, 12, 255 Unwinding, 184 Uppermost, 71 Upregulated, 213, 214, 217, 218 Upregulation, 214, 215 Upsurges, 178 Up-to-date, 187 Urbanization, 226, 245 Urbez-Torres, J.R., 183 Uszczyńska-Ratajczak, B., 183

Utaganov, S., 128, 168 Uygun, D.A., 134 Uygunet, 173 Uygun, M., 134

#### V

Vaccination, 146, 207 Van Der Zouwen, P., 172 van Montagu, M., 112 Van Vuurde, J.W., 148 Vencio, R.Z., 213 Vendors, 252 Veness, T., 49 Venkatesh, H., 231, 234 Ventura, J.A., 35, 82 Venturia, 52, 53, 73, 118, 235 Vereijssen, J., 26 Verfaille, T., 33, 34 Verification, 7 Verified, 57, 101, 119 Verify, 36, 77, 154 Verities, 3 Verma, A., 130 Vernozy-Rozand, C., 186 Verreet, J.A., 176 Verrelst, J., 88 Verrucaria, 175 Vers. 61 Versatility, 212 Versicolor, 179 Version, 32, 55, 149, 178 Vertebrate, 70 Vertical, 13, 59, 229 Verticillium, 168 Very, 21, 22, 24, 28, 33, 34, 61, 62, 72, 75, 77, 78, 87, 90, 101, 117, 131 Vesicatoria, 216 Vessel, 111 Veterinary, 114 Vetter, E.A., 155 Via, 62, 89, 117, 130, 172, 176, 177, 185, 186, 215, 250-252, 260 Viability, 156, 176, 232 Viable, 29, 156, 176 Viably, 118 Vicentini, R., 213 Video, 34, 50, 249, 251, 252, 254 Vidic, J., 138 Vidigal, P.M.P., 188 Vidyadharan, P., 171 Vieira, R.F., 30 View, 9, 89, 258

Viewed, 54, 233, 252 Viewpoint, 56 Vigor, 56 Vine, 229 Vinifera, 118 Vinti, R., 111 Viral, 5, 119, 147, 150, 174, 207, 210, 215, 232 Virlet, N., 11 Viroid, 183, 211, 212 Virology, 212 Virulence, 73, 103, 118 Virulent, 153, 228, 229 Virus-1, 175 Virus-2, 175 Virus-host, 215 Virusoids, 212 Vision, 58, 77, 100, 252 VIS-NIR, 53, 55, 56, 87 Visual, v, 3-6, 8, 9, 19-37, 48, 53, 70, 76, 84-86, 90, 98, 100, 102-104, 113, 116, 120, 128, 129, 152, 169 Visualization, 77, 115, 116, 174, 175 Visualize, 101, 111 Viticola, 56, 118 Vitiello, A., 115 Vitis, 118 Vitoreli, A.M., 255 Vitro, 72, 83, 134, 153, 169, 213, 230 Vivo, 83, 118, 156, 230 Voegel, T.M., 180 Voermans, J., 154 Volatile, 15, 130 Volpi, E.V., 181, 182 Voltage, 131, 132 Voltammetric, 137 von Stetten, F., 186 von Zitzewitz, J., 101 Vulgaris, 58

#### W

Walnut, 136 Walter, A., 58, 83 Wan, S., 226 Wastage, 22, 226, 227 Waste, 85, 227 Watanabe, K., 185 Water, 10, 14, 51–54, 57, 71, 73, 82, 111, 112, 117–119, 136, 152, 155, 174, 175, 185, 229, 246 Watermelons, 28, 137, 260 Watson, H.G., 150 Wavebands, 51, 61 Wavelengths, 6, 10, 12, 21, 48, 53-55, 60, 61, 77, 83-89, 99, 113, 114, 209 Waves, 9, 11, 82, 86, 87, 111, 114, 115 Wax, 71, 72 Waxy, 10, 260 Well-converged, 77 Well-defined, 183 Weller, S.A., 153, 154 Well-established, 154 Well-explained, 154 Well-known, 82, 87 Well-liked, 260 Well-organized, 50 Wells, 177 Well-separated, 178 Wengenack, N.L., 155 Weng, H., 90 Wen, T., 130 Wernecke, M., 186 Werres, S., 155 Westerink, B.H.C., 134 Western, 148, 218 West, J.S., 51, 57, 104 Wet, 207 Wetness, 56, 233 Wheat, 49, 52, 54, 55, 57, 58, 60-62, 72, 87, 88, 102, 111, 117, 119, 153, 168, 176, 188, 215, 232, 235, 245, 256 Whitham, 216 Whittington, R.J., 155, 156 Wide-field, 181 Width, 50 Wijekoon, C.P., 34, 50 Wild, 3 Wild-type, 75, 214 Wilkhu, J., 102 Wilts, 110, 247 Window-pane, 76 Windows, 114 Winds, 52, 114, 116, 233, 234, 251 Wine, 182 Winn, J., 77 Winter, 55, 61, 233 Winton, L.M., 174 Wisconsin, 243 Wisdom, 246 Wisler, G.C., 255 Wisniewski, M., 112 Withers, S., 188 Wolters, N., 98 Wong, B., 172 Wong, C.L., 130

Wong, M.L., 147 Wood, 174 Woodhall, J., 182, 184, 185 Woods, J.L., 86 Woody, 152, 211 WRKY53, 216 Wulff, B.S., 171

# Y

YCBR, 50
Yeasts, 172, 207
Yeo, S.F., 172
YF, 54
Yi, 256
Yields, 2, 3, 12, 14, 20, 48, 56, 85, 90, 98, 103, 113, 117, 168, 172, 185, 189, 208, 218, 226, 227, 230, 232, 235, 236, 243–245, 247, 248, 260, 261
Yin, B.C., 136
Young, J.M., 254
You, Q.M., 148
Yourno, J., 173
Yuan, L., 57, 259
Yucel, M., 217

#### Z

Zadoks, J.C., 229

Zahavy, E., 219 Zarco-Tejada, P., 49 Zautner, A.E., 181 Zea, 187 Zebelo, S., 216 Zegar, C., 183 Zeiders, K.E., 25, 26, 31 Zeiss, 257 Zeller, K.A., 255 Zemek, R., 34 Zengerle, R., 186 Zeng, G., 90 Zeng, W., 70 Zeng, Y., 90 Zero, 27, 85, 114 Zhai, L., 119 Zhao, 8, 209 Zheng, 70, 83, 153 Zimmerman, P.A., 147 Zipcode, 175 Zisserman, A., 77 Zivkovic, M., 138 Zm-hir3, 215 Zones, 113, 151 Zouhar, M., 153 Zucchini, 28 Zuniga, R., 168 Zuo, R., 184 Zuparov, 129